PHILOSOPHICAL FOUNDATIONS OF THE THREE SOCIOLOGIES

Ted Benton

ROUTLEDGE LIBRARY EDITIONS: SOCIAL THEORY

ROUTLEDGE

Volume 52

PHILOSOPHICAL FOUNDATIONS OF THE THREE SOCIOLOGIES

This page intentionally left blank

PHILOSOPHICAL FOUNDATIONS OF THE THREE SOCIOLOGIES

TED BENTON



First published in 1977

This edition first published in 2015 by Routledge 2 Park Square, Milton Park, Abingdon, Oxon, OX14 4RN

and by Routledge 711 Third Avenue, New York, NY 10017

Routledge is an imprint of the Taylor & Francis Group, an informa business

© 1977 Ted Benton

All rights reserved. No part of this book may be reprinted or reproduced or utilised in any form or by any electronic, mechanical, or other means, now known or hereafter invented, including photocopying and recording, or in any information storage or retrieval system, without permission in writing from the publishers.

Trademark notice: Product or corporate names may be trademarks or registered trademarks, and are used only for identification and explanation without intent to infringe.

British Library Cataloguing in Publication Data A catalogue record for this book is available from the British Library

ISBN: 978-0-415-72731-0 (Set) eISBN: 978-1-315-76997-4 (Set) ISBN: 978-1-138-78807-7 (Volume 52) eISBN: 978-1-315-76348-4 (Volume 52)

Publisher's Note

The publisher has gone to great lengths to ensure the quality of this reprint but points out that some imperfections in the original copies may be apparent.

Disclaimer

The publisher has made every effort to trace copyright holders and would welcome correspondence from those they have been unable to trace.

Philosophical foundations of the three sociologies

Ted Benton

Routledge & Kegan Paul

London, Henley and Boston

First published in 1977 by Routledge & Kegan Paul Ltd 39 Store Street. London WCIE 7DD. Broadway House, Newtown Road, Henley-on-Thames, Oxon RG9 IEN and 9 Park Street. Boston, Mass. 02108, USA Set in Monotype Times by Kelly & Wright, Bradford-on-Avon, Wiltshire and printed in Great Britain by Unwin Bros. Ltd © Ted Benton 1977 No part of this book may be reproduced in any form without permission from the publisher, except for the quotation of brief passages in criticism

British Library Cataloguing in Publication Data

Benton, Ted

Philosophical foundations of the three sociologies — (International library of sociology).

1. Sociology—History 2. Philosophy, Modern— History I. Title II. Series 301'.01 HM26

ISBN 0 7100 8593 1

To W.B., H.L.B., and S.L.P.

This page intentionally left blank

Contents

	Preface	xi
1	Introduction	1
	What is philosophy?	1
	Philosophy and the sciences	3
	The under-labourer conception	3
	The master-scientist, or metaphysical conception	6
	Two historical conceptions	7
	What is the relationship between philosophy and the	
	social sciences?	11
	Towards an alternative	15
2	August Comte and positivist sociology	18
	Epistemology	18
	<i>Empiricism</i>	21
	Enlightenment and revolution in France	24
	The positive philosophy	26
	Comte's history and philosophy of the sciences	28
	Comte's sociology	37
3	The natural sciences: I Contemporary positivism and the	
-	concept of explanation	46
	Twentieth-century positivism: logical empiricism	47
	The modern positivist conception of scientific explanation	53
	Explanation, causality and 'conceptual schemes'	61
4	The natural sciences: II The positivist conception of	
	scientific theory and its competitors	64
	The hypothetico-deductive account of scientific theories	64
		vii

CONTENTS

	The status of theoretical entities: realism versus	
	phenomenalism	67
	Confirmationism and falsificationism	72
	Observation statements and theories	73
	Where do scientific theories come from?	76
	The logic of discovery: towards an alternative conception	
	of scientific rationality	77
5	Positivism and ideology in the work of Emile Durkheim	81
	The object of the Rules	84
	Social facts and the autonomy of sociology	84
	Social facts and the necessity of science	89
	The humanist critique of Durkheim	93
	Common sense and science	94
	Knowledge and practical interests	9 7
6	Kant and the Neo-Kantians	100
	Introduction	100
	Kant's philosophy	101
	Neo-Kantian philosophy	104
	Rickert and the historical method	106
7	The methodology of Max Weber, and Peter Winch's	
	'Corrections'	112
	Introduction	112
	The definition of sociology	113
	Interpretative understanding	120
	Direct understanding and explanatory understanding	128
8	Karl Marx and Frederick Engels: philosophy of history	
	and theory of knowledge	138
	Introduction	138
	Kant and Hegel	140
	Hegel, Feuerbach and Marx	145
	Philosophy and the theory of history	146
	Historical materialism	154
	Dialectical materialism	157
	The theory of ideology	161
	The theory of science	165

9	Towards a materialist theory of knowledge	170
	Introduction	170
	Materialism in Marx and Durkheim	171
	Althusser and ideology	174
	Althusser and the theory of scientific knowledge	180
	The question of validity	192
	Notes	200
	Index	221

This page intentionally left blank

Preface

This book is to a large extent the outcome of several years' experience of teaching philosophy of social science at the University of Essex. The attempt has been made to take up philosophical issues in a way that makes evident their relevance to substantive issues in sociology and other social sciences, and in a way that makes philosophical ideas and arguments available to non-philosophers. I don't know whether the attempt has been successful, either in the course, or in the book which arises from it. What I can say with certainty is that any success the book has in these respects will owe a very great deal to the painstaking and persistent criticism and imagination of successive generations of students. The help and encouragement of colleagues, past and present, both sociologists and others, has also been indispensable. This book, like any other, is a social product. If it fails to solve the many intractable problems which it presents, I don't seen why I should be held exclusively to blame. This page intentionally left blank

1 Introduction

There are (at least) two questions which readily arise in the minds of sociology students when they begin courses in the philosophy of social science: why should sociologists have to study philosophy? and what is philosophy, anyway? These are good questions, and like most good questions they are difficult to answer. Partly the difficulty arises from the controversial nature of the questions and the sheer diversity of ways in which they have been answered, but the diversity of answers is itself a mark of the difficulty of the questions. I shall not attempt to give definitive answers, but at least I had better make out as good a preliminary case as I can for the relevance of philosophy before I lose my sceptical readers (the ones I particularly want to keep).

What is philosophy?

It is a (rightly) much respected intellectual practice to begin by defining one's terms, and so it would seem that my first task should be to define 'philosophy'. However, in the specific case of philosophy there are strong reasons for refusing even to attempt a definition at this stage. I shall explain what these reasons are by comparing philosophy with some other intellectual disciplines.

First, the 'natural' sciences. The revolutionary significance of the physical theories of Copernicus, Newton and Einstein, or of the biological theory of Darwin is sometimes expressed by saying that they imposed a new definition on their respective disciplines. On one modern conception of the history of these sciences (to be discussed in more detail later)¹ each science progresses by long periods of relatively unproblematic and uncontroversial 'normal science' punctuated by episodes of sharp intellectual crisis during which the very definition of the science – its very conception of its subjectmatter – becomes a centre of controversy. In the 'social' or 'human

INTRODUCTION

sciences', by comparison, there is a state of what might be called 'continuous revolution'. These disciplines are split into contending 'schools' or 'traditions' of thought, the research practice of which seems to presuppose a number of radically different conceptions of what it is to study societies. This lack of consensus over fundamentals seems to have characterised the social studies since their inception, so that there never has been a time when a definition of, say, sociology could be expected to gain the assent of any more than one faction of the practitioners of the discipline. In this respect, philosophy resembles the social studies more nearly than the natural sciences. In philosophy, too, there does not exist, and there probably never has existed, consensus about what philosophy is. This, then, is one good reason for not giving a definition of philosophy at the outset.

By why not just give my definition of philosophy and carry on regardless? To do this would be to neglect another important aspect of philosophy – an aspect in which it appears to differ from the social studies. Though I just characterised the social studies as being in a state of 'continuous revolution', and as lacking in consensus over fundamentals, a survey of the sociological literature, for example, does not reveal it to be overwhelmingly devoted to debate over fundamental questions of method and explanation, to controversy over the nature of a science of society. Most sociologists are primarily concerned with the more down-to-earth problems of 'studying society' - or, rather, particular regions or aspects of it: 'Roledistance in jazz musicians', 'Class attitudes to dental treatment', 'The sociology of the betting shop' (followed by) 'Observations on debt collection'. This (not, admittedly, quite random) sample of article-titles from the more respected sociological journals does not bespeak a discipline racked with internal dissent. Nevertheless, anyone who reflects on the explanatory models, the techniques of enquiry, the sets of concepts used in these empirical studies will readily understand that each one presupposes a certain conception of what it is to investigate social reality. This is so even if the researcher does not make his or her more fundamental commitments explicit. By contrast with this, in philosophy there is a considerable amount of explicit controversy over basic questions as to the nature of philosophy and what it is to practise it (I am not, of course, denying that many of the respected philosophical publications are also largely devoted to trivia). Not only does the philosophical practice of the competing schools and traditions of philosophy presuppose conflicting notions about what philosophy is, but a large part of that philosophical practice is itself an enquiry into the nature of philosophy. So we can characterise this difference between philosophy and, say, sociology by saying that whereas in neither of these disciplines is there consensus about the nature of the discipline,

sociology does not, unlike philosophy, take controversy about its own nature as part of its recognised subject-matter. A conception of philosophy, then, such as might be embodied in a definition, can only be the result of a philosophical enquiry; it cannot be a starting-point.

Philosophy and the sciences

So far my argument has been negative in intent. But having tried to establish what cannot be done at this stage, I shall attempt a more positive characterisation of the central concern of this book: the relationship of philosophy and sociology. But I shall approach this relationship via a discussion of the more general relationship between philosophy and the sciences. I shall distinguish four conceptions of this relationship (not an exhaustive classification, but one which, I think, captures the most important historical alternatives) and proceed from a critical discussion of each to presenting the outlines of the approach which informs the present work.

First, to adopt the terminology revived by Peter Winch in his important book *The Idea of a Social Science*, are the 'under-labourer' and 'master-scientist' conceptions of the relationship of philosophy to scientific knowledge. Although these conceptions are classical opponents, they have, as will later emerge, underlying assumptions in common.

The under-labourer conception

The under-labourer conception affects to give the philosopher a very modest role – but this humility is, I shall argue, misleading. The seventeenth-century English philosopher, John Locke, was one of the earliest and most eloquent of the 'under-labourers', and his 'Epistle to the Reader' from the *Essay Concerning Human Understanding* is an oft-quoted source:

in an age that produces such masters as the great Huygenius and the incomparable Mr. Newton, with some other of that strain, it is ambition enough to be employed as an underlabourer in clearing the ground a little, and removing some of the rubbish that lies in the way to knowledge.²

It is the task of men like Newton, Boyle and Sydenham to advance the sciences, but their success is limited, and the progress of science impeded by certain obstacles that lie 'in the way to knowledge'. The humble task of the philosopher is to clear away these obstacles to make way for science to progress once more. But what are these obstacles, and what - if any - are the necessary skills of the

INTRODUCTION

philosopher/under-labourer? Primarily, the rubbish which must be removed consists of 'learned but frivolous use of uncouth, affected, or unintelligible terms, introduced into the sciences . . .'. Such terms hinder the advance of science because they pass for genuine knowledge, whilst in reality covering up ignorance:

Vague and insignificant forms of speech, and abuse of language, have so long passed for mysteries of science; and hard and misapplied words, with little or no meaning, have, by prescription, such a right to be mistaken for deep learning and height of speculation, that it will not be easy to persuade either those who speak or those who hear them that they are but the covers of ignorance, and hindrance of true knowledge.³

If this is the rubbish that must be cleared away, then the skills required to clear it away will be logical and analytical. The philosopher must be able to recognise nonsense when he sees it, and be able to dispense with it in his own discourse. But now the under-labourer begins to look a little less humble. Why can a man as great as Newton or Boyle not recognise nonsense when he sees it? Why should natural scientists be at a loss when they confront a conceptual or analytical problem, and helplessly call on the philosopher? At work in the under-labourer conception is a narrow and inadequate view of the practice of science itself: scientists concern themselves with factual questions – often of a very general or recondite kind, but factual none the less - whilst concepts are the province of philosophy.⁴ I shall return more than once to this distinction between factual and conceptual questions, and the conception of science which goes together with it, for they form part of the most pervasive and influential of all the traditions of thought on the nature of scientific knowledge. For now, suffice it to say that the 'division of labour' between science and philosophy outlined by Locke still has many adherents,⁵ and is often expressed in terms of yet another distinction, closely allied to the factual/conceptual distinction. The factual questions tackled by scientists are, it is said, questions 'in' science, and they are to be distinguished from the conceptual questions 'about' science which philosophers ask. The factual questions of the scientist are 'first order' questions; the conceptual ones that the philosopher poses about science are 'second-order' questions.⁶ Of course, it is usually recognised that scientists are sometimes forced to confront conceptual questions, for example, about the status of their explanations, but in doing so they are said to be engaging in philosophy.7

I shall be developing arguments against the narrow and defective conception of scientific practice involved in these distinctions later,

but already it should be clear that they cannot adequately characterise the relations between philosophy and science. There are, for instance, many sorts of questions 'about' the sciences which are not conceptual (though any answer to them may involve conceptual clarification and revision) - questions about the institutionalisation of the sciences in different periods and in different countries, questions about the structural relations between industry, government and scientific research, about the career patterns of professional scientists and so on. Are these political, sociological and historical questions, then, second order? And of what 'order' are the many sorts of questions that can be asked 'about' these disciplines themselves? Similarly, many of the problems which arise in, and constitute the sciences themselves are conceptual problems. Concept-formation and revision, the defence and criticism of concepts and systems of concepts are activities without which the experimentation and observation conducted in most of the sciences would have no sense at all. To take an example that would have been close to Locke's heart: the criticism of vitalist concepts in French physiology in the latter part of the nineteenth century. The opponents of vitalism frequently echoed Locke's 'Epistle' in their claims that the so-called 'vital principle' was no more than a meaningless term designed as a cover for ignorance. But effective criticism (i.e. criticism which had the effect of eradicating vitalism from at least this area of biology) did not come from a philosophical source at all. It came from the physiologist Claude Bernard, who was able to demonstrate by his construction of a new scheme of physiological concepts that the very problems which vitalist concepts purported to solve were false problems.8

So, if we take the under-labourer at his word, and concede that the job of philosophy in relation to science is merely clearing up conceptual confusion in the latter, then it follows not that philosophy is 'parasitic' on the sciences (as some critics of the under-labourer conception have claimed)⁹ but that the sciences appear as predators upon philosophy. Philosophy is in danger of altogether losing its raison d'être. But there is another way of characterising the task of philosophy which is only implicit in Locke's 'Epistle', but which becomes much more explicit in the body of his Essay, and remains very popular with those who today share Locke's philosophical tendency. If it is the job of philosophy to expose and eliminate the use of insignificant terms in science, then it might be thought (incorrectly) that in order to do so philosophy requires a general theory of the distinction between significant and insignificant uses of language. This is, in fact, what Locke attempts to give. Generally, a word is a sign for some idea or combination of ideas. If there is no idea corresponding to a word, then the word lacks significance. This is combined in Locke with the doctrines that the source and foundation (Locke did not adequately distinguish these) of ideas or concepts is in experience (of external objects, through sensation, and of the workings of our own minds, through 'reflection') and that it is these ideas which form the raw materials for the whole of our knowledge. The 'humble' task, then, of clearing away the rubbish which lies in the way to knowledge becomes transformed into the much less humble one of setting criteria for significance and insignificance in the use of language, and thence of erecting standards by which all claims to knowledge are to be judged. Philosophy becomes the last arbiter on questions as to the difference between knowledge and belief, and between these, faith and error. In particular, of course, it was Locke's preoccupation to establish the credentials of physical science as a source of knowledge, and to establish criteria for distinguishing genuine from spurious claims to scientific knowledge. In recent times this has taken the form of a search for a 'criteria of demarcation' between science (implicitly, the only genuine knowledge) and non-science (in Locke's day the principal targets for exclusion were theology and speculative metaphysics, today they have become psychoanalysis and historical materialism). The difficulties for this characterisation of the function of philosophy begin to multiply as soon as philosophy is asked to present its credentials for its claim to authority in examining the credentials of others. More on this later.

The master-scientist, or metaphysical conception

This conception of the relationship between philosophy and science proposes the awe-inspiring enterprise of constructing – or, rather, reconstructing - the whole of (acceptable) human knowledge into one massive logically connected and internally consistent system of propositions. As with the under-labourer conception, this notion of the task of philosophy has its source in sceptical doubt concerning the adequacy of claims to knowledge. Doubt is pushed as far as it can logically go - until, that is, an unshakable bedrock is found upon which the whole edifice of human knowledge can be reconstructed, discarding all the previously unfounded rubble. As with the underlabourer conception, there is an attempt to give general criteria by which genuine knowledge can be distinguished from spurious claims to it. But here genuine knowledge is whatever can be deduced from a small number of self-evident and indubitable axioms or premises. For the French philosopher Descartes (to whose thought much of Locke's philosophy was a critical response), his own existence as a thinking being served as an indubitable premise from which, given certain (also self-evident) rules of inference, he could deduce the existence of God. From the existence of a perfectly good, omniscient and omnipotent God, Descartes was able to deduce the general characteristics of that God's creation, and so logically found the principal laws of the physical sciences.¹⁰ Leibniz and Spinoza were two other classical master-scientists, and by now it should be clear in what respects their conception of the relationship between philosophy and science resembled that of Locke and others of his tendency. Their conceptions differed centrally in that whilst for Locke experience was the source of all knowledge, for the master-scientists deductive reasoning and self-evidence were the hallmarks of true knowledge. Indeed it was precisely the pretensions of system-builders such as these which Locke's conception was designed to deflate – particularly when they insisted on founding science on theology, and mistook self-evidence for innate knowledge.

The master-scientist conception is no longer widely held among philosophers and seems unlikely to be revived (although it is by no means absent from much of the spontaneous philosophising of scientists themselves, and in philosophy, too, a rather more modest variant of the enterprise has been revived under the title of 'descriptive metaphysics').¹¹ I shall not delay long in criticising it, save to suggest, following Kant, that something must be wrong with a discipline in which answers to its central questions may be just as easily proved as their contradictories.¹²

Two historical conceptions

One presupposition common to under-labourer and master-scientist alike is that the question 'what is the relation between philosophy and science?' has a single answer – the same for all sciences and for all historical epochs. I shall now consider two modern conceptions which challenge this assumption and attempt to characterise the relationships between philosophy and science as subject to historical change.

The first of these conceptions is present in the enormously influential work of Thomas Kuhn. Kuhn's book, *The Structure of Scientific Revolutions*, appeared in 1962 and presented a set of concepts for understanding scientific activity which challenged the hitherto dominant traditions of thought in the history, philosophy and sociology of science. Its impact on these disciplines has been enormous, but ripples have spread as far afield as economics and political science. I shall have occasion to discuss Kuhn's work in later chapters, and so for the moment I shall confine myself to those aspects of his work which are of the most immediate relevance. Against the dominant tradition in the history of science, according to which science is thought of as progressing gradually by the accumulation of empirical knowledge, steadily giving rise to increasingly elaborate theoretical construction, Kuhn poses a conception of the history of science as, like the history of society itself, discontinuous - as punctuated by conceptual leaps and transmutations which Kuhn calls 'scientific revolutions'. What Kuhn gives, in effect, is an elementary periodisation for the history of any science. After its foundation a science will be characterised by a series of periods of unspecified length in which some major scientific achievement provides the methods, conceptual apparatus, standards of validity and so on which govern the research practice of the whole 'scientific community' engaged in this particular scientific specialism. The adequacy of the rules derived from such a 'paradigm' is rarely, if ever, questioned; scientific education amounts to indoctrination into the established paradigm, and the failure to solve a 'puzzle' specified in terms of the paradigm is regarded as a failure on the part of the researcher, not his paradigm. Such periods of what Kuhn calls 'normal science' are punctuated by crises in which at least some of the failures of previous normal-scientific research come to acquire, for a variety of structural reasons never fully explored by Kuhn, a new significance. They acquire the status of 'anomalies' and provoke increasingly divergent revisions of the original paradigm until there can no longer be said to be any single paradigm to govern research practice. Such periods of crisis are resolved only with the general acceptance by the appropriate 'scientific community' of a new set of standards of validity, theoretical concepts, methods of investigation, etc. - in short, of a new paradigm. Two very large-scale examples of periods of revolutionary crisis in science are the shift from a broadly Aristotelian conception of the physical universe to the alternative Newtonian conception which took place between the second half of the sixteenth century and the end of the seventeenth, and the comparable shift from the Newtonian paradigm to a new practice of physics based on the relativity and quantum theories which has taken place in our own century.

Now what Kuhn has to say about the relation of philosophy to science is based on this elementary periodisation of the history of each science. During periods of normal science, scientists – quite rightly in Kuhn's view – hold philosophy at arm's length. Their current paradigm serves them well, and there is no reason why they should concern themselves with fundamental doubts about the whole enterprise. But in periods of revolutionary crisis the situation is absolutely different – scientists are faced not just with fundamentally irreconcilable ways of conceptualising and explaining the physical world, or their chosen aspect of it, but with alternative and irreconcilable conceptions of what counts as an explanation, what counts as a proof, etc. Scientists are confronted with philosophical problems in the midst of their own research practice – and must solve them as a condition of continuing to have a research practice. During these episodes, then, no clear demarcation between science and philosophy, as distinct disciplines, can be drawn.

But it is now apparent that Kuhn's conception of the relationship between philosophy and science leads to the same unfortunate consequences for philosophy as did one version of the under-labourer conception: philosophy seems to lose all point. When science is progressing smoothly, philosophy is at best irrelevant, at worst dangerous, and when science is in crisis scientists solve their own crisis by becoming philosophers. Of course, to show that Kuhn's theory has this consequence for the status of philosophy as an autonomous discipline is not to refute Kuhn. However, there are (fortunately for my theme in this book) independent reasons for rejecting both Kuhn's schema for the history of science and the philosophical position with which it is connected. Some of these reasons will be dealt with more fully later. Suffice it to say that a central difficulty in Kuhn's work is the philosophical and historical weight which is placed on his concept of the 'scientific community'. The limits of this community are not clearly defined, or they are defined in terms of the field specified by a paradigm. But since what counts as a paradigm is itself defined in terms of the scientific community this is no help. One consequence of this is that the application of the concepts of 'paradigm' and 'scientific community' and their cognates to historical cases is subject to no clear restrictions. The 'scientific community' may be anything from the whole corpus of researchers in all the major branches of science (as in the case of the Newtonian revolution) or some tiny group engaged in research in a narrow specialism within molecular biology. Now, if the latter community can have its paradigm and its revolution and paradigmshift, too, then what is there to distinguish Kuhn's 'discontinuist' conception from the one it was meant to replace - the view of the progress of science as occurring through the gradual accumulation of small-scale advances?

Philosophically, too, the concept of 'scientific community' has a great deal of work to do. Since the replacement of one paradigm by another is the work of the scientific community, and since there are no external 'paradigm-neutral' standards by which to assess the respective merits of rival paradigm-candidates, the very conception of 'progress' in science – of the cognitive superiority of one paradigm over another – comes to rest on the characteristics of the scientific community. This resort to amateur sociology as a means of solving a philosophical problem indicates further serious weaknesses in Kuhn's work, to which I shall return.

The second of my two historically informed conceptions of the relationship between philosophy and science is to be found in some of the work of Karl Marx. I say 'some' because Marx's theoretical positions changed enormously throughout his life, and nowhere did he give a fully elaborated account of his position on this topic. Added to this is the difficulty that almost any interpretation of any text by Marx will be contestable by other, rival schools of interpretation. This is true of all major thinkers, of course, but it is particularly acute in the case of Marx, partly because of the continuing political importance of his work.

The passage which most cogently puts the conception I wish to deal with is from the German Ideology:

Where speculation ends – in real life – there real, positive science begins: the representation of the practical activity, of the practical process of development of men. Empty talk about consciousness ceases, and real knowledge has to take its place. When reality is depicted, philosophy as an independent branch of knowledge loses its medium of existence. At the best its place can only be taken by a summing-up of the most general results, abstractions which arise from the observation of the historical development of men. Viewed apart from real history, these abstractions have in themselves no value whatsoever. They can only serve to facilitate the arrangement of historical material, to indicate the sequence of its separate strata. But they by no means afford a recipe or schema, as does philosophy, for neatly trimming the epochs of history.¹³

Marx and Engels are here speaking of the relationship between philosophy and one particular science - the science of history - but some of what they say applies to the relationship between philosophy and the sciences generally. Philosophy is the predecessor of scientific knowledge; it has its place prior to the emergence of a science, but once the scientific investigation of the relevant field begins, then philosophy loses its point. But this is odd, since both Marx and Engels, though they considered themselves the founders of the science of history, continued to engage in philosophical work. Indeed, it is arguable that much of the German Ideology itself - including the passage I quoted - is philosophical in character. How is this to be explained? One possibility is that Marx and Engels were simply inconsistent. Alternatively, the above passage may be read as a characterisation not of all philosophy in its relation to science, but of one branch or tendency of philosophy. Marx later spoke of the German Ideology as the text in which he and Engels attempted to settle their accounts concerning their 'former philosophic conscience'. and as 'a criticism of the post-Hegelian philosophy'.¹⁴ When Marx

and Engels speak of 'philosophy losing its medium of existence' and 'neatly trimming the epochs of history' they are speaking of the speculative, system-building philosophy of Hegel, and of the 'leftwing' followers and critics of Hegel with whom Marx and Engels had earlier associated. This tendency in philosophy had much in common with the metaphysical conception which I have already described. and it seems that it was this sort of intellectual enterprise which Marx and Engels considered to lose its point with the emergence of genuinely scientific knowledge. In the main, the philosophical questions with which Marx and Engels continued to deal were of the sort: How are we to defend our claim to have founded a scientific theory of history? What are the grounds for designating a theory 'ideological', as failing to adequately grasp its object? What are the differences between religious, aesthetic, cognitive and other ways of 'grasping' or 'appropriating' the world? These questions are not quite identifiable as the classical questions of the philosophical theory of knowledge (sometimes called 'epistemology') but they have clear logical and historical connections with them. The central difficulty for this conception of the relationship between philosophy and the sciences is to give a characterisation of philosophy (and found a practice of philosophy) which avoids the error of setting up philosophy as the 'final arbiter' on all questions of cognitive status (the basic error of classical theories of knowledge) without risking the disappearance of philosophy altogether (its disappearance into science. or into the history of science). I shall try to deal with this difficulty more fully in my chapters on Marx and Engels, but since the approach I shall adopt throughout the book lies broadly within this tradition I shall have something more to say about it at the end of this chapter.

What is the relationship between philosophy and the social sciences?

We are now in a position to move directly from the question of the relationship between philosophy and the sciences in general to the more specific one of the relationships between philosophy and the social sciences. I shall briefly discuss two radically opposed accounts of this relationship and proceed to a preliminary specification of the conception to which I shall attempt to conform in the rest of this book.

Positivism

Positivism is a variant of the philosophical theory of knowledge – empiricism – which I attributed to John Locke. For sociologists, positivism is generally associated with the name of Auguste Comte and his philosophical descendants in sociology. For positivists and, indeed, for most empiricists, there is no special problem about the relation of philosophy to the social sciences. In relation to the natural sciences the job of philosophy is to clear up conceptual confusion and to lay down standards of intelligibility, scientific status and validity. Since these standards are universal they apply equally to the social sciences. Positivists often concede that the social sciences have their special problems – there are practical and logical obstacles to the use of the experimental method, social phenomena are far more 'complex', our knowledge of social phenomena must presuppose a prior development of the more fundamental sciences, and so on – but these are, for the positivist, matters of detail or matters of history. Ultimately, social scientific explanations, if they are to count as 'scientific' at all, must conform to the standards already established in the natural sciences. Such pronouncements are usually made in the name of some conception of the 'Unity of Science' though this may vary from the rather loose notion of uniformity of methods and forms of explanation throughout science to the much more demanding ideal of the 'reduction' of all sciences to the fundamental science of physics. Ironically, such a notion of the unity of science as a logically watertight system of statements, all deducible from a small number of premises, comes close to the very ideal of metaphysics which the positivists are so devoted to debunking. My next four chapters will be given over to a critical discussion of positivism, both as a philosophical theory and in its effects on sociological theory.

Humanism

The most fundamental denials of the positivist characterisation of the relation between philosophy and the social sciences have had their roots in an insistence that the objects of study of the natural sciences and social 'studies' are so utterly different that they require fundamentally different methods and forms of explanation and understanding. I call these conceptions 'humanist' not to identify a particular moral or political commitment at work in them (though such commitments there undoubtedly are) but because they rest on the attribution of distinctive characteristics to human beings and their social relationships. Human beings are conceived as distinctively 'free subjects', as the agents of 'meaningful' acts, as the 'creators' of their social world. It is these distinctively human characteristics which demand a fundamentally different approach on the part of the investigator. They imply that there can (logically) be no such thing as a science of society or that, if there should be, it would be an enterprise different in kind from the sciences of non-human nature. The controversial anti-positivist (and anti-under-labourer) conception of the relationship between philosophy and the social studies outlined and defended by Peter Winch in his *The Idea of a Social Science* belongs to this broad stream of thought. Winch's view is that philosophy and the social studies have a relationship, in their most basic concerns, which is so close as to amount to identity:

to be clear about the nature of philosophy and to be clear about the nature of the social studies amount to the same thing. For any worthwhile study of society must be philosophical in character and any worthwhile philosophy must be concerned with the nature of human society.¹⁵

How does Winch reach this conclusion? Winch's argument is a subtle one and no brief summary can do it justice, but broadly this is the drift of it. Epistemology (the philosophical theory of knowledge) is central to the whole enterprise of philosophy. Such disciplines as the philosophy of art and the philosophy of science are important, not so much because they are helpful to the disciplines which they are philosophies of (as the under-labourers would have us believe), but in virtue of the light they shed on the central questions of epistemology. Art, science and religion are attempts of different kinds to give understanding (also of different sorts) of reality. The 'philosophies of' these disciplines are attempts to give an account of the nature of the peculiar sorts of understanding of reality which they give. As such they are tributary to the central epistemological tasks of accounting for the nature and conditions of possibility of any human understanding of reality at all. And this question of the nature of 'man's' understanding of reality cannot be separated from the question of the nature of the language in which understanding is expressed. 'Man's' understanding of reality, and the language which expresses it are both intimately bound up with social relationships, and not simply as 'a matter of fact' but conceptually. A condition of the use of language to say anything at all is the existence of the social institution of correcting mistaken uses of language, and not only does the understanding of reality which 'men' have affect their social relationships but 'social relations are expressions of ideas about reality'.16

On these conceptions of 'understanding' and 'language', conceptions which have their immediate source in the later work of the philosopher Ludwig Wittgenstein,¹⁷ then, the central epistemological questions as to the nature of men's understanding of reality resolve themselves into questions as to the nature and conditions of social relations and the forms of social life as such.

From the side of sociology, Winch argues that 'one can in the end hardly avoid including in sociology a discussion of the nature of social phenomena in general'.¹⁸ A little later this is put in the much stronger form that 'the central problem of sociology, [is] that of giving an account of the nature of social phenomena in general'.¹⁹ The identification is complete; though their starting-points are different epistemology and sociology share the same central problems. But note that this is not the collapse of philosophy into science that we saw could result from one way of taking the under-labourer conception. It is more like the converse. The central part of sociology 'is really misbegotten epistemology', and its problems have been 'largely misconstrued . . . as a species of scientific problem'.

But it is not immediately clear why Winch should claim that the central problem in sociology has to do with the nature of social phenomena in general. Certainly this has been taken by some sociologists to be a problem. In particular sociologists have (mistakenly, as I shall argue later) regarded an answer to this question as a condition of establishing a 'field of operation' for the distinct and autonomous science of sociology.20 But even for these sociologists it was not exactly a problem of sociology and certainly not the central one. Why should it, indeed, be the central problem of sociology, if the nature of physical phenomena as such, or the nature of biological phenomena as such are not the central problems of physics and biology respectively? The central problem of any science is not something that can be specified *a priori* and once and for all; on the contrary, it is displaced and redefined as a function of the development of the discipline. But this is to beg the question against Winch, since his argument is that sociology - or what he has isolated as central in it - is not a science, but is philosophical in character.

This leads us directly to a central difficulty in Winch's position. Since social relations are thought of as expressions of ideas about reality, the sociological understanding of social relations must be couched in concepts available to the social actors involved in the social relationships to be elucidated. Now, this is a plausible (though not, I think, ultimately acceptable) construction for some social relationships and for some aspects of them. For example, if one person is indebted to another because of a loan, then they stand in a social relation which is in a clear sense an expression of their ideas about reality (i.e. that one has the use of the property of the other on the understanding that it will be returned) and the relation could not even be characterised without the use of concepts ('property', 'use', 'owe', 'return', etc.) available to those who stand in the relation. If we take, on the other hand, the example of the relationship between an employer and an employee, we may find that though they certainly do stand in a relationship to one another, the ideas which the one 'expresses' in his relationship will not be the same as the ideas which the other expresses. The employer and employee

will almost certainly differ in their conceptions of the pattern of rights and obligations which constitute their relationship. Even more seriously for Winch, one of the 'partners' to the relationship may not even conceive of it in terms of rights and obligations at all, but in terms of 'power' or 'necessity', of what he or she is 'forced to do' in order to live, or can 'get away with'. Further, there may be ways of characterising this relationship employed by third parties - by economists, sociologists, work-study men and the like which will deploy yet more 'ideas about reality'. But only in the case of some of these conceptualisations is it plausible to speak of the ideas being 'expressed' in the relationship they characterise, and even where it does make some sense to speak in this way, how is the relationship to be characterised when it is 'the expression of' conflicting and incompatible ideas about reality? When we think of new ways of conceptualising our social relationships do we thereby multiply them, and when we change our ideas about our social relationships do we, by that fact, change our relationships? In some limited respects, and for some relationships, of course, the answer to these questions is yes, but to think of this as the whole story is to follow the unfortunate fellow (about whom Marx and Engels speak in the preface to the German Ideology) who had 'the idea that men were drowned in water only because they were possessed with the idea of gravity' and that 'if they were to knock this idea out of their heads they would be sublimely proof against any danger from water'.²¹ I shall return later²² to the question of Winch's conception of the social studies and his assimilation of them to philosophy.

Towards an alternative

As I argued at the beginning of this chapter, a conception of philosophy must be the result of philosophical practice – not its startingpoint – but my discussion so far has been sufficient for me to at least outline the parameters of the approach I shall adopt, and to distinguish it from the approaches I have described and criticised. What I shall say here is not so much intended as a definitive account of my approach, but rather as a statement of the aspirations of the book and, by implication, the standards of criticism by which I intend it to be judged.

First, as to my conception of the relationship between the 'natural' and the 'social' or 'human' sciences, I shall reject (for reasons I shall expound at length) the 'humanist' contention that there is a fundamental dividing line between these two groups of disciplines, based on their different subject matters. But equally I shall not countenance the Procrustean positivist conception of the 'Unity of Science'. Rather the sciences will be conceived of as a set of cognitive practices with many intersecting and cross-cutting resemblances and differences. The uneven development of the different sciences will be thought of as determining different relations of dependence and autonomy between the different sciences at different times. This is not to deny that the sciences have a unity, but rather to substitute a conception of complex and uneven unity for the positivists' notion of doctrinal and methodological homogeneity.

As to the conception of philosophy which I shall adopt, almost all of what I have to say will belong to epistemology, though not to epistemology conceived in the 'classical' (i.e. sixteenth- and seventeenth-century European) way as the universal legislator for human knowledge. At the centre of the approach I shall adopt is a recognition of the closeness of the relationship between philosophical conceptions of knowledge and the history of the sciences. For this reason my discussions of philosophical theories about the nature of sociological or social-scientific knowledge and the methods by which it is to be acquired will always make reference to the situation in the history of the social studies in which they were produced. Associated with this, also, is my use of philosophical texts written by thinkers most often remembered for their achievements not in philosophy but in sociology wherever this is possible. I do this despite their frequent technical failings, which a professional philosopher will readily recognise, because it is through an analysis of such texts, in their intellectual and general historical context, that the relevance and importance of philosophical investigation to scientific work can best be grasped. Scientists do not, in general, resort to philosophical work for amusement, nor yet for financial gain. They do so, generally, because the scientific problems they face demand it.

The texts which I shall discuss are ones which raise recognisable epistemological questions – questions about what is to count as an adequate explanation, about how much of what is commonly taken for granted really is reliable, about what are and what are not acceptable methods for producing knowledge, and so on. But the importance of the texts I shall be discussing is that these questions are always posed with a definite object – that of making explicit the basic assumptions about the nature of sociological knowledge and explanation which are implicit in the research practice of the writers concerned or of those with whom they engage intellectually.

But it would be a serious mistake to see in these texts simply spontaneous attempts to make explicit what is already presupposed in research practice. It would be a mistake in two respects. First, in so far as the resort to philosophy arises out of problems in research practice, the text will be at least in part an attempt to engage in criticism of the assumptions which are made explicit. Second, and more important, these attempts to render explicit fundamental conceptions of the nature and methods of social enquiry are retreats into properly philosophical territory, and as such make use of the raw materials and implements to be found in that territory: the philosophical methods, concepts and distinctions available in the intellectual culture of the author's time and place. Any attempt, then, to come to grips with these texts and their problems must not only take into account the level of development and current problems of the science whose practice they attempt to conceptualise, but also the philosophical tradition which provides the concepts with which this is done.

From what I have said so far it might seem that what I intend to write is simply a history of the relations between philosophy and sociology, albeit a philosophically informed one. But this is not so – my aim is to engage critically with the philosophical conceptions which I shall be describing but not from the standpoint of the classical philosophical legislator. Rather, an attempt will be made to develop an approach which embodies a recognition of the historical space which separates the texts from one another, and from the present, and also a recognition of the distinctive characteristics and requirements of each branch of knowledge.

2 Auguste Comte and positivist sociology

Central to this chapter will be a consideration of that conception of the nature of scientific sociology which has had the greatest influence both on the practice of social scientists and on their conceptions of what they do. This is the positivist philosophy – or 'positivism' – usually associated with the name of Auguste Comte. I have already said a little about the positivist conception of the relationship between philosophy and the social sciences, and in this chapter I propose to discuss the leading doctrines of the positivist philosophy, as expounded by Comte himself. But Comte's positivism was not a closed and finally elaborated system of ideas. On the contrary, it and its relatives have been subjected to a continuous process of revision, development and sophistication up to the present day, and so I shall devote part of my third and fourth chapters to giving some account of these latter-day developments before advancing the more fundamental criticisms of positivist doctrine.

Although Comte coined the term 'positivisme', he was by no means a profoundly original thinker, either in philosophy or sociology, and it will be necessary to approach his work through a prior discussion of the philosophical tradition to which he belonged, and the traditions of social thought which informed his work. It is also necessary, if Comte's particular combination of philosophical and social thought is to be understood, to speak a little of the economic and political situation in the France of the early nineteenth century.

Epistemology

The aspect of Comte's philosophy with which I shall be centrally concerned is his contribution to 'epistemology', or the philosophical theory of knowledge. The principal questions of epistemology, as I mentioned in chapter 1, are questions as to the nature and scope of human knowledge: what can be known with certainty, and what must be left to faith, or opinion? What is the proper source or foundation of knowledge? A central pre-occupation in epistemology, I argued (though it is by no means always explicit), is the search for criteria by which to distinguish scientific knowledge from the non-scientific.

Although there is a popular tendency in the history of ideas to search for the precursors of modern ideas earlier and yet earlier in the Middle Ages, I shall not follow it. The posing of these questions. as part of a systematic onslaught on traditional forms of knowledge and their credentials, was neither widespread nor did it have a major impact on the development of knowledge itself until the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries. The target of the onslaught was the enormous intellectual achievement of the late Middle Ages: a synthesis of Catholic theology and Aristotelian/Ptolemaic cosmology, which was achieved, in its main outlines, during the thirteenth century by St Thomas Aquinas among other leading Catholic theologians. The doctrines of the Church, the teachings of the scholastics in the universities (themselves predominantly subordinated to the task of educating the future priesthood), and the established medical beliefs and practices of the time all fell within the framework of this colossal intellectual monument. The new movement in philosophy was intimately connected with innovations in scientific knowledge and constituted a challenge to the intellectual authority of tradition, divine revelation and faith, at least in those spheres being opened up to scientific knowledge. And this challenge was not, of course, a purely 'intellectual' one. It had social and political implications of the most profound kind. Descartes, for instance, who was one of the leaders in this persistent scepticism. demonstrated his clear awareness of its political implications by hastily denying them.

I could in no way approve those cloudy and unquiet spirits who, being called neither by birth nor fortune to the handling of public affairs, are forever reforming the state in imagination; and, if I thought that there was the least thing in what I have written to bring me under suspicion of such folly, I should deeply regret its publication.¹

This was written in 1637, and it is likely that Descartes had the Inquisition, which had so recently arrested Galileo and forced him to recant his heliocentric astronomical views, very much in mind. To question the intellectual authority of the Church and the scholastics was to question the authority of an institution which was an enormous political power in itself; but more than this it was to challenge the main ideological support of the monarchical form of government. Of course, not all of the philosophical radicals of this period were also political radicals – some found ways of combining political conservatism with intellectual radicalism, whilst many more, like Descartes, disguised their radicalism in their published writings. My point is, rather, that irrespective of the openly avowed political views of individual philosophers, the overall significance of the new tendencies in philosophical thought could not be anything but subversive of the established political and intellectual order.

Of course, to challenge the - by now rather ramshackle - edifice of medieval ideas, the philosophers of the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries needed to be able to point to new, firmer foundations upon which to begin the work of reconstruction or they must run the risk of being discounted as nihilists. There were, speaking very loosely, two main alternatives to faith and revelation as sources and foundations of knowledge: reason and experience. The first alternative reason - might seem to be not so radical after all, since Thomist philosophy had been quite explicitly an attempt to give Christian belief a rational foundation and defence. But what was distinctive about the rationalism of Descartes was the democratic and individualistic form which the demand for rational defence took. At the very start of his Discourse on Method he suggests that 'the power of judging rightly, and of separating what is true from what is false (which is generally called good sense or reason), is equal by nature in all men'.² All men, it follows, have the power to submit established doctrine to the test of critical reason (though Descartes denies the propriety of just this, a little later in the text).³ And the author of the Meditations is an isolated individual, seated by his fire, subjecting everything he has hitherto taken for granted to systematic doubt. This is no mere accident of style, but symptomatic of the form taken by the problem of knowledge in the thought of both rationalist and empiricist philosophers. The central question is: what certainty can the individual human subject have concerning the world about him? Not only can the existence of God and the external world be the objects of doubt, but even the existence of other persons. Descartes's answer to the central question, that 'whatever I perceive very clearly and distinctly is true', implies that the 'natural light of reason' is capable of shining in the mind of each secluded individual.

Similarly, for the empiricists, knowledge is founded on the experience of a typified individual subject, and the scope and limits of human knowledge are defined in terms of a psychological theory of the scope and limits of the human mind. Although modern empiricists tend to abandon adherence to such a psychological theory, knowledge for them remains logically tied to the experience of the human subject.

Both the rationalists and the empiricists more or less self-consciously produced their new conceptions of knowledge and its foundation as a defence of the claims of science as a (or sometimes 'the') source of genuine knowledge. For the rationalists the criteria of certain knowledge, the standards by which all knowledge-claims must be judged were plainly drawn from logic and mathematics, whilst for the empiricists it was the experiment and observation which they took to be responsible for the contemporary advances in physical science, that they placed at the centre of their account of knowledge. But though both major tendencies or traditions in the theory of knowledge had, at least in their earlier phases, a close relationship to the sciences, they tended to conceive of this relationship differently. By now the affinity between empiricism and the under-labourer conception on the one hand, and rationalism and the master-scientist conception on the other, should be apparent.

Empiricism

The major philosophical tendency to which positivism belongs is empiricism. Positivism is a variant form of empiricism, along with phenomenalism, pragmatism, operationalism, empirio-criticism, logical empiricism and others. I shall mention some of these more modern variants again in chapters 3 and 4, but for the moment it should be sufficient to give a broad – and necessarily oversimple – characterisation of the leading doctrines of empiricism as a philosophical tendency and to give some indication of its historical significance up to the time of Comte.

'Seeing is believing': 'the proof of the pudding is in the eating': 'I saw it with my own eyes . . .'. These are the common-sense attitudes which empiricism articulates into a philosophical theory. Central to empiricism, then, is the conception of a human subject whose beliefs about the external world are worthy of the description 'knowledge' only if they can be put to the test of experience. In classical seventeenth- and eighteenth-century empiricism this doctrine is not clearly distinguished from the proposition that all genuine knowledge has its source or origin in experience. Locke, for instance, devoted the first book of his Essay to refuting the doctrine that 'there are in the understanding certain innate principles ... which the soul receives in its very first being ..., on the assumption, presumably, that to admit such principles would be to admit the possibility of true propositions not subject to the court of experience (an odd assumption for Locke, since Francis Bacon had already identified the innate contents of the mind as a fundamental source of error).
AUGUSTE COMTE AND POSITIVIST SOCIOLOGY

But most empiricists have been prepared to countenance at least one class of statements whose truth or falsity is independent of experience: these are analytic truths, or 'relations of ideas' as Hume called them. They are true or false 'by definition' or by virtue of the meanings of the terms which make them up. Sometimes such statements are referred to as 'conceptual' statements, and contrasted with 'factual' statements whose truth or falsity is establishable by experience. There is much debate within empiricism about which statements to include in the conceptual or analytical category, some arguing that the propositions of mathematics, for instance, are all of them analytic (and therefore tell us nothing about the world), others arguing, as did Mill, that mathematical propositions are factual. The modern empiricist W. V. Ouine has even gone so far as to suggest that there are no analytic propositions at all, arguing that statements simply differ in the degree to which they are protected from rejection on the basis of experience.⁴ But despite this disagreement there is a central doctrine which I shall take as the touchstone of empiricism: that there is no knowledge a priori ('prior to' or independent of experience) which is at the same time informative about the world, as distinct from our ideas, or the meanings of the terms we use.

Empiricists also differ in the kind and strength of the links they assert between knowledge and the experience upon which it is based. For the classical empiricists an elementary associationist psychology provided the framework for conceiving of this link. The mind was thought of as the initially empty and passive receptor of impressions or 'ideas' through the organs of sense. Ideas so received (or received by the mind's reflection upon its own operations) were the basic units upon which the mind could perform such operations as abstraction, combination, generalisation, etc. to yield systematic propositional knowledge of the world. Later empiricists who dispensed with this psychological theory tended to search for logical links between the meanings of terms, sentences, or whole systems of sentences, on the one hand, and possible confirming or disconfirming observations on the other.

A final source of variation in empiricist theories of knowledge has to do with the content they give to concepts like 'experience', 'perception', or 'observations'. For Francis Bacon (not in the fullest sense an empiricist, but certainly one of its most important forerunners) 'experience' involved practical attempts to change nature, setting ideas to work. The concept of experience in empiricist thought subsequently became progressively attenuated through the metaphor of impressions on a plain sheet to that of an inner display of mental images which serve rather to cut off the subject from knowledge of his environment than to inform him of its constitution.

The history of empiricism⁵

Because of this variability of empiricist doctrine, it is extremely difficult to generalise about its historical significance. In Britain from the mid-sixteenth century an empirical tendency of thought seems to have become dominant among the mathematicians, scientists, craftsmen and merchants who were receptive to new scientific ideas which were rapidly being introduced from the continent. Men such as Robert Recorde, Thomas Digges, John Dee, Nicholas Culpeper, William Gilbert and a host of others were active, not only in translating important scientific works into the vernacular, but in making important contributions of their own to mathematics, astronomy, magnetism, medicine and so on. Perhaps, in part, because of the scholastic resistance to the new knowledge in the universities, and the 'college of physicians', and also because of the resistance on the part of these vested interests to the popular spread of knowledge ('Vile men would, prelate-like, have knowledge hid').6 science developed in England outside the universities under the patronage of the merchants, and in close relationship with the crafts, manufactures and methods of transport of the day. Scientists learned from these practices and also, with an eve to the practical application of their knowledge, co-operated to provide free scientific education to the popular classes. It is also beyond question that the newly prevailing current of Protestantism was connected with this combined flowering of science, commerce and manufacture (though the precise form of this connection is very much a matter of debate).⁷

The philosopher (and corrupt politician), Francis Bacon (1561-1627) was able to articulate and combine these existing practical knowledges and scientific traditions with Protestant theology into an intellectual system which, once the power of the monarchy and the bishops was challenged by the Civil War, was a powerful influence on the development of science and industry and of social reform. In particular, his achievement was to appropriate the rigorous separation between God and nature which was central to Protestant theology to serve as a justification for the free exploration by experimental methods of the latter domain, unhampered by theological restrictions. This separation of the two domains enabled Bacon and his empiricist successors to defend the autonomy of the sciences whilst at the same time giving 'to faith that which is faith's'.8 Science was given further ethical justification in terms of its contribution to the glorification of God through knowledge of his creation and, more importantly, in terms of a conception of human progress through the application of science in trade and manufacture. It is not surprising, therefore, that many of the most politically radical of the parliamentarians - including the Digger, Winstanley and the

AUGUSTE COMTE AND POSITIVIST SOCIOLOGY

Leveller, Overton – together with a group supported by Pym who proposed state patronage for scientific research and massive educational reform, were the bearers of Bacon's ideas. Another of Bacon's intellectual legatees, the political philosopher Hobbes, was by no means a radical, though it is not without significance that his combination of the empiricist theory of knowledge with a mechanicalmaterialist causal theory of perception and of mental functions such as memory led him to be attacked as an atheist.

The work of the post-revolutionary philosopher, John Locke, can be understood as a compromise between conflicting tendencies, granting (with doubtful consistency) certainty to our knowledge of the existence of God, yet at the same time advancing the claims of the natural sciences. Only in the work of the Irish philosopher, Bishop George Berkeley (1683–1753) do we find empiricism turned back upon itself, historically speaking, to provide a defence for theology and a critique of science. For Berkeley, since all the mind is directly aware of are its own ideas, there can be no justification in experience for the claim that these ideas are 'representations' or 'copies' of a material world outside us. We must, rather, suppose that our ideas are produced in our minds by a beneficent creator.

Enlightenment and revolution in France⁹

In the eighteenth century the centre of the stage, philosophically speaking, is taken by Enlightenment France. Here the rationalist epistemology and the cosmology of Descartes rapidly came under challenge from the physical theory and empiricist epistemology connected with the names of Newton and Locke. The sensationalist philosopher Condillac played the leading role in popularising these intellectual currents in France, and the enormously influential philosophers grouped around the Encyclopédie were all to a greater or lesser degree followers of Locke. The empiricist epistemology was, for many of them, combined with atheism and materialism. D'Holbach even turns Locke's own argument against obscurantism in science against theology. 'Theology is nothing but ignorance of natural causes reduced to a system', and the name of God only 'a vague word that men have continually on their lips without being able to attach to it any ideas . . .'. Locke never dared, or was never disposed to draw such conclusions from his epistemology.

The Encyclopedists were also followers of Locke in their political philosophy, which resembled their epistemology in taking the individual subject as its central concept. Social and political institutions were to be judged by the liberty they allowed the individual to dispose himself and his property as he pleased, within the law. The authority of the state was conditional upon the consent of the

subjects, sovereign and subjects alike being bound by a social contract whose existence was the sole source of political authority and of civil society itself. But this classical liberal-democratic political philosophy was by no means without its internal problems. A central source of intellectual difficulty and (later, when the philosophy became transformed into a programme for action) of political schism, was that the rights to liberty and property (these rights were hardly distinguished from one another) were seen to conflict with the ideals of democracy and equality once these ideals were conceived in anything more than purely formal or juridical terms. A constitutional monarchy, with a limited property-franchise, on the English pattern, was the political form which most nearly realised the aspirations of these liberal theorists. Others, most notably Rousseau, who came close to producing a critique of the Enlightenment in its own terms, insisted upon the need to restrict the liberty to accumulate wealth in the interests of equality. Though generally regarded as a radical Rousseau was quite ambiguous in his political thought. His conception of economic equality (inequalities should never be so great as to permit of the citizen's selling himself, or being bought by another) implied hostility to the capitalist development of industry, aided by scientific advance, upon which the Enlightenment, following both Locke and Bacon, had based its firm conviction of the inevitability of human progress. Further, in some places Rousseau makes it clear that he favours economic equality less as a desirable end in itself than as a condition whose absence is a threat to the more important end of social order. Rousseau also made a profound break with the individualism of the Enlightenment in his notion of the 'general will' which was to serve as an important source both of French conservative thought and of later socialist and communist political thought.

In England, a century before, the empiricist theory of knowledge, together with the science it defended, had played a part in preparing the intellectual conditions for the English revolution. In France, science and empiricism, together with the political philosophy of liberalism which had also been established by the British empiricists, played their part in preparing the way for the yet more profound revolution of 1789–94. In both revolutions empiricism, science and religious unorthodoxy were partisan forces. They favoured (and, in general, were favoured by) the newly forming bourgeoisie, the merchants, the manufacturers, the artisans and craftsmen, not to mention the professionals, the shopkeepers and the urban and rural labouring poor: in short, they favoured those classes whose political alliance broke the power of the old feudal order, and established the conditions for the development of the capitalist mode of production and distribution, and the social order based upon it.¹⁰

AUGUSTE COMTE AND POSITIVIST SOCIOLOGY

But in the English case the revolutionary cutting-edge of empiricism became blunted with the achievement of this task - even prior to it. The English compromise between aristocracy and bourgeoisie is mirrored in Locke's compromise in epistemology. In France, the initial phases of revolution seemed set to replace absolute monarchy with a compromise on the English model. But the contradictions in the French social structure, and the exigencies of its international situation, would not allow of this. In the defence of their newly won liberties against international counter-revolution the French bourgeoisie had to call upon and mobilise ever broader and deeper layers of the French masses. But the very extent of this mobilisation, and the far greater differentiation of the 'Third Estate' in France meant that the liberal bourgeois leadership of the French revolution met with a more rapid and far more powerful challenge from below than had been experienced by their counterparts in the English revolution. Those who risked their lives to defend the property-rights of the bourgeoisie felt entitled to their share. Never again, after the experience of the radical-petit bourgeois Jacobin dictatorship of 1793/4 did French bourgeois thought return to the confident liberal individualism of the Enlightenment. The ruling currents in French social thought during the nineteenth century, in contrast to both the Enlightenment and English social philosophy, were preoccupied with the problem of subordination of the individual to the social whole, with the problem of maintaining social order. Only the British ruling class retained the self-confidence to dispense - in theory, at least - with the aid of the state to defend it against the claims of the lower orders.

The positive philosophy

This, then, was the intellectual and social setting which provided both the problems and the raw materials for the 'positive philosophy' and the science of society which was supposed to be its offspring. I have argued that the central preoccupation of the dominant current in nineteenth-century French social thought was the restoration of social order (albeit, for some, a new *form* of social order) and the subordination of the individual to a higher social totality. This is true of the positivist tradition stemming from St Simon and Comte, and persisting to influence Durkheim at the end of the century. But though this positivist tradition presented itself as a break with the Enlightenment and, as a totality, was organised around a quite different set of problems (those problems themselves having an indirect, but none the less real relationship to the changed situation and political problems 'of the leading class of the Enlightenment), several of the concepts and theoretical projects which were synthesised and fused into the positivist system were drawn from the Enlightenment.

Comte was, for a time, the pupil and assistant of the socialist thinker, St Simon. Their later estrangement, and Comte's subsequent denials of his intellectual debt to St Simon, have led to some controversy as to who was the true originator of the leading ideas of the positivist philosophy. I shall not enter into this debate, since my concern is with the thought, rather than the thinkers. Suffice it to say that in all essentials the thought of Comte is determined, whether mediately or immediately, by the same influences as that of St Simon. For both, forms of society were thought of as embodiments or applications of the systems of ideas which characterised their epoch. The central function of philosophy was to unify and systematise these ideas, a task which was to be repeated with each new epoch. The new form of social order ushered in by the French revolution, then, required a new encyclopedia - a new and up-todate systematisation of scientific knowledge. But of itself this was insufficient for its task. The existing sciences required more than systematisation - they required extension to a new field, that of man and society itself. The idea of a science of man was not new, of course, but in the eighteenth century the science of man almost always tended to be conceived as psychology, individual men being thought of as the ultimate units of analysis in any such science. Rousseau was one eighteenth-century thinker, as we have already seen, who thought of the social totality as an existence in its own right over and above the individual. There were other thinkers, the conservative opponents of the liberal thought of the Enlightenment such as De Maistre, who also rejected theoretical individualism, but the predecessor in this who seems to have been most important for the formation of the social thought of both Comte and St Simon was Montesquieu. For the latter, 'types' of social order could be distinguished according to their different political systems, there being a regular relationship between the political and other elements in each type of social order. This concept of society as an organic whole, not simply an aggregate of individuals, was taken up and developed by St Simon and Comte. In the work of the former, society was thought of on an analogy with the living organism. requiring not so much a distinct science, but rather a new branch of an existing science, physiology ('general' or 'social' physiology) for its scientific comprehension. Comte and Durkheim, respectively, retained the organic metaphor but were inclined to give successively more autonomy to the science of the social organism than did St Simon. The positivists acquired yet another element in their conception of a social science from Montesquieu: this was the notion that social phenomena, like natural phenomena (or, even 'as'

natural phenomena), are subject to general laws, whose operation is independent of the individual will, and often unknown to consciousness. More immediately, though, such a conception of social phenomena as subject to general laws had been put to work for one category of social phenomena by the economist Adam Smith. Classical political economy was, in the first decade of the nineteenth century, becoming widely known in France largely through the work of Smith's populariser, J. B. Say. St Simon's 'utopian' socialism, though critical of classical economics, adopted the same method of searching for general laws governing social life. The search for such general laws was at the heart of the positivist conception of both natural and social life.

Finally, St Simon and Comte thought of the different types of social order not simply as so many alternative forms of human existence, but instead as a historical series, in which the earlier forms are or contain the causal conditions of the later. The series, moreover, has a direction, the later forms in the series being predictable on the basis of the earlier, and representing progress with respect to them. Progress is conceived in the now familiar way as dependent upon science-led industrial development, both Comte and St Simon citing Condorcet as their precursor. There were, then, two sorts of laws governing social phenomena: 'laws of succession' between stages in the series, and 'laws of coexistence' between elements in the different forms of social order. Comte's most significant development beyond St Simon seems to have been his elaboration of the latter field.

Positivism, then, in its classical nineteenth-century form is an empiricist interpretation and systematisation of the sciences combined with a general theory of history and society which can be understood as theoretical articulation of a definite set of political problems.

Comte's history and philosophy of the sciences

The text which best demonstrates Comte's intellectual scope is the *Cours de philosophie positive*, which was published in six volumes between 1830 (the year of the overthrow of the Bourbon monarchy) and 1842. Comte devotes much space to his analysis of the crisis of European and particularly French society, returning again and again to the political necessity of a positive science of society. The following passage from volume 1 of the *Cours* is representative:

The positive philosophy offers the only solid basis for that social reorganisation which must succeed the critical condition in which the most civilised nations are now living. It cannot be necessary to prove to anybody who reads this work that ideas govern the world, or throw it into chaos; in other words, that all social mechanism rests upon opinions. The great political and moral crisis that societies are now undergoing is shown by a rigid analysis to arise out of intellectual anarchy. Till a certain number of general ideas can be acknowledged as a rallying point of social doctrine, the nations will remain in a revolutionary state, whatever palliatives may be devised, and their institutions can be only provisional. But whenever the necessary agreement on first principles can be obtained, appropriate institutions will issue from them, without shock or resistance; for the causes of disorder will have been arrested by the mere fact of the agreement. It is in this direction that those must look who desire a natural and regular, a normal state of society.¹¹

The present critical state of society is a manifestation of its transition from a 'military-theological' past (in its Catholic-feudal form) towards an inevitable 'scientific-industrial' future. Each of these social types consists of a typical correlation of institutions, and each is 'governed' or dominated by a characteristic intellectual system or 'mode of philosophising'.

So far the scientific mode of thought has not completely triumphed over its main rivals - hence the 'intellectual anarchy'. Since 'ideas govern the world', intellectual anarchy produces social anarchy, and intellectual order is a condition of social order. The implication is clear: an extension of scientific thought to social phenomena will generate systematic knowledge of society to which all must assent. The general agreement required for social order awaits the foundation of scientific 'sociology'. There are two further, subordinate ways in which the foundation of a science of society will fulfil the political project Comte has set. Hitherto, political thought has been either apologetic or wholly negative and critical with respect to the existing social order. Sociology, by demonstrating the law-governed character of all social phenomena, will set limits to rational political action.¹² Social actors will be disposed to reform what, in each form of social order, can be reformed, and adopt an attitude of resignation towards what cannot. Sociology, then, will contribute to the establishment of a 'moral order' in society. Finally, the detailed scientific knowledge produced by sociologists can be applied in efforts at social reform on an analogy with the application of physical knowledge in the improvement of techniques of production and transportation. Control over nature may be extended to control over man and society by means of 'social engineering'. Later, Comte

came to advocate a 'religion of humanity' with a priesthood of social scientists to ensure that the new science of society had the desired political effects.

All Comte's analyses, then, point to the same imperative. The foundation of scientific sociology is an urgent political, as well as intellectual necessity. But by what method is such a science to be achieved and by what criteria is success to be measured? What are the conditions for the foundation of such a science, and why has its advent been so long delayed? To answer these questions Comte propounds a general theory of the nature and development of scientific knowledge. In one important respect this theory breaks with classical empiricism. For Comte the 'knowing subject' is not the solitary individual but the 'human spirit'. This substitution is connected with Comte's rejection of the psychology of the earlier empiricists on the grounds that 'internal observation engenders almost as many divergent opinions as there are individuals to pursue it'. The proper scientific method, Comte argued, was best understood not through introspection but through study of its actual application in the history of the sciences. It is through this study that the cognitive 'progress of the human spirit' can be grasped and so advanced. So, although Comte's epistemology takes as its starting-point an objective idealist metaphysic (as distinct from the 'subjective idealism' of Berkeley) it does represent an important advance in linking philosophical thought about the nature of scientific knowledge and method with historical study of the sciences.

The Cours begins with Comte's announcement of his discovery of a 'fundamental law' to which the development of the human mind is subject (primarily Comte's law refers to the human species, but he also believed that his fundamental law was recapitulated in individual intellectual development).

This law is that each of our principal conceptions, each branch of our knowledge, passes successively through three different theoretical states: the theological or fictitious, the metaphysical or abstract, and the scientific or positive.¹³

There are three incompatible methods of philosophising – ways of rendering comprehensible, of ordering the world. The first is a necessary starting-point for the development of human understanding, and consists in a search for first and final causes, for 'absolute' knowledge. Phenomena are explained by reference to the acts of supernatural agencies. The highest point of development of the theological state is reached when all phenomena are conceived as the effect of a single deity. The second, metaphysical state is merely a means of transition to the positive. In it, supernatural agencies are replaced by abstract forces and underlying entities to which all phenomena are referred. The highest development of metaphysical thought involves the reference of all phenomena to the single entity 'Nature'. But only when it has reached the third, positive state has a branch of knowledge attained genuine scientific status. Comte's characterisation of the positive state, therefore, is his answer to the classical epistemological question as to the criterion of genuine scientific knowledge, but under a historical guise.

Since this is Comte's answer to the question, What characteristics must sociology have to be counted as properly scientific?, I shall return to a fuller consideration of the 'positive state'. For the moment, however, it is necessary to understand that, though all branches of knowledge must pass through Comte's three stages, they do not all do so at the same time. This, of course, was one of Comte's central problems: why has social knowledge not yet reached its scientific maturity, whereas the other sciences have done, or are doing so? The solution to this is provided by Comte's classification of the sciences, and his attempt to give them an encyclopedic ordering. Apart from mathematics, to which Comte gives first place in his ordering of the sciences, Comte is concerned with astronomy, physiology, sociology, chemistry and terrestrial physics. The principal criteria he uses in the ordering are the relations of dependency between the classes of phenomena that each science deals with, the consequent dependency-relations persisting between the sciences themselves, and the further considerations of degree of generality/ particularity and simplicity/complexity. The application of each of these criteria yields, surprisingly enough, the same systematic ordering of the sciences. Though there is some confusion in Comte's account of these criteria, this is the general idea: astronomy is more 'general' than say physiology since laws such as Newton's law of gravitation apply to all bodies which have mass, whilst the laws of physiology apply to only a relatively limited sub-class of such bodies - i.e. living bodies. Also, astronomy is more 'simple' than physiology since the former is concerned with bodies only so far as its own (i.e. astronomical) laws apply to them, whereas physiology must take into account that not only its own laws, but also the laws of physics and chemistry combine to produce the phenomena of living organisms. Finally, the phenomena of physiology are 'dependent' on those of astronomy in that the survival and characteristics of organisms are very much affected by planetary motions, whereas planetary motions are unaffected by living organisms.

The ordering of the sciences which these criteria produce is: mathematics, astronomy, physics, chemistry, physiology, sociology. The crucial point about this classification is that it represents not only the rational arrangement of the sciences in any systematic presentation of human knowledge as a whole, but also the historical order of development of the sciences. It is a schematic history of the sciences (schematic, that is, even in Comte, not just in my considerable over-simplification). If, in order to fully understand physiological phenomena, it is necessary to know the principal laws of physics and chemistry, then it would clearly be impossible for the science of physiology to get very far until these principal laws of physics and chemistry were known. 'Social physics', whose phenomena are the most particular, complex and dependent of all, is consequently the last to enter the positive state. Comte's explanation of the under-development of sociology is completed by yet another ordering of the sciences - on the basis of their relative distance from the immediate concerns of men. By virtue of its 'intimate connection with human passions' the development of sociology could be expected to be still further retarded. In 140 years of bemoaning the absence of a Newton or a Galileo in the social sciences, positivists and empiricists have produced no explanation of this deplorable state of affairs which compares with Comte's for elegance or plausibility.

But according to Comte's analysis the intellectual conditions for the foundation of scientific sociology had already matured, whilst political conditions rendered it an urgent necessity. The questions remained, what is the method by which positive sociology is to be established, and what form will it take? The answers to these questions are to be found in Comte's characterisation of the 'positive stage' of human knowledge in general. In the present chapter I shall confine myself to giving an account of Comte's conception of scientific method, together with a restricted set of criticisms. More fundamental criticisms of the positivist conception of science must await further discussion of the development of positivism since Comte's death.

In the positive state, Comte says,

The human mind, recognising the impossibility of attaining to absolute concepts, gives up the search for the origin and destiny of the universe and the inner causes of phenomena, and confines itself to the discovery, through reason and observation combined, of the actual laws that govern the succession and similarity of phenomena. The explanation of the facts, now reduced to its real terms, consists in the establishment of a link between various particular phenomena and a few general facts, which diminish in number with the progress of science.¹⁴

A little later in the Cours we get:

It is the nature of positive philosophy to regard all phenomena as subject to invariable natural *laws*, the discovery of which,

AUGUSTE COMTE AND POSITIVIST SOCIOLOGY

and their reduction to the least possible number, is the aim and end of all our efforts, while causes, either first or final, are considered to be absolutely inaccessible, and the search for them meaningless. . . . Everyone knows that in positive explanation, even when it is most perfect, we do not pretend to expound the generative *causes* of phenomena, as that would be merely to put the difficulty one stage further back, but rather to analyse the circumstances in which the phenomena are produced, and to link them to one another by the relations of succession and similarity.¹⁵

The positive philosophy, then, attributes a distinctive series of characteristics to scientific knowledge. The first is that science takes as its object phenomena or general relations between phenomena. 'Phenomena', for empiricists, are external 'appearances', immediately given in sense-perception. It follows that Comte adheres to the familiar empiricist thesis that scientific knowledge must be based on sensory observation, its scope and limits being determined by the scope and limits of sense-experience. Comte, like many of his predecessors, did not distinguish very clearly between the claims that knowledge must have its source in sense-experience and that it must be testable by appeal to sense-experience. Sometimes it seems he has the one in mind, at other times the other, so that it may be assumed he would have assented to both.¹⁶

The second characteristic of knowledge in the positive state concerns the form of the statements which constitute it. These are not statements of particular facts (though they may be derived by inductive generalisation from them) but are statements of universal laws. They state the necessary and invariant relations between classes of phenomena. A phenomenon, or a class of phenomena, is scientifically explained when the law governing its occurrence has been discovered. As science advances, phenomena and the laws governing them are subsumed under progressively smaller numbers of increasingly general laws. A corollary of this conception of scientific explanation is that science involves the abandonment of any search for the unobserved causes or generative mechanisms underlying observed phenomena. It also involves abandoning the search for 'final causes' - that is to say, for explanations in terms of 'goals' or 'intentions'. Explanations of these types are rejected by Comte as metaphysical or theological and are, rather confusingly for the modern reader, termed 'causal' explanations. The type of explanation which Comte advocates instead of causal explanations is precisely the type which now is recognised as the paradigm of causal explanation. On this conception (about which I shall have

AUGUSTE COMTE AND POSITIVIST SOCIOLOGY

more to say in chapters 3 and 4) the 'cause' of a phenomenon is an observable 'condition' or 'circumstance' invariably accompanying or preceding the phenomenon (or phenomena of that type) and never occurring without the production of the phenomenon in question. This conception of causal explanation is a plausible account of some well-known examples of scientific explanation. The heating of a metal bar is a necessary and sufficient condition for it to expand and so is properly called its 'cause'. The increase in pressure on a constant mass of gas at constant temperature is the 'cause' of a decrease in its volume, and so on. But what is to be said about causal explanations of these phenomena in terms of the atomic theory of matter? The relations between the temperature and volume of a metal bar, and those between the pressure and volume of a mass of gas can both be explained in terms of the properties and, in particular, the states of motion, of their molecular constituents. The changing states of motion of these unobservable particles may also be said to be 'causes' - generative causes - of the observed, or 'phenomenal' changes in macro-properties such as temperature, volume, pressure and so on. Although Comte accepted such explanations as scientific it is not at all clear that he was consistent in so doing. The conception of cause which they involve should strictly speaking have been rejected by Comte as metaphysical, and such explanations cannot obviously be reduced to explanations in terms of general laws governing phenomena. Similarly, this conception of scientific knowledge commits Comte either to the outright rejection of teleological explanations (i.e. explanations in terms of aims and intentions) and functional explanations in physiology and sociology or to some attempt to show that they are really no more than his favoured type of causal explanation in a logical disguise. This is a problem Comte never adequately tackled. Finally, the limitation of the object of scientific knowledge to observable 'phenomena' entailed important restrictions on the scope of human knowledge in Comte's conception of it. For instance, he was convinced that astronomy could never study the chemical composition, mineralogical structure or living organisms belonging to the 'stars'.¹⁷ This was because astronomical observation was restricted to visual observation alone. Such a restriction of the scope of scientific knowledge is a persistent danger for positivist and empiricist philosophies of science. Of course, no one has gone so far as to restrict knowledge to the content of what is actually observed, but Comte came close to this in seeming to restrict knowledge to what 'could' be observed in the sense of 'immediately technically possible' observation. The different senses of 'possible observation' have, since Comte's day, given positivists serious difficulty in their attempts to distinguish between what can and what cannot be tested by some 'possible' observation.

It follows, then, that the Comtian conception of scientific explanation must be regarded either as excluding from the status of 'scientific' explanation a whole range of explanations which are and were widely accepted as scientific or as representing all of these types of explanation in a very defective and inadequate way. It also follows that if applied in a rigorous way as a guide to the production of new scientific knowledge Comte's conception of the nature of scientific explanation would be quite disastrously restrictive.

A further corollary of the conception of scientific knowledge as consisting in the discovery of general laws governing phenomena is the assertion of a close logical connection between explanation and prediction. Comte goes so far as to make rational prediction a criterion of scientific knowledge ('Yet without such prediction there is no science properly so called').¹⁸ The link here, of course, is that predictive success or failure is the means by which the general laws which license the predictions are tested. 'Knowledge' which yields no predictions is not testable and therefore not true knowledge. But this connection of prediction with explanation has still more significance for Comte: it provides the basis for the all-important link between science and 'art' or, perhaps, what we should call 'practice' or 'technique'. There are two distinct types of such relationship for Comte. First, we may modify our actions in the light of foreknowledge of some future unalterable event - e.g. evacuate homes or reinforce sea walls in the light of a prediction of high tides - on the basis of astronomical knowledge. Second, we may deliberately intervene to alter 'conditions' or 'circumstances' and so bring about desired effects. As Comte understood, these two types of relationship between science and technique ultimately derive from differences in the scale and type of system concerned. Human intervention is powerless to modify astronomical systems, whereas physiological and social systems are eminently modifiable. Whereas prediction alone is the criterion of success in astronomy successful modification of outcomes is the main criterion in physiology and sociology. It is this relationship between science and 'art' in the case of sociology which takes the main weight of Comte's political project, and I shall return to it a little later.

Yet another of Comte's theses on the nature of scientific knowledge is linked with the concept of general law. This thesis is that of the unity of the sciences. Comte is cautious in the notion of unity he proposes, though:

In assigning to positive philosophy the aim of reducing the totality of acquired knowledge to one single body of homogeneous doctrine, relatively to the different orders of natural phenomena, I have no intention of making a general AUGUSTE COMTE AND POSITIVIST SOCIOLOGY

study of these phenomena as the diverse effects of one single principle, as subject to one and the same law.¹⁹

For Comte, then, the principle of the unity of science does not require that all knowledge be presented as deducible from a single law. The only plausible candidate was Newton's law of gravitation. which did already allow of the deduction of the laws of planetary motion, of free fall near the earth's surface and, in a suggestion of Laplace, even of chemical phenomena. But Comte regarded such aspirations as not only premature, but also not particularly valuable even if achieved. For practical purposes the division of intellectual labour in the various sciences would have to remain fundamentally unchanged. The rather more modest unity to which Comte does aspire is unity of method and homogeneity of doctrine. By unity of method Comte seems to have meant that the general characteristics of the 'positive state' apply to all of the sciences once they reach this state, although at a lower level of generality there will be differences of method between the individual sciences. For example, although observation is the necessary source of all scientific knowledge, Comte distinguishes three sub-species of the general category 'observation'. These are 'observation', narrowly conceived, experimentation, and comparison of types. These different forms of observation are differentially appropriate and important in the different sciences. The notion of 'homogeneity' of doctrine is not clarified by Comte but at least it means, presumably, that the laws of the different sciences if not actually mutually deducible would nevertheless not contradict one another.

On one final characteristic of the 'positive state' Comte is in line with his empiricist predecessors and successors. The distinction between analytic statements ('relations of ideas') and synthetic ones ('factual' statements) is not obviously exhaustive. It does not provide any obvious way of classifying statements such as express aesthetic evaluations, or moral and political judgments. Empiricists have, in general, been restricted to two alternative ways of treating value judgments. Either they are regarded as a species of disguised factual statement (the Utilitarians, for instance, proposed the programme of representing all moral judgments as statements about quantities of happiness or pleasure) or they must be regarded as non-cognitive, perhaps even as literally meaningless (as mere expressions of feeling or attitude). Comte belongs to the latter tradition. For him, positive science must neither 'admire nor condemn' the facts, but simply regard them as objects of observation. This notion that science must remain neutral on questions of value, or sacrifice its claim to the status of science, remains one of the most strongly held values of empiricist philosophers and of many scientists, too. But it also remains the object of strong controversy and we must return to it.

Comte's sociology

To conclude this chapter I shall enter into some of the controversy surrounding Comte's attempt to put into practice his intellectual project of a sociology conforming to his notion of the positive method. First, the status of the class of phenomena which sociology takes as its object. All living beings present 'two distinct orders of phenomena' - those pertaining to the individual, and those pertaining to the species. This distinction is of particular importance in the case of social species such as man. The second order of phenomena - those pertaining to the species, social phenomena - are more complex and particular than, and are also dependent upon the individual phenomena. But it doesn't follow that social physiology is merely an appendix of individual physiology (as St Simon held). nor that the 'collective study of the species' can be treated as a deduction from the study of the individual (as in Enlightenment political philosophy and classical political economy). The interaction of individuals and the action of each generation upon its successor are the sources of a modification of the effects of the laws of individual phenomena. This modification is responsible for the autonomy of social phenomena, and its social conditions are the primary concern of sociology. 'Thus social physics must be founded on a body of direct observation proper to it alone, always having regard to its intimate and necessary relation to physiology."20

Once having delineated, to his satisfaction, the proper field of sociology. Comte seeks to apply to it a 'fundamental distinction' which he derives from the other sciences – especially biology. This is the distinction between the 'static' and 'dynamic' treatment of phenomena. In fact, Comte's use of the distinction in no sense corresponds to its use in other sciences, but it is nevertheless an important distinction. Social statics has as its objective the study of the constituent parts of the different forms of social order and their mutual relationships, abstracting as far as possible from their 'movement' or development. The laws proper to social statics are 'laws of co-existence'. Social dynamics has as its objective the discovery of general laws governing the overall development of human societies and ultimately of the human species itself. The law of three stages which I have already discussed is a leading law of social dynamics. The laws proper to social dynamics are 'laws of succession'. It is in this distinction that is to be found yet another formulation of Comte's central political project. The principal metaphysical and theological traditions of social thought which Comte's attempt at a positive social theory are meant to supplement were Catholic and monarchistic reaction and the persistent 'negative' political philosophy of the Enlightenment. Rid of its theological or

AUGUSTE COMTE AND POSITIVIST SOCIOLOGY

metaphysical shell of the 'divine right' or the 'sovereignty of the people' each of these traditions of thought has a rational kernel. Conservative thought rightly insists on the necessity of social order, but seeks in vain for a return to an obsolescent form of social order, whilst the philosophy of the Enlightenment rightly insists on progress but wrongly conceives of progress as exclusive of order. Hence the threat of anarchy and revolution. Comte, on the other hand, advocates the positive study of order in the social statics, and of progress in the social dynamics, the consequence of which will be a reconciliation of the principles of progress and order: orderly progress.

Several important criticisms of Comte, and of the whole positivist programme for the social sciences, have to do with the notion of the law-governed character of social phenomena, and in particular with Comte's distinction between two sorts of sociological laws. Some of these criticisms are directed from philosophical standpoints systematically opposed to the positivist one (I have, in a preliminary way, referred to these collectively as 'humanism') and so will be more appropriately dealt with in connection with their philosophical source. But other criticisms come from within the empiricist tradition and I shall deal here with several of these, as advanced by the contemporary philosopher Karl Popper. The first criticism is that Comte's whole conception of an analogy between the application of social knowledge in political change, and the application of physical knowledge in industry, warfare, trade, etc. (hereafter referred to as 'social engineering') is vitiated by Comte's defective concept of a 'law of succession'. Popper's criticism is also (mis)directed against Marx, on the (mistaken) view that Marx, too, held a conception of history as a necessary sequence of stages.

Popper's underlying political project has a close affinity with Comte's own; it is to demonstrate that scientific knowledge can form the basis for piecemeal social reform (this, indeed, constitutes the analogue in the social sciences for natural scientific experimentation) but never for the advocacy of revolutionary transformation. Thus Popper distinguishes between 'piecemeal' and wholesale or 'Utopian' social engineering,²¹ arguing that the former is essential to the development of scientific knowledge of society whilst the latter is simply logically incoherent. Popper thinks he can detect the advocacy of the latter in Comte, as well as in Marx, and so Comte becomes a prime target.

To sustain his argument Popper requires two distinctions. First, he points out that there is a difference between trends and laws.²² The statement of a trend simply summarises a series of facts or observations, recording a directional variation in some parameter. For example, Weber asserted the existence of a 'trend' for institutions in modern society to become more and more bureaucratic, and for bureaucratic modes of organisation to be adopted by progressively more institutions. More simple cases are such trends as rising or falling death rates, birth rates, unemployment rates, etc. Trend statements are categorical (i.e. unconditional), particular, and do not license predictions. That it has been getting warmer for the past few days, or that the balance of payments deficit has been increasing for the last few months is not, of itself, any basis for predicting that it will continue to get warmer, or that the balance of trade will continue to get worse.

By contrast, the statement of a law is conditional and universal. The law that metals expand when heated is, when fully expressed, a statement to the effect that all metal objects, if heated, expand. Although the evidence for the truth of the law may be particular observations of the behaviour of particular pieces of metal, the law itself does not assert that any particular piece of metal actually has been heated or is being heated. It merely states what would happen whenever this condition was fulfilled. Knowledge of laws, unlike knowledge of trends, can form a scientific basis for prediction. If it is known that all metals expand when heated then it can be predicted that if this particular piece of metal is heated, then it will expand.

Popper also distinguishes two types of scientific prediction.²³ One sort, which he calls 'prophecies', are of events 'which we can do nothing to prevent'. Examples are predictions of the occurrence of typhoons, comets and eclipses. The other sort, which he calls 'technological predictions', form the basis of engineering, and inform us of steps we should take in order to achieve certain results. These predictions concern physical, chemical, social systems, etc., which allow of human intervention to alter the circumstances in which effects are produced so as to modify them in accordance with our intentions. It should be obvious that Popper's distinction corresponds exactly to Comte's distinction between the two types of relationship between science and 'art'.²⁴

Popper's argument is that theorists like Comte, Mill and Marx (in Popper's controversial interpretation), in claiming to discover laws of development or progress in society, in claiming to distinguish successive stages through which all societies must inevitably pass, begin by observing (often accurately) trends of various sorts, but go on to make predictions on the basis of these trends as if they were laws. But, worse than this, they make unconditional predictions, whereas even laws license only conditional predictions. Such unconditional predictions, or 'prophecies', are, then, devoid of any scientific basis whilst the notion of 'law of development' on which they purport to be based is logically incoherent. If follows that the revolutionary project of 'utopian social engineering' is deprived of its apparent scientific backing in the notion of such inevitable successions of social orders.

But there is a serious flaw in the argument. Popper uses the term 'prophecy' equivocally. It began as a prediction of an event which we can do nothing to prevent, but ended as a prediction of an event which will happen 'no matter what', independently of any conditions.²⁵ Clearly, for example, an astronomical prediction is a prophecy in the first sense, but not in the second. This equivocation vitiates Popper's argument. Much of the force of the argument derives from the absurdity of the idea of an 'absolute trend' leading inexorably and unconditionally to some end-state. However, if Marx's prediction of the end of capitalism, or Comte's prediction of the emergence of a new scientifically ordered society are understood as prophecies in Popper's original sense they lose their appearance of absurdity. If they are regarded not as predictions about what will happen unconditionally, but as predictions about what cannot be prevented by deliberate human intervention in history that is to say, as statements about the limitations of what Popper calls piecemeal social engineering – then they may be false, but at least they are not obviously absurd. Not only was this precisely Comte's objective (i.e. to set limits to political reform and discredit 'negative' theories of revolution) but Popper, unbeknown to himself, apparently, is entirely in accord with him. Popper's notion of piecemeal social engineering and Comte's notion of social engineering are identical. For both writers they are the social science analogue of experimental testing of theories in the natural sciences, and an important implement of social progress.

As I shall argue later, the conception of experiments as a means of testing theories is a defective and over-simple representation of the role of experimentation in the natural sciences.²⁶ Both Comte and Popper presuppose it. But their conception of social reforms as a means of testing social theories is even more questionable. Comte is quite explicit about the political authority which his priesthood of sociologists would have, and makes no attempt to disguise the political significance of this. Popper simply fails to pose the crucial questions of the nature of the social institutions through which the social experiments (reforms) required by the sociologists would be proposed and implemented, and whose interests they would serve. But the political character of his proposals can nevertheless be established by considering what is presupposed in them. For social reforms to serve as a test for social theories, there must be an identity between, on the one hand, the political problems of those who have the power to implement reforms as a means of solving those problems and, on the other hand, the theoretical problems of the sociological theorists. To advocate that sociological theory be, in this

respect, an articulation of the political problems of a ruling group is to accede to a conception of sociology as a ruling ideology, or as a variant of such a ruling ideology. Popper's examples of the urgent practical problems which social engineering is to tackle, and his examples of the 'technological laws' which would be set to work in solving them both reveal a political and ideological link with a definite interest. The 'most urgent practical questions of the day' include the possibility of controlling trade cycles (not eliminating them!) and 'how to export democracy to the Middle East' (Popper's book appeared in 1957).²⁷ whilst available technological laws include 'You cannot have full employment without inflation' (intended as a universal law of human society, and not one restricted in scope to the capitalist mode of production).²⁸ Ouite generally, those positivists who think of the relationship between theory and practice in this way simultaneously assert and deny the scientific status of sociology. Their position is internally contradictory.

There are two arguments of subsidiary importance which Popper directs against the ideas of laws of succession and 'utopian social engineering'. The first is that the evolution of society (or of life on earth) is a unique historical process.²⁹ Its description is a singular historical statement, lacking the generality required for the statement of a law. This is, clearly, a powerful objection to Comte's laws of succession in their ultimate application to the whole of human society. That the history of the human species is to be understood as one history is a central Comtean doctrine. However, Comte's application of the law of three stages to 'each of our leading conceptions each branch of our knowledge' is not so susceptible to Popper's criticism. Here Comte merely claims that several discrete histories are subject to a single general law. The second of Popper's arguments is directly concerned with 'utopian social engineering'. Such revolutionary projects, he claims, have as their objective a re-ordering of the totality of social relations. The 'totalities' which are proposed as objects of scientific knowledge, and as objects of political transformation by 'utopian social engineers' cannot, argues Popper, logically be objects of either. This is because all observation and description must be selective, whereas the utopian notion of totality involves 'all the properties or aspects of a thing, and ... all the relations holding between its constituent parts'.³⁰ Popper's conception of a 'real world' consisting of an infinity of aspects and relations from which we make a 'selection' for scientific observation and description is epistemologically suspect, and we shall have occasion to discuss it further in the context of Weber's methodology. Fortunately it is not necessary to do so here, since Popper is so clearly attacking men of straw. Neither Marx nor Comte (nor, for that matter, the theorist Popper refers to most in this connection,

Karl Mannheim) holds to such a conception of totality. The social 'totality' is, for them, grasped principally through a set of fundamental and distinctive characteristics (the system of property, the type of state, the predominant 'mode of philosophising', etc.). The transformation of a social totality in respect of these fundamental characteristics is held to be a condition of transformation in other respects because of the causal primacy of the 'fundamental' characteristics. None of this entails or presupposes the mystical conception of totality which Popper criticises.

A final criticism of Comte's version of positivism is implicit in Popper, but not actually expressed by him. Popper's view is that general laws governing human social behaviour are possible – he even gives some candidates for the status. But he outlines – as a 'historicist' doctrine – an argument which he (presumably) would accept as fatal to this view if successful.³¹ The 'historicist' argument is that there are no universal uniformities in social life, but merely uniformities which characterise only some societies, and then only for limited periods of time. Such uniformities are not laws in the scientific sense. Popper's position seems to be that if the social studies were, indeed, limited to the discovery and characterisation of such uniformities of limited scope, then this would rule out the possibility of scientific sociological laws, but that fortunately this conclusion may be avoided since there are, after all, some universal uniformities.

Now, if Popper is right in this, then he has a very strong argument against both Comte and Marx. Both of these 'historicists' (in Popper's idiosyncratic use of this term) held that there were scientific laws (laws of 'co-existence' in Comte's sense) which were limited in their application to certain epochs and to certain types of social formation. This is what Comte seems to have meant by his claim that knowledge in the positive stage was 'relative' rather than 'absolute'. Such knowledge states the existence of laws of coexistence peculiar – or 'relative' – to each social type. The objection to this is clear: a general law asserts a universal relation between phenomena. It is supposed to hold good independently of restrictions of space or time, and so a 'law' of restricted scope cannot be a general law.

This objection can be answered with the help of an example which brings out the logic of the situation rather more clearly than any drawn from Comte's own work. This is the example of Marx's general law of capitalist accumulation, to the effect that, in capitalist society, the increasing productiveness of labour leads to greater insecurity of employment. Marx states the law as follows:

The law by which a constantly increasing quantity of means of production, thanks to the advance in the productiveness of

social labour, may be set in movement by a progressively diminishing expenditure of human power, this law, in a capitalist society – where the labourer does not employ the means of production, but the means of production employ the labourer – undergoes a complete inversion and is expressed thus: the higher the productiveness of labour, the greater is the pressure of the labourers on the means of employment, the more precarious, therefore, becomes their condition of existence, viz., the sale of their own labour-power for the increasing of another's wealth, or for the self-expansion of capital.³²

Marx goes on to argue that some other economic writers have confused this antagonistic character of capitalist accumulation with analogous but 'essentially distinct' phenomena of pre-capitalist modes of production, and so come to regard it as a 'general natural law of social wealth'. Marx's law can be loosely paraphrased as: under capitalist relations of production, an increase in the productiveness of labour leads to an increased competition between labourers for a (relatively) diminishing number of jobs.

When Marx denies that this is 'a general natural law of social wealth' he is denving that an increase in social wealth always and everywhere leads to an increase in the precariousness of the labourer's employment. He is, therefore, apparently susceptible to our Popperian argument in just the same way as Comte. But it is clear from the quotation that Marx is not arguing that there is something special about certain places and times which renders the law applicable. The law applies under certain specifiable conditions - social systems dominated by capitalist production relations – which may or may not be actually satisfied in various places or times. The law - like any other law - is conditional in form; it claims only that if certain economic relations prevail, then certain consequences follow. It makes no categorical claim about the general distribution of those economic relations and so cannot be falsified by the existence of economic forms of society in which capitalist relations of production, and hence capitalist accumulation, do not occur. Independently of the question of its truth or falsity, there is nothing about the form of Marx's 'general law of capitalist accumulation' which renders it unacceptable as a general law. The same applies to Comte's laws of co-existence. As we shall see, many natural-science laws are similarly restricted in scope. Some, indeed, do not apply to any actual or realisable state of affairs at all, but characterise the behaviour of 'ideal' gases, 'perfectly' elastic particles, and so on.

Finally, it is necessary to turn to the by now rather heavily worked issue of value-neutrality. Comte's commitment to valueneutrality as a general characteristic of the scientific method gets further backing with respect to sociology from his relativism. Just as each form of social order has its own kind of unity, its own 'method of philosophising', and its own laws of co-existence, so the successive epochs 'can never be commensurate with one another, as far as individual happiness is concerned ...'.³³ One of the most powerful attacks on Comte's – and the general positivist – claim to value-neutrality has come from the Hegelian Marxist philosopher, Herbert Marcuse. The core of Marcuse's position is that the central doctrine of positivism commits the positivist social theorist to the rejection of a critique of the existing social order, and so to political conservatism and the abandonment, in practice, of the pose of neutrality.

The standard of adequacy which Marcuse demands of any set of concepts for analysing a particular social order is that it include at least some concepts which are historical and transcendent. That is to say, any adequate analysis of a social order must be capable of understanding it in the light of what it emerged from and, more especially, in the light of its future potentialities. This is the notion underlying Marcuse's own way of using Comte's distinction between positive and negative philosophy. The philosophy of the Enlightenment was negative in that it 'tested human practice by the standard of a truth transcendent to the given social order, the standard represented by a social ordering that did not exist as a fact but as a goal'.³⁴ That is to say, the Enlightenment philosophers began with a notion of a 'true' human society which embodied in its institutions the values of reason and freedom, and it was in terms of this idea that they were able to condemn the 'facts' of eighteenth-century society as irrational and oppressive.

By contrast, positive philosophy has as its avowed aim the subordination of reason to the facts of social life. Whilst for the negative philosopher social reality is measured by the standard of human reason, the positive philosopher measures human reason by the standards of the prevailing social order. By insisting on deriving scientific concepts from the observable 'facts' of social life, Comte and other positivists reject the possibility of any radical critique of the existing order. 'As a result,' Marcuse concludes, 'the conceptual interest of the positive sociology is to be apologetic and justificatory.'³⁵ Both the negative philosophers and the positivists have value-commitments: the one against, the other for, the existing order.

There are two rather obvious difficulties in Marcuse's position. One concerns the epistemological status of the 'transcendent' concepts, and standards of reason and 'truth' with which the negative philosopher criticises the prevailing social order. Are they in some sense cognitively superior to the concepts of the positive philosopher (if so, in what sense and in what respect?) or do the positive and negative philosophies reduce to conflicting ideologies with no independent standard of rationality? The second concerns the gap between the positivist epistemologist and the positivist sociologist. I shall attempt to argue in the next chapter that the positivist conception of the relationship between experience and theoretical concepts in science is not just inaccurate, but logically incoherent. If this is so, it follows that the attempt to construct social theory in accordance with the positive method must necessarily fail. Thus when contemporary empiricist commentators express disappointment at Comte's failure to apply his own method in his substantive sociology, they set Comte an impossible standard. What is at fault is not Comte's application of the method, but the positivist theory of knowledge itself. But simply to admit the possibility that Comte's social theory may not have been in accord with his epistemology is sufficient to show that Marcuse's argument is not conclusive.

However, that Comte's social theory, and indeed the whole complex of his history and philosophy of the sciences together with his sociology, is the articulation of a political project has been a central theme of my own analysis of Comte's work. There is a link, in my view, between the positivist epistemology and conservative social theory, but the link is not the close, logical one which Marcuse claims to have established. The link can, I think, only be established on the basis of some substantive propositions of social theory. One of these propositions is that the common-sense thought in terms of which the social theorist, like other members of his social class or stratum, understands his own position in society and his relationships to others has embedded in it categories which both disguise and justify certain aspects of the existing social order.³⁶ If this assumption is accepted then it follows that sociology can only escape its 'apologetic and justificatory' character to the extent that it breaks with such common-sense concepts. If it is further assumed that one of the effects of the positive philosophy upon substantive sociological practice (though not strictly an application of it) is a tendency to look for observational or experimental support or counter-evidence for general laws, at the expense of critical analysis of the concepts in terms of which the laws are expressed, then the critical rejection of common-sense ideology would not be decisively achieved. As we saw, Comte's social thought was a rather uneasy combination of the principal conceptions of the two leading variants of the ruling ideology of his time: aristocratic and bourgeois.

3 The natural sciences:I. Contempory positivism and the concept of explanation

As I suggested in chapter 1, the central issue dividing the main schools of thought on the relationship between philosophy and the social studies concerns the applicability of the methods and forms of explanation proper to the 'natural' sciences in the 'social sciences'. In the name of the unity of science the positivists have argued for an extension of the methods and forms of explanation developed in the natural sciences into the social sciences, and have generally refused to recognise a difference of principle between the approaches appropriate to the two fields of enquiry. By contrast, 'humanists' of several varieties have argued that such an extension of natural science methodology and standards of explanation is inappropriate and conceptually confused. Typically, the 'humanists' argue this on the basis of their belief in the distinctive character of the object of social knowledge, or understanding (its 'phenomena' pre-empt the would-be scientist by producing explanations of themselves, are intentional, meaningful, rule- rather than law-governed, etc.).

One of the central arguments of this book is that this dispute, in setting the terms for most (though not all)¹ contemporary debate in the methodology of the social sciences, operates as a logical strait-jacket which prevents the posing of important questions necessary to the development of this field.

One method of breaking out of this straitjacket is to question a contention of the positivists which is not (or not thoroughly) challenged by the 'humanists'. This is that, in its main outlines, the positivist conception of the natural sciences is adequate.² If, however, the positivist conception of science is inadequate even as an account of the natural sciences, then nothing whatsoever about the fundamental unity or division between the social and natural sciences will follow from a humanist demonstration that the social studies 'cannot' become sciences in the sense of the positivist model of the natural sciences. Because the 'humanist' criticism of positivism is primarily criticism of it as a source of social-science methodology, and not as a philosophical theory of science in general, such criticism is marred by a confusion between objections to positivist epistemology as such and objections to its extension in characterising and informing a particular research-field. This has implications which go beyond the mere attribution of a lack of rigour to such humanist positions. Characteristically the humanist is led to suppose that the epistemological problems and methodology of the natural sciences can be put aside as of no relevance to the development of an adequate methodology in the social studies, and may even be led to complete epistemological scepticism or agnosticism. I shall attempt to demonstrate this a little more fully later on.³

An important part of the approach which I hope to outline and defend in the rest of this book is that a necessary condition of the development of an adequate social-science methodology is selective and critical discussion of both formal and substantive natural-science analogues of problems in the social sciences. Clearly this approach is ruled out both by the 'humanist' insistence on the fundamental division of the natural from the social sciences, and by the positivist conception of social-science methodology as simply an 'application' of an epistemological theory of science 'in general'. Underlying these positions, of course, are three incompatible conceptions of the unity and diversity of the sciences.

It is relevant to my argument, then, to present criticisms of the positivist conception of the natural sciences and to attempt to develop an alternative theory. For this reason I make no apology for devoting the present chapter and the next to an exposition of the main lines of development of positivist philosophy of science (including some closely related empiricist theories) in the twentieth century, together with an assessment of the achievements of antipositivist (and, more generally, anti-empiricist) philosophies of the 'natural' sciences. I do not hope to give a critique in the fullest sense of the term of positivist philosophy of natural science. This is partly because of the so far predominantly negative character of the antipositivist achievement. Although the main lines of philosophical objection to positivism are already clear and well established no adequately articulated alternative has yet appeared. Nevertheless, enough of a coherent and viable alternative exists to provide the main guidelines for further historical and philosophical research.

Twentieth-century positivism: logical empiricism

Origins

The distinctive twentieth-century form of positivism, 'logical

THE NATURAL SCIENCES I

empiricism' or 'logical positivism', is most closely associated with a group of philosophers active in the 1920s in Vienna – the 'Vienna Circle'.⁴ Their philosophical doctrines clearly belonged to the broad tradition of radical empiricist philosophy stemming from Hume, though they were responsible for some important innovations. Their epistemology was to a considerable extent a response to the double revolution in physics (relatively theory and quantum mechanics) which had taken place in the first decades of the twentieth century, whilst it shared the preoccupations and utilised the techniques produced by the advancing science of mathematical logic and the theory of meaning.

Logical atomism

Of some importance in this respect was the philosophy of linguistic analysis associated with the names of Russell, Moore and Wittgenstein in Britain. For Russell and Wittgenstein, particularly, the successful use of analytical techniques in solving problems in the theory of meaning led to a whole-scale philosophical programme known as 'logical atomism'.⁵ Central to this programme was the notion that the statements of everyday and scientific languages are compounds of simpler statements and concepts, into which they may be resolved by the provision of definitions. For instance, the definition 'Man = dfn. featherless biped' licenses the replacement of 'All men are mortal' by 'All featherless bipeds are mortal' without change of meaning. In this case a compound concept 'man' is split up with the help of a definition into the 'simpler' constituent concepts 'featherless' and 'biped'. But these concepts, in turn, can be defined and so split up into yet simpler concepts, and so on ad infinitum. According to the logical atomist programme the ultimate products of analysis are 'simple' propositions whose constituent concepts are incapable of further analysis by definition, and whose meaning must be acquired ostensively - that is to say, by some unexplained process these ultimate propositional constituents must be linked or hooked on to extra-linguistic elements to which they refer. For these elementary signs, their meaning is their reference. The meaning of all compound sentences is ultimately dependent upon these ostensive links between the simplest constituents of language and the simplest constituents of the world (or, perhaps, the simplest constituents of the describable world). To claim that the statements of ordinary language or of scientific language can be resolved by analysis into simple propositions without change of meaning is to say that they are 'reducible' to them. Conversely, to say that elementary propositions can be compounded to yield everyday and scientific statements is to say that the latter are 'logical constructions' out of the former. Sometimes, speaking somewhat more loosely, it is said that the objects and properties referred to in scientific and common-sense speech are 'logical constructions' out of the elementary referents of elementary propositions. The philosophical programme of reducing statements to their elementary forms faced some rather serious problems. For instance it involved the replacement of all referring expressions which depend upon context for their successful use ('this drawer', 'that dial', etc.) by descriptions in general terms. But it can be shown that no description in general terms, no matter how complex, can ever secure uniqueness of reference.⁶

Observation statements

However, it is fortunately unnecessary to demonstrate the impossibility of the logical atomist programme since it is now largely of historical interest only. And its historical interest lies in the metaphysical interpretation (they would have rejected this description) which the logical empiricists give to the elementary referents of the atomists' elementary propositions. Whereas Wittgenstein, in particular, had maintained a judicious silence as to the constitution of his elementary 'objects', confining himself to their formal properties only,⁷ the logical positivists identified them with the ultimate constituents of sensory perception, 'sense-data'. The elementary propositions were, therefore, statements which merely recorded sense-impressions. The special characteristic of such statements, as we saw in the work of earlier empiricists, was supposed to be their incorrigibility. The claim that I am now seeing a sparrow through my window is obviously fallible (it could be a dusty blue-tit, what I take for a window could be a cunningly placed projection-screen, or I may, after all, be only dreaming that I sit here staring desperately out of the window, trying to think up an example). But the claim that there is a moving grey and brown bird-shaped patch in my visual field isn't fallible, since it makes a claim about my own 'private' experience only, and so cannot be shown to be false by any of the standard methods (fetching the binoculars, looking up the bird-book, searching for the projector, waking me up, etc.). So it seems that here is a class of statements - statements which merely record sense-data of this sort - which are indubitable, and so ideally suited to form the basis for a reconstruction of knowledge on a secure foundation. In particular, for the logical empiricists they held out the promise of a firm core of scientific knowledge which would be proof against any future scientific revolution on the scale of that which had recently overthrown the Newtonian theoretical system.

Operationalism and verificationism

The certainty of any set of propositions, or any scientific system

THE NATURAL SCIENCES I

could be demonstrated, the logical empiricists thought, provided only that it could be reduced, or shown to be a logical construction out of true observation statements. This type of analysis also provided the setting for a new theory of meaning: the meaning of any sentence was the set of possible observations sufficient to demonstrate its truth. Put more elegantly: the meaning of a statement is its method of verification. In this form, the logical empiricist theory of meaning had close affinities with that of the American philosopher and physicist P. W. Bridgman. In his earlier work Bridgman put forward a theory of meaning such that the meaning of any scientific concept was identical with the set of operations required to determine the values of the referent of the concept. Thus the concept of length is no more and no less than the set of operations by which length is measured. This seems to have the difficulty among others that, for example the concept of temperature, as measured by the expansion of a mercury column, is a different concept from the concept of temperature as measured by changes in electrical conductivity or by changes in the pressure exerted by a gas. Also the operationalist theory of meaning requires that the meaning of any empirical concept be exhausted in some finite set of operations, whereas the development of scientific knowledge involves the progressive introduction of new techniques for measuring the properties referred to by existing scientific concepts in a way that is not specifiable in advance.8

Analogous difficulties attend the strict form of the verification theory of meaning, and the history of logical empiricism since the twenties has consisted in a series of revisions which have progressively weakened the requirement of empirical testability. One such revision involved a shift from the verification theory of meaning, as sketched above, to a verification criterion of meaningfulness – a putative statement is meaningful if and only if it is either analytic (or logically false) or conclusively verifiable, the verifiability of a statement being interpreted as its equivalence to some finite set of statements recording possible observations.

There are three distinguishable kinds of problem with the verification criterion understood in this way, and logical empiricists have devoted great theoretical ingenuity to the attempt to overcome them. The first sort of problem concerns the 'logical construction' of statements about material objects, their masses, shapes and other properties out of observation statements. It very soon became obvious that this programme was unrealisable. No amount of statements describing actual or possible sensations could ever be strictly equivalent to a statement describing a material object. The statement, 'The sparrow is cleaning itself' involves a claim about the real world which goes beyond what is contained in any finite set of descriptions of patterns on a visual field, even if these are added to by descriptions of tactile, auditory and other sorts of sensation. Any finite conjunction of such statements could be true, consistently with the falsehood of the statement about the sparrow. The difficulty is compounded when the attempt is made to produce logical constructions of statements about objects which, whilst having an important role in science, are even further removed from immediate sensation than sparrows, such as molecules, protons, viruses, etc.

Phenomenalism

The positivist has two alternatives. One is to offer a re-interpretation of propositions about sparrows, metals, protons and viruses such that although they appear to be statements about categories of existing things they should strictly speaking be construed as a convenient shorthand way of summarising statements about sensecontents. This position is known as phenomenalism and, as we shall see, it implies a drastically impoverished conception of scientific explanation. Apart from this, philosophical analyses of the function of concepts like 'sensation' and 'experience' in actual discourse demonstrate that they do not denote some logically private entity, as the phenomenalist supposes. The later work of Wittgenstein contains arguments which purport to show that words with such a function could form no part of any actual language.⁹ There are also arguments to the effect that any language in which it is possible to speak about 'sensations' and 'experiences' must also be a language in which it is possible to make reference to more basic particulars, such as material objects, which are located in space and time.¹⁰ 'Material-object' statements, so called, could not, if these arguments are valid, be in general construed as inferences from statements describing sensations. The logical priorities are in the reverse order.

Confirmationism

The alternative stratagem for the positivist is to concede the impossibility of the programme, and either treat material-object language as providing the observational basis of science or insist on the need for some relationship between observation statements and all other statements accepted as meaningful, though allowing that this relationship may be weaker than logical equivalence. If it is conceded that statements about manometer readings, cloudchamber tracks, marks on photographic plates, etc., form the observational basis of science then this entails the abandonment of the initial rationale of the positivist enterprise. Observation was to be the neutral arbiter which pronounced finally on the truth or falsity of theories. It was to be this which gave science its special claims to provide knowledge, justified the claim of scientific knowledge to be capable of progress, and to be the very paradigm of rational knowledge. So long as observations were thought of as recorded in indubitable elementary propositions this seemed a realisable prospect, but statements about manometer readings and cloud-chamber tracks are as fallible and contestable as any other: the whole prospect of giving to scientific knowledge a firm foundation begins to fade.

The acceptance of a looser relationship than logical equivalence between observation statements and material-object, not to mention theoretical statements turns out to pose yet another set of problems. These are the problems which constitute the second sort of difficulty with the verification principle.¹¹ Even for statements about particular material objects (particular sparrows or manometers) no finite set of actual or possible observations (= sense-data) could conclusively verify (= verify beyond logical possibility of mistake) them. If the positivist maintained this form of the verification principle, then he would have to rule out as meaningless particular statements about physical objects. He would also have to rule out universal statements (including general laws) and statements about theoretical entities. The problem, then, is to relax the verification criterion so as to allow such propositions as meaningful, yet to exclude 'metaphysical', religious and other types of cognitively unacceptable statement (notice the circularity of this procedure - the positivists began with a criterion which was supposed to provide a way of telling the difference between the meaningful and the meaningless, but when it is applied the results do not accord with the intuitions of the positivist, and so he alters the criterion in the hope of getting results which do conform to his intuitions). This attempt to relax the verification criterion by just the right amount led to attempts at formulating a notion not of empirical verification, but of empirical confirmability. For a proposition, or putative proposition, to count as meaningful it ought to be possible to specify a possible observation which would at least count in favour of the truth of the proposition. For an example of the logical mess to which this can lead, see A. J. Ayer's classic positivist text Language, Truth and Logic, pp. 35-9, and the introduction to the second edition. Another, related difficulty concerns the precise meaning of 'possible observation'. If 'technically possible' observation is meant, then speculation as to the view from Mars is not meaningful since it is at present technically impossible to have such views (the positivists' favourite example used to be statements about the other side of the moon!). If physically possible is meant, then speculation about happenings which run counter to current physical theory are ruled out as meaningless. This would be to rule out precisely those examples of reasoning which are responsible for the advance of science: Einstein's discussion of the Michelson-Morley experiment which gave birth to the special theory of relativity was precisely to treat it as an event which was impossible in terms of current notions of physical possibility. This seems to leave only the option of 'logically possible' observation which, in turn, renders the verification principle so weak as to allow almost anything to count as a meaningful statement. But even if some such formulation of the verification criterion did achieve the right inclusions and exclusions for the positivists' intuitions, it would still represent an enormous concession on their part. Science could no longer be represented as resting upon an indubitable observational basis.

The third¹² set of difficulties associated with the verification principle has to do with the status of the principle itself. First of all. what is it that the criterion is applied to? Clearly the positivist is not entitled to say that the criterion distinguishes meaningful from meaningless statements, since a 'meaningless statement' is just not a statement at all. Ayer's device of speaking of 'putative statements' doesn't get around the problem either, since in order to tell whether a 'putative statement' is or is not verifiable we first need to understand it. But if it can be understood, then surely it is meaningful? Some prior notion of meaningfulness is presupposed in the very application of the verification principle. This is related to another difficulty. Does the verification principle itself satisfy the verification criterion of meaningfulness? Aver's answer to this question was that the verification principle was not an empirical proposition at all. but a definition of what is meant by saying that a proposition is meaningful. The not surprising response to this was that there are many meanings of the term 'meaningfulness' not captured by Ayer's principle, and so it is either a mistaken report on actual usage, or a stipulative definition reflecting only Ayer's own predilections as to the use of the term, and carrying no particular compulsion for others.

Thus the major departure of logical positivism from earlier forms of positivism, namely its claim to rule out (non-analytic) nonempirical statements not just as 'unscientific' but as actually meaningless was gradually abandoned. The verification criterion became a test of empirical (as distinct from ethical, aesthetic, etc.) significance – i.e. a criterion of demarcation between the scientific and nonscientific.

The modern positivist conception of scientific explanation

Having briefly surveyed the general features of the logical positivist theory of knowledge, and examined some of its internal difficulties, it is necessary to consider in more detail some of its specific achievements in the philosophy of science. Here, as with the verification criterion, the positivist characteristically takes key concepts such as 'explanation', 'law', 'theory', etc., which have a rough-and-ready use in science and discussion about science, and presents an 'explication' of these concepts, an 'explication' being a stipulative definition, a recommendation that the term in question be used in a slightly different, but more precise way than hitherto.

The first such explication with which I shall deal is the positivist conception of a scientific explanation. This conception is commonly referred to as the 'covering law' or deductive-nomological conception of explanation,¹³ and is merely an elaboration of the basic pattern of explanation which I discussed in connection with Comte's work. As its names suggest, this conception of what it is for some set of statements to constitute an explanation is almost entirely a question of the formal properties of the statements and of their mutual relationships. When fully stated, all explanations take the form of valid deductive arguments with the description of the event to be explained (the 'explanandum') as the conclusion drawn from premises ('the explanans') which include one or more universal laws (hence the 'nomological' or 'covering law' model).

The rationale for this conception of explanation can be readily demonstrated with the help of examples. Generally speaking, explanations of events take the form of a reference to some prior event which is designated the 'cause' of the event to be explained. A plane crash is explained as a result of engine failure coupled with pilot error; the expansion of a metal rod is explained by the heat of a Bunsen burner. But the positivist rejects all thought of mystical, unseen connections between discrete events, so how can one event be said to explain some quite distinct later event? And why should this event be selected, rather than some other? The positivist answer to these questions is to say that explanations like this are incompletely expressed. It is only in virtue of taken-for-granted background assumptions that the mere reference to a prior event can be explanatory. It is only if we are aware of a general association between pilot error and engine failure, on the one hand, and plane crashes, on the other, that mentioning one or the other as the 'cause' of a particular crash is explanatory. Similarly, it is only if we are aware of a general relationship between changes in temperature and changes in the length of rods of metal that reference to heating as a 'cause' of this particular measured expansion is explanatory of it. To explain an event, then, is to present it as an instance of a universal law to the effect that always if events of the same type as some specified prior event occur, then events of the same type as the explanandum-event follow. To explain an event is to subsume it under a universal law.

The structure of an explanation can, then, be set out in the form of a simple deductive argument as follows:

Premises {Always, if A occurs then B occurs (law) A occurred (antecedent condition)

Conclusion: therefore, B occurred (explanandum-event)

Of course, many explanations will be more complex than this, including a conjunction of several laws, and asserting the combined occurrence of several antecedent conditions, but such complexities raise no important difficulties of principle. In the case of the plane crash, my supposed explanation, fully expressed, would give content to the above formal structure as follows:

Law: always, if pilot error is combined with engine failure then a crash occurs.

Antecedent condition: both pilot error and engine failure occurred

Explanandum: therefore, a crash occurred

Explanation and prediction

Now, one obvious strength of this model of explanation is that it makes plain the relationship between explanation and prediction which, as we saw in chapter 2, is central to the positivist conception of the relationship between scientific knowledge and its practical application. Just as the combination of general laws and statements of antecedent conditions enables the description of an event to be deduced, and enables the event to be explained, so exactly the same combination of premises, if known prior to the occurrence of the event (or prior to the knowledge of its occurrence) would generate its prediction. Scientific prediction and explanation have an identical formal structure. The description of an event to be explained or of an event to be scientifically predicted constitutes the conclusion of a deductive argument including at least one universal law amongst its premises. This thesis, which follows from the positivist conception of scientific explanation, is known as the thesis of the symmetry of explanation and prediction. The covering-law conception of explanation also yields a simple and impressive account of the testability of explanations on this basis. Explanations can be confirmed or refuted by their success or failure in generating predictions.

Scientific laws

Before going on to discuss criticism of this notion of explanation it will be necessary to go into a little more depth concerning the nature THE NATURAL SCIENCES I

of universal laws. One immediate problem concerns the difference, if any, between accidental generalisations and genuine 'nomological' laws. In other words, the difference between conjunctions of events type A with events of type B which are merely accidental, and conjunctions of events which constitute a causal law. For instance, it may so happen that all the books on my bookshelf have red covers, and a generalisation to this effect could yield an argument of the same form as that demanded by the covering-law conception of explanation:

All books on my shelf are red This is a book on my shelf

Therefore, this book is red

Why won't this do as a scientific explanation? It is very hard to see how Hume or Comte could have adequately answered this question. since for them laws were just observed regularities in phenomena. But modern positivists have attempted to provide criteria for distinguishing such accidental generalisations from genuine laws, as might be expected, by reference to their logical characteristics. One criterion is that a universal statement is a law only if it licenses the prediction of some event not included in the evidence for it. The idea here is that the content of a law somehow 'goes beyond' its evidential basis. This criterion obviously excludes my red books example from the status of an explanation. But there are other universal statements - which we might call empirical or rule-of-thumb generalisations which are not laws and yet are still not excluded by this criterion. Examples might include 'all swans are white', 'all men are greedy' and 'all mammals have legs'. Such generalisations are thought to be true - or have been thought to be true - on the basis of extensive observation, but are not scientific laws as are Newton's laws of motion, the ideal gas equations, and the inverse square law for electro-magnetic radiation. A second criterion is required to exclude these from the status of scientific laws. According to this criterion a universal statement is a law only if it enables the deduction of subjunctive or counter-factual conditionals. Thus, to return to the example of the metal rod, the universal statement connecting changes in temperature of metal rods with their length satisfies this condition since it justifies claims about what could have happened if the rod had been (contrary to what did happen) cooled, or heated to twice the temperature. Empirical generalisations do not justify such counter-factuals, and so are excluded from the status of scientific laws. The trouble with this account of scientific laws, though, is that it gives the positivists a difficulty analogous to the problem of 'logical construction' of material objects from sense-data.

If a scientific law by definition makes a claim which goes beyond the evidential or observational support it has, then the positivist is hard put to it to explain how belief in the truth of general laws can ever be justified. To say, as some positivists have, that the drawing of inferences from general laws which go beyond their evidential base can be justified in terms of support given to laws by the possibility of deriving them from higher-level, more general laws, is either to make an important concession to rationalist epistemology or simply to push the problem one step further back. The positivist still has to explain the origin of the support for the higher-level law.

Statistical laws

There remains a further type of general statement which figures in scientific explanations which is recognised by most positivists not to be covered by the above account of scientific laws. These statements - statistical generalisations - are common in the social sciences, and so a word about them here might be in order.¹⁴ We can very simply characterise such statements as having the form: 'N per cent of As are Bs' in contrast to universal laws whose form is: 'All As are Bs'. We can distinguish three different ways in which statements of statistical or 'probabilistic' form commonly occur in scientific explanations. First, they may refer to the statistical relationships between kinds of events or phenomena in a particular sample. It may be found, for example, that of a particular sample of car workers, 70 per cent voted Labour in the 1970 general election. Any scientific interest such a generalisation might have depends on its status as evidence for some generalisation not restricted in scope to any particular sample.¹⁵ It may together with other evidence be regarded as, for instance, growing inductive support to statistical laws (or even universal laws)¹⁶ relating class membership, working conditions, income levels, or whatever, to voting behaviour. Unless statistical generalisations referring to samples do relate in this way to generalisations not so restricted, they are analogous in logical status to 'empirical generalisations' as discussed above.

A second type of occurrence of statistical generalisations is as first approximations to laws of universal form. A simple medical example might be 'N per cent of people who are in contact with a sufferer from the common cold themselves contract the disease'. The scope of this generalisation is not restricted to any particular sample. It asserts that whenever the antecedent condition (contact with a sufferer) is satisfied the consequent (contraction of the disease) will follow in N per cent of cases. Such statistical generalisations do not always involve a causal connection, and where they do the events, processes, etc. of the kind mentioned in the antecedent
condition may not be causal factors in the production of those mentioned in the consequent. Both, for example, may be causally related as effects of some other cause or complex of causes which are not referred to in the law. But the example I have chosen can be regarded as a first approximation to a causal law, and events of the kind referred to in the antecedent of the law would generally be counted as 'causes'. A further analysis of this example, then, will help in getting clearer about the positivist concept of cause as it applies to such cases. According to the positivist paradigm of explanation, catching a cold has not been explained until it can be subsumed under a universal law, and so the stratagem for dealing with such cases as this will be to search for other conditions which are correlated with the catching of colds in the hope that these can be combined with the one already established so as to yield a universal law. Thus it might be discovered that a higher proportion of contacts get the disease if the sufferer is at some stages of development of the disease than at others. Another relevant variable may be the type and duration of contact, and yet another the physiological state of the contact, his or her previous medical history, etc. Ultimately, these might be combined to form a universal law with a multiplicity of conditions contained in its antecedent clause. 'Always, if a person with low resistance has sustained and close contacts with a sufferer in the early stages of development of the common cold, that person contracts the disease.' If qualms about how to define terms like 'resistance' and how to measure degrees of it or classify types of contact are temporarily waived, this seems to be a reasonably promising way of showing that such statistical laws form part of incomplete explanations only, and remain to be reduced to universal laws by further investigation. However, a certain revision of the positivist conception of 'cause' is required by this type of solution. So far, the 'cause' of a phenomenon has been specified as an event of a type universally connected with the phenomenon which is its 'effect'. Often, it has also been held that for such an event to be a 'cause' in the fullest sense, the 'effect' must never occur in the absence of it. Another way of putting this is to say that a cause is an event (process, state, etc.) which is both empirically necessary for the occurrence of its effect, and empirically sufficient. Now, in the above example, contact with a sufferer is neither a sufficient condition for getting a cold (i.e. ex hypothesi, in 30 per cent of cases contact does not have this effect) nor a necessary condition (one can catch a cold without being in contact with a sufferer, e.g. in medical experiments where persons are injected with cold virus), and yet contact may still be spoken of as the 'cause' and as 'explaining' many particular cases of the disease. An ingenious solution of this problem, whilst retaining the main features of the positivist concept

of cause, is to say that a 'cause' is a necessary part of a combination of conditions which are jointly sufficient for the production of an 'effect' which, however, may also be produced by some other set of conditions (i.e. a cause is an Insufficient but Necessary part of an Unnecessary but Sufficient condition – or 'INUS' condition).¹⁷ This allows 'contact with a sufferer' to count as a causal condition and, though conceding that not all causes are necessary and sufficient conditions, manages to give an account of causality in terms of necessary and sufficient conditions.

But there is a third type of occurrence of statistical generalisations which, it is often held, cannot be treated in this way as first approximations to universal laws. These are generalisations about the behaviour of aggregates when there is a supposed indeterminateness in the behaviour of their individual constituents. The phenomena of radioactive decay provide an example. Radioactive isotopes are said to have a 'half-life' of some specified period – let us say tminutes. This implies that, for any sample of such an isotope, approximately half of its constituent atoms will undergo radioactive decay in any period of t minutes. Now there is no way of predicting, for any one atom, precisely when it will decay. All that can be said is that there is a probability of 0.5 that it will decay within any period of t minutes. More importantly it may be that the character of subatomic phenomena is such that no universal law governing radioactive decay, such that it can be predicted in the case of specified atoms, will ever be discovered. Such statistical laws, then, would remain the best that science could (in principle?) achieve in this field.¹⁸ It would have to be conceded that some explanations in science are not reducible to the deductive-nomological form. One of the least dogmatic of contemporary positivists, Carl Hempel, seems to accept that this really does have serious consequences for the universality of the deductive-nomological model. For him, statistical explanations license only inductive inferences of the phenomena they are meant to explain.¹⁹ Such explanations, then, have a different form from the deductive-nomological:

N per cent of As are Bs There is an A

(with probability N)

Therefore B

The double line represents the fact that a non-deductive inference is involved here, and that B is inferred only with a certain degree of probability. Now, Hempel is unclear on this, but it seems that he makes more of a concession than he strictly needs to. First of all, the inference that B will occur is not an inductive inference. At this THE NATURAL SCIENCES I

point Hempel seems to confuse what he clearly distinguishes elsewhere: probability construed as 'statistical frequency' and probability construed as a relation between inductive evidence and a generalisation which it is said to support. The likelihood, in the above example, of any particular A being a B is at least in part a question of the statistical frequency with which As are Bs. It is not a question of the extent of the existing evidence for the assertion that N per cent of As are Bs. In fact, it is quite possible to revise the explanatory schema to render it properly deductive:

N per cent As are Bs This is an A

Therefore there is a probability of N per cent that it is a **B**

Thus, if it is conceded that explananda may include not only events but also probabilities, then statistical explanations may be represented as deductive in form. Also, although statistical laws are not, by definition, universal laws, they share many of the characteristics of such laws (e.g. licensing the deduction of counter-factuals, going beyond the evidence for them, etc.). The uses of statistical generalisations in the sciences, then, require relatively little modification of the deductive-nomological model of explanation.

Functional explanations

There are, however, some difficulties with the deductive-nomological account of explanation which are less easily dealt with. One has been mentioned already. It is that some sciences make extensive use of explanations involving the concept of function, and describe processes as directed towards some 'goal' or end-state. Apparently, such explanations are not deductive-nomological in form. Here, the positivist stratagem is to show that in so far as such explanations are genuinely scientific, they are, after all, reducible to the deductive-nomological form. Although functional explanation plays an important part in the social sciences I have insufficient space to follow this argument further at this point.²⁰ Some further reference to functional explanations will be found in chapters 5 and 9.

The symmetry of explanation and prediction

A second objection is that the symmetry of explanation and prediction which is an implication of the deductive-nomological model of explanation is by no means universal in the sciences. Functional explanations, for instance, are conceded by the positivists to be scientific explanations and yet they have little or no predictive power. Paradoxically, Hempel's reduction of functional explanations to the deductive-nomological form has the consequence of attributing to such explanations in their reduced (i.e. deductive-nomological) form very weak predictive power.²¹ Also, it is frequently claimed that the theory of biological evolution is explanatory of the origin of new organic species, but has never been used to predict the emergence of any new species.²²

The history of the sciences also seems to yield many examples of predictive success not accompanied by any explanatory power. Many scientific theories (such as Ptolemaic astronomy) which are now out-dated and accepted as false had and still do have a record of high predictive success. The positivist's response would no doubt be that he is concerned with the formal characteristics of explanations and not their truth or falsity. Moreover, the deductivenomological model can show how it is that predictive success is consistent with explanatory falsehood: true conclusions can be validly deduced from false premises. No matter how large a finite class of true predictions is generated from a universal law it is always possible that it is false, and that the next prediction will fail.

But there are still other examples of computational systems which generate accurate predictions and yet do not even stand as candidates for the status of 'explanations'. A valuable example, described by Rom Harré, is the system of astronomical prediction developed by the Babylonians.²³ The Babylonians were able to predict astronomical phenomena on the basis of numerical computations which appear to have borne no relation to any physical model of the universe. Yet another type of example in which there is substantial predictive power without explanation is medical prognosis. General medical knowledge of the developmental stages of different diseases enables the prediction of future states of the patient on the basis of present symptoms. Thus, the diagnosis of coronary heart diseases or of cancer on the basis of symptoms will yield a prognosis about the future development of the disease, but the symptoms cannot be said to explain these future developments.

Explanation, causality and 'conceptual schemes'

These apparent counter-examples are not decisive against the positivist conception of explanation. They are, however, indications that something is amiss. A further indication of what this 'something' is may be gleaned by consideration of just what 'explanation' amounts to on the deductive model. Somehow the occurrence of an event is supposed to be explained by subsuming it under a general law – by, in other words, saying that the event was to be expected since, in such circumstances. such events always occur. An impoverished account of what science aims at, surely? It seems that part of what is wrong, at least, is that any adequate conception of explanation must do more than specify a few elementary formal characteristics. These formal characteristics, it appears, may be shared by nonexplanatory schemata.

To get a clearer idea of just what is missing from the positivist account, it will be helpful to return to the common-cold example which I made use of above. I began with the statement of an imaginary statistical correlation, and went on to suppose how this statistical law could be converted into a universal law by the discovery of new conditions related to the catching of colds. But there are problems with this account. How is one to tell when all the relevant conditions have been gathered (i.e. that the law really is in its final, universal form)? Perhaps, unnoticed by the investigator, all of his coldsufferers wore gold rings on their fingers. Perhaps, unknown to the investigator, the removal of the rings would have rendered the cold non-infectious. A vital necessary condition for catching colds would have been left out of the statement of the supposed universal law. And how could the investigator have justified restricting his research for further conditions in the way that I presented him as doing (to physiological states and histories of 'contacts', type and duration of contact, stages of disease, etc)? Why not investigate the positions of the planets, the rate of inflation, or the state of the tides? The answer, surely, is that the statement of the original law, and the selection of possibly relevant conditions for amplifying it, both make certain logical presuppositions. These are that a certain set of concepts ('contagion', 'infection', 'disease', 'common cold', 'person', 'physiological state', etc.) is adequate for grasping the phenomena under investigation, that these concepts designate and provide criteria for recognising kinds of 'things', 'processes', 'events', etc., between which certain general types of interaction are conceivable and others not (not conceivable within this particular framework of concepts, that is). Explanations, then, presuppose a conceptual framework in terms of which to identify and classify the general types of things in the universe (or rather, that aspect of it which forms the object of the particular science in question), and which specifies the general types of causal interaction which can take place between them. The inductive inference that all the relevant circumstances had been included in the universal laws governing the catching of colds could only be justified on the assumption of the adequacy of some such conceptual scheme. Similarly the restriction of the scope of the investigation which generated the universal law could only be rationally justified on the basis of a conceptual scheme which was the source of a hypothetical causal mechanism (or possibly several) which in turn generated criteria of relevance for the investigation. In this example the causal mechanism upon which the construction of the law was premised was the germ-theory of disease. But there certainly have been epochs in which the appropriate conceptual scheme would have demanded investigation of planetary positions. Precisely such causal relations between astronomical events and the fortunes – including their illnesses – of individuals on earth were postulated in medieval astrology.

The source of certain difficulties in the positivist conception of causality is now revealed. In particular the difficulties of distinguishing symptoms from causes, and of distinguishing causal laws from other types of law, arise from the attempt to reduce the concepts of cause to those of necessary and sufficient conditions. Sometimes, it is true, necessary and sufficient conditions are referred to as 'causes', but this is so only where such conditions are supposed to be related to, or form part of a generative causal mechanism.²⁴ The identification and description of such mechanisms depends, in turn, upon the utilisation of a conceptual scheme of the type described above.

A further set of difficulties arises for positivism from the account of the empirical testability of scientific laws in terms of predictive success or failure, and the erection of this feature of scientific explanation as a demarcation criterion for science. However, these difficulties are most appropriately delayed until a further element in the positivist philosophy of science has been discussed. I suggested above that to explain an event by saying it was to be expected in the circumstances is hardly to explain it in a sense that does justice to the achievements of science. The justified response of the positivist might have been that I had omitted an important feature of the positivist account of science: its contribution to the discussion on the nature of scientific theories.

4 The natural sciences: II. The positivist conception of scientific theory and its competitors

In the present chapter I shall continue my exposition of the positivist philosophy of natural science with an account of its conception of the nature of scientific theories. I shall confront this conception with a series of anti-positivist objections and finally sketch very briefly some of the non-positivist alternatives. Although I shall not make the connections explicit at this stage attentive readers will detect many of the most characteristic arguments of contemporary 'humanist' critics as to the distinctive character of the social studies in the mouths of anti-positivist philosophers of the natural sciences.

The hypothetico-deductive account of scientific theories¹

The most widely accepted positivist conception of theories is known as the 'Hypothetico-Deductive' conception; 'deductive' because, like the positivist account of explanation, it represents theories as deductive systems, and 'hypothetico' for reasons which will become clear later. For convenience I shall speak of the 'H-D' account from now on. The requirement for theory arises, the positivists argue, when empirical laws covering a given field of phenomena have already been established. So, to use a favourite example of the positivists, let us suppose that universal laws governing the relations of pressure, temperature and volume in gases have been established by investigation. It is now possible to explain, e.g., the expansion of a particular sample of gas at constant temperature in terms of a reduction in the pressure exerted on it, in virtue of a universal law relating these variables (Boyle's Law). But this need not be the end of the matter. Why, it may be asked, are pressure, volume and temperature related in this way? In accordance with the positivist conception of explanation, the answer to this question will involve subsuming Boyle's Law (and, possibly, other laws governing related

phenomena) under another, higher level universal law from which it can be deduced. In this way, as the capacity to give scientific explanations in any particular field 'deepens', knowledge takes on the form of a hierarchy of increasingly general laws, the lower level laws being deducible from the higher level. The highest level laws are thought of, in this way, as the axioms and postulates of a deductive system. Among them are statements of quantitative relations between variable terms, and from them can be deduced 'theorems' which ultimately yield quantitative relationships between variables which have an 'observational' interpretation - such as the variables of Boyle's Law. Generally, although this is not regarded by positivists as an essential aspect of theories, the mathematical variables involved in the highest level laws will be interpreted as referring to properties of unobservable entities which in some sense are supposed to lie 'behind' or 'under' the observable phenomena which this whole deductive structure – or 'theory' – is supposed to explain. Concepts which specify the unobservable processes, properties and entities postulated in the theory are termed 'theoretical' concepts and are distinguished from 'observational' concepts which specify things and properties which are directly observable and measurable. An immediate difficulty now emerges for this deductive conception of scientific theories. Statements belonging to the theory involve the use of technical, theoretical concepts, whereas the empirical generalisations which they are supposed to explain are expressed in terms of 'observational' concepts. How, then, can the latter set of statements be deduced from the former? The answer, on the H-D account, is by means of the introduction of statements linking observational with theoretical concepts. These statements, sometimes called 'bridge-principles' or 'correspondence rules', express functional relations between 'theoretical' variables and 'observational' variables, and so can be combined with purely theoretical statements to license the inference of statements at the observational level.

An example: the kinetic theory of gases

Figure 1 is an attempt to represent the internal structure of the kinetic theory of gases along these lines. The statements of the theory belong to three main 'levels' – the theory proper, the level of observation, and the intervening level of bridge-principles which serve to link theoretical terms such as 'speed', 'mass', 'kinetic energy of molecules' with observational terms such as 'pressure', 'volume' and 'temperature'. The statements of the theory embody an analogy between molecules, as the ultimate constituents of gases, and material particles whose motions are governed by Newtonian laws of motion. Upon this is superimposed yet another analogy between the



Key

'F' means 'function of', in the sense that terms so related have a definite quantitative relationship to one another such that from known values of one, corresponding values of the other can be calculated.

'P' is short for 'pressure', 'T' for 'temperature', 'V' for 'volume', and 'a' for 'is proportional to'. Arrows represent the direction of deductive inferences. Arrows drawn with broken lines indicate a further set of inferences which are insisted upon by strict positivists and phenomenalists.

Figure 1 The Hypothetico-Deductive account of scientific theories: The kinetic theory of gases as an example

statistical behaviour of large numbers of these molecules and the macro-level properties of the gas which are characterised by laws such as Graham's, Boyle's and Charles's. The bridge-principles in this case express quantitative relations between the statistical properties of swarms of molecules and macro-properties such as pressure, temperature and diffusion-rates. This analysis of the structure of the theory has the merits of demonstrating how the observational laws (Boyle's, Charles's, etc.) are explained by deduction from statements of the theory, how theories can be tested (by their predictions at the observational level), how they can relate previously unrelated laws (observational laws governing pressure, volume and temperature, viscosity, diffusion-rates, thermal capacities, etc. are now linked as implications of a single deductive system), and how they can generate new knowledge (inferences from the theory may include hitherto unobserved regularities at the observational level).

The status of theoretical entities: realism versus phenomenalism²

Despite this apparent strength, the H-D account has come in for some serious criticism in recent times. One of the central problems concerns the status of the hypothetical entities postulated by the statements of the theory. Since these are, by definition, not objects of observation, strict positivists and phenomenalists attempt to treat them as 'logical constructions'. For them, the use of an analogy with swarms of material particles may be a useful psychological prop for the scientist. It may also serve as a heuristic device in the generation of new hypotheses, and be helpful in teaching the theory. But from the point of view of the internal logic of the theory and its explanatory power the material analogy is quite dispensable. Above all, the tempting supposition that there really are molecules which behave as specified by the interpreted statements of the theory must be regarded as either 'cognitively meaningless' or, at best, unscientific. A theory, on this view, is a deductive system for the generation of propositions at the observational level. The material analogies which may or may not be associated with 'interpretations' of its most fundamental propositions have no bearing upon its explanatory power or scientific status. This 'instrumentalist' conception of scientific theories is the only one strictly available for verificationists and phenomenalists, since statements about molecules understood literally as statements about unobservable entities are neither conclusively verifiable by observations, nor are they logically equivalent to any finite set of observation statements. For those who adopt such a philosophical position, the addition of yet a new 'level' of reality beyond the 'material object' level adds to the problems they already face in interpreting statements about material objects themselves in terms of statements about sense-data.

Such 'instrumentalist' interpretations of scientific theories are not the exclusive property of radical empiricists such as positivists and phenomenalists, however. Conventionalists, such as Duhem and Poincaré (who reject a central doctrine of empiricism – the possibility of 'theory-neutral' observation statements), have also argued, on somewhat different grounds, that theories are simply elaborate deductive devices for 'representing' and anticipating experience.³ Such an interpretation of scientific theories led the physicist Mach to deny the existence of atoms, and should have led Comte to the same conclusion, given his conception of scientific laws as expressing relations between phenomena.

Instrumentalism carries with it a distinctive account of the status of bridge-principles. They must be regarded not as statements of empirical relationships between micro-level processes and macrolevel regularities, but as partial definitions or rules of inference. This has the implausible consequence, in the case of the kinetic theory of gases, of representing the nineteenth-century achievement of a dynamical explanation of thermal phenomena not as the production of new knowledge about the world, but as a mere revision in the definitions of certain physical concepts. Another argument against instrumentalism is given by Hempel,⁴ who argues that the distinction between theoretical and 'observable' entities is arbitrary and transitory, and so cannot form the basis of any rational decision as to what to count as 'existing'. Thus, the wiring of some circuits may be visible, but what if some wire is so thin that a microscope is required in order to see it? Are we to say that since the interpretation of what is seen through a microscope depends on acceptance of the optical theory on the basis of which it is constructed, wire which can only be seen with a microscope does not really exist? Viruses, molecules, atoms, protons, etc. differ only in degree from this case and from one another, Hempel continues, and so what is the justification of restricting existence claims to only some of these, and not to others?

Plausible mechanisms

A somewhat different line of argument against instrumentalism is merely an extension of the main argument which I outlined above⁵ against the deductive concept of explanation. To subsume a phenomenon or a law from some higher-level law or combination of them is not of itself to explain anything. Certainly the deduction of values for several important macro-properties of gases which were in close agreement with observed values played a large part in the elaboration and establishment of the kinetic theory of gases. But the physical analogy which postulates an underlying mechanism for these observed phenomena cannot be treated as merely accidentally and inessentially involved in the selection of only certain relevant and successful inferences from the infinite range of possible ones which could be drawn from any set of uninterpreted axioms and postulates. Historically speaking, criteria of adequacy for scientific explanation have always involved more than purely formal considerations. Although conceptions of what counts as a plausible mechanism have changed (it is, for instance, unclear whether the present state of the theory of the mechanism underlying electromagnetic radiation will give rise to further development of a 'more plausible' mechanism, or to a change in criteria as to what counts as a 'plausible' mechanism) all branches of scientific enquiry have required conformity to some notion of plausibility. Such notions of plausibility are not exhaustively representable in formal terms (absence of contradiction. etc.) but nevertheless have an indispensable role in scientific reasoning, particularly in providing the structural conditions for the growth of scientific knowledge. For example, given the implausibility of Darwin's own hypothetical mechanism - pangenesis - for organic inheritance the acceptability of the theory of evolution itself came to turn upon the production of a more plausible one. This, in fact, had to await the recovery of Mendel's work and the development of genetic theory. Another example was the difficulty faced by heliocentric astronomy in the absence of any coherent alternative to Aristotelian dynamics during the latter part of the sixteenth and early seventeenth centuries. The problem of adequately specifying the mechanisms of planetary motion on the heliocentric hypothesis came to define the terms of reference for the development of classical mechanics until it was (with some qualifications) achieved in Newton's Principia. Even then the law of universal gravitation continued to be regarded as unsatisfactory since it seemed to rely on a form of interaction which was implausible in terms of the conception of physical plausibility which was dominant at that time (no action at a distance). Accordingly Newton and others continued to speculate about possible mechanisms underlying gravitational attraction which did conform to contemporary criteria of plausibility.

Concepts of cause

Finally, the instrumentalist conception of theories involves the rejection of at least one important conception of causality, which I began to discuss in the context of my criticism of the deductive conception of explanation: that is, the 'underlying' or 'generative' mechanism conception of cause, as against the positivist conception of causality as 'constant conjunction' or 'necessary and sufficient

THE NATURAL SCIENCES II

condition'.⁶ Clausius, one of the originators of the kinetic theory of gases, described the relationship between molecular motions and pressure like this: 'the pressure of the gas against a fixed surface is caused by the molecules in great number continually striking against and rebounding from the same'7 (my emphasis). This suggests an interpretation of at least some of the bridge-principles involved in the kinetic theory not as definitions or rules of inference but as causal laws. This would, indeed, be consistent with a realist interpretation of the theoretical statements describing molecules and their relationships. One important feature of the concept of causality involved here, and one which is especially relevant to the discussion of causality in the social sciences, concerns the independent identifiability of cause and effect. On the classical empiricist ('Humean') conception of causality, a cause must be identifiable independently of its effect (this is supposed to follow from the contingency of the causal connection). But where unobservable entities and their behaviour constitute the causal mechanism which generates observable, macro-level happenings and relationships, the unobservable entities themselves are not identifiable or even specifiable independently of the phenomena they are supposed to cause.

Empirical testability

Although these arguments against the instrumentalist interpretation of scientific theories have considerable force against the most radical forms of positivism and empiricism, they are far from decisive as objections to the Hypothetico-Deductive account of theories when it is combined with a much less stringent conception of empirical testability. Hempel, for instance, with a relatively weak, 'confirmationist' conception of testability is able to fully reject instrumentalism and accept the existential character of statements about viruses, molecules, etc. But it is important to recognise the extent of this concession. Hempel, along with many other contemporary empiricists, does not insist on reduction to sense-datum language. This means that cloud-chamber tracks, thermometer readings, absorption lines in spectra, etc. are now allowed to count as objects of observation. This has, as we shall see, important consequences, and involves a great retreat from the idea of sense-datum statements as the indubitable basis of knowledge. Further, statements about in-principle unobservable existents are allowable as scientific. Such statements are clearly confirmable only incompletely and indirectly. Also, the acceptability of such statements includes a whole new class of statements - existential hypotheses - about which classical empiricist theories of science had almost nothing to say. A scientific theory must be conceded to consist, at least in some cases, of universal laws

governing phenomena, together with existential hypotheses about the general kinds of things whether observable or not which exist in the universe. Further analysis of the example of the kinetic theory vields another difficulty for the empiricist conception of a universal law itself. This emerges once it is recognised that the basic assumptions of the kinetic theory, and hence the laws deduced from them. are not precisely true of any actual gas. The theoretical statements are simplified abstractions from the model of the internal structure of an actual gas, and strictly speaking observational laws such as those of Boyle and Charles hold only for 'ideal' gases for which these simplifications were, per impossibile, true. Monatomic gases at relatively low pressures approximate very closely in their behaviour to the ideal gas laws, but where there are several atoms in each molecule, where molecular shape deviates considerably from the sphere and where there are relatively great intermolecular attractions the empirically observed behaviour of gases deviates further from the ideal gas equations. In some cases this can be dealt with by adding auxiliary assumptions to the basic theory, but in others recourse has to be made to quantum mechanics. However, the main point to come out of this analysis is that some laws, at least, are not laws relating phenomena, but are abstract relations to which phenomena may approximate only more or less closely. Similarly, some existential hypotheses may refer (or purport to refer) to particular existents, whilst others refer to abstract entities such as 'ideal gases', 'point masses', etc. The very notion of empirically testing statements such as these is logically absurd, yet they have an essential place in scientific theorising.

But even for theories which do not involve reference to such 'abstract entities', there are difficulties with the criterion of empirical testability. The point of the empiricist demarcation criterion is not simply to find some characteristic which is both common and peculiar to scientific statements and theories. It is also to account, in some sense, for the special cognitive authority of scientific theories. Empirical testability seems to fulfil this requirement very satisfactorily. Contemporary scientific knowledge is represented as the sum of all those propositions which have survived generations of repeated confrontations with reality. Empirical testability is the mark of the openness of claims about the world to revision under the impact of the world itself. The importance to the empiricist conception of scientific knowledge of the availability of a class of theory-neutral observation statements is now quite clear. But before going on to discuss this requirement of the empiricist theory of scientific knowledge, a further discussion of the options open to the empiricist in accounting for the relationship between observation statements and theory statements is in order.

Confirmationism and falsificationism

Hempel, and other empiricists who reject strict verificationism, are faced with the problem of constructing a concept of 'empirical confirmation' which is weaker than strict verification, but still sets some limit on what can count as scientific. It is recognised that no matter how many implications of a theory are discovered to agree with observation, it is still logically possible that the next prediction will not be borne out. There is no logically valid argument which justifies the attribution of truth to the statements of a theory on the basis of confirming evidence. Any theory makes a claim which goes beyond its evidential basis, and more than one possible theory may account for any finite set of observations. The widespread recognition of this has led to two broad responses. The first is to make use of a rather suspect application of mathematical probability theory to assess the degree of confirmation afforded to a scientific theory by a given extent of observational support.⁸ The obvious difficulty with this is that since even for a single law there is an infinity of possible confirming or counter-instances, no matter how many confirming instances have been recorded they still, expressed as a proportion of possible instances, give only infinitely small 'probability' to the law. There are, of course, much more sophisticated attempts to apply the same principles and avoid this outcome, but as of now the prospects of a satisfactory outcome do not look good. Alternatively. the empiricist may concede that there can be no adequate account of testability in terms of either verification or confirmation, and pose openness to refutation by empirical evidence as a demarcation criterion.⁹ This is initially more promising since it can be expressed in terms of a logically valid argument. Although no amount of evidence is sufficient to conclusively verify a universal law, one counter-instance is enough to conclusively falsify it. One case of a metal which contracts when heated is sufficient logically to falsify the law that all metals expand when heated. Adoption of falsifiability as a demarcation criterion has the advantage that it can represent the rejection of hypotheses as decided on the basis of logically valid arguments, but perhaps the disadvantage of entailing a rejection of the picture of science as a 'search for truth'. It is, rather, a search for falsification; the best that we can say of what now passes for knowledge is that we have not so far been able to demonstrate its falsity. But if this depicted, even as a 'rational reconstruction', the actual mechanisms by which scientific hypotheses are selected and rejected, then surely every schoolchild has refuted some of the most fundamental scientific laws? Surely contemporary science should be called to explain its dogmatism in continuing to believe in such demonstrated falsehoods? Kuhn, arguing on the basis of his historical

analyses, claims that all theories are, from their inception, faced with apparent counter-instances. Far from leading to the immediate rejection of the theories, they provide the routine puzzle-solving work of scientists throughout periods of normal science. Unfortunately for the neat logic of falsification, there are several 'conventionalist' strategies by which a theory may be defended against apparent counter-instances. The experiment or observation which seems to vield a result contrary to theory-based expectations can only do so on the basis of some interpretation of those results. A theory under test may be defended by offering re-interpretations, by questioning the technique of the experimenter or the theory of his instrumentation, and so on. Alternatively, the interpretation of the results may be accepted and one or another type of protective modification of the theory itself adopted. Theory-based expectations never presuppose the truth of only one law. Always it is a conjunction of several laws that is 'falsified', and so the logic of the situation licenses some choice as to which law is rejected or modified. Modifications may include adding to the initial conditions specified in the law, or restricting the scope of the law (as, for example, in the cases of Newton's laws which are restricted to relative velocities which are low compared with the speed of light). Finally, ad hoc hypotheses may be added to the theory so as to alter the theory-based expectations in the required way. Disreputable as these 'tricks' may seem, the history of science is full of examples, and there are reasons for thinking that they are indispensable to scientific thinking. Also, of course, statistical laws and existential statements which, as we have seen, form part of many scientific theories cannot even be represented formally as falsifiable by a single instance. Mere failure to find something which is claimed to exist can never conclusively prove its nonexistence. Similarly the discovery of a sample of a population with a distribution of properties different from that asserted of the whole population can never conclusively disprove the original assertion.¹⁰

For these and other reasons, falsificationism, even in its more sophisticated forms where it appears not as a criterion for distinguishing scientific statements but for characterising the recommended scientific method, cannot be accepted as an adequate demarcation criterion.

Observation statements and theories

But there are general reasons for supposing that no account of the acceptance and rejection of scientific laws or theories in terms of confirming or counter-instances could ever be adequate. This is because the very notion of an observation or factual statement which is logically independent of competing theories is not an acceptable

THE NATURAL SCIENCES II

one.¹¹ The rejection of the idea of theory-independent observation statements has a long history in conventionalist philosophies of science, but I shall rely largely on two of the most influential recent statements of the anti-positivist position on this question – those of T. S. Kuhn and N. R. Hanson. Both of these writers challenge the positivist conceptions of 'observation' and 'experience' by means of an analogy with the perception of 'gestalts'. Ambiguous figures such as the famous duck-rabbit (Figure 2) are used as prototypes or analogues which help to elucidate the nature of all perception - and of scientific observation in particular. Some observers looking at Figure 2 will see it as the head of a duck (facing left, two appendages forming the beak), whereas others will see it as the head of a rabbit (facing right, the appendages being seen as ears). The same person may see the same figure now as a duck, now as a rabbit. The way details in the drawing are described (ears, beak, etc.) will depend upon how the whole pattern is seen. This is analogous, it is claimed,



Figure 2 The duck-rabbit diagram

to such 'changes of view' as the shift from the phlogiston theory to the oxygen theory of combustion in the latter part of the eighteenth century. Priestley, investigating the 'air' given off by the heating of red oxide of mercury, saw it as 'dephlogisticated air'. Working with quite different theoretical assumptions. Lavoisier saw it as a new species of gas, one of the two principal constituents of air – oxygen. Another chemical example concerns the early history of Dalton's revival of the atomic theory in chemistry. By a complex of theoretical assumptions, arguments by analogy, and experimental determinations the atomic weights of many of the chemical elements were established - especially by the Swedish chemist Berzelius. Some of these atomic weights were determined to a precision of up to four decimal places. Working on the basis of a different version of the atomic theory, involving the assumption that hydrogen is the 'primary substance' so that all atomic weights should be exact multiples of the atomic weight of hydrogen, the British chemist William Prout and his followers reinterpreted Berzelius's atomic weight determinations as approximations to integral values. Whether or not any particular experimental determination of an atomic weight was or was not to be seen as an approximation to an integral value

was a question which could only be decided by recourse to theoretical considerations.¹²

Of course it can be argued, in the case of the perceptual gestalt analogue, that some description of, say, the ambiguous figure which is independent of both the duck and the rabbit 'interpretations' can be given. It can, for instance, be described as a pattern of lines on paper. But this does not help the empiricist, for two reasons. One is that in making the description independent of the competing 'interpretations' of the figure, we have also made it irrelevant to any decision between them. Secondly, although this new description is independent of the other two, it nevertheless involves some element of 'interpretation', in the sense that it could be challenged by someone who saw the figure as something quite different – as a curved slit in the paper against a dark background, for instance. Again, the argument leads in the direction of a search for perceptual ultimates, or 'indubitables'. Even here, though, with such apparently unchallengeable observation reports as 'I have a visual sensation of redness' some element of conceptualisation is involved. What counts as 'red' when one uses litmus paper as a test for acidity will be quite different from what is allowed to count as 'red' in spectroscopy. The positivist assumption that predicates closely connected with the senses - such as colour and sound - have an unproblematic and simple referring relation to 'given' perceptibles is quite misleading, as this example shows. Quite generally it can be said that nothing can count as a scientific observation or experience unless it can be described. All description involves conceptual patterning, however elementary, and all conceptual patterning is susceptible of revision.

But, it may be argued, the distinction between observational and theoretical concepts as it appears in the more sophisticated versions of the H-D account is not dependent on any such absolute notion of theory-free observation. All that is required is that, whatever concepts are involved in the observation language in terms of which the theory is to be tested, those concepts do not presuppose the adequacy of the concepts of that particular theory. In this way the notion of 'observation statement' may be relativised to take account of the above objections.¹³ To return to the example of the kinetic theory of gases, it is conceded that the temperature, pressure and volume of a gas are not elementary 'givens'. 'Pressure', 'temperature' and 'volume' are constructed concepts with a long history behind them. The claim in this case is simply that the use of these concepts, and of techniques for measuring what they refer to, does not presuppose the adequacy of the kinetic theory, and so can count as an independent test of it. But this only pushes the problem one step further back for the empiricist. If it is conceded that there are theoretical assumptions in what count as observation statements

THE NATURAL SCIENCES II

vis-à-vis the kinetic theory, then those theoretical assumptions themselves must be testable, presumably in terms of what count as observation statements vis-à-vis these particular theoretical assumptions. The empiricist must either accede to an infinite regress here, in which case testability disappears into an ever-receding theoretical distance, or the relativised observation/theory distinction ultimately turns out to rely on the original absolute distinction, which is no longer acceptable.

Relativism

The recognition that no scientific observation or description is theory-independent, that all factual statements in science are 'theoryladen', that what counts as a fact is itself a function of some theory. however elementary, can and has led to a thoroughgoing relativism. Perhaps, if there can be no such thing as a crucial experiment or observation to decide between competing theoretical interpretations of the world, we should give up the claim that science can ever provide objective knowledge? Perhaps, if scientists belonging to different traditions simply see the world differently, with no way of deciding observationally between their 'ways of seeing', then to all intents and purposes they live in different worlds. The world really is whatever you think it is, or perceive it to be. The implications of this drift of thought, that there can be no such thing (or that we could never know if there were such a thing) as objective knowledge or progress in science, are so contrary to current popular estimations of scientific knowledge that most of those tempted by this sort of relativism attempt, often quite inconsistently, to find ways of avoiding it.¹⁴ As should become clear, this tendency to relativism or agnosticism among those who reject the empiricist notion of theoryneutral observation derives not so much from their rejection of empiricism as from their reluctance to reject all of it. That science cannot be objective only follows from the rejection of theoryindependent observation if it is first conceded to the empiricist that there is no way of conferring objectivity upon theoretical knowledge other than through observational or experimental testing.

Where do scientific theories come from?

For the final development of this point it will be necessary to consider a further difficulty in the H–D model of scientific theories. This concerns the problem of how to account for the 'generation' or 'production' of theories. The H–D model professes to give only an analysis of the formal structure of theories once they have 'arrived'. As Hanson points out, this alone severely restricts the value of the H–D model if it is to guide research practice in on-going sciences. Any theory which can be axiomatised in this way is a completed theory. A completed theory is an obsolete or obsolescent one, and so may be of limited relevance to the problems of current research practice.

Induction?

There are two alternatives, consistent with the H–D model, for characterising the construction of theories. One is that they are built up from ground level, so to speak, by the gradual addition of increasingly higher level laws upon an observational base. This process may be thought of as proceeding according to some 'logic' – though an inductive logic, since the inferences involved, from the particular to the general, are not deductively valid. But such an inductive logic faces difficulties, precisely parallel to those faced by the attempt to apply probability theory to the 'confirmation' of universal laws. Also, as was demonstrated by the 'common-cold' example,¹⁵ the rationality of inductive procedures can only be displayed when they are understood as presupposing a theory. No inductive 'logic' could account for the rational procedures involved in the production of a theory.

Conjecture?

The alternative to inductivism which is open to the H–D supporter is the one which gives the H–D account its name. The theory is presented as an ambitious conjecture; a work of individual human imagination; a mysterious act of genius; above all, an act which cannot be represented as formally rational. The study of how theories come into existence is relegated from logic and epistemology to psychology or biography. Theories appear in the mind of the scientist as he reclines in his bath, or sits beneath an apple tree. Hence the 'hypothetico' component of the name of the H–D account: a hypothesis drops from the sky (or from the apple tree) into the scientist's head. The psychological characteristics of those rare geniuses to whom this happens may be of interest in explaining it, but the philosopher's job begins only when the theory has actually arrived.

The logic of discovery: towards an alternative conception of scientific rationality

The anti-positivist assertion that the creation of new theoretical knowledge is not merely a question of the psychological qualities

of the individual subject whose creation it is, and that there is such a thing as a 'logic of discovery' has gained ground in recent philosophy of science. Hanson's attempt to develop a concept of a distinct kind of reasoning - 'retroduction' - which is different from both deduction and induction, and his discussion of Kepler's production of the elliptical orbit hypothesis for planetary motion are of considerable interest in this respect.¹⁶ Kepler's argument clearly is an argument, and a compelling one, yet it cannot be displayed as having either an inductive or a deductive form. Such attempts to provide more sophisticated accounts of scientific rationality than the 'formal logic plus observation and experiment' of the empiricists also yield an apparent way of avoiding relativism for those who reject the notion of theory-independent observation.¹⁷ Other criteria, it may be argued, play a part in the rational decision procedures by which competing theories are accepted or rejected. Such aesthetic criteria as simplicity (however interpreted), political and even theological criteria, not to mention philosophical criteria (such as the plausibility of a proposed mechanism) can all be shown to have played a part in the major theoretical revolutions which have taken place in the sciences, and historical raw material of this sort is the basis of attempts to construct a philosophical theory of scientific rationality. But it is important to recognise that such theories, although they regard the creation of new knowledge and non-experimental decision procedures as proper objects of philosophical theorising, not to be left to 'mere' psychology, do not really break away from the 'individual genius' conception which they criticise. Hanson, for instance, criticises the H-D account thus:

Disciples of the H–D account often discuss the dawning of an hypothesis as being of psychological interest only, or else claim it to be the province solely of genius and not of logic. They are wrong. If *establishing* an hypothesis through its predictions has a logic, so has the *conceiving* of an hypothesis. To form the idea of acceleration or of universal gravitation *does require genius: nothing less than a Galileo or a Newton*. But that cannot mean that the reflexions leading to these ideas are unreasonable or a-reasonable.¹⁸

The birth of new theories is still conceived of as the creative activity – albeit rational – of individual geniuses.

The relativity of rationality

Even such attempts to construct an alternative account of scientific rationality to that of the empiricists face serious problems. Such accounts cannot avoid the pitfall of relativism unless they can

uncover rational principles which are, like the observation statements of the positivist, theory-independent and universally applicable. Yet the historical research of Kuhn and others suggests that rational criteria of acceptability for scientific theories and explanations such as conceptions of what counts as a 'proof' or demonstration, what mechanisms are or are not plausible, conceptions of simplicity and elegance, etc. are relative to particular theories. In Kuhnian terminology, there are no super-paradigmatic standards. Any defence of a particular paradigm must possess a certain circularity, in that whoever rejects the paradigm is also committed to a rejection of the standards by which it is defended. It was such considerations which led Kuhn to reject the idea of a logic of discovery and retreat into a 'social psychology of research'.¹⁹ Whereas individual scientists are the mysterious creators of theories,²⁰ it is the relevant scientific community which 'chooses' or 'gives its assent' now to one paradigm. now to another.

The production of knowledge

An alternative way of conceptualising the emergence of new knowledge, which rejects the role assigned to individual or social 'subjects' in the major traditions of thought I have discussed so far is present in some Marxist works. A recent example, which I shall discuss in much more detail in a later chapter,²¹ is the work of the French Marxist philosopher Louis Althusser. According to Althusser, knowledge is to be thought of as the outcome of a process of production structurally analogous to economic production. In this conception the role of the 'subject' is limited and prescribed by its place in the structure formed by the other elements or factors in the productive process – the 'raw materials', 'means' and 'relations' of production of knowledge. The following passage from *Reading Capital* is quite typical:

('Thought') is constituted by a structure which combines . . . the type of object (raw material) on which it labours, the theoretical means of production available (its theory, its method and its technique, experimental or otherwise) and the historical relations (both theoretical, ideological and social) in which it produces. This definite system of conditions of theoretical practice is what assigns any given thinking subject (individual) its place and function in the production of knowledges. This system of theoretical production – a material as well as a 'spiritual' system whose practice is founded on and articulated to the existing economic, political and ideological practices which directly or indirectly provide it with the essentials of its 'raw materials' – has a determinate objective reality. This determinate reality is what defines the roles and functions of the 'thought' of particular individuals, who can only 'think' the 'problems' already actually or potentially posed; hence it is also what *sets to work* their 'thought power' as the structure of an economic mode of production sets to work the labour power of its immediate producers, but according to its own peculiar mode.²²

As we shall see, this alternative way of conceptualising scientific knowledge and its growth or 'production' is not without its own internal difficulties, but it does have distinct advantages over its rivals.

5 Positivism and ideology in the work of Emile Durkheim

In chapter 1 I argued that, historically speaking, the debate in philosophy as to the status of the social sciences (and the very possibility of a 'science' of society) has centred around the mutual opposition of 'positivist' and 'humanist' philosophies. Characteristically, positivism has claimed the territory of human social relations and their history as a proper object for scientific study. In the name of 'unity of science' they have identified the task of capturing this domain as a matter of applying methods of investigation, forms of explanation and standards of proof already established in the physical sciences to this new field. Those I have referred to as 'humanists' have argued against this that the utterly distinctive character of the object of social, historical or cultural understanding (the 'free will' of the human subject, 'intentionality', 'meaning', or whatever) renders the method of the natural sciences quite inappropriate.

In chapter 2 I attempted to situate the philosophical and sociological work of a major nineteenth-century positivist, Auguste Comte, both historically and systematically. In particular, I attempted to show that positivism as a philosophical theory is a variant form of empiricism, and that there are intelligible connections between empiricism as a philosophical theory of knowledge and the specific political and ideological character of the social theory that is produced under its influence. I did not, however, argue that such social theory is an 'application' of positivism or empiricism. Strictly speaking, the incoherence of this theory of knowledge is such that there can be no such achievement as an 'application' of it. For this reason, the connections between epistemology and substantive social ideologies, though intelligible, are not necessary. They are contingent upon substantive assumptions.¹

Chapters 3 and 4, apparently a diversion into the alien field of philosophy of the physical sciences, were in fact indispensable to

the argument of this book. In those chapters, more modern articulations of the positivist account of the natural sciences were subjected to criticism stemming from a number of non-positivist conceptions of the physical sciences, which were also briefly characterised. Whether or not the arguments against the positivist conception of the natural sciences there presented are regarded as decisive, the very existence of more or less viable alternatives to the positivist conception of the physical sciences has important implications. It is now possible to show that the terms of the debate between positivism and humanism exclude certain possible strategies: in the terms of that debate, the impossibility of a science of social relations is equivalent to the impossibility of a *positivist* science of social relations, whereas the project of a scientific social theory, conceived along *non*-positivist lines, is by no means ruled out by a demonstration of the absurdity of the positivist programme for the social sciences. The humanists may still argue, of course, that the distinctive character of the human subject requires a form of understanding quite distinct from that developed in the physical sciences, whether conceived positivistically or non-positivistically, but to do so they must, at least, produce new arguments.

The text which is at the centre of my discussion in this chapter, though it is commonly regarded as an exemplar of positivist methodological thought, is, I shall argue, one of the first major texts (outside the Marxist tradition) to transcend the terms of the positivist/ humanist debate. It does so, however, in a partly unconscious and contradictory way, and this no doubt explains the variety of conflicting readings which it has received.² The text in question is Durkheim's *The Rules of Sociological Method*, though I shall refer to several other works by Durkheim, both philosophical and substantive in character.

The period of French history during which Durkheim's theoretical position developed resembled the period of Comte's *Cours* in a number of respects. Comte's work was produced in the wake of the political trauma of the French Revolution itself, whilst Durkheim entered the École Normale Supérieure some eight years after the parallel trauma of the Paris Commune and its brutal suppression.³ For both Comte and Durkheim contemporary forms of political order were unstable and fragile, open to threats from both left and right. I shall argue that underlying Durkheim's work, just as with Comte, was a definite political project. Not surprisingly, the project is similar in the two cases. As well as broad analogies in their positions, there were important historical continuities connecting them. In particular, the dominant intellectual tendency in France was still Comtist in outline, incorporating evolutionary doctrines derived from Spencer and Darwin.⁴ Durkheim, like Comte, conceived of a domain of the social, distinct from other orders of reality, but no less a reality in its own right. Also like Comte, Durkheim advocated the foundation of a scientific knowledge of this domain which would resemble the natural sciences in its approach and forms of explanation. The new science, in theorising the conditions of social order, had a necessary political role in preventing anarchy and social disintegration. Finally, Durkheim's position resembled Comte's in that the conception of the natural sciences it advocated drew upon positivist categories and vocabulary.

However, there were two crucial differences in the intellectual situation of the two theorists. First, the science closest to sociology in the Comtian hierarchy of the sciences (physiology), and the one most relevant to the advancement of sociology, had undergone enormous advances in the intervening years. There is evidence that Durkheim was fairly widely, if not deeply read in both the physiology and evolutionary biology of his time.⁵ More importantly, Durkheim draws on biological concepts and distinctions frequently in the course of both his substantive and philosophical writings.

A second difference in Durkheim's intellectual situation was that, whereas the project of a positive science of society remained largely an aspiration in Comte, Durkheim's Rules is, among other things, a reflection upon his own substantive research practice, and that of his predecessors.⁶ The Rules first appeared in book form in 1895, some two years after his major work, The Division of Labour in Society, in which Durkheim attempted to theorise the conditions of social order in what he distinguished as two morphological types of society - 'segmental' and 'organised'. This book provoked a number of criticisms of a substantive kind,⁷ as well as more fundamental, philosophical critiques. Amongst the latter, the most significant were two connected lines of argument to the effect that, first, Durkheim's notion of a 'conscience collective' was metaphysical in purporting to refer to an entity or essence beyond the reach of experience, and that, second, Durkheim's notion of 'society' as an autonomous order of reality, set over and above the individuals which compose it, was both morally abhorrent and methodologically erroneous. For positivists, with a restricted conception of 'observation' and 'experience', Durkheim's rejection of individualist canons of explanation merely followed from the 'unobservability' of any supra-individual social reality. But there were other, non-positivist grounds for asserting a variety of individualist methodological stances, as we shall see.

For Durkheim, such criticisms amounted to a denial of the existence of the subject-matter of sociology, and therefore of its very possibility as a scientific knowledge. The *Rules* was in part an

POSITIVISM AND IDEOLOGY IN THE WORK OF EMILE DURKHEIM

attempt to render explicit and defend the philosophical foundations of the *Division of Labour*, and simultaneously to demonstrate the possibility of a scientific sociology.⁸

The object of the Rules

The arguments and illustrations which make up the *Rules* centre around four related problems. First, Durkheim attempts to establish the status of sociology as an autonomous discipline, distinct from its closest relatives, biology and psychology. For Durkheim, following Comte, this demonstration takes the form of establishing the prior existence of a realm or aspect of reality, distinct and autonomous from the orders of reality of which the other sciences constitute knowledge. Establishing the existence of such an order of reality is, then, a central problem for Durkheim. However, there is a significant concession in the *Rules* that the autonomy of sociology cannot be finally established by such an argument. Durkheim acknowledges the indispensable role of argument by analogy with aspects of other sciences, at least in the early phases of development of a new science:

Sociology is, then, not an auxiliary of any other science; it is itself a distinct and autonomous science. No doubt, when a science is in the process of being born, one is obliged, in order to construct it, to refer to the only models that exist, namely, the sciences already formed. These contain a treasure of experiences which it would be foolish to ignore. A science can regard itself as definitely established, however, only when it has achieved independence for itself.⁹

I shall argue, however, that neither the inadequacy of Durkheim's argument for the autonomy of sociology nor his persistent recourse to biological analogies is attributable simply to the 'immaturity' of sociology. Indeed, Durkheim was himself to argue for the continuing and indispensable role of analogical thinking at least in the production of sociological knowledge, if not as a form of proof.¹⁰

A third objective in the *Rules* is the demonstration, against certain of Durkheim's philosophical opponents, of both the possibility and the necessity of a specifically scientific knowledge of the social order, together with, finally, the attempt to construct a conception of the methods and forms of scientific explanation in their application to the new domain.

Social facts and the autonomy of sociology

The concept of a social fact has a crucial role in Durkheim's arguments both for an autonomous discipline of sociology and for the necessity of a scientific knowledge of society. The concept marks two quite distinct contrasts, each bearing upon a different argument, and I shall accordingly discuss the concept of social fact in its bearing on each of these arguments separately.

First, the concept is used to demarcate a particular class of facts (more properly 'phenomena' or 'realities'), having its own homogeneity and distinctive characteristics vis-à-vis other classes of facts in the order of nature. The contrast here, then, is between social facts on the one hand, and biological and psychological facts, specifically, on the other. Psychological and social facts are, together, distinguished from biological facts in that they consist of 'representations' whereas biological facts do not.¹¹ Durkheim never adequately defines 'representations', but it is clear that he refers at least to the symbolic, normative, and generally 'mental' or 'spiritual' nature of the subject-matter of both sociology and psychology. This leaves the question of how to distinguish the orders of reality dealt with respectively by these disciplines. In the one case, Durkheim argues, the phenomena, or 'facts' are collective, in the other, individual representations. That the 'facts' dealt with by psychology exist 'in and through individuals' seems obvious enough, but that there exists a class of supra-individual 'social' phenomena seems to Durkheim (as to many of his opponents) to require demonstration. Part of this demonstration involves drawing upon a supposed general 'principle' of the effects of association or combination in nature. Just as the combination of chemical elements produces a new compound, with properties deriving not from its elements alone but also from their combination, and just as chemical compounds may combine so as to form a living being, again with a new order of properties derived from the association, so the combination of individuals to form a society produces a new type of existence with properties not found in the individuals but deriving from their association. This philosophical notion of nature as a hierarchy of orders of reality, each order generated from a lower order by the combination of elementary parts, and possessing an internal homogeneity deriving from its distinctive 'emergent' properties is close to what Durkheim himself characterises as 'metaphysics' in Comte, but nevertheless is the (inexplicit) logical foundation of Durkheim's claim to have isolated a distinctive order of 'social facts'. As we shall see, this metaphysical foundation for the doctrine of social facts is obscured by the confusion between the two roles of the concept of social fact. For the moment, however, it should be noted that the identification of a distinct order of social phenomena as a product of 'organisation' has several implications. First, the proposed science of sociology has its raison d'être: a distinct field of reality waits to be known. Second, the relevance of analogies with the methods of

investigation and forms of explanation proper to biology (especially physiology) is established: the phenomena of both fields are effects of 'organisation'. Third, and notwithstanding the last point, the science of sociology will have its own disciplinary autonomy, a consequence of the autonomous laws and distinctive properties of the order of phenomena which it studies. Fourth, a corollary of this, the methodological individualist doctrine, that all (ultimate) explanation in the human sciences must be in terms of the characteristics (actions, intentions, wills, etc.) of individuals, must be rejected.

In most of the above, Durkheim merely reiterates Comtian positivism. But there are differences. For Comte, the facts of sociology are the lowest in order of 'dependence', so that, although a distinct class of phenomena, their autonomy (and therefore that of sociology) is strictly limited. For Durkheim, the autonomy of sociology is absolute. There is no reason why the elaboration of the laws of the 'conscience collective' should await the development of individual psychology. Another difference is that whereas Comte distinguishes only an order of phenomena at the level of the individual, and another at the level of the 'species', Durkheim seeks to establish intermediate orders of realities. The implication of Comte's way of distinguishing the realm of the social is to make sociology a science of humanity, or the human species. For Durkheim, there are at least two intermediate levels of reality: particular societies, and types or 'species' of societies. This, in turn, commits Durkheim to a fundamentally different conception of history from Comte: history cannot be conceived in a 'historicist' way as a process of 'self-realisation' of humanity, and so, in so far as Durkheim is a social evolutionist, he is so in a sense very different from that in which Comte and Spencer are.

So far I have spoken loosely of Durkheim's conception of social facts as referring to an autonomous realm of 'facts', 'phenomena' or 'realities'. This leaves my interpretation ambiguous as between social reality as an assemblage of phenomena, in the empiricist sense of 'objects of experience' and a conception of social reality as consisting of (or at least including) an underlying reality which is manifested or reveals itself in forms accessible to experience. There is no doubt that Durkheim is in considerable difficulty on this question. Though he refers to himself as a 'scientific rationalist', he nevertheless clearly accepts empiricist criteria of validity - theories are to be tested against the perceptible facts of social life. Critiques of Durkheim from empiricist/positivist quarters invariably accused him of 'hypostatizing' society, and criticised concepts such as 'social solidarity', 'collective consciousness', and 'collective representation' as referring to illicit occult entities. Durkheim's response to these criticisms was the defensive one of proffering a phenomenalist ('more or less systematized aggregate of phenomena')¹² interpretation of these concepts.

Nevertheless, elsewhere Durkheim goes so far as to specify realism as a general characteristic of scientific explanation: 'Science goes from without, from the external and immediately sensible manifestations, to the interior characteristics of which these manifestations betray the existence.'¹³ In the *Rules* itself, Durkheim speaks of the identification of classes of phenomena by their 'common external characteristics', thus presupposing their possession of 'internal' characteristics, inaccessible to perception. But, more importantly, Durkheim's substantive works frequently make use of perceptible and measurable phenomena as indicators of deeper and less accessible realities. In the *Division of Labour*, for instance, Durkheim concedes that social solidarity is an 'intangible phenomenon which does not lend itself to observation', but this does not mean that it cannot be scientifically studied:

But we can know causes scientifically only by the effects that they produce, and in order to determine their nature, science chooses from these effects only the most objective and most easily measurable. Science studies heat through the variations in volume which changes in temperature produce in bodies, electricity through its physico-chemical effects, force through movement. Why should social solidarity be an exception?¹⁴

The conception of cause at work in this passage, and others like it, is realist in character, and involves an appeal to what I referred to in chapters 3 and 4 as 'generative causality'. Despite his various disclaimers, Durkheim does adopt realist forms of explanation, and even recognises this in places when he reflects on his own research practice. Mechanical solidarity is not, then, an observable phenomenon which can be correlated with, and therefore shown to be 'causally' connected with, repressive law. Rather, it is an underlying reality which 'generates' repressive law, along with other perceptible phenomena as an effect. To this extent, Durkheim's conception of scientific knowledge breaks from positivism.

But how seriously can we take Durkheim's analogy between the relation heat/phenomena of expansion and contraction, on the one hand, and social solidarity/legal phenomena on the other? First, though it is true to say that expansion and contraction can be observed, it is not true to say that they were simply 'given' in experience. The concepts were constructed and have a long history in science. Similarly, the relationship between temperature and expansion/contraction has to be established for each substance, and in fact the relationship is such that only for some substances, between definite limits of temperature, does it form a basis for temperaturemeasurement. Further, what is 'measured' or 'detected' by a thermometer is not 'heat' in the same sense of the term as preceded the theoretical work upon which the measurement is based, but 'temperature', newly defined, and with precise relations to the (also newly defined) term 'heat'. Finally, the production of a genuinely 'realist', 'generative mechanism', type of explanation of temperature phenomena necessitated some specification of the physical nature of heat, and the mechanism by which it generates temperature (and other) phenomena. (Both the 'fluid' theory of heat, and the kinetic theory discussed above in chapter 4, satisfy this criterion.)

But Durkheim's concept of social solidarity is not related in this way to observable phenomena. Durkheim does not construct his distinction repressive/restitutive law by theoretical argument, but takes it as given, as imposed by observation.¹⁵ There is no attempt to specify the nature of social solidarity, nor to either specify or establish the mechanism (plausible or otherwise) by which it produces its phenomena. A clue to the true character of the relation in Durkheim is given when he speaks of law 'reproducing' and as 'symbolising' different types of social solidarity. Metaphysical philosophies, from Classical Greek times, through the rationalist metaphysicians of the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries, to nineteenth-century idealism, have claimed on behalf of their often profoundly counter-intuitive conceptions of the general nature of the universe that they disclose its essential nature, as opposed to its appearances, or 'phenomenal forms', which constitute the basis of our common-sense judgments. The philosophical essence/phenomena distinction, of course, took many forms, but characteristically the phenomena were held to 'express' or 'manifest' the essence in such a way that, once the 'code' was understood, essence could be 'read off' from the phenomena.¹⁶ The anti-metaphysical strategy of empiricism has typically been to deny the knowability of essences, and restrict genuine (scientific) knowledge to 'phenomena'.

Often, recognition of the restrictive character of this empiricist position has led to the assertion of the necessity of a realist type of explanation in the *linguistic form* of the essence/appearance distinction,¹⁷ but an analysis of the type we have just conducted should be sufficient to establish the difference. Theoretical and empirical reasoning in relation to a specific object of knowledge is necessary for the production of knowledge of generative mechanisms. The philosophical relation essence/appearance is already given, *a priori*, and is merely 'applied' in particular cases, to 'given' contents.

This consideration leads to a general criticism of the role of the concept of 'social fact' in Durkheim's argument for the autonomy of sociology. This rests, as I argued above, on Durkheim's prior claim to have identified and distinguished a class of facts of which sociology was to constitute the knowledge. I tried to show that the identification of this class of facts had its foundation in a philosophical theory of

'orders' of reality with emergent properties. But Durkheim (correctly) rejects this type of philosophical foundation for scientific knowledge. and presents his 'definition' of social facts as based on 'common external characteristics' - i.e. on observation. I shall argue that these 'external characteristics' relate, in the main, to establishing, not the distinctiveness of the class of social facts, but their very status as facts, as realities, and the necessity of a scientific knowledge of them. However, in Durkheim's argument as presented, there is an appeal to an empiricist conception of knowledge and perception. 'Facts', supposedly, can be identified and classified on the basis of 'experience' and 'observation' alone, without prior theory or interpretation. Classification is, however, a theory-dependent exercise. It requires observation and comparison, of course, but it also requires a knowledge of its field of operation, criteria of identity, difference and relevance for characteristics of the 'objects' classified. In particular, the identification of the 'object of knowledge' or 'subject-matter' of a science can only occur in the course of the production of knowledge of it: it is, indeed, one aspect of that knowledge. The limits and scope of applicability of concepts cannot be given in advance of the system of concepts itself, they are rather an aspect of the specification of the concepts. In short, Durkheim's whole attempt to establish a 'space' for the autonomous discipline of sociology is vitiated by its defective, empiricist conception of the relation between a science and its subject-matter. This is not, of course, to argue that Durkheim errs by deriving his definition of the social from 'pure observation'. Rather, he errs in presenting his argument in this form, and submerging the *real* source of his conception of social facts, which is in a general philosophy of nature. This, in turn, is of a piece with the philosophical essence/appearance distinction which he represents as a scientific generative-cause/phenomenon distinction and, finally, with the 'given' (i.e. not theoretically produced) conceptions of 'social solidarity', 'collective representation' to which he applies it.

Underlying these latter, 'given' concepts are the everyday, prescientific notions of 'social order' and 'consensus' which are constitutive of the political project which Durkheim's work theorises. I have had occasion to mention before in my discussion of Comte the connections between empiricist conceptions of knowledge and the persistence into supposedly scientific discourse of ideological, prescientific categories.¹⁸

Social facts and the necessity of science

The so-called 'definition' of social facts, to which most of the first chapter of the *Rules* is given over, consists principally in the presentation

of illustrative material, drawn from social life, and the attempt to demonstrate that in each case the phenomena selected satisfy certain criteria. These criteria turn out to be quite general criteria for the status of 'reality' or 'existence', which in turn is conceptually connected for Durkheim with being a fit object for scientific knowledge, and no other type of knowledge. In other words, the satisfaction of these criteria by social phenomena establishes what they have in common with facts of all classes – i.e. their status as independent realities. This function of the concept of social fact, then, is to show not that they are a distinctive class of facts, but that they are facts.

The appearance that Durkheim achieves both tasks by the application of these criteria derives from the ambiguous status of the notion of the individual subject in the Rules. Of the many functions of this term, two are most relevant to the present argument. First, Durkheim thinks of individual consciousness as constituting the order of reality to which individual psychology addresses itself. This is the sense in which he uses the term when, for instance, he says (on page 3) that psychological phenomena 'exist only in the individual consciousness and through it'. But he also uses the notion of individual consciousness in the sense of 'knowing subject' when establishing the very concept of 'facticity' or 'thinghood': 'What precisely is a "thing"? A thing differs from an idea in the same way as that which we know from without differs from that which we know from within'.¹⁹ There are, then, two distinctions at work in the Rules between that which is 'internal' to the individual consciousness and that which is 'external' or 'independent'. In the epistemological distinction, the 'ideas' of the knowing subject are contrasted with the 'things' which lie outside the mind, and are to be known. Alongside this is the distinction between those phenomena ('representations') which belong to the field of individual psychology, and those 'external facts' which result from the association of individuals and constitute the field of sociology. Durkheim's discussion of the contrast between 'subjective' (introspectionist) methods and 'objective' (behaviourist) methods in psychology illustrates the 'interference' between these two distinctions very well:

Indeed, psychological facts are naturally given as conscious states of the individual, from whom they do not seem to be even separable. Internal by definition, it seems that they can be treated as external only by doing violence to their nature. Not only is an effort of abstraction necessary, but in addition a whole series of procedures and artifices in order to hold them continuously within this point of view.²⁰

Principally, I shall argue, it is Durkheim's use of the device of the 'knowing subject' to establish the independent reality of 'social

facts' which gives the impression that he uses the method of perceiving 'common external characteristics' to establish the distinctive character of the class of social facts. As we have seen, this is established as part of a general philosophical theory of Nature which runs quite counter to Durkheim's explicit epistemology.

Durkheim gives his 'definition' of social fact, in its less misleading form as a set of criteria for recognising social facts on page 10:

A social fact is to be recognised by the power of external coercion which it exercises or is capable of exercising over individuals, and the presence of this power may be recognised in its turn either by the existence of some specific sanction or by resistance offered against every individual effort that tends to violate it.

Social facts are to be recognised by their externality to the individual subject, and by their coercive power - their resistance to individual wills. These criteria are equivalent to Durkheim's criteria of 'thinghood' in general, as are the implications that he draws from them. But much of the interest of chapter 1 of the Rules consists in Durkheim's illustrations of the way in which social phenomena of various sorts satisfy these criteria. First, the criterion of externality. Each individual executes moral and legal duties, and exercises rights which are defined in law and custom, independently of the individual. Moreover, non-conformity on the part of the individual does not affect the persistence of the practices concerned. Legal and moral rules 'can exist even without being actually applied', that is, presumably, can persist even if no individual conforms to them.²¹ Moral rules constituting my culture existed prior to my birth, and were not created by me. It follows from these aspects of the externality of customs, laws, moral rules and so on, that the individual may be subject to laws and rules of which he is ignorant. Sometimes it will be possible to rectify this state of ignorance by checking an authoritative text (for example, in the case of a codified system of laws), but this will not always be the case. A whole category of social facts, what Durkheim calls 'currents of opinion', for instance, are not in this way 'crystallised', and can only be 'detected' or 'isolated' by a statistical analysis of the rates of suicides, births, marriages, etc. which they 'impel'.²²

An implication of the externality of social facts, then, is that they are, like other classes of fact, not spontaneously self-understood. They are opaque to common-sense thought. In other words, the would-be sociologist stands in the same relation to social facts as that in which the physicist or chemist stands to physical or chemical facts. This is made clear in the introduction to the second edition of the *Rules*.

POSITIVISM AND IDEOLOGY IN THE WORK OF EMILE DURKHEIM

Things include all objects of knowledge that cannot be conceived by purely mental activity, those that require for their conception data from outside the mind, from observations and experiments, those which are built up from the more external and immediately accessible characteristics to the less visible and more profound. To treat the facts of a certain order as things is not, then, to place them in a certain category of reality but to assume a certain mental attitude towards them on the principle that when approaching their study we are absolutely ignorant of their nature, and that their characteristic properties, like the unknown causes on which they depend, cannot be discovered by even the most careful introspection.²³

Our principle, then, implies no metaphysical conception, no speculation about the fundamental nature of beings. What it demands is that the sociologist put himself in the same state of mind as the physicist, chemist, or physiologist when he probes into a still unexplored region of the scientific domain. When he penetrates the social world, he must be aware that he is penetrating the unknown; he must feel himself in the presence of facts whose laws are as unsuspected as were those of life before the era of biology.²⁴

The externality of social facts, then, implies their opacity, their inaccessibility to spontaneous understanding. This, in turn, implies that investigation of a specifically scientific kind is necessary if knowledge of the social order is to be achieved.

The second criterion of social 'facticity' is the 'coercive power' which social facts have over individuals. Sometimes Durkheim says that social facts are 'independent' of the individual will, that they 'constrain' us or 'impose' on us. Sometimes he says that it is 'impossible to free ourselves of them'. We are not normally aware of this coercive power of social facts, but we are made aware of it if, for instance, we break a legal or moral rule. Society responds with a repressive sanction. We are also constrained to use the appropriate language or currency of our particular country, not necessarily because society will impose a sanction upon us if we do not, but because our attempts to communicate or effect an economic exchange will simply fail. A third type of case is where the individual feels no inclination to violate a rule, but obeys out of custom or habit. Society still may be said to exert a coercive power in that the 'internalisation' of the social rule in question has been brought about by an 'unremitting pressure' from the social milieu, mediated by parents and teachers.²⁵ Socialisation, in other words, is a coercive process by which habitually compliant and law-abiding social individuals are produced.

The humanist critique of Durkheim

Durkheim's characterisation of social facts as external to individuals, as exerting a coercive power over them, and as not spontaneously intelligible, or transparent to them, has provoked continuing opposition from the tradition of thought which insists on the distinctiveness of the human world, and the consequent impossibility of a 'natural science' of human social relations. According to such critics Durkheim's 'reification' of the social world amounts to submission to a conservative scientistic ideology.²⁶ Although human agents are the creators of their social world, the world they create achieves its own independence. Men 'forget' that their world is their own product, and it becomes an alien power over them, which they cannot understand.²⁷ A variant form of this humanist ideology is to be found in the conception of alienation.²⁸ Under capitalism, the product of labour, and the very activity of labour acquires an existence independent of the worker and, in the form of capital, becomes an alien power set over and against the worker, which he cannot understand.

So far, it seems, there is a remarkable parallel between the humanist ideology and Durkheim's conception of the 'facticity' of the social world. But for the humanist the externality, coercive power and unintelligibility of the social world are its transitory 'phenomenal forms'; they do not constitute its 'essence'. Reified social forms characterise only certain epochs or types of society, and it is the job of social theory to demonstrate both this truth, and the road to a reassertion of the supremacy of the human subject over the social world, and the restoration of intelligible social relationships. Durkheim, by contrast, in establishing the facticity of the social as an epistemological conclusion, seems to be arguing for the universal and necessary character of reified social forms. This is at once a denial of history and the advocacy of resignation in the face of a coercive status quo.

A full discussion of objections of this type must await further discussion of Durkheim's own conception of the difference between science and ideology, but for the moment, it can at least be shown that some aspects of what Durkheim calls 'coercion' are a necessary presupposition of any form of human social life. Although it is true that, for instance, different linguistic communities²⁹ operate with different systems of syntax and semantics, it is clear that communication within any particular linguistic community will require conformity with the prevailing system in that community. Similarly, though societies differ in the normative rules by which they are governed, and indeed, may be characterised by conflicting systems of normative rules, a society in which the allocation of
production-tasks and the distribution of means of consumption were subject to no normative regulation whatsoever is a theoretical impossibility ('from each according to ability, to each according to need' is a slogan describing a particular type of normative regulation).

Nevertheless, the humanist contention that there is in Durkheim's epistemology the intrusion of a conservative political ideology can be upheld. Durkheim's classification together as instances of 'coercion' of all cases of exercise of repressive sanctions and all cases of normative regulation of conduct as universal features of social existence, and his attempt to represent this as an observational truth, has clear implications of a politically conservative kind. These derive both from the classification together of cases of political oppression and cases of normative regulation which are conditions of any sort of social life, and from Durkheim's taking the vocabulary (coercion, freedom, constraint, etc.) of political ideology (where these terms have a function in distinguishing, defending, criticising, etc. different forms of political order) and giving it an epistemological task. Nevertheless the epistemological point that Durkheim makes, albeit in an inconsistent and defective way, is important and defensible. It is that social life is not spontaneously intelligible to those who live it, and that it can only be known through scientific investigation.

Common sense and science

The core of Durkheim's theory of scientific knowledge, and his distinction between science and ideology, much of which is presupposed in his discussion of social facts, is given in chapter 2 of the Rules. Prior to the foundation of any branch of scientific knowledge and, indeed, persisting in practical life after its foundation, the phenomena with which it deals will be 'represented in the mind not only by rather definite perceptions but also by some kind of crudely formed concepts'. This assertion depends on the general proposition that '(m)an cannot live in an environment without forming some ideas about it according to which he regulates his behaviour'.³⁰ Some form of conceptual ordering of the natural and social order is indispensable to material and social survival. The ideas (common-sense ideas, 'pre-notions') which are produced in the course of those practices by which immediate needs are satisfied are judged acceptable and are retained if they yield practical results. They tell us of the danger, usefulness, edibility, etc. of things. They classify objects in terms of their relationship to immediate practical needs. An example would be a gardener's classification of plants as flowers/vegetables/weeds. Such concepts, related as they are to

practical interests, are loaded with emotional and value-connotations. 'Products of everyday experience, their primary function is to put our actions in harmony with our environment; they are created by experience and for it.'³¹

However, despite the 'practical adequacy' of pre-notions in supporting material and social practices, they may still be theoretically false: 'several centuries have elapsed since Copernicus dissipated the illusions of the senses concerning the movements of heavenly bodies; and yet we still habitually regulate our time according to these illusions'.³² In attempting to gain scientific knowledge, the temptation is to substitute these 'practically adequate' ideas for reality, and to elaborate these ideas instead of investigating reality. This is what Durkheim calls the 'ideological method'. He attributes it to, for instance, political economy, and points out that its use does not at all exclude appeal to 'confirmatory facts'. Its error is to proceed from ideas to fact, rather than from facts to ideas.³³ As we shall see.³⁴ Durkheim's critique of the ideological method fails to make the crucial distinction between taking pre-notions as objects of knowledge in the construction of scientific concepts and taking them as raw materials, to be transformed through critical analysis.

However, for Durkheim, pre-notions constitute a veil between us and reality. A condition, then, for rebuilding our concepts on sure foundations is the rejection of all preconceptions, in the manner of Descartes's method of systematic doubt. Durkheim is here committed to a thesis of radical discontinuity between scientific and prescientific notions. This is not simply a discontinuity in time (the latter set of notions being of earlier origin than the scientific) since they co-exist after the foundation of a science. Rather, the discontinuity is conceptual (the two systems of notions are organised around different problems, and mark different, cross-cutting distinctions) and epistemological (the one system makes claim to 'theoretical truth', the other only to 'practical adequacy').³⁵

But how are scientific concepts to be formed, once all preconceptions have been rejected? Durkheim holds to the empiricist thesis that all concepts – scientific or ideological – have their basis in sense-experience. Their differences consist in their different elaborations from this basis:

(Science) needs concepts that adequately express things as they actually are, and not as everyday life finds it useful to conceive them. Now those concepts formulated without the discipline of science do not fulfil this condition. Science, then, has to create new concepts; it must dismiss all lay notions and the terms expressing them, and return to sense perception, the primary and necessary substance underlying all concepts. From

POSITIVISM AND IDEOLOGY IN THE WORK OF EMILE DURKHEIM

sensation all general ideas flow, whether they be true or false, scientific or impressionistic. The point of departure of science, or speculative knowledge, cannot be different from that of lay, or practical, knowledge. It is only beyond this point, namely, in the manner of elaboration of these common data, that divergences begin.³⁶

The method of science, then, is to return to nature, devoid of preconceptions, and to classify phenomena on the basis of their immediately perceived external characteristics. This is, of course, the procedure which Durkheim claims to have followed in the definition of social facts. Again, Durkheim takes refuge in a defective empiricist conception of concept-construction. No classification is 'imposed' by a given set of 'perceptions'. Even the most plausible candidates for elementary sensory properties of this sort – for example, colours - do not impose themselves on the perceiving subject. The conceptual discrimination of colours involved in spectroscopy, obeying traffic lights and landscape painting are all quite different and yet colourperceptions may be reported and acted upon in each. Durkheim's own example of his definition of crime in terms of the 'common external characteristic' of punishment is susceptible of the same objection. Are social practices 'given' to observers without preconceptions as 'punishments'? Consider, for instance, initiation ceremonies, in which 'victims' may be deliberately injured. How would an observer without preconceptions distinguish such cases from punishment?

Still more seriously, there is a contradiction between Durkheim's conception of the replacement of ideological by scientific conceptions and his assertion of the autonomy of sociology. If social facts constitute an autonomous reality, and so must be explained in terms of social facts (rather than being 'reduced' to any other type of facts), then should this not also apply to the social facts of ideological and scientific representations? In particular, Durkheim conceives the rejection of pre-notions as an act of will carried out by an individual subject. Similarly, a scientific approach demands a certain 'attitude of mind' (that of the physicist or chemist).³⁷ But what of the 'coercive power' of ideological pre-notions over the individual subject? Surely this, if not the logical absurdity of a presuppositionless system of classification, should have demonstrated the inadequacy of Durkheim's conception of the science/ideology distinction. Not only this, but it follows from Durkheim's own position that the attempt to carry out his methodological injunctions would render the theorist not less, but more open to the intervention of unconscious, and therefore uncontrolled, ideological categories into his or her investigations.

A further source of internal difficulty in Durkheim's theory of science and ideology concerns his thesis that pre-notions may have a practical adequacy in that 'they put our actions in harmony with our environment' and may yet be theoretically false. The only way in which this could be so would be if the forms in which our environment presents itself to us in everyday life were fundamentally misleading as to its true character. This is to say that the 'data' of experience and perception are an inadequate basis for genuine knowledge,³⁸ and yet it is precisely those misleading phenomenal forms, present to us in perception, which Durkheim advocates as the basis for scientific knowledge.

We have seen, then, that Durkheim transcends positivist theories of knowledge in certain respects. In particular he advocates a realist model of explanation (though he does not adequately distinguish it from an 'essentialist' one), together with a sketch of the conceptual and epistemological differences between scientific and ideological thought which goes beyond the simple empiricist contrast between truth and falsity (ideological notions do not have the same cognitive status as scientific ones, but they may have a type of adequacy – practical adequacy). But on the key questions of the process by which sciences are founded, and the criteria by which the cognitive status of scientific concepts is to be established, Durkheim lapses into a peculiarly banal empiricism, remaining trapped within a conception of knowledge as a relation between an abstractly specified 'knowing subject' and an external order of facts.

Knowledge and practical interests

Although Durkheim is extremely vague on just how ideological notions and scientific notions differ in their mode of elaboration from a common basis in sensation, he does give some hints about the source of the cognitive defects of ideological notions. This source is in their closeness to practical interests, and the injunction to reject preconceptions can be seen as a way of freeing science from the grip of practical interests.³⁹ Of course, Durkheim thought of science as meeting practical requirements too, but its capacity to do so was conditional upon the absence of the dictates of those practical needs in directing the formation of the concepts of science. Science and ideology will, then, be characterised by a different relation to practical life. Ideologies will be internally, conceptually connected with practical needs and interests, whereas science will be connected only by an 'external' application in other practices. The application of this criterion to Durkheim's own work produces some interesting results. Durkheim conceives of the practical application of sociology

on an analogy with scientific medicine. Just as medicine identifies and analyses the cause of pathological states of individual organisms and suggests remedies, so sociology (or one of its branches, 'social pathology') will identify and analyse the causes of pathological states of 'social organisms'. To do this, it is first necessary to find a criterion for distinguishing the 'normal' and the 'pathological' among social facts. Durkheim's 'value-neutral' way of doing this is to determine the statistical frequency of the class of phenomena concerned throughout the type, or 'species' of society in which it occurs. If it is general throughout the species, then it is 'normal'.

But Durkheim had already identified, in the Division of Labour, the capital/labour conflict and crises of over-production which seemed to characterise 'organised' societies as 'abnormal' (i.e. pathological) forms of the division of labour. In that text Durkheim had diagnosed the causes of such pathological states, and recommended cures - the most important of which was to be a reconstruction of occupational organisations (along the lines of the medieval guilds) in which capitalists and workers would co-operate. Out of this would arise norms - and even, eventually, laws - for the regulation of business based on a mutual recognition of dependence. In short, Durkheim's thought serves to theoretically found a reformist political practice, with preconceived parameters which, in its main outlines, is identical with Comte's project of 'social engineering'. This can be seen more clearly if we compare Marx's analyses of these phenomena with those of Durkheim. For Marx, crises and the capital/labour conflict were universal amongst societies of the type in which they occur ('capitalist' for Marx, 'organised' for Durkheim), since they are consequences of 'contradictions' constitutive of societies of that type. For Marx, transition to a new, classless and non-contradictory type of social order (i.e. one in which the generative causes of the phenomena were absent) was a necessary condition for the abolition of the phenomena.

Now, Durkheim recognised the generality of these phenomena throughout the social type and so would seem to be faced with a dilemma:⁴⁰ either concede that the phenomena are, after all, normal, or admit the possibility that the social type is inherently diseased. If the former is accepted then the whole basis for a reformist strategy as 'cure' falls away, whilst the latter is rejected by Durkheim as a contradiction in terms. 'One cannot, without contradiction, even conceive of a species which would be incurably diseased in itself and by virtue of its fundamental constitution.'⁴¹ Durkheim escapes from the dilemma with the *ad hoc* device that the generality of a phenomenon throughout a species may not imply normality if that type is still in the process of transition from an earlier type.⁴² Not only is the *ad hoc* device suspicious in itself, but its use to preserve the biological analogy which is at stake runs counter to Durkheim's own constraints on the use of analogical reasoning in science.⁴³ It would be hard to find a clearer case of prior practical (in this case political) interests and problems determining the structure of a theoretical corpus. By his own criterion Durkheim's use of the normal/pathological distinction is ideological.⁴⁴

Introduction

So far, I have tried to show how empiricist and positivist theories of knowledge are defective as accounts of scientific knowledge, both when they are applied to the natural and to the social sciences. In the cases of both Comte and Durkheim I have attempted to show that the employment of a defective, empiricist theory of knowledge was connected with serious defects in their respective substantive social theorising. However, Durkheim's work is of especial interest in that his theory of knowledge is not simply 'empiricist' or 'positivist' but is rather a combination of realism and empiricism. Durkheim was a realist in two senses: first, in the claim that a real world (the object to be grasped in scientific knowledge) exists prior to and independent of the theoretical knowledge of it, and second, in the claim that the 'phenomenal forms' in which this reality presents itself to experience may be misleading as to the true character of the reality which 'underlies' and is the causal source of the 'phenomenal forms'. This realist conception of knowledge implies a radical discontinuity between those notions by which social agents grasp and negotiate the 'phenomenal forms' of social reality, and those concepts which constitute scientific knowledge of the social world. But Durkheim's retention of an empiricist conception of the relationship between scientific concepts and 'sensation' prevents his production of any adequate conception either of how scientific knowledges are founded, or of their superior 'cognitive status', compared with ideological notions. I also tried to argue that Durkheim's tendency to substitute a philosophical relation of 'phenomena' to their 'essence' for genuine knowledge of generative causal mechanisms in his substantive social theorising is also connected with his empiricism in the theory of knowledge.¹

In the present chapter I shall turn to an investigation of the work of some representative thinkers in the principal anti-positivist tradition within the social sciences - the tradition I have labelled 'humanist'.² The philosophical sources of humanist approaches in the social sciences at first glance appear to be very heterogeneous phenomenological, ethnomethodological, existentialist, Hegelian, Neo-Kantian, Wittgensteinian, and even, under some interpretations. Marxian. But it turns out that most of these philosophical traditions are related, through either historical origin, or conceptual affinities or both, to the work of the eighteenth-century German philosopher. Immanuel Kant. No short account could possibly do justice to the enormous philosophical achievements of Kant, but equally no comprehensible account could be given of later anti-positivist currents in the social sciences without some attempt to at least sketch the outlines of Kant's system of ideas, and its place in the history of philosophy.

Kant's philosophy

Early in chapter 2 I made a brief reference to 'rationalism' as the main alternative in the seventeenth century to empiricist theories of knowledge. For rationalism, knowledge-claims are valid to the extent that they conform to the deductive standards of proof already established in mathematics. The capacity to apply universally valid rational principles was supposed by Descartes, as by other rationalists, to be 'equal in all men'. Such rational principles were supposed to be not abstracted from experience, but, on the contrary, innately known. A centre of controversy between rationalism and empiricism concerned the possibility of innate, *a priori* knowledge which is nevertheless synthetic (that is to say, informative about the world, not merely 'true by definition'). Kant's main philosophical achievement can be understood as a reconciliation into a single theory of knowledge of elements of both rationalist and empiricist epistemologies.

As I have tried to show in my discussion of the varieties of empiricism and positivism, the doctrines that the source of knowledge and the last arbiter as to its validity is sense-experience tend to generate radical scepticism as to the possibility of knowledge of a world external to the individual consciousness – the subject of 'senseexperience'. This characteristic of empiricism, though rendering it effective as a sceptical weapon against all forms of mysticism, theology and metaphysics, is not helpful if it is intended simultaneously to give an account and defence of scientific knowledge. Notoriously, for instance, it has been argued that the concept of 'causal necessity', carrying the implication that future possible and impossible courses of events can be predicted, cannot be abstracted from our sense-experience. All that can legitimately be inferred from experience is a notion of causality as mere 'constant conjunction', established causal generalisations carrying no implications for as yet unexperienced phenomena.

Kant's defence of the objectivity of scientific knowledge, including the concept of causal necessity, was presented in his major work, the Critique of Pure Reason.³ For Kant, the knowledge expressed in an objective judgment of science or common sense involves both thought and perception. Judgments of a subjective kind, which merely report experiences, but make no claim as to objectivity, nevertheless require, Kant argues, a conceptual ordering to be imposed on them. The mind does not simply and passively 'record' sense-impressions. Space and time are the (a priori) forms in which perceptual experience is ordered. Beyond this, perceptual judgments acquire objectivity - i.e. acquire the status of judgments about the existence and nature of some external reality - only on condition that perceptions are organised by further a priori concepts or 'categories' of the understanding. Kant derives these categories in a rather dubious way from the classification of the logical forms of propositions, and claims that his list of twelve 'categories of the understanding' is complete. The details of this argument need not concern us, but the general drift of Kant's defence of scientific knowledge can be grasped through his treatment of the category of causality. Kant concedes the sceptical point that the concept of causal necessity cannot be abstracted from experience, but rejects the conclusion that it therefore has no rational foundation. Rather, the legitimacy of objective causal judgments is to be assumed, and the condition of their possibility to be sought. In this case, the condition of possibility of objective causal judgments is that the 'manifold' of our perceptual experience is organised by the application of an *a priori* concept of causality - i.e. one not abstracted or derived in any other way from experience. As regards the whole system of judgments making up our scientific knowledge of nature (Kant regarded Newtonian physics as embodying an absolute knowledge of nature), a condition of its objectivity is that the a priori categories are applied in it according to certain 'synthetic a priori' principles, which give the rules for the application of the categories. In the case of the category of causality the relevant synthetic a priori principle is that 'all alterations occur in accordance with the law of the connexion of cause and effect'.⁴ So far, then, it seems that in accepting the need for recognising principles which are both a priori (independent of experience) and yet synthetic (not merely true by definition) Kant is on the side of the rationalists. But there is also a nod in the direction of the empiricists - the

synthetic *a priori* principles are only legitimately employed within the bounds of possible sense-experience.

That the categories and principles may be legitimately employed only within the bounds of possible sense-experience – within the field of 'phenomena' – can only be thought of as a limitation on their scope if one supposes the existence of un-experienceable realities. Such un-experienceable realities are, it turns out, implied by Kant's theory of judgment. The ultimate (or transcendental) presupposition of the combination of a subjective perceptual judgment with *a priori* categories of the understanding to yield a single objective judgment is the unity of the judging and perceiving subject. This unity is a 'transcendental' unity (it transcends possible experience) since it is an ultimate condition of experience, and therefore different in kind from anything to be found within experience. Also, the field of moral experience yields evidence for a reality beyond, and underlying, the phenomenal world. This is the world of 'noumena', or things-inthemselves, as Kant called them.

For Kant, the distinctive character of moral experience is connected with the idea of duty - the idea that the individual is subject to universal duties, which call on his/her obedience even in opposition to the desires, impulses or inclinations of the moment. A condition of possibility of the objectivity of such experience is not only that such universal duties do exist, but that the individual will can be determined by them in opposition to the determinations of desires, impulses and the like. This, then, is Kant's way of posing the central problem of combining the mechanistic conception of a causally ordered, 'deterministic' nature with belief in the free will, and hence moral responsibility of human agents. Kant's 'solution' to the problem is to argue that the human subject participates in both the noumenal and the phenomenal world. As part of the phenomenal world the human individual is an object of possible experience (through external sense in the case of other selves, through introspection in the case of oneself), and also part of the causal order of nature. To this phenomenal aspect of ourselves belong our desires and impulses. But as part of the noumenal world, the self is not an object of possible experience (by definition) and is thus outside the scope of the synthetic *a priori* categories and principles of natural science, including the category of cause. There is, then, conceptual room for a 'noumenal' subject, possessed of a free (i.e. not causally determined) will, capable of subjecting itself to universal moral duties. Kant also thinks that the ideas of 'immortality' and of 'God' are, like the idea of freedom, necessary conditions for the objectivity of moral experience.

But Kant is careful to draw attention to the special character of these concepts, or 'ideas' by which reference seems to be made to the noumenal world, beyond possible experience. The ideas of 'God', 'freedom' and 'immortality' are neither abstracted from experience nor are they applicable within it, as in the case of the categories of the understanding. To distinguish these ideas from the 'forms' of perception (space, time) and the categories of the understanding (cause, substance and attribute, etc.) Kant calls them 'ideas of pure reason'. Because they are neither derived from nor applicable to experience, there are very severe limitations on their use, and Kant argues that our thinking goes astray into 'absolute' or 'speculative' metaphysics if the 'ideas' are misused. When the ideas of pure reason are spuriously applied to objects of experience, or equally, when categories of the understanding are applied to the noumenal realm, speculative metaphysics results and our thinking falls into hopeless confusion and contradiction.

But the ideas of pure reason do have legitimate uses. They can give rise to 'regulative maxims' by which we try to systematise, and make more coherent our theorising in the natural sciences – this is their theoretical use. More importantly, though, they have a practical use: as conditions of the objectivity of moral experience, such ideas as 'freedom' are indispensable to practical morality. For Kant, the importance of these ideas for moral life is quite unaffected by his firm insistence that we can have no knowledge (in the strict sense of scientific knowledge) of the objects of the ideas. The noumena or things-in-themselves are by definition unperceivable and since, as we have seen, knowledge requires both thought and perception, they are therefore unknowable. They are objects whose existence is thinkable (and in which we may have faith) but whose nature is unknowable.

Neo-Kantian philosophy

Kant's distinction between a phenomenal world, open to perception and to knowledge through scientific methods and concepts, and an unknowable noumenal world of free subjectivity is, of course, open to serious philosophical objections. The principal difficulty is that the resolution of the problem of free will and determinism (as well as the other problems of speculative metaphysics) requires a good deal to be *said* about the nature of the supposedly unknowable things-in-themselves. Even the claim that they exist and that they are 'things' is hard to interpret as anything but a claim to know the unknowable. Accordingly, attempts to modify, or even altogether abandon Kant's noumenal/phenomenal distinction played a vital role in the development of German philosophy following Kant's death. The German idealist tradition, about which I shall say more in chapter 8, tended to abandon Kant's strictures against speculative metaphysics and developed idealistic philosophical systems which, unlike Kant's, were generally antithetical to the natural sciences. In the latter part of the nineteenth century, however, in the wake of a decline in the German idealist tradition and the spread of positivist philosophy, the 'revolt against positivism'⁵ in Germany took the form of a return to Kantian philosophy.

The Neo-Kantian movement which established itself in the dispersed academic centres of Germany from the 1860s onwards was initially hostile both to German idealist developments of Kant and to positivism, though the influence of positivism was at work in the tendency to relativise the distinction between noumena and phenomena (i.e. this was treated as no longer a 'qualitative' distinction) or else to reject the notion of a noumenal world altogether. Later, however, and particularly amongst the philosophers and sociologists of the Heidelberg circle (Windleband, Rickert, Simmel, Weber, Lukács, and others) there was a tendency to reinstate the work of Hegel, and with it the respectability of 'noumena' (in one guise or another).

For all of the Neo-Kantians a fundamental division was drawn between the natural sciences, on the one hand, and the spiritual, human or cultural sciences on the other.⁶ Their logical and epistemological enquiries into the differences between the two groups of sciences – or two types of knowledge – laid the foundations for the whole humanist tradition in the social sciences. However, there were important differences within the Neo-Kantian movement itself and these centred around the questions, (1) was the difference between the natural sciences and the others primarily one of method, or of subject-matter? and (2) in so far as it was one of subject-matter, how was the difference to be characterised?

In the early work of Dilthey (and of Simmel) the difference between the natural and 'spiritual' sciences was essentially one of subjectmatter. Man and the animals are distinct from the rest of nature in their sharing of a reflexive 'life experience' - an inner life. The life experience to which Dilthey referred was not 'noumenal' but was, rather, the object of introspection (of 'inner sense'), and could also be detected in others through its outward expressions. Just as Kant had investigated the conditions of possibility of knowledge of the physical world, so Dilthey set out to investigate the conditions of possibility of knowledge of the mental, or spiritual world. Dilthey's answer to this problem of knowledge of the inner life of others was that our sharing of a 'life experience' enables us to infer from the outward expressions of others their inner states on the basis of an analogy with our own inner states. We are thus able to 're-live' or 'imaginatively identify with' the inner states of others. It is 'imaginative identification' or understanding (verstehen) in this sense which distinguishes the type of knowledge proper to the 'spiritual sciences'

KANT AND THE NEO-KANTIANS

from that of the natural or physical sciences. But Dilthey, in common with later *verstehende* sociologists such as Max Weber, regards 'understanding' achieved in this way as uncertain, and standing in need of supplementation by explanation of a causal kind.

In his later work, Dilthey came to realise that the psychological foundation he had earlier hoped to give to all of the social sciences was inadequate. Inter-subjective 'understanding' is possible only on condition that the subjects between whom the understanding takes place share a common culture.⁷

Every single human expression represents something which is common to many and therefore part of the realm of objective mind. Every word or sentence, every gesture or form of politeness, every work of art and every historical deed are only understandable because the person expressing himself and the person who understands him are connected by something they have in common; the individual always experiences, thinks, acts, and also understands, in this common sphere.⁸

This sphere of 'common culture' is equivalent to Hegel's 'absolute spirit' and, as a quite distinct object of knowledge from the mental states of individual subjects, it requires a distinct type of understanding. Any cultural item may be said to have a meaning or significance (which Dilthey connects with 'function') which can only be grasped by relating it to the cultural totality – the 'complex of meanings' – to which it belongs. Clearly the 'meaning' of an action or proposition in this sense is quite distinct from the mental states – intentions, desires, emotional states, etc. – of the actor or speaker. Our capacity to directly apprehend the 'meanings' of cultural items (as distinct from 're-living' another's mental states) involves, then, *verstehen* of a rather different type – sometimes called 'hermeneutic understanding'.

Rickert and the historical method

Heinrich Rickert, one of the leading philosophers of the Heidelberg Neo-Kantian circle, rejected both the psychologism of the early Dilthey and the attempt to classify the sciences on the basis of a prior classification of their subject-matters. He thus escapes the objection to which, as we saw, both Comte and Durkheim were open, that they suppose the possibility of a classification prior to any conceptualisation of the 'things' to be classified:

Two groups of *objects* that differ from each other, as mind and matter do, with respect to the nature of their actual existence can never serve as a basis for differentiating between one group of empirical sciences and another.⁹

Rickert does not, however, escape the objection (he would not have regarded it as an objection) that his classification of the sciences rests upon a prior taken-for-granted ideology, rather than being a result of the production of scientific knowledge. He differs from the positivists in openly proclaiming this, instead of concealing it beneath the 'givenness' of perceived external characteristics.

For Rickert, then, philosophy is concerned not with material differences between subject-matters but formal, or epistemological differences of methodological *approach*. But since it is also implicit in Rickert's position that there is an 'internal' relationship between method and subject-matter (as distinct from the 'external' relationship between a single method and the whole variety of subjectmatters in the positivist conception) his *formal* distinction between the method of the natural sciences and that of history implies the material distinction between 'nature' as the subject-matter of the natural sciences, and 'culture' as the subject-matter of the cultural sciences.

The source of the methodological difference between natural and historical sciences is in a respective difference in our *interest* in their subject-matters:

Methodology has to observe that the one treats its subject matter, nature, as devoid of value and without meaning and brings it under general concepts, whereas the other represents its subject matter, culture, as meaningful and relevant to values and therefore does not content itself with the generalizing method of the natural sciences.¹⁰

In so far as the natural sciences are concerned with the world of sensory perception (whether of 'inner' or 'outer sense') in isolation from human values and meanings, then their method will be 'generalising'. Following Kant, Rickert argues that the world of experience presents itself as an 'immeasurable manifold', too diverse and extensive to be 'represented' or 'copied' in our knowledge in all its detail and extent.¹¹ The construction of scientific concepts, then, consists in a 'reconstruction' of the data of experience by a process of 'simplification', abstraction and selection.

For each scientific study there must be some principle of selection according to which the data 'essential' to scientific knowledge can be selected from the non-essential. In the natural sciences, our interest in individual things and happenings, being divorced from values and meanings, is simply as instances of general concepts. In the construction of scientific concepts, then, aspects of empirically given reality are selected as essential in so far as they represent what is common to a class of individuals: hence the 'generalising' method of these sciences. In so far as they are approachable in this way all objects of sense-perception belong to a unified 'nature', and may be objects of a natural scientific knowledge. A natural science of psychology, of the 'inner life' in so far as it is merely an object of perception or introspection, is thus quite acceptable in Rickert's view. Indeed, the whole of nature, defined (formally) by Kant as the existence of things 'as far as it is determined according to universal laws' is a fit subject for science.¹²

But there is no surrender here to the positivists' 'unified science'. Rickert's abandonment of the whole world of sensory experience and universal laws to the natural sciences is undertaken so as better to defend the more strategically important non-sensory world. Distinct from those sciences which confine themselves 'to the world of sensory perception as the totality of all physical *and psychical* events' are those sciences which 'take into consideration that which has "significance" or "meaning" in the world and which can be grasped neither by "outer" nor by "inner" sensory perception, but which can be "understood" only in a non-sensorial fashion'.¹³ Here again, as objects for investigation by a distinctive historical method, are Kant's 'noumena', or things-in-themselves. These objects which have an 'understandable' meaning, but are inaccessible to sense-perception, constitute the sphere of 'culture', and define the limits of legitimate application of the historical method.

'Culture' is defined 'materially' by Rickert as 'the totality of real objects to which attach generally acknowledged values or complexes of meaning constituted by values and which are fostered with regard to these values'.¹⁴ Culture consists of all those items either produced by or fostered by human beings for the sake of valued ends. Since cultural objects owe their constitution as such to their relationship to human values, there arises the possibility of an interest in them quite different from the interest we have in natural phenomena. Our interest in them for their relevance to value requires that we consider them in their 'unique', concrete individuality. In constructing concepts of them, we select as essential what is peculiar to them, what distinguishes them from other objects. Hence the 'individualising' method of history. And within what is peculiar to the individual cultural item or object, historical sciences will be interested in those characteristics which give it its specific relevance to value. A second, and for Rickert rather secondary, distinguishing feature of cultural objects is that they are 'non-sensorial meanings or complexes of meaning' which alone are 'directly understood' and when encountered 'require of science a kind of treatment different in its essential principles...'.¹⁵ But like other Neo-Kantians Rickert did not believe that there was any incompatibility between the verstehende approach and causal explanation in history. His point was, rather, that 'causes' are only of interest in so far as they have 'culturally significant' (or 'value-relevant') events or items as their 'effects'.

But there are three obvious difficulties in Rickert's position here, two of which are very damaging, the third perhaps not so. The first difficulty is that in so far as Rickert uses the authority of Kant's phenomenal/noumenal distinction to distinguish the objects of the natural sciences from those of the cultural, thus far is he constrained from consistently speaking of the 'causes' of cultural objects. The whole point of Kant's noumenal/phenomenal distinction is lost if causality is admitted into the noumenal realm. The point can be put more generally: if cultural objects really are to be thought of as 'noumena' in the Kantian sense, then they cannot be objects of knowledge at all, even knowledge of a distinctive kind.

The second difficulty is that the causal connections Rickert postulates are supposed to be connections between unique and unrepeatable historical events or 'cultural objects'. However much it may be objected to the positivist account that the 'covering-law' conception is not a sufficient characterisation of causality, at least some element of generality is presupposed in all causal judgments. The claim that a caused b implies at least that if a had not occurred (supposing no other alteration in the conditions under which b occurred) then b would not have occurred. The only basis for such counter-factual inferences is in the supposition that some relationship of a general kind persists between events of type a and of type b. Rickert's conception of historical causality, then, must be regarded as incoherent.

The third apparent difficulty is in his notion of the individualising method of concept-construction. It may be argued that concepts, like causes, are logically general. A concept must have the possibility, at least, of applying to a multiplicity of instances, yet Rickert seems to be proposing a science constructed of concepts which characterise unique particulars. Rickert does, however, recognise this problem, and attempts to meet it by distinguishing between 'elementary' concepts, which are indefinable, and are general in their application, on the one hand, and 'complex' concepts which are constructed out of them and are particular in their application, on the other. Apart from the now well-known difficulties involved in this type of classification of concepts,¹⁶ the defence is plausible. In general, the more complex a concept, the more diverse the 'determinations'¹⁷ it includes, the narrower is its field of application (compare, for example, the concepts 'labour', 'domestic labour', 'match-box making'). But it is now generally understood that however complex a concept, that is to say, however detailed and specific a description in general terms, it is always logically possible that there exists more than one individual which satisfies that general description.¹⁸ Ultimately, then, the coherence of Rickert's characterisation of the individualising method in history depends on whether the 'uniqueness'

which he claims for historical particulars is 'logical' uniqueness or mere 'matter-of-fact' uniqueness.

Finally, the connection between Rickert's notion of 'culture' and Kant's noumenal world is brought out even more clearly in his treatment of the objectivity of historical science. First, Rickert claims that the construction of historical concepts according to the criterion of relevance to value does not imply that the historian must make value-judgments, or express particular valuations. Though it is true that this distinction can be made, it can nevertheless be argued. against Rickert, that value-commitments of a more general kind are involved even in the judgment that a particular set of characteristics is relevant to some particular cultural value. However, even if we allow Rickert this point, there is still a problem about the selection of values according to which judgments of value-relevance are to be made. Here Rickert argues that in so far as the historian and his/her audience share a common culture, the audience will acknowledge or at least 'understand' the values which guide the historian's selection of materials. The objectivity of history, then, is to be understood as a function of the 'objectivity' of the values according to which its concepts are constructed. Rickert distinguishes 'values' in true Kantian fashion from desire, fancy and caprice, in terms of the 'obligatory', normative and universal character of the former. Either certain values are universal within a culture or, at least, they are 'expected of' those who belong to the culture:

The fact that cultural values are universal in this sense is what keeps concept-formation in the historical sciences from being altogether arbitrary and this constitutes the primary basis of its 'objectivity'. What is historically essential must be important not only for this or that particular historian, but for all.¹⁹

But so far this notion of the objectivity of values is not strictly Kantian in that it allows of cultural relativity in their validity. Thus the objectivity to which the historian may attain is an objectivity relative to his/her own period and culture. But if history aspires to the system of the natural sciences – if, in other words, it attempts to achieve a coherence beyond the multiplicity of particular empirical historical studies, and even to culminate in a 'universal' history of human development – then it must pre-suppose the validity of certain universal human values, i.e. values which have a claim to recognition transcending particular cultures. It is necessary, of course, only to suppose the existence of such universally valid values – not to know them.

Rickert is clearly ambivalent as between these notions of historical objectivity, but unfortunately for him there is no real choice. His

relativistic conception of historical objectivity rests on the assumption of a shared culture relating the historian and his/her audience. but neglects the question of the intelligibility, for the historian, of the values which 'constitute' the complexes of meaning which he studies. Not only must the historian share certain values with his/her audience, but those values must also extend to the object of study. Thus, unless the historian is to be confined to studies of his/her own culture, in his/her own period, transculturally valid values are a presupposition of the objectivity even of particular historical studies. In this way the radically historicist and humanist character of Rickert's Neo-Kantian methodology is displayed. A condition of the objectivity of historical knowledge is the transcultural validity of certain universal human values, in terms of which historical development is to be understood. Such values are a philosophical presupposition of historical science, and therefore are not representable as results of historical investigation. There is thus no way of demonstrating the truth of this presupposition, and without it history loses its claim to objectivity.

7 The methodology of Max Weber, and Peter Winch's 'Corrections'

Introduction

It would be difficult to overestimate the importance of the contribution to sociology made by Max Weber, a contemporary of Rickert, and also a member of the Heidelberg circle. Unlike Rickert, Weber contributed equally to the development of substantive sociological theory and to the debate on methodology, though it is mainly to the methodological writings that I shall refer.

Weber's methodological writings are usually characterised as effecting a reconciliation between positivist and Neo-Kantian positions. This is not particularly misleading so long as it is remembered that Neo-Kantianism was a diverse movement, some tendencies within which had already made substantial philosophical concessions to positivism.¹ Although Weber's position was not, of course, entirely consistent throughout his life, it is possible to say that, in general, he rejected the view attributable to some Neo-Kantians (though not Rickert) that the cultural sciences are exclusively concerned with the uniqueness of their objects of study, and that the category of causality is inapplicable in them. Weber differed from Rickert, however, in clearly understanding that causal explanations presuppose generalisations of a law-like kind. Weber was, on the other hand, committed to the widespread Neo-Kantian insistence on the methodological peculiarities of the cultural sciences. For Weber these peculiarities centred around the two related concepts of 'value-relevance' and 'interpretative understanding': the cultural sciences differ from the natural in the distinctive role of valuations in the formation of concepts in the former, and in the distinctive type of knowledge involved in them. A third area of methodological differences was thought by Weber to be the use of 'idealisations' in the cultural sciences. But here he is quite simply mistaken in his

assumption that there is no place for these in the natural sciences.

The definition of sociology

Weber's famous definition of interpretative sociology encapsulates most of these points:

Sociology (in the sense in which this highly ambiguous word is used here) is a science which attempts the interpretive understanding of social action in order thereby to arrive at a causal explanation of its course and effects.²

An exposition of Weber's methodological position can usefully proceed with an analysis of each of the concepts and contrasts involved in the definition.

First the concept of social action. The characterisation of sociology in terms of the understanding and explanation of social action involves two important contrasts. First Weber is distinguishing the paradigmatic objects of sociological knowledge for him - individual social actions, their meanings and causes - from the 'supra-individual' social entities (states, institutions, classes, collective consciousnesses, or whatever) whose existence is supposed in much sociological theorising (for example that of Durkheim) and also everyday thinking about social relations. Weber does not actually deny the existence of such 'entities', but argues that for interpretative sociology they must be 'treated as solely the resultants and modes of organisation of the particular acts of individual persons ...'.³ Weber's position here would now be regarded as 'methodological individualist', involving the claim that in so far as collectivities may be said to have characteristics independent of the individuals which make them up, those characteristics are to be explained in terms of individual actors and their actions.⁴ But a good deal of Weber's substantive work seems to run counter to this methodological prescription. For instance, Weber's famous definition of class situation as 'market situation', 'the typical chance for a supply of goods, external living conditions, and personal life experiences, in so far as this chance is determined by the amount and kind of power, or lack of such, to dispose of goods or skills for the sake of income in a given economical order',⁵ carries the implication that the 'life chances' of an individual will be determined by that individual's location in the given distribution of property and skills, and also in the distribution of requirements for such. As well as this, since market situation in this sense is not the exclusive determinant of life chances. the distribution of power and social honour in society may also be a determinant of the life situation of the individual. The economic,

social and legal 'orders' of society which Weber here distinguishes are social facts. It may or may not be that they are merely 'resultants' of the acts of individuals, but there is no doubt that they also play a part in explaining the situation of individuals and therefore their actions.

Must this be regarded as a straightforward case of the failure of Weber's methodology to grasp the character of his own substantive explanatory strategies? There is a way of reconciling them. In relating market- or 'class'-situation to the generation of action ('communal' or 'societal' action) oriented to a recognition of a common class-situation among members of a class, Weber says that such action by no means necessarily follows from the sharing of a common class-situation. Among the relevant conditions is the 'transparency' of the relationship between the causes and consequences of class-situation: '(f) or only then the contrast of life chances can be felt not as an absolutely given fact to be accepted, but as a resultant from either (1) the given distribution of property, or (2) the structure of the concrete economic order'.6 This suggests the possible interpretation that it is not 'social facts' (for example, 'economic structures') which determine conduct, in this sort of case, but rather the perception by actors of their situation as determined by social facts. If agents orient their behaviour in accordance with the belief that supra-individual collectivities exist, then, so far as the interpretation of their behaviour is concerned it will be as if such collectivities did exist. It follows that the sociologist may legitimately interpret courses of action in terms of concepts such as 'state', 'corporation', 'economic structure', etc. without commitment to the existence of any entities designated by the terms. It will be noted that this strategy for preserving methodological individualism closely parallels the instrumentalist interpretation of theoretical terms in the natural sciences,⁷ and is also consistent with what Weber says elsewhere, in his methodological work:

One of the important aspects of the 'existence' of a modern state, precisely as a complex of social interaction of individual persons, consists in the fact that the action of various individuals is oriented to the belief that it exists or should exist.⁸

But not only is such an 'instrumentalist' interpretation of 'collective' terms in sociological explanation subject to the principal arguments against instrumentalism as such (see chapter 4, pp. 67–70), but there are independent arguments against the methodological individualism it is designed to preserve. Steven Lukes has recently argued that the methodological individualist programme is quite vacuous unless it specifies which type of characteristics of individuals and their actions it is claiming as explanatory 'ultimates'.⁹ Descriptions of individuals in terms of their anatomical structure, physiological or emotional states and dispositions, etc., are, for instance, implausible candidates. On the other hand, descriptions of individuals and actions such as 'is a student', 'is on the dole', 'is cashing a cheque', whilst more plausible, get their plausibility precisely from the presuppositions they carry about the location of the individual in more or less clearly specified systems of social relationships.

The individualist can, of course, reply to this type of argument by insisting on the further resolution of these presupposed 'social facts' into the individual social actions whose resultants they are. But (a) there is no rational justification for preferring this stopping-point as the 'bedrock' for sociological explanation to any other and (b) in any case the same problem re-emerges with this further resolution: are we to characterise these actions, in turn, in terms of their presuppositions of social facts, or in terms only of physiological, 'mental', etc. characteristics of the individuals concerned? If the former option is followed, then the individualist is faced with an infinite regress, whilst if the latter course is taken sociology is reduced to a philosophical anthropology (explanation in terms of universal 'human' characteristics - subjectivity, free will, creativity, etc.) or to a physiological psychology (other forms of psychology, e.g. psychoanalysis, do involve presuppositions - however covertly - of a historical social kind, e.g. a certain type of family structure). Neither of these 'reductions', because of their very universality,¹⁰ is able to account for the historical and cultural specificity of the different forms of individuality (this is not, of course, to deny the possibility that, for example, certain physiological facts may limit the range of possible forms of individuality).

A final point here is that certain elements in Weber's research practice do escape this attempt at representing his substantive work as consistent with his 'methodological individualism' and 'instrumentalism'. When Weber suggests, for instance, that the connections between causes and consequences of 'class-situation' may be more or less 'transparent', implicit in what he says is the supposition that the beliefs social actors have about the structural determinants of their life chances (and in accordance with which they orient their conduct) may be more or less accurate. Further, it seems that whether or not structural determinants are in this way evident to social actors will itself be a structural feature. These claims are quite inconsistent with an 'instrumentalist' interpretation of actors' beliefs in social facts. For such an interpretation it must be a matter of irrelevance for sociological analysis whether or not such beliefs are true: the distinction between their being held as beliefs, and their being true

beliefs cannot, according to the instrumentalist interpretation, arise. Despite his own methodological prescriptions, then, Weber does adopt 'realist' strategies of explanation. Interestingly, not only do such strategies carry an implicit commitment to the sort of realist epistemology that (as we shall see) Marx attempted to make explicit, but also it is in his 'realist' moments that Weber is closest to Marx in the substantive content of his explanations (for instance, in his conception of the relationships between class-consciousness and the 'transparency' of the economic structure, and in his recognition that the ultimate determinants of market position have to do with the distribution of property and relationships to production).¹¹

Action and behaviour

To return to Weber's definition of sociology and of social action. I said that the specification of 'social action' as the object of sociological knowledge was intended to mark two contrasts. One (between individual social action, and the characteristics of supra-individual collectivities or 'social facts') has already been dealt with in some detail. The other (which, incidentally, excludes the possibility of Weber's methodological individualism ending up as a form of physiological-psychological reductionism) is the contrast between 'action' (Handeln) and 'behaviour' (Verhalten). Weber includes in the concept of action 'all human behaviour when and in so far as the acting individual attaches a subjective meaning to it'.¹² For Weber, even though there may be no physical or bodily movement - for example in cases of refusal to do something which is expected of one, such as vote, or console a friend – an action may nevertheless have been performed, since the failure to move in that situation will have a definite significance or meaning.

But Weber's definition of action in terms of 'meaningful behaviour' only leads to the further problems: what is it for an item of behaviour (or its absence) to have meaning, and how is the meaningful to be distinguished from the non-meaningful? Sometimes Weber seems to argue that for an item to be meaningful is for it to 'be related to some intended purpose':¹³ my opening the door is meaningful in its relationship to my intention or purpose of going through it. But Weber's much discussed typology of actions ('traditional', 'affectual', 'value rational' and 'goal-oriented') is such that only actions conforming to one type of action would in the fullest sense count as actions (Weber himself concedes that traditional and affectual action are on the borderline of meaningfulness) on this criterion of meaningfulness. Also Weber is prepared to accept examples of an individual 'doing' something – such as giving something away – without having any particular reason for, or intention in doing it, as actions. Finally, there are some cases – for example, where the action concerned is the utterance of a statement – in which the meaning of the action seems to be quite irreducible to the intentions of the actor (speaker). If I use the expression 'sit down!', intending my hearer to stand up, no matter how hard I 'intend' this will not affect the way my hearer interprets what I say. This is because what I say has an already socially established meaning, and only because of this is it possible for any individual to express intentions by means of the use of language.

None of the foregoing, of course, establishes that meaningfulness is not in some general way connected with intentionality. only that the meaning of an act is not to be identified with the intention with which it is performed. Nevertheless, the general unsatisfactoriness of Weber's rather vague indications on this matter have led others, Peter Winch in particular, to suggest other accounts of the meaningfulness of social actions. Winch quotes an untranslated paper of Weber in which the notion of meaningfulness is analysed in terms of 'commitment to future action'.¹⁴ Even in the absence of my having reasons for doing it, my giving something away (if I am correctly described as so doing) commits me to something in the future - for instance, the renunciation of future rights to dispose of it and recognition of that right in someone else. Winch's claim is that an act can commit the actor to something in the future only if it is governed by some rule, and, finally, the criterion of whether an item of behaviour is rule-governed is whether it makes sense to distinguish with respect to it correct and incorrect ways of doing it. By this last point, it seems that Winch must be understood to include the susceptibility of the behaviour to any sort of critical evaluation or appraisal. For instance, the use of a particular hold at a given instant in a wrestling match may be evaluated according to the rules of the game (it is or is not legitimate); according to rules of performance (it is or is not competently, or 'correctly' carried out); according to the rules of tactics and strategy (it is or is not a means to the object of winning the match); according to stylistic or aesthetic rules (it is or is not graceful, elegant, effortless, etc.), and so on.

By contrast, falling off a bike, starting with fright, reflexes, etc., whilst they are bodily movements (or involve bodily movements) are items of behaviour with respect to which it makes no sense to carry out critical appraisals. They therefore do not count as meaningful behaviour in Winch's sense and so are not, Winch would claim, 'actions' in Weber's sense of the term. They are physical happenings which, like other physical happenings, may be of interest to the physical sciences, may be susceptible of causal explanations in terms of physical laws and so on, but are not proper objects of sociological understanding. Winch's notion of rule-governed behaviour, whilst it has limited textual support as an interpretation of Weber's category 'action', is helpful in that it does seem to provide a criterion for distinguishing action from behaviour in broadly the same way as Weber did, in that it helps to make clear why Weber and others thought that social action required a distinctive type of understanding and also (although Winch doesn't mention this) in that it makes clear at least a part of what Weber and Rickert meant by the 'value-relevance'of the objects of historical and sociological knowledge.

However, Winch's category of meaningful behaviour, and Weber's notion of 'action' both involve obscuring important differences between the senses in which different types of action are meaningful. Winch, in applying Wittgenstein's account of linguistic meaning to social action, implicitly assimilates the meaning of actions to linguistic meaning. This is justified, of course, where the action concerned is itself linguistic. There are also varieties of nonlinguistic social actions - gestures, grimaces, signals, etc. - which nevertheless have a definite symbolic content, and are like linguistic utterances in that they are used to 'say something' (which may or may not be translatable into linguistic form). But not all rulegoverned actions are like this - my action in opening the door in order to go through it, the cessation of conversation amongst students when a teacher begins to speak, the differences in the treatment of those on the 'professional and executive' register and others in employment exchanges, etc. are all meaningful in some sense, and are all certainly rule governed. The actors concerned are not, however (necessarily) saying anything by their actions, and the actions are not assimilable to cases of linguistic meaning. However, there is some justification for extending the term 'meaning' to apply to these cases (so long as it is recognised that some extension is involved) in that the everyday practices, rituals, sequences of conduct mentioned do presuppose or 'embody' conceptions and beliefs, in some cases about the physical world, in other cases about the social world. In the silence of students during a lecture, for instance, is embodied the recognition of a complex of presuppositions concerning the power and authority relations between teachers and students, distinguished in terms of a hierarchy of professional and academic qualifications, normative expectations and so on. This is so whether or not any of the participants is conscious of it, and despite the possibility that many of the participants may reject the normative commitments involved. Except for the latter point, this is what Winch means when he says that 'social relations are expressions of ideas about reality'. Where Winch goes wrong, as I argued in chapter 1, is in supposing that this is all social relations are. More on this later.

So far it might seem that the action/behaviour distinction is, like the positivist classification of 'orders' of reality, a classification

of possible objects of the sciences, prior to the theoretical development of the sciences themselves. But Weber, like Rickert, distinguishes the object of sociology in terms of the interest we have in it. or the frame of reference in terms of which it is to be identified and understood. Take for example the physical movement usually described as 'winking'. This may be an indication that something is a secret, a greeting, an old-fashioned way of making sexual contact, a reaction to a speck of dust in the eye, a nervous tic, etc. The same physical movement in each case may have several different meanings (usually distinguishable by contextual clues) or have no meaning (except in the sense of 'symptom') at all (as in the last two possibilities). As physical movement the 'wink' is susceptible of physiological identification and explanation; as a 'meaningful' action the same movement is susceptible of 'interpretative understanding' by onlookers (who may include sociologists). The action/behaviour distinction is not, then, between two types of entity or happening in the world, but between two frames of reference in terms of which they are to be 'cognitively appropriated' (understood/explained), there being a good deal of overlap in the applicability of the two frames of reference, and a good deal of uncertainty at their boundaries (coughs, mistakes, etc., whilst apparently 'meaningless', may have 'unconscious' or unrecognised meanings). There is not, in Weber, any commitment to the Neo-Kantian relegation of 'meanings' to a separate noumenal world, and so in supposing the possibility of understanding and causal explanation of actions Weber does not face the same difficulties as did, for example, Rickert.¹⁵

Action and social action

For Weber, action as such is not the object of sociological understanding, but rather a sub-class of actions: social actions. Social action, Weber says, is action 'which takes account of the behaviour of others and is thereby oriented in its course'.¹⁶ Solitary prayer, for Weber, is an example of meaningful action which is not social¹⁷ (though it is odd that he should want to exclude it from sociological analysis). Winch argues against this distinction that all action (meaningful behaviour) is necessarily social.¹⁸ This is because, Winch argues, the rules governing such action must be publicly recognisable. For it to make sense to distinguish between doing something correctly and doing it incorrectly (Winch's criterion of 'rule-governedness' and therefore of meaningfulness), it must also be possible to distinguish between thinking one is doing it correctly and actually doing it correctly. For any rule, in other words, there must be a public way of correcting its application (otherwise it would not count as a 'rule'). All meaning, therefore, presupposes a

social setting, or practice within which the actions or expressions which have a meaning play a part. This is so even for solitary prayer: for such acts to take place there must exist a culture in which there are religious concepts and people are taught how to talk, and then, by analogy how to 'talk to God'. All action is, for Winch, in this sense social. There is, of course, no real disagreement between them, since each means something different by 'social action'. To argue that some actions are oriented to the behaviour of others whereas others are not does not involve denying that all action presupposes a social setting of some sort. It might well be argued, however, that Winch's broader notion of social action better represents the scope of sociology's interest.

Interpretative understanding

Weber, along with the Neo-Kantians, argued that to recognise 'action' as meaningful carried with it a commitment to 'understand' it in a way different from the 'understanding' or 'explanation' of any item of the physical world (e.g. a bodily movement). Weber was not so concerned as were some of the Neo-Kantians with the differences between the understanding of 'psychological states' (intentions, desires, etc.) and the understanding of symbolically meaningful expressions (in particular, linguistic or artistic objects), although he did appear to believe that these differences in the objects of *verstehen* might require differences in the methods by which it was achieved.

It should not now be necessary to rescue the concept of verstehen from the dead weight of positivist misrepresentation under which it has suffered for so long, save to mention that verstehen was not, for Weber, equivalent to a 'method' of imaginative identification, empathy, or whatever for capturing 'meanings'.¹⁹ Verstehen is not a method at all but an 'objective', an 'achievement' - it is a distinctive type of knowledge which may be achieved by a variety of methods, or no 'method' at all. When Weber says that 'it is a great help to be able to put one's self imaginatively in the place of the actor and thus sympathetically to participate in his experiences, but this is not an essential condition of meaningful interpretation',²⁰ he is evaluating 'imaginative identification' as a way of achieving verstehen, and so cannot suppose verstehen and 'imaginative identification' to be the same thing. In general, when positivist commentators represent verstehen as a method of generating or validating 'hypotheses' they assimilate what Weber has to say to their own categories of thought, and then subject this 'revised version' of Weber to their own canons of criticism. However, Weber does distinguish between understanding as achieved by a process of imaginative identification, or empathy, and understanding achieved by a recognition of the rational

connection between means and ends, or steps in a proof. The former method is most appropriate for the understanding of 'emotional reactions' such as anger, ambition, jealousy, etc.²¹ Weber seems to hold this view because he thinks of the expressions of anger, ambition, jealousy, etc. as expressions of inner states whose existence and nature is problematic for other persons - an imaginative leap into the psyche of the other is necessary if we are to recognise an expression of anger as such and not as an expression of fear, love, etc. Here Winch's arguments (derived from Wittgenstein) offer a helpful corrective. The expressions of fear, love, jealousy, etc. are and must be recognisable (not necessarily easily, though) in terms of socially established rules for the expression and identification of emotions, the latter including such cues as the identification of the total situation as one in which the emotion - anger, jealousy, etc. - would be appropriate. Of course, imaginative identification may be required if one is to be adequate to the needs of a friend or relative who is stricken with grief, anger, love, etc. but Winch's arguments show that it isn't required for the recognition of love, anger, etc. for what they are.22

For both Winch and Weber, the concept of *verstehen* refers primarily to the spontaneous and immediate 'recognition' of acts and their meanings in everyday life. The peculiar feature of this understanding is not simply its immediacy, but the way in which actions can be related to one another and to their overall context in terms of logical or conceptual connections. The capacity to recognise acts in this way, in terms of the symbolic universe to which they belong, is a condition for living any sort of social life. It is this point which underlies Winch's dismissal of the notion (which he wrongly attributes to Weber) that some sort of empirical investigation, culminating in statistical generalisation, is necessary to 'confirm' intuitive recognitions of the meanings of actions:²³ if such investigations were required for the interpretation of meaning, then the living of social life (which presupposes adequacy in the interpretation of others) would be rendered impossible.

Winch's treatment of the concept of *verstehen* is also illuminating in that it draws attention to the condition of possibility of the type of understanding involved in participants in forms of social life 'spontaneously' recognising one another's actions. This 'condition of possibility' is precisely that they are participants in a shared 'form of life', or 'culture' (which amount to the same thing for Winch). This is why understanding of 'alien' cultures is problematic for Winch: to the extent that the social relations of a society 'express' ideas which differ from our own, to that extent the society will be unintelligible to us unless we are prepared to undergo – in practice, or vicariously – a secondary socialisation into the form of life we

wish to study. Only by grasping the concepts in terms of which members of an 'alien' society think of themselves and their world is it possible to understand their form of life. Winch's target here is the type of 'ethnocentric' anthropology which represents 'primitive' societies in terms of concepts drawn from the social practices of the metropolitan countries, and to the extent that Winch's arguments are successful against this type of anthropological 'imperialism' they have a real polemical value. However, in so far as Winch's conception of 'understanding' carries the implication that any attempt to found a cross-cultural methodology, involving concepts applicable transhistorically and cross-culturally must be misconceived (i.e. it would require actions and practices to be 'understood' in terms of concepts extrinsic to their own cultural universe), it is radically corrosive of the whole project of a scientific knowledge of history and society. This becomes still more clear when it is recognised that this notion of participants' understanding also rules out the possibility that the participants in a form of life should, collectively, misunderstand or misrepresent to themselves its true character. This follows from the restriction that 'understanding' of actions must always involve situating them, classifying them, identifying them, etc. in terms of the criteria at work in the practices of the culture to which they belong. It is, therefore, the participants in any social practice who decide what is to count as 'correct' and 'incorrect', and who are the last arbiters as to what act is being performed. This would rule out most sociological and Marxist notions of ideology, as well as the functionalist sociologists' distinction between 'latent' and 'manifest function'.24

To some these implications have seemed like a reductio ad absurdum of the Winchian position: if it leads to these conclusions. then it must be wrong! Whilst never being unduly worried about the prospect of undermining the scientific pretensions of sociology, Winch, both in The Idea of a Social Science and since, has recognised some necessity to modify his position so as to avoid some at least of these extreme implications. One early attempt was to distinguish between 'reflective' and 'unreflective' understanding, the former involving the giving of accounts of social practices which might include 'technical' concepts, not available to the participants.²⁵ The restriction imposed here was that such concepts should in some sense be based on, or 'presuppose' the concepts of 'unreflective' participants' understanding. But since the logical relations involved here were not elaborated by Winch no clear methodological prescription could be derived - almost anything or almost nothing might be permitted. An attempt to avoid at least the restrictions on crosscultural understanding appeared in a later article, in which Winch argued that there were, in certain universal human experiences -

birth, sex, death – the raw materials for some sort of cross-cultural understanding.²⁶ But here relativism is avoided at the cost of either founding social science upon certain biological facts of human existence (a strategy which Winch would, rightly, almost certainly want to avoid) or deriving it from a philosophical anthropology, an *a priori* conception of universal human nature. This, as we saw, was an implication also of Weberian 'methodological individualism' and also of Rickert's conception of value-relevance in the construction of historical concepts.

Although much anthropological work has exaggerated the degree of cultural homogeneity to be met with in so-called 'primitive' societies, there is no doubt that Winch's arguments do derive some of their initial plausibility from their focus upon such societies. In my earlier criticism of Winch (chapter 1, pp. 14-15) I used the example of the relationship between 'employee' and 'employer' to undermine the Winchian thesis that social relationships are merely 'expressions of ideas'. I there argued that each participant (or class of participants) may be expected to conceive of the relationship differently. It is generally true of certain types of societies (including capitalist, but not only capitalist ones) that not just certain categories of relationship are conceived differently by the occupants of different social positions, but further, that there are in these societies mutually incompatible and competing conceptualisations of the whole social order. The deployment of the different descriptions rendered possible by each of these 'cultural universes' ('capitalism'/'private enterprise'; 'fair return on capital'/exploitation'; 'moderate'/'scab'; 'queer'/'gay' and so on) carry with them similarly incompatible practical and evaluative commitments. These are, after all, the conceptions of the world through which individuals and groups experience their lives, formulate their needs, objectives, wants and desires, and in terms of which their social practice is directed.

Now, there are three possible positions open to Winch in the face of this type of argument. One is to reject my characterisation of certain types of society as culturally heterogeneous. The existence of disagreements as such, of course, could hardly be denied, but it is open to a 'Winchian' to argue that these disagreements do not stem from radically different 'conceptual schemes'; mutually contradictory sets of beliefs can be articulated within a single conceptual framework. Agreement about the techniques and instruments of measurement is a presupposition of the institution of 'measuring', but this by no means implies that there cannot be disputes about the actual dimensions of things.²⁷ Similarly, a condition of mutual intelligibility is agreement in the deployment of a common stock of concepts, but this by no means excludes the possibility of disagreement in judgments: 'Roche's profits were excessive'/'Roche's profits were quite legitimate' are, apparently, incompatible judgments, but they don't necessarily presuppose incompatible conceptual frameworks. But the examples I gave earlier do involve different and incompatible schemes of concepts, not just different beliefs within a single framework. In the face of a recognition of this, a second line of defence is open to a Winchian: such competing conceptualisations are 'parasitic' upon a deeper, primary fund of concepts which constitutes the 'core' of the culture. Only if this is so is it possible to speak of a single culture or 'form of life' at all. Mutual intelligibility can be established by reference back to areas of culture which are held in common. But the existence of this 'common core' has to be demonstrated and, even if this can be achieved, the very recognition even of partial conceptual contestation in a single society implies that the notion of social relations as 'expressions of ideas' is at best a partial account.

Thirdly, our hypothetical 'Winchian' might simply concede the co-presence in a single society of incompatible conceptualisations of the social relations and practices constituting that society. If this is conceded and combined with the notion of *verstehen* as 'participants' understanding' then it follows that the participants who possess these incompatible conceptualisations will, indeed, be mutually unintelligible. A good deal of work in the sociology of education and the sociology of language, however defectively conceptualised, supports this conclusion.

Two important implications can be drawn from all this. First, if there are conceded to be even partial sets of incompatible conceptualisations of a single system of social relations (e.g. that system which relates 'employee and employee') it follows that one or both of the sets of participants' concepts must be rejected if we are to conceptualise the unity of the system of social relationships. A corollary of this is that the concepts 'culture' (= symbolic universe) and 'society' or 'social formation' (= form of life?) are not equivalent in meaning. Second, even an adequate account of participants' understanding would have to make reference to the way in which social actors individually and collectively 'negotiate' interactions in which incompatible conceptualisations are involved. Sometimes, of course, these interactions will be best described as conflicts in which each side exercises power to attain its objectives (as in the case of strikes. lock-outs, legal/military repression, and so on) but there are also procedures which, though taking account of power-relations. also involve the articulation of conceptualisations, and the search for the presuppositions of existing practices in such a way that dialogue between competing conceptual systems may be constructed (these procedures are at work formally in trade union negotiations but also occur informally on the shop floor, in the market-place, in

the relations between the sexes 'at home' and at work, and so on). These procedures are given more explicit formulation and may even be systematised in intellectual disciplines such as literary criticism, philosophical analysis, history and sociology.

It is this aspect of 'interpretative understanding', the implications of which are unrecognised by Winch, that constitutes the greater sophistication of Weber's treatment of the concept. In his essay on the 'Logic of the Cultural Sciences' Weber distinguishes the interpretation of the 'textual linguistic meaning' of a cultural (e.g. literary) product and its 'value-interpretation'.²⁸ Weber seems to regard the former as relatively unproblematical (unlike Winch) and says little about it except that it is, logically speaking, a presupposition of the latter type of interpretation. Goethe's correspondence with Frau von Stein or Marx's Capital may be evaluated according to ethical, literary/aesthetic, logical or 'intellectual' criteria. In each case, the wealth of empirical detail will not simply be reproduced, but a selection will be made on the basis of 'significance' in terms of each of these criteria. Since these criteria are, in a broad sense, evaluative, such an interpretation will be one which 'suggests' (presupposes) 'various possible relationships of the object to values'.²⁹ Value-interpretation, then, whilst not expressing a definite evaluation of the object will involve a selective conceptualisation of the object in the light of its relationship to some value (moral, aesthetic or intellectual/cognitive). The key role of value-interpretation in historical research is in 'constructing' the historical individuals which are then to be explained causally.

It functions . . . as a source of guidance and direction, in so far as it 'interprets' the content of an object – e.g. Faust, Orestes, Christianity of a particular epoch – with respect to its possible relations to values. In doing the latter it presents 'tasks' for the causal work of history and thus is its *presupposition*.³⁰

Further, the claim of the social sciences to a 'value-free' understanding and explanation of social phenomena depends, in Weber's formulation of the problem on (a) the possibility of such value-interpretations not involving value-judgments and (b) the possibility of a causal explanation of the historical individuals so 'constructed' in which values play no further part. However, even if both of these points are conceded, Weber still faces the same problem as Rickert with respect to the objectivity of historical interpretations. The values with respect to which the historian selects his material as 'relevant' will be the values of his culture. As these change, so conceptions of what is 'relevant' and so appropriate for historical explanation will change.³¹ Weber recognises this, and seems prepared

to accept the implications of such a relativism of historical 'significance' or importance (if not of historical truth). In criticising Weber on this question, Runciman argues that Weber fails to distinguish value-relevance, as a criterion for selecting historical material, from theoretical presuppositions.³² But, of course, there is not necessarily any problem for Weber here. As I argued above, competing conceptualisations of a single social reality will carry with them commitments of an evaluative kind. Not only this, but Weber includes within 'value-relevance' relevance to scientific and generally intellectual values. Thus Marx's *Capital* may be the object of an interpretation relevant to the value of the logical validity of its arguments.

However, it can legitimately be objected that Weber only poses the question of 'scientific' criteria of interpretation where the cultural object to be interpreted is itself a scientific work. The general valueframework in terms of which a cultural object is to be interpreted (i.e. in terms of which its concept is to be constructed) is, for Weber, a function of both the value-framework in terms of which the cultural object was itself constructed (e.g. Winch's 'participants' understanding') and the value-choices of the historian/sociologist, these value-choices themselves being relative to the culture of the historian or sociologist concerned. There are, of course, familiar difficulties which arise when these value-frameworks differ, and Weber is in roughly the same sort of trouble as Rickert in the attempt to construct a concept of historical objectivity.

It is not possible, within Weber's conceptual position, to pose the possibility of an objective and scientific employment of the various techniques and criteria for 'interpreting' cultural objects which he discusses.³³ In speaking of the possibility of 'objective' interpretations I am not, of course, proposing, in a positivist way, a method of interpretation of cultural objects, symbolic systems, literary texts and the like which is devoid of all presuppositions. This would clearly run counter to my earlier critiques of positivist accounts of concept-construction. The suggestion is, rather, that a practice of interpretation of cultural objects might be 'objective' in the sense that its 'presupposition' is a scientific theory.

This suggestion, which avoids the internal difficulties of both the relativism/philosophical anthropology 'couple'³⁴ and positivist epistemology, requires that a distinction be drawn between two types of conceptual structure. First are the conceptual frameworks, carrying normative and evaluative practical commitments, in terms of which social actors (including, in Weberian methodology, historians and sociologists) understand themselves, their actions and their relationships. In so far as these are articulated theoretical systems I shall refer to them as 'theoretical ideologies'. In so far as they exist principally in the everyday social practices of actors and groups of

actors I shall call them 'practical ideologies'.³⁵ The term 'form of social consciousness' will do service to refer to the unity of a particular ideology whether in its theoretical or practical form. According to Weber's methodology, what I have called 'theoretical ideologies' are the source of criteria of interpretation and concept-construction in sociology and history.

Consider the possibility of a second type of conceptual structure: a set of systematically logically related concepts and propositions which is logically discontinuous with the conceptual frameworks in terms of which actors and groups understand themselves and their relationships, and whose system of concepts neither presupposes nor implies evaluative and normative commitments of a practical kind. This may be regarded as a 'first approximation' to a concept of scientific theory, by contrast to theoretical ideologies as defined above. More needs to be said by way of elaboration and defence of this concept, but the general solution it offers to the problem of 'interpretative understanding' and its validity should be apparent.

Weber and other Neo-Kantians consider the interpretative understanding of propositions, actions, and cultural objects generally (including what I have called 'theoretical ideologies') as always presupposing some standpoint within some symbolic universe (what I have called 'form of social consciousness'). This presupposed form of social consciousness may be identical with that of the object of interpretative understanding (especially in the case of Peter Winch), or it may (problematically) be a different form of social consciousness (the historian or sociologist's own culture). As we have seen, this produces the dilemma of relativism, or a 'philosophical anthropology' as the only basis for any defence of historical objectivity. The proposed alternative to this is that objective criteria and techniques of interpretation may form part of a scientific theory (in the sense outlined above) which contains within it a specification of the general causal connections between theoretical ideologies, forms of social consciousness, and their extra-theoretical conditions of existence. Such a science of social formations would involve the production of criteria for the construction of concepts and interpretations not dependent upon any relevance to values, nor upon any particular ideological standpoint, but upon logical techniques for analysing the structure of conceptual systems, and the abovementioned theoretical knowledge of causal connections.

This distinction between theoretical ideologies and scientific theories is, of course, not without its own notorious difficulties. I shall discuss these further in my next two chapters, but for the moment it should be sufficient to emphasise the central conclusion of the present section of this book: that the alternative strategies in accounting for 'sociological understanding' lead to conclusions

impossible to reconcile with any claims to intellectual seriousness on the part of the social studies. But before going on to discuss, in the context of the Marxist tradition, a variety of attempts to make a distinction between science and ideology it is necessary to complete the present critical discussion of 'humanist' strategies in the social sciences with a discussion of the place and function of causal explanation in such strategies.

Direct understanding and explanatory understanding

Weber, like Rickert, held that causal explanation and interpretative understanding are not incompatible: interpretation is involved in the construction of concepts of historical particulars, which are then to be explained causally. Unlike Rickert, however, Weber is aware that particular attributions of causality presuppose knowledge of a general kind:

The simplest historical judgment represents not only a categorially formed intellectual construct but it also does not acquire a valid content until we bring to the 'given' reality the whole body of our 'nomological' empirical knowledge.³⁶

History is for Weber, as for Rickert, a 'particularising' discipline in that the interest which underlies the selection and construction of historical particulars always involves the application of a knowledge of generalities, which are the concern of the auxiliary, generalising discipline of sociology.

Since, on Weber's individualist premises, the object of sociological knowledge is social action, then the question of the nature and possibility of causal explanation in sociology resolves itself into the question of the causal explanation of action. Accordingly, in part 1 of *Wirtschaft und Gesellschaft*, Weber distinguishes between 'direct observational understanding' (*aktuelles Verstehen*) and 'explanatory understanding' (*erklärendes Verstehen*).³⁷ The 'recognition' of an act or proposition as of a certain type, *verstehen* in the sense so far discussed, constitutes 'direct observational understanding'. It is in this sense that we understand the proposition $2 \times 2 = 4$. Explanatory understanding is achieved when we

understand in terms of *motive* the meaning an actor attaches to the proposition twice two equals four, when he states it or writes it down, in that we understand what makes him do this at precisely this moment and in these circumstances. Understanding in this sense is attained if we know that he is engaged in balancing a ledger or in making a scientific demonstration.³⁸

Explanatory understanding, then, is explanation of action in terms of motives (reasons, intentions, etc.) and this (at least in the case of rational action) consists in 'placing the act in an intelligible and more inclusive context of meaning'. Weber later defines a motive as 'a complex of subjective meaning which seems to the actor himself or to the observer an adequate ground for the conduct in question'.³⁹ Further Weber distinguishes two respects in which such motivational explanations may be adequate or inadequate: 'Adequacy at the level of meaning' is achieved when the supposed motive and its relation to the action to be explained are intelligible or 'typical' according to 'our habitual modes of thought and feeling'. But an explanation which is adequate at the level of meaning is so far only a plausible hypothesis. For the explanation to be causally adequate it must be established that 'according to established generalisations from experience, there is a probability that it will always actually occur in the same way'.⁴⁰ But a statistical generalisation connecting events is not, by itself, adequate as an explanation, adequacy at the level of meaning is also required.

The concept of cause which Weber draws on here is very obviously that of the positivist tradition: the 'covering law plus initial-condition' model. Once again, Peter Winch provides a forceful criticism of Weber's position.⁴¹ Winch's own account of explanation in terms of motive is very like Weber's own. For both, to explain an act in terms of the motive of its actor is to situate it in the broader context of established standards and modes of conduct (complexes of meaning). But for Winch this is merely to provide a fuller and richer interpretation of the meaning of the act. It has nothing in common with a causal explanation, nor could it ever be supplemented or corrected by a statistical investigation of behavioural regularities. For Winch, the very notion of a causal explanation is quite out of place in the sphere of human action. However, Winch's general critique of the possibility of causal explanation of action does not distinguish at all clearly between the following five possibilities.

- 1 That actions may be explained causally, but not in terms of motives, reasons, etc. (rather, e.g., in terms of their physiological determinants).
- 2 That explanations of actions in terms of motives, reasons, etc. are causal in the positivist sense of causality.
- 3 That explanations of actions in terms of motives, reasons, etc. are causal in the 'generative mechanism' or 'realist' sense of cause which I outlined in chapters 3 and 4 above.
- 4 That explanations of actions in terms of motives, reasons, etc. may be causal in some further, as yet undefined sense.
- 5 That there may be causal explanations in the social sciences which take social phenomena other than action as their explananda.⁴²
THE METHODOLOGY OF MAX WEBER, AND PETER WINCH'S 'CORRECTIONS'

I shall argue that, whilst some of the arguments advanced by Winch and others are effective against theses 1-3, they are ineffective against 4 and 5.

Thesis 1 is dispensed with straightforwardly: bodily movements may be explained physiologically, not actions. The requirement that an action be explained sociologically is a requirement that a wink be explained differently from a nervous tic. Even if it were discovered that there were physiological concomitants of different 'meanings', this could only be established on the basis of prior generalisations at the level of actions and meanings.

Against thesis 2 is ranged a variety of arguments, some of which are not always clearly distinguished from one another. First, it may be argued that motives, etc. are not causes because a cause must be an event, temporally preceding its effect, and motives are not 'events' which 'precede' actions. Certainly, on Weber's definition of motive itself, motives are not events. But not only are there, in the physical sciences, many types of causal explanation, but also many types of candidate for the status of cause: dispositions, states, processes, constituents, structures, forces and powers may all figure as causal determinants of events, or other states, processes, etc. Only if it were shown that motives were to be analysed in none of these ways might this argument be effective, and even then it would not be conclusive. The argument is effective, however, against the vulgar positivist reduction of causal relations to relations between 'events', but it is equally effective against this reduction whether it concerns the physical sciences or the explanation of human action.

Second, it may be argued that a background of one or more general laws is required for the attribution of causes. In the case of actionexplanations it is not plausible to argue that there is a general law (including statistical laws) connecting 'motive' (e.g. balancing a ledger) and action (writing down ' $2 \times 2 = 4$ '), and so it follows that motive-explanations cannot be causal. Donald Davidson argues that, although causal attributions do involve the implication of some general law, very few causal attributions (even of a physical nature) could be validly made if it were required that the relevant causal law were known and could be specified.⁴³ In claiming that a particular motive, reason, etc. caused an action, we do imply that some causal law connects motive and action under some description or other but it is not necessary that this be known or specifiable. But this is unsatisfactory since, among other things, what constitutes actions and motives as such is their description. To explain the action sequence 'working off a fit of anger' under the description 'digging the garden' is not necessarily to explain the former action sequence at all. Nevertheless, there are generalisations which are presupposed in the attributions of motives and reasons as explanations: these are

generalisations concerning the cultural expectations, standards and norms of the context in which the action takes place, as well as character traits, values, beliefs, etc. of the actors involved. There will also be assumptions of a particular kind about the situation in which the act was performed. Peter Winch argues, however, that these generalisations describe regularities of a kind fundamentally different from those described in the causal laws of the natural sciences.⁴⁴ The regularities involved in social life are 'rules', not 'laws', and this is a crucial disanalogy between the two realms. It is, for instance. characteristic of rules that when they are applied in new circumstances, the outcome of their application depends on decisions as to 'how to go on' and is thus indeterminate. It follows from this that an observer may correctly identify the rule according to which a course of action is being performed, and yet make predictions about its outcome which fail. The contrast with natural laws is that failure of prediction implies a mistaken identification of either initial conditions or the causal law in operation.⁴⁵ Without going along with Winch in his apparent acceptance of a naive falsificationist account of the logic of prediction in the physical sciences, it is clear that there is at least some sort of disanalogy here. The question is: is this disanalogy sufficient to establish that motives, reasons, etc. are not causes? Since any serious philosophical analysis of explanatory structures in the physical sciences must reveal a considerable variety of types of generalisation as presupposed in causal explanations (see chapters 3 and 4), and since it is also clear that the (neo-positivist) account of natural laws by which Winch makes his contrast is defective, it must remain an open question whether generalisations which describe normative regularities are adequate as backing for particular causal attributions. There is certainly a distinction which plays an important role in common-sense accounting for action between 'reasons' and 'rationalisations'.⁴⁶ It is presupposed in this distinction that at least sometimes when reasons are advanced as explaining an action the claim is that the presence of the reason is what makes the difference between the act's being performed and its not being performed. This element in concepts of cause as 'what makes the difference' between something's happening and its not happening, the notion of 'agency' (in a non-intentional sense of the term), seems to be a constant, despite other logical differences in the use of causal explanations. In so far as explanations in terms of reasons, motives, etc. involve the claim that the relevant action would not have occurred had not the motive, reason, etc. been present (assuming no other difference), then it may be argued that they are explanations of a causal kind, whether or not the generalisations which back the counter-factual claim describe normative or any other type of regularity. It will be appreciated, of course, that this

THE METHODOLOGY OF MAX WEBER, AND PETER WINCH'S 'CORRECTIONS'

criticism of Winch's arguments against the causal status of motiveexplanations succeeds only in defending thesis 4 above and leaves quite untouched Winch's case against thesis 2.

The third general argument against the causal status of actionexplanations in terms of reasons, motives, etc. is connected with the humanist thesis of the 'value-relevance' of cultural phenomena. Reasons and motives come up for evaluation as good or bad (motives), adequate or inadequate (reasons), honourable or dishonourable (intentions) and so on. By contrast, it makes no sense to ask of the cause of Dutch Elm disease whether it is honourable/dishonourable, valid/invalid, etc.

Now, as Keat and Urry have effectively argued,⁴⁷ it does not at all follow from the appropriateness of evaluating reasons, motives, etc. according to various rational, ethical or aesthetic standards that they may not also be causes. Further, the very social practices of evaluating reasons, motives, etc. according to these various standards would entirely lose their point if it were not the case that the motives and reasons so evaluated had some causal relevance in the generation of action. A consequence of rejecting the causal status of reason- and motive-explanations, then, would be to relegate all of those practices which might be included under the category of 'ideological struggle' to the status of 'epiphenomena' which merely 'reflect' causal processes occurring externally to themselves, but in themselves have no causal influence. However, it must also be recognised that this feature of motives and reasons - that they come in for 'evaluations' both in respect of their status as causes of actions and in respect of their rationality, moral worth, etc. – is a further disanalogy in what we might call the 'logical grammar' of causality in the explanation of social action, compared with other conceptions of causality. Again my argument is to be construed as a defence of thesis 4 above, and not of thesis 2.

Finally, there is a cluster of objections to the idea that reasons, motives and intentions are causes which are frequently confused, but are really distinct, though related. These objections are all connected with the positivist notion that, if a is to be represented as the 'cause' of b then a must at least be distinguishable from b. That this condition for adequate causal attribution is missing in the case of reason- or motive-explanations of action is argued in a variety of ways. Sometimes it is said that the connection between motive (reason) and action is conceptual, not empirical, as it should be if the connection is a causal one. Sometimes it is claimed that motive and action are not independently describable, or, sometimes, that they are not independently identifiable.

Let us suppose that a trade unionist votes for a strike because she believes that she and others have a legitimate grievance. If this belief, the argument goes, is the cause (or part of the cause) of her voting, then there should be am 'empirical', matter-of-fact relationship between her having the belief and her voting. But how do we know that she believes that she and others have a legitimate grievance? Among other things, by watching her voting behaviour at union meetings. If she does not vote for a strike, and there is no other explanation of this (fear of redundancy, conscientious objection to industrial action, etc.) then *prima facie* this action is grounds for withdrawing the description of her as believing she has a legitimate grievance. In other words, voting for a strike is among the criteria on the basis of which the appropriateness of the description 'believes she has a legitimate grievance' is decided: there is a conceptual, not an empirical, connection between action and belief. The belief cannot therefore be (part of) the cause of the action.

Against this it has been argued, correctly, that the conceptual structure by which the natural world, too, is described and explained may also build in causal presuppositions into descriptions. A 'clone', for example, is an organism grown from a culture of somatic cells from another organism, by-passing the ordinary reproductive processes. Describing an organism as a 'clone', then, involves an assumption about its causal origins. If it is discovered that the organism was produced by ordinary reproductive processes, the description would have to be withdrawn: there is a conceptual relation between a 'clone' and having certain causal origins. Other descriptive terms having built-in causal presuppositions include 'thunder', 'wound', 'crater', and so on. So, it would seem, explanations of actions in terms of reasons and motives are entirely symmetrical with causal explanations of natural phenomena in this respect.

But the argument is not to be concluded so readily. The conceptual relation between 'cause' and 'effect' in the physical-science examples is retained only if cause and effect are described in certain ways: 'thunder' may be redescribed as 'loud rumbling noises', or 'clones' as 'organisms', whereupon their causes (atmospherical disturbances and cultures of somatic cells, respectively) cease to be conceptually connected with them. The requirement that cause/effect relationships be matter-of-fact, or 'empirical' may, then, be expressed as a requirement, not that cause and effect be non-conceptually connected under every description, but rather that there should be available some logically independent descriptions for them. If motive- and reasonexplanations are subjected to this test, then the outcome is different. To return to the trade unionist example, it is relatively easy to find a description of the act of voting for a strike which renders it logically independent of the purported 'cause' - belief in the legitimacy of the grievance; such a description would be 'raised her arm (at such and such a time, etc.)'. But under the new description there is no

THE METHODOLOGY OF MAX WEBER, AND PETER WINCH'S 'CORRECTIONS'

longer any explanatory connection between the belief and the 'action' (indeed, under this new description the action has now become a mere physical movement). A new asymmetry between causal explanations in the physical sciences (as represented by the positivist tradition) and action-explanations: in the former, logically independent descriptions can always be found for cause and effect, whereas in the latter motives, reasons, etc. only explain actions to the extent that there is some sort of logical or conceptual connection between the reason (motive, etc.) and the relevant action-description. Here again is our old friend 'adequacy at the level of meaning': reasons, motives, and intentions are not even plausible candidates for the status of explanations unless their relationship to the actions they 'explain' is 'intelligible' or 'typical' according to our 'habitual modes of thought and feeling': to explain an act in terms of reasons and motives is at least in part to render it intelligible in the light of the norms and standards of its cultural context. This is not, and cannot be, a condition of adequate explanation for any physical happening. But of itself this is insufficient to establish that action-explanations are not also causal in some modified sense of that term.

However, what this argument does achieve is to give further rational support to the position sometimes adopted by Weber, and also by Winch, that explanation in the social studies must be restricted in the concepts employed to those available to participants in the 'culture' or 'form of life' which forms the context of the actions to be explained. Weber's methodological individualism and his Neo-Kantian opposition to any type of biological (or 'naturalpsychological') reductionism logically commit him to a strategy of action-explanations in terms of motives, reasons and intentions. It follows that this type of restriction on concept-construction must be adopted in any sociology which claims to be an implementation of the Weberian methodology. Similarly for the paradigms of explanation which Winch is committed to. So is there, after all, something in these conceptual restrictions despite their subversive implications for any aspiring scientific sociology?

First, it may be argued that the explanatory strategies adopted in Freudian, and the various post-Freudian traditions of psychoanalysis do centrally involve the production of action-explanations in terms of motive, intention, etc. which deploy concepts not available to the actors involved, yet which succeed in being explanatory. Without entering into the debate about the scientific status of psychoanalysis, it is fairly easy to show that, at the levels of the explanation of particular actions or syndromes, psychoanalytic explanations do not involve the use of concepts very far removed from those immediately available to actors. Unconscious motives, repressed desires and the like must relate to actions and 'symptoms' in a way which is intelligible at the 'level of meaning', albeit in a somewhat extended sense. Such explanations fall well within the criterion Peter Winch lays down for the acceptability of technical concepts, even in its most restrictive interpretation.⁴⁸

But whatever the status of action-explanations, and however restricted concept-construction must be in the production of this type of explanation, there are no adequate grounds for supposing that the social sciences should be or even can be restricted to this one type of explanation. To refer again to my example of the trade unionist's action of voting for a strike, when the act has been explained in terms of the network of beliefs, aspirations and standards which form its immediate ideological context, there remain many further questions to be asked. What maintains the existence of this complex of beliefs, standards and practices (which we might call 'trade union consciousness', so long as it is recognised that this phrase refers not to some disembodied system of 'ideas', but primarily to a set of practices and relationships), how did it originate and how has it changed under different circumstances? How are these beliefs and practices distributed in a population, and against what contradictory beliefs and practices are they in tension and conflict as real social forces? In so far as these conflicts are an aspect of conflict between classes and strata in society, what is it that generates and maintains class-conflict and the very existence of social classes? How, in the sense of 'by what mechanisms' (in the family, educational system, firms and trade unions themselves) are individual human beings transformed into social subjects with their own particular ideological dispositions, distributed into the various classes and strata, and incorporated into the various social practices. rituals and outlooks that are characteristics of those classes? None of these questions can even be asked within a rigorous methodological individualist framework. Almost all of them are questions whose answers would be causal explanations, but by no means of a uniform type. Finally, and crucially for the present argument,⁴⁹ there is absolutely no rationale given either by Weber or by Winch for restricting the theoretical framework in terms of which these questions are posed and answered to the conceptual structure which constitutes the 'symbolic universe' of the actors involved. Moreover, the very existence within a single social system of a multiplicity of such 'symbolic universes' makes such an explanatory restriction impossible to apply consistently.

But, if we may be certain that the Weber/Winch restriction of sociological explanation to 'action-explanation' has no adequate rational basis, there still remains the problem of whether actionexplanations themselves may be causal. If reasons and motives are only explanatory of actions in so far as they are described in such a way that their descriptions are conceptually connected, then it seems that they (i.e. the reasons and motives) are not identifiable or describable independently of the actions they are supposed to explain. On the positivist account of causality this is sufficient to rule them out as candidates for causal explanation. But is it sufficient on the realist, 'generative mechanism' account of causality which I outlined in chapters 3 and 4? According to the kinetic theory of gases, various relationships between volume, temperature, and pressure of gases are explicable as caused by states of motion, collisions, etc. of imperceptible particles. Not only is there no way of 'identifying' states of motion of molecules independently of their various macroscopic effects, but the concepts by which they are described get their sense through a series of logical relationships with the concepts by which the various macro-properties (temperature, pressure, etc.) are specified.

This analysis suggests that the relation between, for example, motives and the actions they explain is analogous to that between a theoretical entity (molecule) and the observable happenings it explains. There certainly is, in the way the concept 'motive' is used, the echo of a mechanistic conception of inner psychic 'forces' which 'generate' conduct. This aspect is guite explicitly theorised in psychoanalytic theories. On the other hand, there are the various disanalogies between motive- and reason-explanations and both the positivist and generative-mechanism concepts of cause that I have discussed above. These are, most notably, the relationship of reasons and motives to critical evaluation of various types, and the distinctive character of generalisation and its relation to prediction which figure in action-explanations. The most plausible inference to be drawn from this survey is that such explanations are, indeed, causal, but that they are causal in a sense different from, though intelligible in comparison with, both the positivist and realist conceptions of causality (thesis 4). Further, none of this rules out the possibility of causal explanations of ideological systems, their distribution, conditions of existence and transformations, the reproduction of individuals as social agents, their distribution into the social classes, and so on (thesis 5).

Finally, it requires to be mentioned that, his methodological strictures in *Wirtschaft und Gesellschaft* notwithstanding, Weber does discuss the formation of ideal-typical concepts and causal explanation of historical particulars which are not individual actions in certain of his methodological writings. Certainly a good deal of his substantive work contains discussions of and attempts to explain supra-individual historical particulars without any obvious attempt to reduce these to individual action-descriptions. In the introduction to *The Protestant Ethic and the Spirit of Capitalism* Weber constructs

an ideal-typical concept of one historical particular: modern Occidental capitalism.⁵⁰ Because of the profound contemporary value-relevance of this historical particular, importance attaches to the explanation of its origins. Weber's thesis is that among the causes of the origin and development of modern capitalism, along with purely economic, scientific, technical, legal and administrative conditions, is the presence of a certain type of religious ethic. As is well known, Weber advances this thesis as a refutation of a 'onesided materialistic' interpretation of history, without wishing to embrace an equally one-sided spiritual interpretation. Implicit in this text, then, is a recognition of the acceptability of what I have argued for under thesis 5 above. Unfortunately Weber's positive contributions to the theoretical account of historical causality are limited to the merely gestural notions of 'multi-causality' and 'elective affinity'. The Marxian foundation/superstructure distinction. with its related causal concepts of 'determination in the last instance' and 'relative autonomy' is notoriously bewildering and problematic. but at least it begins to pose the question of historical causality in a theoretical way.

It has been the thesis of this chapter and the previous chapter that the various Neo-Kantian and 'humanist' philosophical accounts of the methods and forms of explanation peculiar to the social or 'cultural' studies are radically defective. At certain points in the discussion arguments have been directed at untenable doctrines or internal contradictions in particular texts in the 'humanist' tradition. At other points the arguments have been of a more general character, designed to conclusively fault 'humanism' as a general philosophical/ methodological strategy. In particular, although a variety of asymmetries between certain types of explanation to be found in the different sciences (most notably concerning the 'interpretation' of symbolic items and systems and the distinctive character of the causality involved in action-explanations) have been rightly identified by writers in the 'humanist tradition' no rational foundation has been established for any fundamental division between the natural sciences and the 'cultural' or 'human' studies. The materialist insistence that the methods and forms of explanation adopted by the sciences must be adequate to the distinctive character of their objects involves rejection of the positivist external imposition of a universal scientific method without, at the same time, surrendering to the 'humanist' rejection of any notion of the unity of science.

8 Karl Marx and Frederick Engels: philosophy of history and theory of knowledge

Introduction

So far my argument has taken the form, first, of a critical rejection of positivist and empiricist theories of knowledge as either adequately representing the nature of scientific knowledge, or providing adequate practical norms or standards for the production of new scientific knowledge. My argument was conducted with reference not only to a conception of empiricism in general, but also to certain representative empiricist philosophies of both the natural and the social sciences. Second, I have attempted to show that the principal, Neo-Kantian, humanist tradition of thought fails to establish its thesis of a fundamental divide between the natural sciences and the 'human', 'cultural' or 'historical' studies.

This thesis fails on two counts. First, the contrast it draws relies excessively on an uncritical reception of positivist interpretations of the natural sciences. The impossibility of a 'positivist' social science by no means implies a radical discontinuity between the sciences of man and nature if, as I have tried to show, a positivist natural science is also impossible. Second, the positive arguments of Neo-Kantian humanists that 'our' interest in 'human' and 'cultural' objects, or the nature of these objects themselves (their 'meaning', 'intentionality', 'spontaneity', or whatever) require an altogether unique type of knowledge and method of study are not sufficient to establish this conclusion. They establish no more than that the various historical and social sciences require a method and forms of explanation adequate to the specificity of their object. This is no more and no less than could be said of any science.

Finally, any claim to objectivity of historical knowledge is rendered, in the humanist account of its nature, entirely suspect. Either 'understanding' cannot transcend the limits of its culture, in which case historical knowledge is merely 'relative', or 'understanding' presupposes some universal human 'essence' which is the basis of cross-cultural intelligibility. The first alternative faces grave intellectual difficulties, not least the well-known paradox that if the statement of relativism is true, then its truth is only relative. But even if the relativist were prepared to espouse this conclusion, the rest of us would require more powerful positive arguments for giving up the search for objective knowledge than the relativists have so far given. The second alternative, that of founding historical knowledge, and the justification of its claim to objectivity, on a 'philosophical anthropology' is equally suspect. To resurrect philosophy as a source of knowledge equivalent to the sciences is, albeit within a narrower sphere, to resurrect the aspirations of the speculative metaphysics whose pretensions were so effectively demolished by Kant. And, just as with those speculative systems themselves, philosophical conceptions of human nature abound, and contradict one another, without any prospect of authoritative criteria of validity to establish which, in the end, provide the 'objective' knowledge which each claims.

Is there, then, an alternative to positivism and humanism in the philosophy of the social sciences? The cautious answer to this is that there is, 'in the work of' Marx and certain post-Marxist writers, such an alternative. I say that such an alternative is present 'in the work of' Marx in order to avoid two confusions. One is that I might, but should not be, understood as offering an interpretation of Marx which is 'historically accurate' in the sense of 'complete', 'balanced' or 'true to the texts'. I aim only to extract from Marx what is relevant to the present argument - i.e. a distinctive philosophical position. counterposed to both positivism and humanism - whilst recognising that there is a great deal in Marx which is humanist, and not a little that is positivist. The second source of confusion is that I shall often refer to works of a substantive kind as sources for Marx's philosophical positions. This is partly because Marx wrote few extended epistemological tracts (and none to compare in scale with those of Durkheim or Weber) and partly because what Marx did write in the way of explicit epistemological statement requires interpretation in the light of his substantive work no less than does that of Durkheim and Weber.

The 'reading' of Marx's philosophical achievement as antipositivist and anti-humanist which I shall offer (like much else in this book), owes a great deal to the work of the French Marxist philosopher Louis Althusser, but it also departs from Althusser's work on a number of fundamental questions.¹ I shall not, here, take issue directly with other readings of Marx. It is well known that attempts have been made to represent the Marxist theory of history as 'scientific' in the positivist sense of the word. This has had its effects on the interpretation of the content of Marx's historical

KARL MARX AND FREDERICK ENGELS

doctrines and also upon political practice guided by that interpretation. The 'Machist' tendency in Russian Social Democracy, against which Lenin polemicised in *Materialism and Empirio-Criticism*, is an early example of this.² Similarly, humanist philosophical readings of Marx, whether Neo-Kantian, Hegelian or Existentialist, abound, and at times have predominated both within the 'Marxist' camp and amongst its antagonists. I shall not devote to these often sophisticated and persuasive interpretations the attention they deserve, partly for reasons of space and partly because many of the arguments I have already used against 'positivism' and 'humanism' apply to them equally in their Marxist and non-Marxist forms.

Nevertheless, no reading of Marx, however anti-humanist, could justify the exclusion of all reference to the relationship between Marxism and Hegel. This, unfortunately, is the least 'summarisable' of all intellectual/historical relationships.³ What follows in the next two sections has no pretensions to balance or to definitiveness, it is merely my route to the central argument of the chapter.

Kant and Hegel⁴

I mentioned, in chapter 6, how the Neo-Kantian movement of the latter part of the nineteenth century in Germany had been preceded by another philosophical movement also having its principal source in Kantian philosophy. This philosophical movement, of the end of the eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries, was the German Idealist movement. Its best known representatives were Fitche, Schelling and Hegel.

To say that German Idealism, and the philosophy of Hegel in particular, has its 'source' in Kant's philosophy may be misleading, since Hegel refers far more often with approval to certain of the Classical Greek philosophers and, indeed, frequently defines his own positions against those of Kant. Nevertheless some of the most fundamental concepts and distinctions of Hegelian philosophy can best be understood as elaborations upon and transformations of Kantian ones. Both the unity and the opposition between Hegel and Kant are well illustrated in this passage from the preface to Hegel's *Science of Logic* (1812):

The exoteric doctrine of Kantian Philosophy that Understanding cannot go beyond Experience, because if so the faculty of cognition would be a merely theoretical intelligence which could by itself produce nothing but idle fancies of the brain – this doctrine has given a scientific justification to the renunciation of Speculative Thought. . . . *Philosophy* and crude *Common Sense* playing thus into each other's hands for the

downfall of Metaphysics, there was presented the strange spectacle of a cultured people having no Metaphysic – as it were a temple, in all other respects richly ornamented, but lacking its Holy of Holies.⁵

Hegel, then, is the advocate of a reinstatement of the very speculative metaphysics which the Kantian critical philosophy seemed finally to have put paid to. Moreover, it is no mere 'reinstatement' that Hegel is after: the old metaphysics was, if anything, not speculative enough! What is needed is a completion of the speculative enterprise which Descartes, Leibniz and even Spinoza only pursued inconsistently and with faint heart. Not only should speculative metaphysics be reinstated and 'completed', but without it, philosophy and culture itself have the heart torn from them; the metaphysical enterprise has a religious, sacred character.

But this rejection, and even inversion, of Kantian philosophy the denigration of science and common sense in favour of metaphysical speculation - is expressed in terms of Kant's own distinction between 'reason' and 'understanding'. Indeed, it is possible to represent Hegel's central objection to Kant as the complaint that he does not apply his own distinction rigorously enough. In the understanding, objective judgments concerning the world of appearance (the phenomenal world) are made by the application of the categories of the understanding (cause, substance and attribute, necessity and possibility, etc.) to sense-perceptions. As Hegel recognises in the above quotation, the operations of the understanding, in applying the categories, are limited to the sphere of possible experience - to the phenomenal world. The ideas of pure reason, by contrast, cannot be used to produce objective cognitive judgments at all. They have a limited, 'heuristic' use in science, but above all have a 'practical' use in providing a foundation in faith for moral conduct and responsibility. The ideas of pure reason - freedom, God, immortality - are thus indispensable to the religious and moral life. to human beings as individual subjects; but the attempt to use the ideas of pure reason to express theoretical knowledge of things as they are in themselves (of the noumenal world) necessarily leads to 'antinomy' and contradiction. Similarly with the attempt to apply the categories of the understanding beyond the bounds of possible experience. This necessarily contradictory character of metaphysical thought - of the speculative exercise of 'reason' - is the basis of Kant's critique of metaphysics.

For Kant the logical principles of identity, non-contradiction and excluded middle, principles which he adopted relatively uncritically from traditional logic, were formal conditions for the coherence of any thought. Contradictions must be excluded from thought not because the world itself is non-contradictory (whatever that might mean!) but because to assert something and then deny it is to fail to assert anything. For Hegel, by contrast, these logical laws, along with the categories, have their legitimate sphere of application only within the understanding, within the common-sense and scientific description and explanation of the phenomenal world. Kant's application of the principle of non-contradiction in the critique of speculative metaphysics is just as unjustified as the metaphysicians' use of the category of causality in the sphere of things-in-themselves. Nevertheless, according to Hegel, Kant was correct in recognising the necessity of contradiction in the metaphysical function of reason. Kant failed, however, to comprehend the significance of this: that the contradictions of metaphysical thinking must be united in a higher, transcendent unity: the absolute idea, or spirit.

For Hegel, the speculative knowledge of the absolute idea, the highest function of reason, is the highest form of knowledge. In so far as thought remains restricted to the scientific and common-sense 'understanding' of phenomenal reality it is not only cut off from knowledge of the ultimate, spiritual reality which lies beyond the phenomena, but thought also fails to grasp the phenomena themselves. As the phenomena are mere appearances of the true reality, they have their essence, so to speak, 'outside' themselves: they cannot be fully comprehended except through a knowledge of that of which they are the 'appearances'.

We are now in a position to understand in what sense Hegel thought it necessary to 'complete' the task of metaphysics, and also in what sense the metaphysical enterprise is religious. The only type of 'unity' which can transcend and 'unite' contradictions is a unity of a 'spiritual' or 'ideal' kind. In a certain sense, what metaphysical reason comes to know is itself. All philosophy worth the name is thus idealist – it postulates the only ultimate reality as spiritual or ideal in nature. This is clearly expressed by Hegel in volume 1 of the *Science of Logic:*

The proposition that the finite is of ideal nature constitutes Idealism. In philosophy idealism consists of nothing else than the recognition that the finite has no veritable being. Essentially every philosophy is an idealism, or at least has idealism for its principle, and the question then is only how far it is actually carried through. This is as true of philosophy as of religion; for religion equally with philosophy refuses to recognise in finitude a veritable being, or something ultimate and absolute, or non-posited, uncreated, and eternal.⁶

The pre-critical metaphysicians (Descartes, Leibniz, Spinoza and others) were correct in refusing to reduce the infinite to the finite

realm of science, common sense and appearance; in insisting on the reality of spiritual being, beyond the illusion and 'appearance' of the perceptual world. But whilst as true philosophers they are idealist in their 'principles', they are nevertheless materialist in the details. In seeing the 'infinite' as irreconcilably opposed to the finite, material, perceived world, they fail to 'actually carry through' their idealism to its completion. Infinite, spiritual being is asked to co-exist with its opposite, the finite and material. This has two consequences, both, in Hegel's view, very damaging: one is that the carefully separated and purified 'infinite', since it must be limited and bounded by its opposite, the finite, cannot be truly an infinite at all. The second consequence is that the infinite is conceived only in an abstract, negative way as the 'other', beyond and outside the here-and-now material world.

Hence the need to 'complete' metaphysics. This requires that reason liberates speculative thought from the traditional logical 'laws' – in particular, the principle of non-contradiction. The contradiction between the finite and the infinite can be reconciled by reason in the higher (infinite) unity of finite and infinite: the infinite, so to speak 'absorbs' and 'includes' the finite within itself, and so becomes truly infinite. As a result of this 'dialectical' reasoning, then, the ultimate ideality, spirituality of the finite, material world is revealed, and conversely, the presence of the infinite in the finite, material world is also demonstrated. The separation of the spiritual domain, its exclusion into the 'beyond' is overcome. Finally, the religious character of metaphysics is now clear: religion represents in a mythical form what this dialectical exercise of reason demonstrates in a philosophical, theoretical form.

By now it should be clear how radically subversive of the pretensions of science (and common sense) is Hegel's philosophy. The realm of the finite, perceptible, material world, which is the object of the 'understanding' with its categories, and traditional logical principles, has no true independent being. Hegel makes use of the Classical Greek sceptics to show the inherently contradictory character of the world of science and common sense: when, for us, the sun is rising, for others it is setting - the sun both is and is not setting; the idea of motion implies that a thing must be in and not in position A at one and the same time, and so on. The contradictory character of the world of science and common sense can be expressed by saying that its essence, its reality lies outside it, beyond it: in its negation. To truly comprehend what a thing is, it is necessary to understand what it is not. The abandonment of the principle of noncontradiction in favour of the dialectical law of the unity of contradictions in some higher totality is the only way of transcending the limits imposed by scientific and common-sense thought. Here, again,

is the 'humanist' conception of a philosophical source of knowledge, not in this case equivalent to the knowledge of the sciences, but of true knowledge, by contrast to the contradictory and limited 'understanding' of the sciences.

Hegel's own 'completion' of the work of metaphysics with his dialectical logic and conception of the absolute idea is conceived by him as an outcome of the whole process of historical development of religion and philosophy. The dialectical motions described in his logic are to be thought of as a historical process, played out in intellectual history, whereby the absolute idea is finally 'realised'. But this formulation is defective. Since reality itself is, ultimately, the absolute idea, this historical process is the activity of the absolute idea itself, manifested in the works of the great philosophers, and culminating in the work of Hegel himself. We should say, then, that the absolute idea 'realises' itself in these philosophical works. But in what sense 'realises'? First, and most obviously, 'realises' in the sense of becoming aware of its own nature. Whereas in earlier phases of the development of thought human beings have thought of themselves as distinct from each other, and have distinguished also between themselves and the natural world, now absolute spirit, working through the medium of finite minds, comes to a full recognition of the ultimate spiritual unity of these things as 'modes' or 'aspects' of itself. Further, since this self-realisation involves also the recognition that economic, political, etc. history is ultimately only an aspect of the self-realisation of the spirit, history itself (not just the history of philosophy) may be thought of as the process of selfrealisation of the absolute spirit. Finally, this process of self-realisation is to be understood not just as a process by which the absolute spirit achieves self-knowledge, but also a process whereby the absolute spirit makes itself real - manifests itself in the world.

History, then, including human history, of course, but also the history of the natural world, is for Hegel the process of self-realisation (in several senses) of the absolute spirit.⁷ The absolute spirit is the result, or outcome of this process of history and, paradoxically, the original, self-consistent and self-creative source or 'ground' of history. Accordingly, the process itself, whereby the absolute spirit appears as 'conditioned' by its own previous history, is relegated to the status of mere appearance.

A final word needs to be said about this 'process' of history. The contradiction between the finite and its true 'being' or 'essence' the infinite cannot be overcome by a single dialectical transcendence into the absolute idea. Each contradiction finds its synthesis in some higher conceptual unity. But this unity is itself faced with its own contradiction, which in turn requires transcendence into a still higher synthesis. It is only, therefore, at the culmination of a great

hierarchy of contradictions and syntheses that the final, all-inclusive unity of the absolute spirit is achieved. Any developmental process, therefore, up to and including the historical process as such, proceeds by way of a series of mediating stages. To take a lowly example, the metamorphosis of the butterfly involves a series of stages: egg, larva, pupa, adult. In terms of Hegel's dialectical logic the adult stage can be thought of as the 'self-realisation', or 'essence' of the insect. As an egg, the insect exists merely as the negation, or denial of this ultimate 'essence' (which can also be thought of as a 'potentiality'). The larval stage represents the 'negation of this negation', the 'supersession' of one stage by the next, higher, developmental stage. But the larval stage too is, although a higher stage, still a negation of the ultimate potentiality of the 'self-realised' insect. Successive stages of 'negation' and 'negation of negation' therefore intervene, as steps in the overall self-realisation of the 'essential' insect. History, too, is a succession of stages, in which the contradiction between one negation of the absolute spirit and its negation is the motive force for a series of transformations resulting in the self-realisation of the absolute spirit.

Hegel, Feuerbach and Marx

It is well known that Marx and Engels were at first identified with the circle of 'left-wing' critics and interpreters of Hegel known as the 'Left Hegelians'. Conscious of the limitations of this philosophical milieu, Marx and Engels were immediately attracted to the Left Hegelian Ludwig Feuerbach's 'materialist inversion' of Hegel's philosophy. It is also well known that soon after this they distanced themselves not only from the Left Hegelians in general, but also from Feuerbach. Nevertheless, Marxist and non-Marxist interpreters alike have predominantly conceptualised the relationship between Marxism and Hegel in terms of the metaphor of 'inversion', of a setting 'right-side up' of Hegel's inverted philosophy.⁸ In questioning the adequacy of this notion of Marxism as the 'inversion' of Hegel it will be necessary to pose the question of the relationship between Marxism and Hegel in two distinct fields of enquiry. Whereas for Hegel the process of history and the process of knowledge are ultimately identical, any materialist theory must suppose the distinctness of these processes. It will therefore be necessary to consider separately the relationship between Marxism and Hegel's philosophy of history and the relationship between the Marxist and Hegelian theories of knowledge. Finally, no account, however brief, of the relationship between Hegel and Marx can avoid the question of the continuity of Marx's theoretical work - to what extent Marx's work can be seen to form a coherent and consistent 'corpus' and, conversely, to what extent it is necessary to recognise the 'earlier' and 'later' works as divided from one another in their basic concepts, forms of argument and intellectual concerns. If there is a sense in which (certain of) the earlier works are Hegelian, how far is it necessary to represent the 'mature' works as also 'Hegelian'?

Philosophy and the theory of history

First, then, the relationship between Marxism and Hegel's philosophy of history. To put it very crudely, Feuerbach's 'inversion' of the Hegelian dialectic and speculative philosophy had taken the form of a transposition of subject and predicate, of 'being' and 'consciousness'. Whereas, for Hegel, real, material existence had been reduced to the status of a mere aspect or 'predicate' of the self-subsistent 'absolute idea'. Feuerbach asserted that ideas and consciousness were, rather, a mere 'predicate' of real, material existents. Thought is a product, immediately, of the human brain, and, historically, of the development of Nature, of which it remains a part. This inversion can also be represented as an inversion of the appearance/reality distinction as it exists in Hegel's philosophy of history. Whereas spirit or 'consciousness', in Hegel, is the true source and underlying reality of the historical process, it nevertheless appears as its product - as the outcome of the historical process. In Feuerbach thought/consciousness really is the outcome of the historical development of nature, but appears (in religion and speculative philosophy) to be its origin and ultimate 'truth'.

Feuerbach's critique of Hegelian speculative philosophy involved the claim that thought requires some real object – not just the object which does the thinking, but the object about which it thinks (which may, for Feuerbach, be identical). The object of thought cannot be a 'deduction' from thought's own internal contents:

it is precisely logic which knows from its own resources only about itself, only about thinking. Therefore that which is other than logic cannot be deduced from logic.... If ... there were no Nature, unspoiled virgin Logic would never have succeeded in bringing one forth from itself alone.⁹

The source of our knowledge of the existence of external nature is in sensory experience, and without such experience our thinking would lack any real content. However, Feuerbach doesn't here submit to any form of empiricism, nor to the kind of mechanical reductionism that characterised eighteenth-century French materialism. Thought is indispensable, along with sense-experience, for genuine knowledge.¹⁰ Also man is active in the knowledge process, not a passive receptor of 'sense-impressions'. Feuerbach's conception of knowledge is also reminiscent of that of Bacon in that 'experience' is understood in a wide sense, so as to include practical activity; knowledge is, for Feuerbach, continuous with other practical activities, needs, and interests of human beings.

The 'idea', 'consciousness', then, cannot be the source and 'reality' of historical development. But how does Feuerbach explain what he has shown to be the illusion of speculative philosophy? The speculative philosophy, he argues, is merely religion in an abstract and conceptual form. He is therefore able to apply to it the form of explanation which he devised for the comprehension of religion - of Christianity in particular.¹¹ Religion is a form of dream, or fantasy, in which human desires for the satisfaction of real needs take on a fantastic form. In this fantastic form 'men' attribute to a superhuman or supernatural being, prior to and independent of themselves, their own essential qualities and powers. Religion (and, hence, speculative philosophy) is thus a form of human self-alienation. So long as 'men' lack the power to realise their human essence in practice, they overcome the contradiction between their present conditions of existence and their essential human qualities in imagination, by creating Gods in their own image. Here, then, is yet another 'inversion' of Hegel. Whereas the positing of finite, material existence constituted the self-alienation of absolute spirit in Hegel's philosophy, for Feuerbach the postulation of the absolute spirit is an instance of man's self-alienation.

Implicit, then, in Feuerbach's 'inversion' of Hegel, is a conception of history in which 'man', rather than the absolute idea, transcends successive self-alienations in the course of his 'self-realisation'. To know what the self-realisation of human essence would be, it is necessary only to investigate the qualities which 'man' attributes to God: these are his own essential, divine qualities and powers. They are three in number - will, reason and love. These essential characteristics are ends in themselves, and constitute the aim of human development; and as essential characteristics they are what unites all human beings into a single species. 'Man' is a 'species-being' not only in the sense that all human beings have certain characteristics in common, but also in that their existence as a species is the object of a common conscious practice. Human beings are related to one another above all through love. The realisation of the human essence - of 'man's' 'species-being', then, will involve the achievement of a definite state of society, and of that society's relationship to nature. In short, the realisation of 'man's' species-being is a task that need no longer take fantastic or imaginary forms, but which is to be accomplished in practice - in technology and in the political establishment of a democratic and republican state.

Despite Feuerbach's assertion of the independent existence of matter, and his frequent reference to the necessity of philosophy's roots in practice, experience and in science (to the need for philosophy's replacement by 'anthropology' - the science of 'man') it is clear that history - now, admittedly, the history of 'man', and not the idea – still obevs the laws of the Hegelian dialectic. Hegel has been set on his feet, but it is still Hegel, whether upside down or right-side up. The only history which 'moves' by assertion, contradiction, negation and negation of negation is a conceptual history: a history subject to the laws of thought, and not to its own independent rhythms, structures and causality. The 'essence' of 'man' which is realised can only be a philosophically established concept of 'man'. In short, we are back, as Feuerbach himself proclaimed, to a form of humanism. The content of the Feuerbachian concept of 'man' is not derived from the 'senses', nor from any science, but from the philosophical inversion of Hegel. No matter how much richer and more philosophically defensible this conception of human essence is than the individualist philosophical conception of the eighteenth century it remains a philosophical concept, and as such it stands in contradiction to Feuerbach's own intellectual programme.

In case this rather schematic discussion of Feuerbach seems to be a digression, I should come to the point of it. The point of it is that there exists at least one text by Marx which takes the form of a realisation of Feuerbach's programme: this is the Economic and Philosophic Manuscripts of 1844. In these Manuscripts Marx investigates the writings of the French and English Socialists, and also the principal political economists. The extraordinary achievement of the Manuscripts is to 'comprehend' these diverse intellectual sources through the Feuerbachian 'system' of concepts in such a way that political economy and socialism themselves appear as 'moments' in a Feuerbachian self-realisation of the species-being. In the justly famous passages on 'estranged labour', Marx argues that the private property whose laws are described, but not 'comprehended' in political economy is merely a manifestation of human self-alienation. In production, the product of the worker is set over and against him as an alien object, and he is separated even from his own productive activity. The self-alienation of the economic activity expressed in theoretical form by the political economists is the analogue of the religious self-alienation exposed by Feuerbach:

Just as in religion the spontaneous activity of the human imagination, of the human brain and the human heart, operates on the individual independently of him – that is, operates as an alien, divine or diabolical activity – so is the worker's activity not his spontaneous activity. It belongs to another; it is the loss of his self.¹² This alienated labour, which also involves a separation between man and man, and also of man from himself, can only be understood as 'alienated' by contrast to what it is an 'alienation' from, or 'denial' of: the human essence, or species-life. The very concept of 'alienation' is logically inseparable from some form of philosophical humanism, and from the (historicist) conception of history as the process of self-realisation of this human essence. The content which Marx gives to the notion of human essence – the species-life – richer than the content given to it by Feuerbach. The relationship between 'man' and nature, central to Feuerbach, is expressed by Marx in the notion of nature as 'man's' 'inorganic body'. 'Man' as a species is engaged in collectively, freely, and creatively 'humanising' nature. This 'humanisation' involves material, productive transformation of nature, but also intellectual and artistic 'production':

The whole character of a species – its species-character – is contained in the character of its life activity; and free, conscious activity is man's species-character. . . . The object of labour is, therefore, the objectification of man's species-life: for he duplicates himself not only, as in consciousness, intellectually, but also actively, in reality, and therefore he sees himself in a world that he has created. In tearing away from man the object of his production, therefore, estranged labour tears from him his *species-life*, his real objectivity as a member of the species.¹³

Marx's notion of the human 'essence' is also richer than Feuerbach's in that it is filled out with the content of the political doctrine of communism:

Communism as the positive transcendence of private property as human self-estrangement, and therefore as the real appropriation of the human essence by and for man; communism therefore as the complete return of man to himself as a social (i.e. human) being – a return accomplished consciously and embracing the entire wealth of previous development. This communism, as fully developed naturalism, equals humanism, and as fully developed humanism equals naturalism: it is the genuine resolution of the conflict between man and nature and between man and man – the true resolution of the strife between existence and essence, between objectification and selfconfirmation, between freedom and necessity, between the individual and the species. Communism is the riddle of history solved, and it knows itself to be this solution.¹⁴

The fundamental theoretical unity of Hegel, Feuerbach and the Marx of the 1844 *Manuscripts* is at its most transparent in this passage. As

KARL MARX AND FREDERICK ENGELS

Marx himself recognises, both in his preface to the Manuscrints. and in the final fragment ('Critique of the Hegelian Dialectic and Philosophy as a Whole'), the Manuscripts are an extension and 'fulfilment' of the method implicit in Feuerbach's inversion of Hegel.¹⁵ Since the verdict on Feuerbach was 'idealist in materialist clothing', so the same verdict must be declared on the Marx of 1844. This is not, of course, to say that the *Manuscripts* are intellectually worthless, or of purely historical interest. Elements of the critiques of Hegel and of the political economists appear in a new form in the later work, and are a lasting contribution. But much more than this, the Manuscripts are an ethical-philosophical denunciation of capitalist production and the society based on it of quite exceptional depth and beauty of expression. Moreover, they are a denunciation which has lost none of its vigour and persuasive power in the 130 years that separate us from their composition. Such documents of ideological struggle have a place and importance in the struggles of today no less great than in the Europe of the nineteenth century, but the reader who looks to the Manuscripts for a scientific theory of capitalist production, its laws of development, conditions of existence and so on will look in vain.

The claim, then, that Marx's later work is a continuous deepening and extension of the programme set out in the *Manuscripts* of 1844 and other earlier works implies that there is nowhere in Marx's work the elements or foundations of the scientific theory of history – historical materialism – which 'orthodox' Marxism, following Marx and Engels themselves, has claimed to find there. If Feuerbach's 'inversion' of Hegel is merely Hegel back on his feet, if Marx of 1844 is merely Feuerbach on Hegel's feet, exploring new territory; and if the later Marx is merely the Marx of 1844 but older, then all remain within the confines of Hegel's idealist dialectic and speculative philosophy of history. The pretensions to science are mere rhetoric.

But Marx himself, only months after composing the *Manuscripts* reappears, in the *German Ideology* and the *Theses on Feuerbach*, as a critic of Feuerbach. Much later, in the 1859 preface to his *Contribution to the Critique of Political Economy*, Marx is able to refer to the *German Ideology* as the text in which he and Engels achieved selfclarification in the attempt to settle 'accounts with our former philosophical conscience'.¹⁶ Also in that preface Marx lays stress on the importance of the empirical studies of economic questions to which he was driven for his own intellectual development. He also mentions his critical re-examination of Hegel's philosophy of law, which enquiry led him to 'the conclusion that neither legal relations nor political forms could be comprehended whether by themselves or on the basis of a so-called general development of the human mind, but that on the contrary they originate in the material conditions of life, the totality of which Hegel, following the example of the English and French thinkers of the eighteenth century, embraces with the term "Civil Society" '.17 In other words, the inversion of Hegel? But immediately after this, Marx adds the clause '... that the anatomy of this civil society, however, has to be sought in political economy'. What are the consequences of searching for the 'anatomy' of civil society in political economy? If the search is a Feuerbachian one, then the consequence is the discovery of 'alienated labour' as the source and consequence of the private property whose laws are the object of political economy. But this extension of Feuerbach to a new field of enquiry, from Feuerbach's preoccupation with religion and speculative philosophy to the sphere of economic relations, if it is to be achieved rigorously, demands more than an extension of the same method. Whereas religious self-alienation is the creation of a superhuman fantasy-object, economic self-alienation is the creation of a 'superhuman' material and social reality. Alienated labour is at the root of an alienated form of economic life. In so far as religious and philosophical self-alienation takes the form of fantasy, of dream, and hence of 'error', it might seem that liberation from it might be achieved by dissolution of the fantasy, by the critical exposure of the 'error'. But an alienated form of economic life cannot, in this way, be understood as an 'error' to be dissipated by criticism. Only the abolition of estranged labour itself, together with its manifestation in private property - in short, the emancipation of the workers and the establishment of a communist order – can transcend alienation as Marx now understands it. The problem is not one of criticism and understanding, but of revolutionary practice.

The new significance which Marx's attempt at a rigorous extension of Feuerbach forces him to give to the concept of 'practice' becomes the means by which he effects his critique of Feuerbach, and a condition for his own intellectual transition. The recurring theme of the *Theses on Feuerbach* is the latter's failure to 'grasp the significance of "revolutionary", of "practical-critical", activity'.¹⁸ Further, this new conception of alienation and its transcendence as involving 'contradictions', antagonisms internal to material, social life itself, which require revolutionary practice for their resolution has implications for the analysis of Feuerbach's own chosen territory, the critique of religious self-alienation.

Feuerbach starts out from the fact of religious self-alienation, of the duplication of the world into a religious world and a secular one. His work consists in resolving the religious world into its secular basis. But that the secular basis detaches itself

KARL MARX AND FREDERICK ENGELS

from itself and establishes itself as an independent realm in the clouds can only be explained by the cleavages and selfcontradictions within this secular basis. The latter must, therefore, in itself be both understood in its contradiction and revolutionised in practice.¹⁹

But if what 'moves' history is now revolutionary practice, transforming an internally contradictory reality, this practice must be the practice of particular individuals, groups and classes, under definite organisational forms, and with specific strategy and tactics. And if this is what moves history, then it cannot be the contradiction between men as they exist and the essence or nature of 'man' as some abstract goal of history which is the motor force of historical change. This conclusion (unlike much else in that text) is expressed with great clarity in the *German Ideology*.

The individuals, who are no longer subject to the division of labour, have been conceived by the philosophers as an ideal, under the name 'man'. They have conceived the whole process which we have outlined as the evolutionary process of 'man', so that at every historical stage 'man' was substituted for the individuals and shown as the motive force of history. The whole process was thus conceived as a process of the self-estrangement of 'Man'... Through this inversion ... it was possible to transform the whole of history into an evolutionary process of consciousness.²⁰

In short, the philosophical humanism of Feuerbach and of the Marx of 1844 is here exposed by Marx as a form of idealism. The significance of this recognition is given added emphasis by three short, paradoxical sentences of the sixth thesis on Feuerbach. 'Feuerbach resolves the religious essence into the *human* essence. But the human essence is no abstraction inherent in each single individual. *In its reality it is the ensemble of the social relations*.²¹ But the 'ensemble of social relations' is precisely what is transformed in history. If the human essence is identical with the ensemble of social relations then it must be transformed in history. How then can it be the universal aim and motive force of history? It can't: the 'human essence' disappears into a new conception of history as 'ensembles of social relations' and their transformations. Without the concept of human essence its correlative concept of self-alienation, and the whole Hegelian historical dialectic lose their theoretical place.

However, this decisive theoretical shift away from philosophical humanism, whose symptoms I have tried to identify in these works of 1844–5, does not result in the sudden abandonment by Marx and Engels of all elements of their 'former philosophical conscience', nor does it result in the emergence, fully formed, of a scientific theory of history. A number of questions, then, need to be posed:

- 1 Why do elements of the earlier 'philosophical anthropology' remain despite the theoretical critique they have already received by 1845?
- 2 What are the basic concepts of the new conception of history which emerges in the course of the critique of this philosophical anthropology?
- 3 What, if any, role remains for philosophy?
- 4 In so far as scientific status is attributed to the new non-philosophical knowledge of history, on the basis of what conception of the nature of scientific knowledge is this attribution made?

Of course, no full answer can be given here to any of these questions, but each requires at least some attention. First, let us presuppose, for the moment, the justice of the claim that there is in the later work of Marx and Engels, and those who have continued this work, the elements of a scientific theory of history. It does not at all follow from this that every text written by Marx and Engels after 1845, from private letters, marginal notes, historical analyses and political manifestoes to theoretical critiques of other thinkers and extended expositions of their own doctrines, must be regarded as all reducible to a single function: contributions to the science of history. To do this would be to ignore the involvement of Marx and Engels in political activity and in ideological struggle, it would be to fail to recognise what Marx and Engels, as educators and as polemicists rarely failed to recognise: that different audiences, with different needs and interests, require different responses from those who would communicate with them. The necessity for ideological struggle did not end with the 1844 Manuscripts, and so neither did the need for ideological texts, such as those manuscripts (one can conduct an ideological struggle with oneself!). But 'humanist' and Hegelian forms of expression occur even in texts such as *Capital*, and these cannot be explained away in this manner. First, Capital itself is not internally homogeneous. It contains a good deal by way of illustrative historical material and asides on particular political economists, as well as occasional passages of ethical denunciation reminiscent of the 1844 Manuscripts, but there are, as we shall see, passages of central importance to Marx's argument which are expressed in the Hegelian terminology.²² There are, consistent with the approach I have adopted so far, two ways of interpreting these: (a) as areas of theoretical weakness in Marx 'patched up' so to speak, by the intervention of philosophical concepts, and (b) as merely an old terminology which does service for a new concept not yet fully articulated, or given its proper terminological recognition.²³

Historical materialism

Our second question, as to the basic concepts of Marx's supposed scientific theory of history, is one which is in a sense ancillary to the main topic of this chapter, Marx's philosophy. Nevertheless, it is of some help in trying to get clear about Marx's philosophical theory of scientific knowledge if we have some prior understanding of the theoretical system whose claim to scientific status was to be defended in terms of that philosophical theory (of course, this relation of elucidation is reciprocal). Unfortunately for the later history of Marxism, there exist few attempts by either Marx or Engels to give a systematic exposition of their theory of history. The nearest thing to this is the 1859 preface to which I have already referred, but it is defective in a number of respects, not least its extreme brevity and imprecision. Marx's most extended theoretical work is his Capital. Only the first volume of this, however, was actually prepared by Marx for publication, and its scope is restricted to the analysis of capitalist economic production. Any attempt at systematic elaboration of a theoretical system, then, must 'unearth' concepts and relations between concepts from a host of writings, many of them inconsistent, in which those concepts are put to work, but relatively rarely explicitly defined. Nicos Poulantzas has provided a threefold classification of the concepts specific to historical materialism which. despite its preliminary nature, provides some helpful clarification.²⁴ First, historical materialism is a theory of history on condition that certain of its concepts are trans-historical - that is to say, they have some valid applicability in all historical forms of society.²⁵ Such concepts include these of mode of production, raw materials, instruments, and relations of production, property relations and relations of 'real appropriation', labour and social formation, (possibly) the concepts of a theory of transition between social formations, and the concepts of the different structural levels within a mode of production and social formation (the political, the ideological and the economic). Poulantzas calls the theoretical structure formed by these concepts the 'general theory' of historical materialism.

Second, there are the 'particular' theories whose concepts provide the theoretical analysis of each of the 'modes of production' (primitive communist, ancient, Asiatic, feudal, capitalist, socialist) identified in the general theory. The concepts of some of these 'modes of production' have hardly more than gestural status in Marx's work,²⁶ whilst the capitalist mode of production receives enormous theoretical attention. The 'particular theory' of the capitalist mode of production includes as constituent concepts the concept of commodity, the distinction between use and exchange value, the distinction between labour and labour-power, the concepts of money and of capital itself, the distinctions between variable and constant capital, and between value and surplus value, the concepts of profit, interest and capitalist ground-rent, and also the concepts of the non-economic (ideological and political) structures characteristic of the capitalist mode of production – trade unions, political parties, a definite range of forms of state, a specific form of family and so on. Finally, there are what Poulantzas calls 'regional theories' – theories of the particular structural 'levels' or 'regions' within each mode of production. An example, concepts pertaining to the economic level of the capitalist mode of production, would be the set of concepts from 'the concept of commodity' to 'capitalist ground-rent' above.²⁷

Finally, three other theoretical levels should be added, to complete Poulantzas's classification. First, intermediate in degrees of abstraction between Poulantzas's 'general theory' and 'particular theory' are certain concepts which are applicable to more than one type of mode of production or social formation, but which are not absolutely universal in their applicability. These include the concepts of class and class-struggle, the concept of the state (which is defined, in Marxism, in terms of social class) and, in some versions of Marxism, the concept of ideology. It may also be argued that there does not exist, and cannot exist, any general theory of transition from social formations of one type to those of another (general theory of revolutions), but even if this argument is valid it does not rule out the possibility of a theory of transitions of one type (e.g. a theory of the transition from capitalism to socialism, or from feudalism to capitalism). If such theories do exist their concepts also belong to this intermediate level of abstraction. Second, there is the most concrete level - the giving of what Lenin called 'concrete analyses of the current situation'. This is the level at which the theoretical apparatus of historical materialism is put to work in the explanation of particular historical events and processes. That concepts of all these levels of abstraction are at work in the analyses that Marx gives in his 18th Brumaire, and Class Struggles in France, and that Lenin, Trotsky and others gave of the revolutionary process in Russia and elsewhere is hardly disputable. But nowhere in the corpus of Marxist literature is there any sustained attempt to give theoretical expression to the logical conditions, rules and constraints involved in the employment of these concepts in concrete analysis. This may be compared with the precise and quantified knowledge which exists, for example, in the application of the kinetic theory of gases to particular cases, concerning the degree of difference between the theoretically established behaviour of the 'ideal gas' and the behaviour of particular gases in particular temperature-ranges, etc. It is in this area, in my view, that much important philosophical work in Marxism remains to be done.

Finally, there is a third level of abstraction which is not easy to fit into Poulantzas's classification. This level consists of concepts of a very abstract kind which, though they take different forms in different sciences, do occur in all sciences. These are concepts such as 'structure'. 'cause', 'mechanism', 'existence' and a few more. It has been argued by Althusser, and other 'anti-humanist' interpreters of Marx, that Marx's concept of the social totality, the 'social formation', is the concept of a complex, or 'over-determined', 'structure in dominance'.²⁸ That is to say, it is a system of relations within which several sub-systems are combined. Within the system as a whole certain elements predominate in determining the relations within and between the component systems, though each sub-system retains its own 'relative autonomy'. 'Contradictions' may exist within and between structures. This is Althusser's way of interpreting the 'orthodox' Marxist claims that with respect to the 'superstructures' (ideology, politics) the economic structure is 'determinant in the last instance' in any social formation, and that, nevertheless, each of the structures has its own 'effectivity' and relative autonomy. Clearly this whole account of the structure of a social formation involves a notion of causality which is quite inconsistent with the positivist account of causes in terms of antecedent conditions and general laws connecting phenomena. It has much more in common with the 'generative mechanism' conception of causality which I elaborated in chapters 3 and 4. Just as the theoretical explanation of relations between such variables as pressure, volume and temperature of gases in terms of a generative mechanism (states of motion of molecules) in the kinetic theory involves the presupposition of a class (or classes) of theoretical entities, so it is in the case of this Marxian type of structural explanation. The concept of structure of the capitalist mode of production, for instance, in terms of which Marx explains certain general features of the dominant ideology under capitalism,²⁹ has a status in Marxist theory analogous to the concept of the internal structure of an 'ideal gas' in the kinetic theory:³⁰ both refer not to real but to 'abstract' entities, constructed by abstraction from theoretically irrelevant characteristics of particular cases (particular gas-samples, particular social formations).³¹ The general form of explanatory mechanism, in both cases, can then be applied (in combination with other elements of theoretical and concrete knowledge) to the structural explanation of particular real cases, by a process of approximation (cf. the enormously complex structural explanations of particular political events and processes which Marx gives in writings such as Class Struggles in France and the 18th Brumaire). The point to be made here, though, is that just as there is in the case of the kinetic theory of gases a distinction to be made between abstract theoretical entities (the point-masses and Newton-

ian motions of the molecules constituting the 'ideal gas') and real theoretical entities (the real molecules, which may be multi-atomic. have a finite diameter and so on), so there is in Marx's theory a distinction between the abstract theoretical entity (the capitalist mode of production whose structure is analysed in *Capital*) and real theoretical entities (for example, the capitalist mode of production in the Russia of 1917, in complex combination with other modes of production, and subject to an international distribution of capital, etc. all of which 'determinations' give it its distinctive characteristics as a specific instantiation of the abstract concept).³² Not all concepts of historical materialism, of course, refer either to real or to abstract theoretical entities. Some concepts, the concept of 'production in general' for instance, have a function in the overall articulation of the theory but are merely abstractions which make no reference to any actually existing entity, structure, practice, etc. nor to any hypothesised 'ideal' entity.33

Dialectical materialism

There are yet other concepts which might be held by some commentators to belong to this, the most abstract level of concepts constituting Marx's theory of history. These are the concepts and principles of the 'dialectic'. In Engels's classic statements³⁴ of the materialist dialectic, these concepts and the laws stated in terms of them constitute a separate discipline - dialectical materialist philosophy - and so are not, strictly speaking, concepts belonging to the theory of history at all. But the peculiar nature of this - supposedly 'scientific' - philosophy is such that it gives us the laws of motion, of development, of things in general. The 'laws' of the dialectic - the 'negation of negation', the unity and 'interpenetration of opposites', the 'transformation of quantity into quality' - are laws not just of one domain but of all nature. Since, on the materialist view, nature includes human history and human thought, the concepts and laws of the dialectic must apply, as the principles of development and change, in nature, history and thought. Dialectical materialism, so understood, involves the conception of the relationship between philosophy and the sciences which I discussed in chapter 1, under the heading the 'master-scientist', or 'metaphysical' conception. But Engels opposes it to metaphysics, arguing that metaphysical thinking, like common-sense thinking, is static, and governed by formal logical laws such as the laws of identity and non-contradiction: 'For him [the metaphysician] a thing either exists or does not exist; a thing cannot at the same time be itself and something else. Positive and negative absolutely exclude one another; cause and effect stand in a rigid antithesis one to the other.'35 Dialectical thought, by contrast,

recognises that all things are constantly in motion, coming into being and ceasing to exist, that no distinctions are fixed, that contradictions are universal, and so on. It does not seem to bother Engels that these 'discoveries' were the result of the method of speculative philosophy, and are only externally applied by him to the results of the natural sciences. Nor does it seem to matter to Engels that the dialectic of the finite, material world whose contradictoriness Hegel demonstrates in the passages from which Engels derives his dialectic forms part of an argument the conclusion of which is that the finite, material world has no independent existence.³⁶ As the Italian Marxist philosopher, Lucio Colletti, has demonstrated, the 'laws of the dialectic' extracted by Engels, Lenin and Plekhanov from Hegel's Science of Logic cannot logically be separated from their conclusion: an idealist philosophy of nature.³⁷ It is after all, relatively easy to understand how two propositions ('This is the final crisis of capitalism'/'This is not the final crisis of capitalism') may contradict one another, but somewhat less easy to understand what may be meant by saying that opposite electrical charges, opposite physical forces, chemical association and dissociation, and so on 'contradict' one another;³⁸ less easy to understand, that is, unless one interprets nature itself as the 'postulate' of thought in contradiction with itself. In rejecting the formal logical 'laws' of identity and non-contradiction as metaphysical, Engels is siding with Hegel's completion of the idealism implicit in seventeenth- and eighteenthcentury metaphysics not just against 'pre-critical' metaphysics and 'common sense' but also against science itself.39

By contrast with Colletti, Louis Althusser has been much more equivocal on the status of 'dialectical materialism' as a universal philosophical science of the development of all things. Whilst criticising Engels's conception of the dialectic he has nevertheless retained until relatively recently a fundamentally similar notion in his own work.⁴⁰ But whatever his position on the status of Engels's 'master-science', Althusser has also argued that the 'structure' of the dialectic must be transformed if it is to be adequate to grasp the relations between the elements of a social formation and its 'movement'. Althusser follows Mao Tse-tung in emphasising the complexity of the social totality, and of its processes of change.⁴¹ History does not 'move' as a result of the 'simple' opposition of contradictions and their supersession.⁴²

A particular social formation at a particular time will be 'inhabited' by a multiplicity of contradictions, in complex reciprocal relations of dominance and subordination, each determining to some degree the character of the whole, and 'reflecting' in itself, in turn, the character of the whole; (contradictions are, in this sense, 'overdetermined').⁴³ It is thus possible to distinguish a principal from the secondary contradictions and, in each contradiction, because of its 'uneven development', between a principal and a secondary aspect ('term'). Althusser's own additions, as well as 'over-determination' include 'fusion', 'rupture', 'displacement' and others.⁴⁴

In the thoughts of Mao and Althusser, then, the dialectic has found a new respect for the material reality (social formations and their histories) to which it is applied, and has accordingly 'changed its structures'. But there is as yet no clearly defined function, still less set of criteria of validity, for this range of concepts, resting as they do on a range of barely stated metaphors drawn from psychoanalysis, linguistics and logic. The investigation of these texts by Mao and Althusser yields one conclusion at least: where all this talk of 'the dialectic' makes any sense at all (which is by no means everywhere), it is an inadequate and often dogmatic attempt to give theoretical expression to the concept of historical causality which is present in the historical writings of Marx, Engels, Lenin and Mao himself.

In one sense, Colletti's critique of the dialectic is more thoroughgoing than Althusser's. He reinstates, as a hallmark of materialism, the Kantian distinction between 'contradiction' and 'real opposition'. There are no contradictions in reality, only in thought.⁴⁵ Counteracting forces, tendencies, processes, etc. in nature are properly called 'real oppositions', a concept in no sense reducible to that of contradiction. Forces and processes in nature that are opposed to each other are separate and independent; they have no dialectical 'unity' or 'identity' with one another. Marxism can go ahead as a scientific theory of history, without the burden of a 'logic' opposed in principle to the logic of the other sciences (or rational discourses in general, for that matter). But in a recent article⁴⁶ Colletti has argued that in Marx's analysis of capitalism there is, indeed, to be found the work of the positive scientist, who deals with the same reality as the other political economists, explains it, like they do, as a law-governed reality, and obeys the logical 'law' of non-contradiction in doing so. But there is also to be found Marx the philosopher for whom the 'reality' of capitalism is an inverted, fetishised, alienated form of appearance of social relations. The philosopher Marx is able to identify dialectical contradictions - 'separations' between opposites (use-value/value) whose 'essence' is to be united. This is no restoration of dialectical materialism: dialectical contradiction is not a universal feature of reality; on the contrary it is specific to capitalism, which is an 'inverted' reality. However, the reality of capitalism, as Colletti concedes, is an 'inverted' reality only from the perspective of a philosophical theory, and it is science not philosophy that is 'the only means of gaining knowledge of the world'.⁴⁷ The conclusion of Colletti's argument, then, is: in so far as

Marxism is scientific (and, that it can only be scientific when it treats of alienated, fetished social forms seems to be implicit in Colletti's argument) it obeys the 'law' of non-contradiction, and its oppositions are 'real oppositions' with nothing to do with any 'dialectical unity'. In so far as the dialectic has any place in the Marxist theory of history the theory is philosophical, and gives us no knowledge, in the proper sense.

This conclusion, it seems to me, besides offering very limited prospects for any proposed 'science' of history, simply fails to grapple with the characteristics of historical causality which have given rise to a hundred years of dialectical 'mumbo-jumbo'. Forces in opposition in society – whether classes or structures – are grasped with the same elementary concept of 'real opposition' as will do for opposed forces in nature. Marx, as Colletti himself recognises, takes the difference between production as production of values, and production as production of use-values (utilities), as the source and genesis of the central 'contradictions' of capitalism: that between forces and social relations of production, and also the 'antagonism' between the classes (workers and capitalists) formed on the basis of these contradictory structures. Here, too, is the basis for the explanation of the genesis of crises in terms of complex combinations of these contradictions with others in a single social formation. Now, Colletti is right in arguing that the classes, tendencies, processes and structures in opposition here are properly to be regarded as distinct from each other and as related as real antagonists, and not as 'contradictories'. But equally, there is a point in the dialectical materialists' identification of these opposites as 'identical' or as forming a unity, and this point can be expressed without any 'ascent' into philosophy. First, the theoretical concepts in terms of which the opposing classes and tendencies are specified and distinguished are in each case defined at least partly in terms of one another (the working class in terms of the capitalist class, and vice versa. This is part of what Mao means when he says: 'Without the bourgeoisie there would be no proletariat; without the proletariat, there would be no bourgeoisie').⁴⁸ Second, what makes this necessary is the theoretical postulate that the opposing classes, tendencies, processes, etc. share a common causal condition of existence: the structure of the capitalist mode of production. The mechanism which generates the classes also generates their antagonism. The existence of the opposed classes and their antagonism is conditioned by the existence of a totality of which they are (distinct) aspects. The concept of causality at work here, again, has much in common with the 'generative-mechanism' concept of causality, but is distinctive in that the 'mechanism' generates antagonistic processes and tendencies. There are, however, partial parallels in the physiology of development (for example in the production of hormones with countervailing effects) and in the physiology of the nervous system (sympathetic and parasympathetic systems). The exploration of analogies between the types of causality involved in these cases could yield results of methodological relevance to historical methodology, so long as Durkheim's warnings are taken to heart.⁴⁹

Philosophy and the 'science of history'

So far in this chapter I have argued for an interpretation of Marx and Engels (and also have tried to defend the position so interpreted) which I stated somewhat dogmatically in chapter 1. According to this view, the production of a genuine knowledge of history (or any other field of enquiry), that is to say, the production of a science,. deprives the speculative philosophies which have previously occupied that domain of their 'medium of existence'. Thus, the 'end of philosophy' which is proclaimed in certain of the works of Marx and Engels is the end of speculative philosophy masquerading as knowledge. The 'end of philosophy' thesis does not, as I argued in chapter 1, imply an end to philosophy in all its forms and types. If the new 'science' of history is to attain the status of a science, then it requires the standards and criteria of science to be applied in its construction. Implicit in the standards that Marx and Engels apply to their theory construction and critiques of other works,⁵⁰ and explicit in their defences of the scientific status of historical materialism, is a theory of knowledge and of science. As we have seen, in so far as 'dialectical materialism' has any right to be taken seriously at all, it reduces to the attempt to construct a concept of historical causality. Such an attempt has at least a 'family resemblance' to more 'orthodox' work in the philosophy of science. But there exists a number of texts by Marx and Engels which are explicitly devoted to the philosophical analysis of the nature of knowledge and explanation, and methodological problems of a very general kind.

I shall distinguish, within the Marxian theory of knowledge, two distinct, but conceptually connected aspects: the theory of ideology, and the theory of science.

The theory of ideology

Much of Marx and Engels's discussion of ideology is metaphorical in character; ideologies are 'fantasies', 'illusions', 'reflections', 'inverted images', 'echoes' of material life. Many, but not all of these metaphors contain two theses about ideology. One thesis concerns its status as a 'reality', the other its status as knowledge – its cognitive status. I shall deal separately with these two aspects of ideology since, although related, they are distinct, and were regarded as such by Marx and Engels.⁵¹ First, then, the status of ideology as a 'reality'. The overwhelming weight of the metaphors I have quoted, and others like them, is to suggest that for Marx there are one-way causal links only between 'material life' and ideology. That ideology is an 'insubstantial epiphenomenon', a reflection which depicts but does not affect the course of real historical life. It is significant, however, that such formulations are most common in the texts which are most in the grip of the strict inversion of Hegel (especially the *German Ideology*): 'materialism' consists in asserting that 'thoughts' are the phenomenon, material life their essence, as against the idealists' assertion of the converse. The later formulations, 'determination in the last instance' and 'relative autonomy of the superstructures' are clearly attempts to correct these lapses into economic reductionism.

However, the relationship between ideology and class struggle which Marx and Engels describe in the German Ideology itself is quite inconsistent with the 'epiphenomenon' conception of ideology. First, they distinguish a stage at which ideas are 'directly interwoven' with and are the 'direct efflux' of material life from a stage, consequent upon the division of labour, at which consciousness can 'really flatter itself that it is something other than consciousness of existing practice'.⁵² At this latter stage, society is class-divided, a part of the ruling class making the 'perfecting of the illusion of the class about itself the chief source of their livelihood'. Both the ruling and the subordinate classes produce ideologies in which their particular interests are represented as identical with the general interest of society, whilst the ideology of the ruling class either disguises or legitimises its domination. Now, two points are clear from this. First, if ideas are, in this sense, weapons in the struggle for political power between social classes, then they cannot be mere epiphenomena. They must have a real existence, in the sense of having some contributory effects on the maintenance or overthrow of a social order. It is in this sense that Marxism contains a 'materialist' conception of ideology: not that ideology is an immaterial effect of material practice, but that it has a material reality of its own. Second, although Marx and Engels separate the status of ideology as 'directly interwoven' with material life, and its status as an 'illusion' created by ideological specialists of the ruling class as characteristic of different historical stages, it does not follow that ideology does not continue to be 'directly interwoven' with material life in the later stages. The distinction Marx and Engels draw here may, in fact, be identified with the distinction I drew in chapter 7 between practical and theoretical ideologies: interwoven with the material practices of a social class is its 'practical ideology' (its ideology in a practical state).

This practical ideology, articulated in a theoretical form is the work of the ideologists of that class, is a weapon in class struggle, and is what I have called a 'theoretical ideology'.

Further, Marx and Engels's discussion of ideology recognises what, I have argued, interpretative sociology cannot coherently theorise: that is, the co-existence in a single social formation of a multiplicity of mutually inconsistent 'symbolic universes' or 'complexes of meaning' (ideologies, or forms of social consciousness). But for Marx and Engels, too, there is a central difficulty. Of these contending forms of social consciousness, one predominates over the others – this is the ideology of the ruling class. The ideas of the ruling class are the dominant ideas because of the ability of the ruling class to 'regulate the production and distribution of the ideas of their age'.⁵³ This explanation of the domination of the ideas of the ruling class in the sense that partially, at least, they invade the consciousness of the subordinate classes, postulates that this domination derives from the control by the ruling class over the means for the production and distribution of ideas.⁵⁴ The theory has several serious weaknesses. First, it readily reduces itself into a form of conspiracy theory, and does not recognise the involvement of the ruling class itself in its own illusions. Second, since the working class does not control the means of production and distribution of ideas, it is hard to see how the ideas of the subordinate classes come to be produced at all; the 'dominant ideology' turns out to be the only ideology. Third, the ideological formation both of individuals and of classes is, on this view, reduced to their passive reception, as 'blank sheets', of ideologies produced by specialists and distributed through specialised apparatuses (the churches, schools and, in our time, the media of mass communications). No recognition is given, in this conception of ideology, to the active involvement of social actors and classes in their own ideological formation, nor to the limits this places on the range of ideological interpretations of social reality which the ideologists of the ruling class present. These interpretations must be adequate to the recognition and negotiation of social life for actors of both ruling and subordinate classes. They must, in other words, have some degree of cognitive effectiveness, they cannot be mere illusions.55

A quite different account of the source of ideology in social life and its relation to class domination exists in Marx and Engels's work in tension with this one. The classical sources for this conception are the discussions of the 'fetishism of commodities' and the 'wage-form' in *Capital*, volume 1.56 In the first case, where independent producers produce for the market, the division of the total useful labour of the society between the different producers is only manifested in the exchange of the commodities they produce, in the

KARL MARX AND FREDERICK ENGELS

market. The social relations between individual producers take on the appearance of relations between things. But this appearance is no mere appearance:

To the [producers], therefore, the relations connecting the labour of one individual with that of the rest appear, not as direct social relations between individuals at work, *but as what they really are*, material relations between persons and social relations between things.⁵⁷

In the comparable case of the wage-form, the exchange between labourer and capitalist takes on the appearance of the buying and selling of a commodity, labour. But, as Marx shows, 'labour' cannot be regarded scientifically as a commodity. What is really being exchanged is a special property of the labourer which is distinguished from other commodities by the fact that its consumption creates a value greater than its own. This property is labourpower. The discovery of this hidden reality enables us to distinguish within the working day a part during which the labourer works for himself (that part during which he creates a value equivalent to that of his labour-power) and a part during which he produces value for the capitalist (surplus value). In short, what the wage-form 'disguises', and the concept of labour-power 'reveals', is the essential relation of the exploitation of the labourer by the capitalist.

In both these examples Marx distinguishes between phenomenal forms of social reality, and 'essential' or 'real' relations underlying them. The phenomenal forms act as a kind of 'disguise' or 'veil', so that forms of consciousness based upon phenomenal forms necessarily misconceive the real relations:

This phenomenal form, which makes the actual relation invisible, and, indeed, shows the direct opposite of that relation, forms the basis of all the juridical notions of *both labourer and capitalist*, of all the mystifications of the capitalist mode of production, of all its illusions as to liberty, of all the apologetic shifts of the vulgar economists.⁵⁸

On this conception, then, ideology has its source in the forms of appearance of social life itself. The extent of the defectiveness of ideology, as knowledge, is a consequence of the extent to which these forms of appearance mask or disguise the real relations whose appearances they are.

This conception of ideology, too, has its weaknesses. First, the basic conceptions of social actors of both the major classes of the capitalist mode of production (in this example) have their source in the appearance of that social/economic form itself. Ideologies, then,

are not the characteristics of social classes, but of modes of production. The problem of the mechanism by which the dominant class maintains the domination of its ideas is solved 'at a stroke', at the cost of rendering the 'dominant' ideology the only ideology in each mode of production. Second, the distinction 'essential relations/ phenomenal forms' is an example of Marx's 'coquetry' with Hegel's terminology, and its precise theoretical meaning and function in Marx's text remains undefined. Third, this conception of ideology has deleterious consequences for any theory of 'science' constructed on its basis. The strikingly similar conception of 'pre-notions' in Durkheim led there to the positing of an empiricist act of rejection of presuppositions in favour of direct perceptual contact with reality, as a means of acquiring knowledge.⁵⁹ In Marx, the problem is sometimes presented as one of 'stripping away' the mystical veil, of uncovering the disguise, to reveal naked reality underneath. This way of posing the problem fails to theorise the labour of production of new concepts which science involves, as Marx himself recognises elsewhere. At other times, it seems that only history will give us genuine knowledge, in providing us with forms of social reality which are 'transparent', and in which the disparity between essence and appearance does not arise.⁶⁰ This, too, is guite inconsistent with Marx's own project in Capital (i.e. the attempt to produce a scientific knowledge of capital from 'within' capitalism).

The theory of science

I have space to comment briefly on only two of Marx's explicit texts on scientific methodology. The first is a section of the *German Ideology* in which Marx and Engels discuss historical methodology, and the second is a passage from the introduction to the *Grundrisse*, in which Marx discusses the method of political economy.⁶¹ The theory of scientific knowledge given in the *German Ideology* is defective in several respects, and is by no means an expression of the 'final' position of Marx and Engels, but it is nevertheless a theory of more sophistication than is generally assumed.⁶² It may be conveniently summarised in the form of six theses, in addition to the thesis I have already discussed (that speculative philosophies are the predecessors of sciences and lose their 'medium of existence' when sciences are founded). The six theses are:

- 1 The positive science of history is the 'representation (*Darstellung*) of the practical activity, of the practical process of development of men'.⁶³
- 2 This representation, or depiction, consists in the observation and arrangement of historical material, under the guidance of certain
KARL MARX AND FREDERICK ENGELS

'premises', which are themselves to be 'made evident' by the study of the material life of each historical epoch.⁶⁴

- 3 Premises, in this sense, are the 'axioms' or 'first principles' of the theoretical system of history. They are asserted as necessary truths (e.g. 'men *must* be in a position to live in order to "make history" ')⁶⁵ which are substantive, yet which do not stand in need of empirical evidence. They do, however, need to be made evident by actual study of each epoch, and are asserted in conjunction with historical 'illustrations'.
- 4 Marx and Engels also use the term 'premises' to refer to 'starting-points' in the real world from which the concrete study of history must proceed. These 'premises' are basic facts of social life: 'the real individuals, their activity and the material conditions under which they live ...'.⁶⁶ These premises the 'given', the 'raw data' of scientific historical investigation can be 'verified in a purely empirical way', and are 'empirically perceptible'.⁶⁷
- 5 The materialist method differs from that of the empiricists for whom history is a 'collection of dead facts'.⁶⁸
- 6 (a) The materialist method is to be contrasted with philosophy in that it is not speculative, starting instead with observable and verifiable facts.

(b) Another contrast with philosophy is that its premises 'govern' empirical investigation without thereby providing a 'recipe or schema . . . for neatly trimming the epochs of history'.⁶⁹

I have space for a brief commentary only on these theses. First, theses 4 and 6(a) have appeared to some as sufficient to brand Marx's whole theory of knowledge here as empiricist. Marx himself (see thesis 5) would not have agreed. For Marx, sense-perception was not a 'theory-neutral' arbiter of competing propositions and theories. The Marx of the 1844 *Manuscripts* had only recently written that the 'forming of the five senses is a labour of the entire history of the world down to the present' and, in a magnificent formulation, the 'senses have therefore become directly in their practice *theoreticicians*'.⁷⁰ Second, theses 3 and 4 imply Marx's recognition of two of the levels of abstraction in the theory' and that of 'concrete historical analysis').⁷¹ The point of theses 4 and 6(a) is to be understood as the denial that *a priori* reasoning or speculation can yield knowledge at the level of concrete analysis.

The status of the 'premises' which are the subject of thesis 3 and which belong to the 'general theory' of history is less clear. They do not require empirical verification, and so may be regarded as a *priori* (though synthetic). However, they do not constitute a rigid

schema developed independently of historical study and into which historical facts must be crammed (thesis 6(b)). These basic categories and propositions of the theory of history must have their applicability to each historical period demonstrated, though this demonstration will be a theoretical exercise differing from empirical verification of factual statements. The relationship between these basic categories and concrete analysis is that they guide it, rather than being rigidly applied in it.⁷²

The second of Marx's methodological texts is the 1857 introduction to the *Grundrisse*. This text is a paradoxical one, and the importance attached to it must be assessed in the knowledge that Marx deliberately suppressed its publication. Early in the introduction Marx sheds more light on the status of the categories of 'general theory' (his 'premises' of the *German Ideology*).

There are categories which are common to all stages of production and are established by reasoning as general categories; the so-called general conditions of all and any production, however, are nothing but abstract conceptions which do not define any of the actual historical stages of production.⁷³

Marx is here asserting that such general concepts have no referential function. He is also saying, nevertheless, that 'production in general is an abstraction, but a sensible abstraction'.⁷⁴ The *a priori* character of the 'premises' of historical materialism is again brought out – they are established by reasoning. Also, 'production without them is inconceivable'.⁷⁵ Again, though, Marx argues that even such abstract categories as these must have their validity established in each epoch by actual studies. This process is not a process of empirical verification; rather, general concepts are 'brought to light' by 'comparison', each concept being itself a 'multifarious compound comprising divergent categories'.⁷⁶ The point of Marx's denial of any referential function to concepts such as 'production in general' is that it is through giving it a referring function that the political economists smuggle in characteristics of bourgeois production as universal characteristics of production.

In the third part of the introduction ('The Method of Political Economy')⁷⁷ Marx comes closer to an explicit definition of the scientific method. He begins by distinguishing two sorts of concepts – concrete, complex concepts (e.g. 'population'), and abstract, simple concepts (e.g. 'value', 'money'). Concepts of these two levels of abstraction are linked by the processes of 'analysis' and 'synthesis'.⁷⁸ However, these processes are not symmetrical. Marx says that the method of political economy at its inception was to take complex concepts as its point of departure, and to move by analysis to simple

concepts. Only later were economic systems devised which moved by synthesis from abstract to concrete. What is distinctive about these forms of 'analysis' and 'synthesis' is that, according to Marx, the concrete, complex concepts with which the process starts have a different epistemological status from those with which it ends. The process begins with 'imaginary' complex concepts and ends with scientific ones, the final phase, the synthesis of concrete concepts from simple, abstract ones being characterised by Marx as 'the correct scientific method'.

The whole process is carried out 'by way of reasoning' (thought), ending up with the 'reproduction of the concrete situation'. Marx emphasises the distinction between, on the one hand, the conceptual totalities yielded by synthesis and, on the other, the concrete situation, the reality which they 'reproduce'. This distinction between the real world and its transformations, and the conceptions of it, with their transformations is one of the main points of the text. But Marx's own frequent use of the term 'category' to refer both to concepts and to the realities the concepts denote does not help him in making the point clearly.

The real world remains 'outside and independent of' the intellect, so long as a purely theoretical attitude is adopted, and must be regarded as a precondition of all comprehension. But as well as being a precondition of comprehension, the real world is the point of origin of perception and imagination. Perceptions and images, in turn, are the raw materials which are transformed into concepts in the process of production of those concepts which constitute the knowledge of the real world. Marx also speaks of this transformation as the 'assimilation' of images and perceptions.

A difficulty of interpretation arises here, since Marx speaks of scientific concepts not only as the products of transformations carried out by the intellect, but also as the products of 'historical conditions'. This could easily be taken as a historicist thesis that scientific concepts are merely expressions of the historical epoch in which they appear. However, an interpretation much more in line with the rest of the text is that the process of intellectual transformation which yields scientific concepts as its product itself has historical conditions. Certain theoretical transformations can be carried out under some historical conditions, not under others. Marx gives at least two reasons for this. The first is that the reality denoted by the concept in question, though present in all periods, is only at its fullest development in certain of them. The second is that the reality denoted by the concept may have a number of different forms of existence (e.g. labour, surplus value). A more advanced society will offer a better vantage point for comparing the different forms, and so constructing the concept of their common features.

However, though such concepts have a validity for all epochs (cf. the earlier remarks concerning production) they retain their full validity only under the conditions in which they are produced. This feature of varying 'degrees of validity' of concepts is a striking difference between history (and, perhaps, geology and biology) and the natural sciences. It is a thesis of the utmost importance in Marx's epistemology, underlying his central criticism of classical political economy that it takes 'categories' of bourgeois society as universal and eternal in their application.

9 Towards a materialist theory of knowledge

Introduction

So far, I have attempted to demonstrate the necessary inadequacy of empiricist and positivist philosophies of science, and of social science in particular. I have also argued that their 'humanist' opponents, in so far as they deny the possibility of a 'positivist' science of society, do not succeed in proving the impossibility of a science of society as such. Similaily, their arguments to the effect that social knowledge is quite distinct in kind from knowledge in the physical sciences do not succeed in establishing their conclusion.

Nevertheless, in the course of the critique of positivist and instrumentalist philosophies of the natural sciences, the elements of an alternative were sketched.¹ In Durkheim's *Rules of Sociological Method* were found certain elementary principles of a materialist theory of knowledge and ideology, marred by their combination with empiricist concepts.² In the course of the discussion of the concepts of *verstehen* and explanatory understanding, in chapters 6 and 7, were developed the outlines of non-positivist concepts of causality appropriate to the social sciences, and a number of concepts belonging to the theory of ideology.

In chapter 8, the works of Marx and Engels were searched for a theory of knowledge which avoids the defects of the positivist and humanist theories. Some of the characteristics of the theory of history for which the status of scientific knowledge is claimed were discussed, together with a brief commentary on a small number of texts in which Marx and Engels outline their conception of science, ideology and their difference.

In this final chapter, I propose to use a critical discussion of the work of the contemporary anti-humanist Marxist philosopher, Louis Althusser, to sketch the outlines of a materialist theory of knowledge which is defensible against the type of criticisms I have directed against its principal rivals. This will lead me to some concluding remarks about philosophy and its relationship to the sciences.

Materialism in Marx and Durkheim

First a few words about the term 'materialism'. Materialism in its metaphysical sense is the doctrine that the universe consists of 'matter' only: 'thought', 'consciousness' is reduced to the status of mere 'appearance' or 'epiphenomenon'. Materialism in the theory of history has often been interpreted as the thesis that economic life is the sole determinant of social relations and the historical process. The sense in which I use 'materialism' here corresponds to neither of these uses. A first approximation to my use of the term to refer to theories of knowledge can be expressed as follows. A theory of knowledge is materialist if and only if

- 1 it recognises the reality of the object of knowledge, independent of the 'knowing subject', the process of production of the knowledge, and the knowledge itself;³
- 2 adequacy to the object of knowledge is the ultimate standard by which the cognitive status of thought is to be assessed;
- 3 it recognises the existence of 'thought', 'ideas', 'knowledge' as realities in their own right;
- 4 it theorises these realities as not *sui generis* but as the result of underlying causal mechanisms.

These criteria apply to 'knowledge' in the very broad sense including both sciences and ideological forms of consciousness. What I have so far called 'realism' concerns the satisfaction of criteria 1 and 2, and so is closely connected with the concept of materialism. I shall, in the discussion which follows, use these criteria for materialism in the theory of knowledge also as criteria of adequacy for theories of knowledge. In part, these criteria have been implicit in my criticisms of other theories of knowledge and any theory of knowledge which satisfied these criteria would be both non-positivist and non-humanist. I cannot prove that materialism as I have defined it is the only alternative to positivism and humanism, but that it is an alternative should be sufficient to give it some plausibility as the basis of a theory of knowledge, in the light of the difficulties faced by both positivism and humanism. I should stress that materialism as I have defined it consists only in the recognition of several criteria of adequacy in the construction of a theory of knowledge, and it by no means rules out the possibility that more than one theory of knowledge might satisfy these criteria. As to the rational justification of accepting materialism as a source of criteria of adequacy, this question must await the final section of this chapter.

Durkheim's theory of knowledge goes some way towards satisfying the first three criteria although, as I have argued, his way of satisfying the second criterion is defective in that the measure of adequacy to the object of knowledge is the empiricist myth of theory-neutral sensation. Durkheim's theory of knowledge fails to satisfy criterion 4 in the case of scientific knowledge because this is represented as the consequence of a mysterious 'act of will' on the part of the scientist, and in the case of ideology because 'ideas' are the fundamental reality for Durkheim. Nevertheless, Durkheim's thesis of the 'opacity' of social reality with its corollary of distinctions between the 'phenomenal forms' of that reality and the underlying reality itself, and between the 'pre-notions' which are 'practically adequate' to the phenomenal forms and scientific concepts which grasp the realities, is both non-empiricist and non-humanist. As we saw in the latter part of chapter 8, the theories of Marx and Engels concerning both science and ideology are realist in that they satisfy criteria 1 and 2, though not necessarily in a way that is theoretically defensible. The theory of ideology in *Capital* closely resembles that of Durkheim in its main outlines. Social reality is divided into 'essential relations' and 'phenomenal forms'. Ideological notions are based on phenomenal forms, whilst scientific concepts grasp 'real' or 'essential' relations. But for Marx it is 'abstraction', rather than 'sensation' which enables the phenomenal forms to be penetrated 'in thought'. The proliferation of undeveloped metaphors such as 'reflection', 'image', 'representation' in the texts of Marx and Engels imply their acceptance of criterion 2, if their ways of satisfying it are defective. Certain of their metaphors also suggest that Marx and Engels rejected criterion 3 but, as we saw, their theory of the part played by ideology in class-struggle implied acceptance of criterion 3, whilst the concept of science given in the Introduction to the Grundrisse as a process of production of knowledge by transformation of concepts from raw materials also implies their acceptance of criterion 3 in respect of science.

With regard to criterion 4 the situation is more complex. As we saw, there are the elements of two theories of ideology in Marx and Engels. In the first, ideologies are the products of specialist ideologues who constitute a fraction of the dominant class. In so far as this is reduced to a 'conspiracy theory' then so far it fails to satisfy criterion 4, though as we shall see it can be elaborated in such a way as to satisfy the criterion. As to the other concept of ideology as a result of the 'phenomenal form' of a mode of production, this satisfies criterion 4 if and only if the 'essence/appearance' relationship specified by Marx is a genuine causal relation, and not an instance of the speculative philosophical use of the contrast.⁴ The *German Ideology*, on the other hand, says nothing about the historical-causal conditions for a science of history, though there are occasional references to the causal conditions of the natural sciences. The introduction to the *Grundrisse*, whilst having little to say on this question, does indicate that the production of certain scientific categories is limited to certain historical periods.⁵

It seems, then, that Marx and Engels, implicitly at least, recognised the four criteria for a materialist theory of knowledge which I have advanced. There are, though, several areas of internal difficulty in the way their theory of knowledge, as I have so far presented it, meets or fails to meet these criteria. These areas of difficulty can be distinguished as follows.

1 The essence/phenomena distinction. Does this, in Marx and Engels, mark a causal relationship between specifiable structures and processes, or is it merely the importation of a survival from speculative philosophy?

2 However problem (1) is solved, it must provide also an explanation of how it is that 'phenomenal forms', considered as realities, having certain causal relations with other realities, should also be the forms in which a given mode of production 'presents itself' to the experience of the 'agents' of that mode of production.

3 Whatever explanation is given in (2) must be capable of correcting the implication of this theory of ideology in Marx's work that these 'phenomenal forms' found only one ideology (the dominant ideology = the ideology of the mode of production concerned).

4 If it is conceded that the structures and practices of a single mode of production can generate distinct and antagonistic forms of 'social consciousness' (including what I have called theoretical and practical ideologies), then the mechanism by which one of these is sustained and reproduced as the dominant ideology requires to be specified.

5 If scientific knowledge is to be recognised as a reality, distinct from ideological forms of knowledge, then we need a theory of the mechanism of its production.⁶ If, in turn, the empiricist thesis of Durkheim that this consists in a return to 'reality' itself through the medium of sense-experience is rejected as offering no solution, then the theory of the mechanism by which scientific knowledge is produced must involve some theory of the transformation of ideology into science. This latter transformation is the object of Marx's sketchy remarks about 'analysis' and 'synthesis' in the introduction to the *Grundrisse*, but what he says there, of course, in no sense constitutes an adequate theorisation of the problem.

6 If science and ideology are to be theorised as distinct historical

realities, then theoretical criteria need to be established for distinguishing them. Again, there is no satisfactory solution to this in Marx and Engels themselves. The most popular of the several solutions they hint at – the criterion of 'practice' – can be shown, by extension of the arguments I brought against Popper's paradoxically similar position in *The Poverty of Historicism*, to imply the abolition of any science/ideology distinction.⁷

Althusser and ideology

I shall use a critical discussion of the work of Louis Althusser to indicate in a very preliminary way how these problem areas might be tackled. I shall deal with problem areas 1-4, mainly concerned with the theory of ideology, first of all. Problem area 4, the mechanisms which sustain the dominance of the dominant ideology, is indicated in Marx and Engels by their references to control, by the ruling class, of the means of production and distribution of ideas.⁸ These indicators are taken up and developed by Althusser in his theory of the ideological state apparatuses (ISAs, for short).⁹ Althusser identifies two defects in classical Marxist theories of the state. First, the base/ superstructure distinction upon which these theories depend is metaphorical, and there are only the merest beginnings of a theory of the causal relations between the two structures. Secondly, these theories of the state are incomplete in that they conceive it solely as a 'machine' of repressive class-domination through the legal apparatus (courts, police, etc.), armed forces and coercive administrative apparatus. Althusser terms these, collectively, the 'repressive state apparatuses', and argues that their function is, in part, to secure the political conditions (moderation of class-conflict within certain limits) under which another collection of apparatuses - the ideological state apparatuses - can operate. These 'apparatuses' include the educational system, the media of mass communications, the family, the trade unions, political parties and others. These function predominantly 'by ideology' rather than 'by repression', behind the 'shield' provided by the RSAs. Althusser further argues that the theory of the distinction and relationships between base and superstructure in Marxist theory can be developed through an analysis of the role of the superstructures in 'reproduction'. This is a technical term in Marxist theory which refers, primarily, to the necessity, if economic production is to be a continuous process through time. for the raw materials of production, the instruments of production, labour-power itself and, finally, the relations in which production takes place to be replaced or replenished as they are used up, or worn out, or when social agents themselves die. In the capitalist mode of production raw materials, instruments of production and,

to some extent, labour-power and the relations of production are reproduced at the level of production itself. But certain aspects of the reproduction of labour-power and of the relationships of production, together with the reproduction of non-economic relations (e.g. the relations constituting the educational system, the political parties, etc. themselves), cannot be achieved solely within the economic system. According to Althusser, the principal non-economic systems - the RSAs and the ISAs - have the function of carrying out these aspects of 'reproduction'. The use of the term 'function' here does not imply that the existence of a 'requirement' which this function fulfils in any sense explains the existence or persistence of the state apparatuses, nor is there any implication that there is any necessity about the fulfilment of this function. Also, in capitalist societies, which are class societies, this 'function' of the reproduction of the relations of production is simultaneously and *ipso facto* the reproduction of the dominance of the dominant class in the mode of production constituted by those relations (i.e. the capitalist class). In this sense the 'function' of the state apparatuses is not to be conceived, as in some functionalist sociologies, as supplying the necessary conditions for 'society' as such, but as supplying the necessary conditions for the persistence of a specific form of *class-domination*.

With respect to the ISAs in particular, Althusser argues that the part they play in the reproduction of labour-power and of social relations in general can be summed up as the 'constitution' of individuals as subjects and their 'interpellation' into positions in the system of social relations. Through participation in 'material practices governed by material rituals which are themselves defined by the material ideological apparatus'10 each individual becomes constituted as a 'subject' with certain practical attitudes, dispositions, customary habits and, in short, beliefs and ideas about himself, or herself, and his or her relationship to the social system. This ideological formation of individual subjects will involve different apparatuses, rituals and practices, therefore, for individuals destined for different places ('tasks', 'functions') in the system of social relations (cf. segregated educational systems, 'streaming' in schools, the various mechanisms which reproduce the sexual division of labour in the family, schools, political parties, etc.). The ISAs also play a key role in actually distributing social agents to these places (admissions, promotions, qualification, certification and so on).

This, put very schematically and abstractly, is Althusser's development of problem area 4, identified above. It also constitutes part of a theory of ideology which satisfies criterion 3 above as a materialist theory of ideology: ideology is held to have a real 'material' existence in the everyday practices and rituals of each ISA, into which individual social actions are 'inserted'. In short, Althusser utilises the concept of 'practical ideology', which I described in my critique of the Weberian theory of action, to solve one of the central problems in the theory of ideology which I identified, also in chapter 7, as insoluble within either a methodological individualist or, more generally, humanist perspective. Not only is there no special reason to believe that the subjects constituted and distributed by these mechanisms should be constituted so as to 'understand' the mechanisms by which they are constituted but, on the contrary, it is a condition of operation of many of the mechanisms that they are not understood by the subjects they 'constitute'.¹¹

However, this theory has a number of obvious weaknesses, and it is seriously incomplete. Althusser's work has not surprisingly, then, been subject to criticism from a variety of sources, including his own 1970 'postscript' to his main article.¹² I shall summarise what seem to me the most pertinent criticisms, and add some of my own. First, and most important, there still is nothing in the basic theoretical structure (apart from certain verbal 'asides') capable of explaining the simultaneous co-existence, within capitalist societies in particular, of a multiplicity of ideological 'universes'. The 'imaginary relation to real conditions of existence' which, in Althusser's view, is represented in the consciousness of every subject who has been constituted by the ISAs will vary in its specific contents according to the destination of that subject. But always, in so far as the ISAs reproduce the relations of production, those variations will be variations under the 'domination' of the basic categories of the ruling ideology. In the learning of certain necessary skills, for instance, individuals are taught the technical operations involved under relations of authority and with disciplines which relate to the ultimate exercise of those skills under specifically capitalist social relations (the learning of medical skills is a currently topical example). But if all this 'reproduction' is reproduction of agents who think and act in terms of the basic categories of the ruling ideology, then how can it come about that there exists in societies of this type a multiplicity of ideologies? In short, Althusser has failed to give any help in problem area 3.

We can begin to see how work in this area might be developed by a second look at Althusser's 'list' of ISAs. There is some dispute as to the legitimacy of including even such 'apparatuses' as the media of communication, educational system and so on in the state, but the theoretical justification for this in the cases of the family, the trade unions and (especially) the working-class political parties¹³ is even less clear. In the case of the family, its considerable autonomy, in the capitalist social formation, from centralised control renders its capacity to function as a means of ideological reproduction very insecure and vulnerable.¹⁴ In the cases of the trade union and working-class party 'ISAs', they certainly may be said to contribute

to the reproduction of capitalist social relations (and hence the domination of the dominant class) in so far as they formulate the demands of workers in relatively narrow economic terms and are integrated, particularly at the highest levels, with civil service and government; or in so far as they recognise, in theory and practice. the legitimacy of the established forms of political practice (parliamentary elections, cabinet government, limitation of political objectives to 'government' rather than state apparatus as a whole, and so on). But they also exist as instruments of practical struggle on the part of organised workers at the economic and political levels. Not only this, but in most capitalist societies they are looked to by a large proportion of their working-class base not simply as a means of promoting their interests in the existing social order, but also as a means of transition to a new social order. In so far as the trade unions and political parties of the working class embody social practices and rituals (forms of struggle - strikes, occupations, workins, machine-breaking etc.; forms of organisation – direct elections, decisions by mass meetings and so on; and even forms of language, forms of address, and so on) which are distinctive, then they can be treated as the material forms of existence of the ideology of the working class.¹⁵ That these practices co-exist in tension with practices which are not distinctive of the working class, and tend towards the reproduction of the ruling ideology in the working class merely demonstrates the existence of class-antagonism within these apparatuses - it is no grounds for reducing them to the status of instruments of the class-domination of the ruling class (to do so would be to neglect the fundamental differences between capitalist societies with a liberal-democratic type of state and those with various forms of authoritarian rule - 'fascist', military dictatorships and so on). Equally, class-struggle can be recognised in those apparatuses - the mass media, the educational system, and so on - which do function predominantly to reproduce the prevailing social relations.

Now, whilst these considerations may have taken us some small way towards a solution of certain problems in problem area 3, they do not begin to help with 1 and 2. Here, it needs to be recognised that ideologies exist not only in the 'practices and rituals' of the churches, schools, colleges, parties and so on, but also in those of the courts, armed services, administrative institutions of the state, and industrial firms and corporations. Ideologies, in their practical forms, are present in all social practices, including economic ones. There is a recognition of this point implicit in Althusser's concluding remark of his postscript to 'Ideology and Ideological State Apparatuses':

For if it is true that the I.S.A.s represent the *form* in which the ideology of the ruling class must *necessarily* be realised, and

TOWARDS A MATERIALIST THEORY OF KNOWLEDGE

the form in which the ideology of the ruled class must *necessarily* be measured and confronted, ideologies are not 'born' in the I.S.A.s but from the social classes at grips in the class struggle: from their conditions of existence, their practices, their experience of the struggle, etc.¹⁶

The different class ideologies, then, have their material existence in the different practices and experiences of the opposed classes. The source of ideologies is therefore to be sought in the conditions of existence of the classes and their practices themselves.¹⁷ That is to say, 'in the last instance', in the economic structure. In short, we are back with problem areas 1 and 2, with the problem of the 'essence/ phenomenal forms' distinction, and with the problem of how 'phenomenal forms' can form the basis of more than one ideology. First, in the quotations from Capital which I used as sources in reconstructing this 'essence/phenomenal forms' conception of ideology, 'phenomenal forms' figure not as 'mere appearances' but as realities, though realities of a causally secondary kind, relative to the real, or 'essential' relations disguised by them: real social relations are not merely misleading in appearance, but wear a false beard and moustache. In the example of the wage form and that of the commodity form it is an exchange relation which is referred to by the expression 'phenomenal form', and a production relation which is referred to by the expression 'real relation'. Essence and phenomena, then, turn out to be two causally related aspects of the economic structure of the capitalist mode of production. Moreover, this is a causal relation which Marx has already grappled with in his introduction to the Grundrisse, distinguishing his conception of the relations between production, distribution, exchange and consumption as distinct, asymmetrically, related 'moments' of 'production' in a wider sense, both from the Hegelian conception of totality and the empiricist separation of these 'processes' in the work of the political economists.18

The relationship between real relations and phenomenal forms is, then, a relationship of a causal kind between two aspects of a single structure, one of which has causal (and therefore *explanatory*) primacy over the other. It follows that concepts of the capitalist social order formed on the basis of exchange relations, though they may well have a degree of adequacy in the negotiation of aspects of that reality, will be defective in so far as they fail to theorise the dependence of exchange relations on production relations. By contrast, conceptions of the capitalist social order 'based on' production relations will, since they theorise the relations which are causally primary, have greater explanatory power. It is here that the sense of the 'inversion' metaphor, so often found in Marx's writings on ideology, becomes a little clearer. In treating exchange relations as the fundamental realities, and in seeking to explain capitalist social relations generally in terms of such concepts as exchange between formally equal, and formally free individuals, contract, competition, and other categories derived directly, or by way of metaphor, from the market-place, such ideologies 'invert' the true explanatory priorities.

But in what sense are these conceptualisations 'based on' exchange and production relations, respectively, and why should either, rather than the other, be regarded as the 'phenomenal form' not just in the sense of a causally secondary aspect of reality, but also in the sense of 'that aspect of reality which presents itself to experience'? I am capable of giving only gestural answers to both these questions. As to the first question, the conflicting conceptualisations which I have represented as 'based on' exchange and production relations are, as 'conceptualisations', theoretical ideologies. As such they may be thought of as articulations, in theoretical form, of the practical ideologies of the different social classes, the totality of these together in each case constituting the 'form of social consciousness' peculiar to each class. Each theoretical ideology, then, is 'based on' a corresponding practical ideology, embodied in the practices, experiences, struggles, etc. of the corresponding class and its individual members. Here there is a fundamental asymmetry between the practices and experiences of productive workers, on the one hand, and capitalists and non-productive workers, on the other hand. Whereas the capitalist enters the market as a source of finance, of means of production, of labour-power, and of his own means of consumption, the worker enters the market also to purchase his or her means of consumption and for the sale of labour power. But the worker is also involved in productive practice, and has the daily experience of the antagonistic character of this form of production: working-class industrial and political organisation and struggle is both built out of and constitutes this experience. The market and production, then, both figure in the life-experience of workers. In so far as their experience of the market forms the basis of their theoretical understanding of their general social relations then what Marx says of them is true: 'this phenomenal form . . . forms the basis of all the juridical notions of both labourer and capitalist, of all the mystifications of the capitalist mode of production'.¹⁹ But involvement in productive practices, and the struggles which develop from its antagonistic forms, constitute the elements of an alternative practical ideology which may, in turn, form the basis of an alternative theoretical understanding of the social formation.²⁰ This, like the theoretical articulations of the ruling ideology, will be structured in terms of the needs, interests, aspirations and values of the class in struggle: it will, in short, be a theoretical ideology in the sense I outlined in the course of my critique of the Weberian notion of value-relevance, and not a scientific theory.²¹

There is one (among the many) possible sources of misunderstanding in my argument which needs to be corrected. This is my talk of 'practice' and 'experience' as the source of theoretical ideologies. Is this not a resort to one, at least, of the doctrines of the empiricist theory of knowledge? The theory which I have been summarising does not involve any notion of 'theory-neutral', or 'pre-theorised' experience as the raw material of knowledge and so avoids this criticism. It does, though, involve the claim that certain ranges of life-experiences are more readily theorisable in terms of some theoretical ideologies than others and that, therefore, there is room for a degree of competition (!) between ideologies in the theorisation of any range of experience. It is the relative inadequacy of the ruling ideology as a means of theorising certain experiences of subordinate classes, strata, and social categories (for example certain groups of women, racial minorities,²² and others) which provide the basis for the establishment of antagonistic ideologies. and for the necessity of the principal function of 'ideological reproduction' which Althusser attributes to the ISAs. When Marx implies that it is market relations themselves which ensure the subordination of workers to the dominant ideology he is wrong. The achievement of this subordination is the object of a sustained ideological and political struggle on the part of the ruling class and its allies.

Althusser and the theory of scientific knowledge

I have so far tried to show, in a very schematic way, how a materialist theory of ideology might be developed which solves at least some of the general problems listed above. No such theory of knowledge could make any serious claim to completeness of scope unless it also involved a theory of the nature of specifically scientific as distinct from ideological knowledge. This will involve some sort of investigation of both problem areas 5 and 6, outlined above: the problem of the 'mechanism' of the production of science, as a distinctive form of knowledge, and the question of criteria by which to distinguish science from ideology.

Again, I shall begin with a critical discussion of the Althusserian theory of science (basing my discussion, initially, on Althusser's writings prior to 1967 - principally the collections *For Marx* and *Reading Capital*). As I mentioned at the end of chapter 4,²³ Althusser's conception of theoretical knowledge involves a rejection of the notion, implicit in empiricist, and much anti-empiricist philosophy of science, of scientific knowledge as the creation of

'subjects', whether individual scientists, 'transcendental' subjects, or 'the scientific community'. For Althusser, the process of production of theoretical knowledge (including both science and theoretical ideologies) is a social practice. He calls such practices 'theoretical' practices, to distinguish them from the other practices constituting a society: economic, ideological and political practices. These practices co-exist in social formations, and are related to each other by the complex causal relationships described in chapter 8:24 they are related by an order of 'dominance' between them, and are subjected to a 'determination-in-the-last-instance' by economic practice. Each practice is to be thought of as constituted by a structure which, in each case, is the structure of a production. The concepts by which Marx theorises the structure of economic production in general can, it is supposed, be generalised to ideological. political and theoretical practice. In each of these practices there will be elements and relationships to which the concepts 'raw materials', 'instruments of production', 'product', 'relations of production' and so on can be applied. In each case the 'practice' concerned will consist in the transformation of determinate 'raw materials' into 'products' by means of determinate instruments of production. In each case the role of individual human 'subjects' is not the role they may think they play, but the role assigned to them by the conditions (raw materials, instruments and relations) of production which are available to them.²⁵ The different practices, then, are analogous in that they share a common structure but, of course, are different in that different types of elements will count as, for example, 'raw materials', 'instruments of production', etc. in the different types of practice.

Althusser distinguishes within 'theoretical practice' both 'ideological' and 'scientific' theoretical practice, but has relatively little to say about the former (phlogiston theory in chemistry, astrology, classical political economy, most of what now passes for 'social science', theology, and most philosophy are all 'theoretical ideologies' and so presumably the results of a distinctive type of theoretical practice). In the case of scientific theoretical practice, the raw materials of the practice are 'concepts', 'notions', 'facts' generated by previous theoretical practice, or imported from other practices, but they are distinctive in being always 'general' in character. The raw materials of science are never 'raw' in the sense of being unconceptualised or untheorised 'pure data': Althusser here rejects the empiricist notion of theory-neutral experiences or perceptions as the basis of science. The contents of scientific knowledge are not to be thought of as 'imposed' on science by sense-experience, but as the results of a process of transformation of concepts into new concepts (in other words, Althusser contradicts Durkheim's strictures against

what he called the 'ideological method'). The 'means of production' of a science are constituted by its theoretical system – its set of basic concepts – at each moment in time. The 'product' of scientific practice is also conceptual in character: it is a specific 'concrete-inthought'.²⁶ The distinction between raw materials, means of production and product is a relative one in that the product of any specific labour of conceptual transformation may later serve as a means of production of new knowledge.

So far, then, it would seem that Althusser satisfies at least one of the criteria for a materialist theory of theoretical ideologies and sciences: this is that they be conceptualised as social realities in their own right. However, there is one symptom that this may not, after all, be so: although Althusser sometimes refers to relations of production in connection with theoretical practice, he never gives any indication of what these might be. I shall return to this.²⁷

First, however, if Althusser's theory is to satisfy criterion 4 above, it must involve some theory not only of the nature of scientific practice itself, but also of the process of its generation and formation as a distinctive type of practice. That is to say, some solutions in problem area 5 are required. For Althusser, the 'pre-history' of any science is constituted by theoretical ideologies. It is through 'transformations', 'mutations' and 'fusions' of theoretical ideologies in a given 'ideological field' that a science is founded. These 'mutations', 'transformations' and so on are themselves not thought of as entirely self-generating, but as in part the effects of transformations in other practices, under the determination-in-the-last-instance of the economic. Marxist theory itself, for instance, was founded as a result of a fusion and transmutation of several theoretical ideologies (French socialist thought, classical political economy, and speculative philosophy, principally), which are in turn to be explained in part in terms of political class-struggle, the development of European capitalism, the underdevelopment of German capitalism, and so on.

Like Kuhn, Althusser conceptualises the history of each science as discontinuous, as marked by sharp qualitative breaks or 'ruptures'. The process of foundation of a new science out of a rupture with the ideologies of its pre-history is the most important of these discontinuities, from the point of view of the theory of knowledge, and in order to theorise it Althusser borrows the term 'epistemological break' from the French philosopher Gaston Bachelard.²⁸ This concept serves both to locate historically the emergence of the new type of theoretical practice (science) and to indicate the difference in epistemological status (status as knowledge) of the products of the new practice. This concept has been modified in Althusser's work, with the recognition that a new science does not spring fully formed

from a sudden rupture with ideology, but rather the 'rupture' should be understood as opening up a new 'terrain' of problems and concepts within which a new scientific theoretical system may be produced. Also, and connected with this latter point, Althusser argues that theoretical ideologies do not disappear with the epistemological break, but persist as 'epistemological obstacles', combined with elements of the new scientific theory. This notion of epistemological break is crucial to Althusser's controversial anti-humanist interpretation of the later Marx: the claim is that 1845 marked a 'break', or discontinuity in Marx's theoretical position, which founded the scientific theory of history. A form of this thesis was involved in my argument in chapter 8.

Finally. Althusser's conception of scientific knowledge and its production, in order to theorise the 'epistemological break' separating theoretical ideologies from sciences, requires yet another concept. If the transition involved here is to be thought of as some sort of 'rupture' or 'transformation', it cannot simply be a question of the discovery of new evidence, or the invention of some new concepts. It must be a question of an upheaval in the whole system of concepts involved. Althusser, then, requires a concept which theorises the unity formed by the concepts of a theoretical system. This concept is the concept of 'problematic': each theoretical discourse presupposes, has as its foundation, or conceptual 'condition of possibility', a 'problematic'. Again, there is some inconsistency in Althusser as to the precise definition of this concept, but at the very least it involves the claim that the concepts constituting a theoretical system are systematically related in the sense that each concept may be identified or defined only in terms of the other concepts with which it is linked in the theory. To detach a concept from the theoretical corpus to which it belongs is necessarily to alter its meaning. The 'problematic' of a theory at any moment in its history constitutes the main element of the 'means of production' by which new knowledge is produced in that theoretical practice.

Already there are some fairly obvious internal difficulties in the theory of knowledge so far outlined. If theoretical ideologies continue to invade and co-exist with the scientific problematic after the 'epistemological break', what sense can we continue to make of the concept of 'problematic'? It seems that elements of different (ideological and scientific) problematic can co-exist in the same theoretical discourse, so what has happened to the internal coherence of the problematic? Related to this point, if any sense is to be made of the idea of production of knowledge as a process of transformation of concepts, it must be the case that there is a difference of epistemological status (and therefore a difference of problematic?) between those 'notions', 'concepts', etc. which form the raw material of a

science and its problematic (means of production) at any point in the history of the science. It is necessary, therefore, to think of the 'unity' of a scientific theoretical system as a rather uneven, loose, and even contradictory one, in which there may be relatively autonomous clusters of concepts. Also, if any sense is to be attached to the idea of 'mutations' and transformations within theoretical ideologies, it must be conceded that the unity of their problematics, too, must have something of this unevenness and contradictoriness. These vague and metaphorical indicators require a much more precise and rigorous formulation which is nowhere to be found in Althusser. However, serious though this criticism is, it is not fundamental, in the sense that it leaves open the possibility of a revision in Althusser's system of ideas which may well be capable of answering it. There are other objections of this type, such as the claim that Althusser's theory of the social formation as a combination of practices, each having the structure of production, is entirely *a priori* and arbitrary, and that the application of terms such as 'raw materials', 'means of production' to knowledge is also a mechanical and a priori workingout of what is merely a metaphor in Marx.²⁹ These criticisms have their point, but are not decisive against Althusser's whole epistemological strategy.

There are, however, several rather more serious objections, some of which Althusser has conceded, and which involve the condemnation of his theories as 'idealist' and 'theoreticist'. The first of these objections is that Althusser at several points seems to be arguing that the epistemological break doesn't simply have the effect of founding a new social practice (science) but of projecting that practice quite out of the social formation. Science, alone of all the practices of a social formation, is exempt from determination-in-the-lastinstance by economic practice. This notion of what amounts to the absolute autonomy of science seems to justify the claim that Althusser's theory of scientific knowledge is in certain respects idealist³⁰ (it fails to satisfy criterion 4 given above). Also related to this supposed autonomy of science is the failure in this earlier position of Althusser to pose the question of the relationship between scientific knowledge and politics in a rigorous way. This is clearly a serious omission, since Althusser's whole discussion of the nature of science is linked to a defence of the scientific status of the Marxist theory of history. I shall return to this point.³¹

But a further, and perhaps more fundamental respect in which Althusser is open to the charge of idealism concerns the way in which he attempts to reconcile the materialist thesis of the prior and independent existence of the reality which is 'grasped' in knowledge (criterion 1 above) with the conception of scientific knowledge as a product – as constructed. Althusser makes Marx's distinction (in the introduction to the *Grundrisse*) between the concrete real ('outside and independent of the intellect') and the concrete-in-thought, which is its conceptual representation, the basis of his own distinction between the so-called 'real object' and the 'object of knowledge'. In the process of production of knowledge a science constructs its own 'object of knowledge', which is distinct from the 'object' of the theoretical ideology which preceded it: 'phlogiston' is the object of a theoretical ideology, and is a distinct object from the 'oxygen' of the chemical theory of combustion. Similarly Marx, in producing the concept of 'surplus value', gives political economy a new object of knowledge.³² But in each case these 'objects of knowledge' must be thought of as internal to knowledge, and not confused with the real object which remains throughout independent and 'outside' knowledge.

Althusser seems to regard this distinction between the 'real object' and the 'object of knowledge' as what saves his theory from empiricism, but there is a remarkable homology between Althusser's insistence on the 'constructed' character of the object of scientific knowledge and the Neo-Kantians' insistence on the same point, made all the more remarkable by the Althusserian criticism of Neo-Kantianism as a form of empiricism. But there are several other connected difficulties with Althusser's distinction. First, though it is effective in denoting the qualitative break involved in the shift from theoretical ideology to science (their problematics theorise different objects), it is perhaps too effective. This way of theorising the founding of a science (or, in general, the relationship between competing theoretical systems), like Thomas Kuhn's thesis of successive incommensurable 'paradigms', makes any conception of continuity through scientific revolutions unthinkable. It becomes, then, entirely problematic in what sense any theoretical ideology, or combination of them, can be regarded as the pre-history of any particular science. If phlogiston theory and the oxygen theory of combustion have different problematics, and have a different object, what sense is there in saying that one constituted the pre-history of the other, and what sense is there in the claim that problems produced in the one generated the formulation of the other? In what sense can it be said that such theoretical systems are in competition with one another, if they concern different objects? Further, what sense can be made of critical discourse between problematics, and progress in science as a result of the 'replacement' of an ideological by a scientific problematic, if this 'replacement' is a theory of a new object, rather than better knowledge of the same object? Significantly, Althusser's account of the 'epistemological break' in Marx does rely on a notion of continuity through the break, but as this cannot be a continuity of 'problematics' or of 'objects of knowledge',

it is the continuity established by the 'subject', Marx, who was their creator! Back to 'humanism'!³³

Another, connected difficulty with the real object/object of knowledge distinction has to do with their relationship: how do we know that the production of the object of knowledge of a science is at the same time the production of knowledge of the real object, external to thought? In one text Althusser simply states, without explanation, that this relationship is 'non-problematic'.³⁴ Presumably we can just see that the 'object' of a theoretical ideology is not the knowledge of the real object, whereas that of a science is! But elsewhere, Althusser recognises the problem, and also its importance: '... the problem of the relation between these two objects (the object of knowledge and the real object), a relation which constitutes the very existence of knowledge'.³⁵ In this text, Althusser makes it clear that the search here is not, as in classical (empiricist and rationalist) epistemology, for some 'guarantee' of certainty in knowledge, for some timeless criterion by which to distinguish knowledge from mere belief. Rather, the search is for the 'mechanism of the knowledge effect'. Beyond making the search sound more scientific, it has to be recognised by Althusser that this is hardly a solution. However, what Althusser does not seem to recognise is that the problem as he has posed it cannot be answered. What kind of operation could compare the 'object of knowledge' (in thought) with the real world (outside thought) so as to declare whether or not the first was, indeed, the 'cognitive appropriation' of the second?

The 'real object' as an epistemological device has the same defect as the Kantian notion of a 'thing-in-itself' – it is a 'something' of which, by definition, nothing can be said, but of which something must be said if it is to have a place in a theoretical system. The distinction between the 'real object' and the 'object of knowledge' in Althusser's thought is, then, a second source for the charge of idealism: the theory satisfies neither criterion 1 nor criterion 2. The independence of the real world is asserted, but cannot be asserted consistently with the rest of the theory. Equally, there are places where Althusser recognises that the cognitive status of a theory is a function of its relationship to the reality of which it is the (putative) knowledge, but there is no way in which this relationship can be coherently theorised so long as the real object/object of knowledge distinction is retained.

Althusser's frequent explicit rejection of the classical epistemological search for universal criteria of certainty in knowledge coexists uneasily with his equally frequent posing of the problem of knowledge in a way very little removed from that of the 'philosophy of guarantees'. This, too, is connected with the real object/object of knowledge distinction. If science and ideology are to be distinguished

in terms of the different relationships between the 'real object' and their respective 'objects of knowledge', then this relationship must be thought of in a very abstract way. There is no room in such a theory of science for the relationship between science and the real world to be posed as a problem solved in different (though, perhaps, related) ways in each science. If, for instance, instead of posing the problem of the relationship between the 'object of knowledge' and the 'real object', we pose the problem of the relationships of the concepts 'dephlogisticated air' and 'oxygen' both to one another and to the substance they designate, the problem immediately appears less intractable. Certainly Lavoisier's new concept of oxygen, which avoided some of the theoretical difficulties which attended the notion of dephlogisticated air, involved a revolution in chemical theory, but a revolution with certain crucial continuities. Both the concepts 'dephlogisticated air' and 'oxygen' had a place in theories designed to explain combustion, and both concepts, despite their location in quite different 'networks' of concepts, could be recognised as designating one and the same substance. The possibility of this identity of reference of two quite different concepts, belonging to different 'problematics', is dependent upon the existence of procedures for producing the substance which may be taught, learned, copied, etc. without presupposing what is at issue between the two chemical theories. Lavoisier could copy the procedures adopted by Priestley to produce samples of dephlogisticated air whenever he wished to produce oxygen. That there are general connections between the realist conception of science which I began to outline in chapters 3 and 4, criteria 1 and 2³⁶ for a materialist theory of knowledge, and this notion of identity of reference as a major element of continuity through scientific revolutions should now be apparent. I shall try to develop these general connections a little further towards the end of the chapter. For the moment, suffice it to say that the search for such identities of reference of theoretical concepts across scientific revolutions is one method, at least, of avoiding the serious epistemological problems generated by Althusser's 'real object'/'object of knowledge' distinction.37

Finally, though, in this discussion of Althusser's theory of science, it is necessary to investigate Althusser's attempts at solving problem $6,^{38}$ identified above: the problem of criteria for distinguishing science from ideology. I have already criticised one of Althusser's approaches to this problem: the 'mechanism of the knowledge effect' which produces an 'object of knowledge' which just is the 'cognitive appropriation' of the 'real object'. There are several other, sometimes mutually inconsistent, approaches scattered throughout Althusser's work. Sometimes the difference between science and ideology is represented as a matter of the relative importance of the 'practico-social' function of the theory.³⁹ Not only does this make the difference one of degree, but in the absence of any account of how 'practico-social functions' are to be measured and compared, the 'criterion' remains one which cannot be applied. Elsewhere, Althusser seems to suggest that it is in the mode of production of science that it differs from ideology, and alternatively, that it is a matter of the difference between their 'discourse-object unity'. But in neither case are the precise *differentia specifica* given.

Yet elsewhere, under the influence of his rejection of any philosophy of 'guarantees' of knowledge, Althusser seems to deny the very possibility of a general science/ideology distinction:

Theoretical practice is indeed its own criterion and contains in itself definite protocols with which to *validate* the quality of its product, i.e., the criteria of the scientificity of the products of scientific practice. This is exactly what happens in the real practice of the sciences: once they are truly constituted and developed they have no need of verification from *external* practices to declare the knowledges they produce to be 'true', i.e. to be *knowledges.*⁴⁰

Here Althusser either begs the question, or his position is relativist. When he says that 'truly constituted' sciences are not in need of any external criterion of validity, this presupposes that there is some prior way of telling whether or not a science is truly constituted. The alternative to this is that any theoretical discourse (theology, astrology, sociology...) which presents its internal criteria of validity and proclaims its status as a science is as justified in doing so as any other. This apparent concession to relativism, if it were accepted, would amount to a rejection not only of any general science/ideology distinction, but also of any critical role for the theory of knowledge in assessing knowledge-claims.

Finally, there is yet another approach to the science/ideology distinction in Althusser which does seem to offer more promise. This is the distinction between science and ideology in terms of the character of their internal unity. The problematic of a theoretical ideology is said to be 'closed' whereas that of a science is 'open'. The 'closure' of ideological problematics is, further, connected with the type of relationship they have with non-theoretical practices. The exigencies and demands of the other social practices present to theoretical ideology 'solutions' for which theoretical ideology must produce, in a theoretical form, the appropriate 'problem'. In other words, the concepts of a theoretical ideology will be structured around a problem, whose solution is already given in the form of a demand imposed by extra-theoretical practices. The 'problemstructure' of a theoretical ideology, then, is distinctive in that it is determined by extra-theoretical interests and demands and, connected with this, in that its 'solutions' are predetermined by this 'problem-structure'. An example of this would be the theoretical discourse of Durkheim's *Division of Labour*: the concepts constituting the theory are structured around the 'problem' of the maintenance of 'social order' under conditions of increasing division of social labour. The structure of concepts in terms of which this problem is theorised generate the 'solution', a normative and ultimately legal framework uniting differentiated functions. They also exclude the idea of a transition to a new social type as a conceivable solution. Durkheim's theory can, in this way, be understood as the theoretical expression and defence of problem-solutions required in a political practice extrinsic to theoretical practice.⁴¹

This notion of the 'closure' of ideological problematics, of course, requires much more theoretical elaboration. In particular, the 'tight' logical linkage between the concepts of a theoretical ideology which is implicit in the notion of 'closure' must not be such as to exclude the possibility of internal development in the field of theoretical ideology. If this possibility were to be excluded, then the theory of the founding of a science out of mutations in theoretical ideologies would become unintelligible. Also, and crucially, it is implicit in this way of conceptualising the relationships between theoretical ideologies and extra-theoretical social practices that there is a conceptual continuity or homogeneity between the 'meaning-structure' of theoretical ideologies and the practical ideologies at work in the practices which determine their problematics. Another way of stating the distinctive character of theoretical ideologies is in terms of this conceptual homogeneity with practical ideologies. However, the further elaboration of this point clearly requires the production of new categories in philosophical logic, which work in turn will require raw materials drawn from concrete work in the history of ideas.

So far, also, science has been defined only negatively by contrast with theoretical ideologies. By implication, the 'openness' of the problematic of a science consists in its 'solutions' not being predetermined by the structure of its theoretical problems and in its problems not being set by extra-theoretical requirements and interests: the 'objectivity' of science consists precisely in these differences between it and theoretical ideologies. Again, an implication of this notion of science will be a discontinuity and heterogeneity between its conceptual structures and those of both existing theoretical and practical ideologies. This notion of science enables, further, some notion of the autonomy of science which is not vulnerable to the charge of 'idealism' as was Althusser's. Scientific theories are 'autonomous' in that, and to the extent that, their conceptual struc-

TOWARDS A MATERIALIST THEORY OF KNOWLEDGE

tures, and the development of those conceptual structures, are not determined by extra-theoretical exigencies. Science may be held to have such a conceptual autonomy (and without such autonomy 'internalist'42 accounts of the history of the sciences could not even have plausibility) without at all conceding that the social practice by which scientific knowledge is produced is autonomous, or is outside the social formation. Indeed, it may be argued that the production of scientific knowledge in the natural sciences has served. in the capitalist countries since the seventeenth century, very definite class interests. It has provided the theoretical basis for technological innovation in medicine, warfare and economic production, and has received political support for this reason. There is only a superficial air of paradox in the truth that this political support for scientific research has been based on a recognition that science could serve interests ('human' interests or 'class' interests) only if its conceptual autonomy and objectivity were conceded. The sixteenth- and seventeenth-century battle with the Catholic Church over intellectual freedom was not about freeing science from vested interests, but rather it was about which 'vested interests' should be served. The new social class whose economic power was to depend on the application of scientific knowledge clearly recognised that its interests could be served only by according conceptual autonomy to science, and institutionalising the conditions of this autonomy.

The late medieval cosmology, formed out of the combination of Catholic theology with Aristotelian physics and Ptolemaic astronomy, can be understood, on this basis, as a theoretical ideology. In its installation of hierarchy as the architectural principle of the universe, and its assignment of each element to a 'natural' place in this hierarchy, it legitimised the social hierarchies of the feudal order as 'natural' and as also divinely ordained. The structure of the universe also allowed the possibility of a physical location for the myths of Catholic theology. Heaven and hell had a literal physical location, so that the damnation or salvation consequent upon obedience or disobedience to divinely authoritative moral imperatives had a concrete meaning for social agents who lived their relationship to their physical and social world through the categories of this cosmology. In general outline, then, there is an intelligible homogeneity, or continuity between the categories of this theoretical cosmology, and the dominant practical ideologies at work in feudal social relationships. The theoretical revolution in astronomy and mechanics which spanned the 150 years or so from Copernicus to Newton's Principia had the effect of shattering the unity of the medieval cosmologies. The principle of hierarchy disappears from the world, the notion of an infinite universe abolishes the concept of the earth as the 'centre' of the universe, and opens the possibility of a plurality

of worlds. There is no longer a clear physical location for heaven and hell, and the myths of religion, if taken literally, come to acquire a parochial and marginal significance in a morally indifferent universe.⁴³

The new problematic of physics, then, establishes a clear conceptual break with the medieval cosmology and the practical ideologies with which it is homogeneous. Also, despite certain structural analogies between Newtonian physics and Enlightenment political philosophy (individualism/corpuscularianism; the laws of nature and the laws of the market), Newtonian physics never becomes integrated into a unified cosmology which will serve as a legitimisation of the bourgeois order as did the medieval cosmology with respect to the feudal order. The conceptual autonomy of physics with respect to social and political ideologies is retained. The politics is, so to speak, permanently taken out of physics.

Now this is a very provocative thing to say, and I shall be accused of restoring the 'theoreticism' of Althusser's theory of science: of constructing a theory of science which obscures its relationship to politics. My response to this is to argue that to take politics out of physics is not the same thing as to take physics out of politics. In other words, politics is taken out of physics in the sense that political requirements no longer determine the structure, content and development of physical theory, but physics is not taken out of politics in the sense that the theory so produced continues to have profound ideological and political effects, and is the stake in very bitter classstruggles. The reason why this is so is that in establishing a conceptual break with the prevailing ideological formations a scientific theory is necessarily subversive, and is a threat to the ideological dominance of the prevailing ruling class. The foundation of a new science is, in this respect, a process of great political importance. The response of the prevailing ruling classes may be a repressive one (as in the case of the Catholic Church's reponse to the new science of Copernicus and Galileo) or it may adopt a strategy of nullifying the subversive tendencies of the new science by re-articulating both the ruling ideological formation and the new science to re-establish some sort of ideological coherence. Where a revolutionary class also exists (the rising capitalist class in the example under discussion) there may well be a struggle between the contending classes for possession of the new science. An example here is the range of opposed political tendencies which contended for possession of Darwin's theory of the origin of species by natural selection. The theory was adduced to legitimate liberal capitalist competition, imperialism, the reformist socialism of A. R. Wallace, revolutionary socialism (by a 'struggle for survival' between social classes - Marx and Lenin), and many other diverse tendencies of thought.

TOWARDS A MATERIALIST THEORY OF KNOWLEDGE

In short, science may be objective, but it is never neutral in the struggles between classes. This point helps to focus on the fundamental political problems which have to be solved by any ruling class in the institutionalisation of science: the requirement that science be accorded conceptual autonomy in its development must be reconciled with its function in serving class interests: the subversive implications of fundamental theoretical innovation in the sciences must somehow be contained. It is in these aspects of the institutionalisation of scientific research that the concepts of relations of production, and relations of distributions of knowledge - which were, as we saw, absent from Althusser's conception of knowledge as production have their role. The peculiar structural features of the western European universities, with their relative autonomy from the other state apparatuses, their hierarchical internal structure and restrictive criteria of entry, and the special features of academic 'communication', in small-circulation specialist journals, intelligible to only a narrow elite who have passed through the prescribed technical initiation, are explicable in terms of these political priorities. Knowledge is produced under relations which minimise direct ideological control over its content on the part of the ruling classes and strata, but which equally minimise the access to the knowledge so produced on the part of the subordinate classes.

What I have said above about the distinction between science and ideology is extremely conjectural and schematic. I have done no more than sketch, in a rather crude way, the outlines of a research programme. But a question arises here which also arises for Althusser's theory of science. Namely, is the theory of science outlined here a philosophical theory of knowledge, or is it merely a theoretical approach to the history of science as a social practice for the production of knowledge? Certainly there is only a limited continuity between the problems of the nature of scientific knowledge as I have posed them and the classical philosophical theories of knowledge (rationalism and empiricism). Any further attempt to develop and make more rigorous the general approach I have sketched would have to involve historical investigations of a very concrete kind in the history of ideas. On the other hand, the distinction between 'open' and 'closed' problematics, and the relationships of continuity/discontinuity between theoretical systems and social practices could not be developed without further work in fields at least recognisably related to what now goes under the title of philosophical logic and conceptual analysis.

The question of validity

Even if an adequate conception of the difference between science

and ideology can be produced in the general terms of the theory I have outlined, this would still not necessarily answer the guestion which has been central to most philosophical theories of knowledge. The question of demarcation criteria between science and nonscience has only been relevant to orthodox epistemologies in so far as it has been understood as a way of posing the question of criteria for distinguishing genuine from spurious knowledge-claims. Clearly, for those theories of knowledge which identify scientific knowledge as the only genuine knowledge, the two questions are identical. The theoretical approach I have adopted, however, recognises the cognitive character of both theoretical ideologies and sciences. To demonstrate the extra-theoretical interests at work in a theoretical ideology is not necessarily to demonstrate its cognitive inadequacy. though there will be close connections between the two processes.⁴⁴ The general distinction which I have begun to make, then, between science and theoretical ideology is not to be understood as a step towards a universal criterion for the recognition of genuine knowledge, which would replace the sense-experience and logical principles of the rationalists and empiricists. Within theoretical ideology it is possible to distinguish different types and degrees of cognitive defect, whilst even after the founding of a science revolutions continue to occur which involve the rejection of earlier scientific categories in favour of new ones. Any general criteria of validity of knowledge must, then, allow for some distinction between more and less adequate knowledge within science, as well as between science and theoretical ideology.

I shall approach this question of criteria for 'genuineness' or 'adequacy' of knowledge in two stages. I shall consider first the problem of criteria of validity, proof and demonstration internal to any theoretical system and secondly the more difficult question of general criteria of validity which transcend particular theoretical systems, and so allow of the possibility of comparing theoretical systems with respect to their relative cognitive adequacy – the possibility, in other words, of a concept of scientific progress. My approach to both problems should indicate the importance of a realist alternative to positivist and empiricist theories of knowledge.⁴⁵

First, criteria of validity internal to a theoretical system. On the realist account of science, among the most fundamental concepts and propositions of a theory will be those which specify the range of entities, forces, structures, processes, etc. of which the theory purports to give knowledge. The most fundamental propositions of the theory will assert the existence and general characteristics of these entities, structures and so on. Also the theory will specify the general causal relationships between such items, with implications as to what types of event or process are possible or impossible. Implicit in the theory, then, will be conceptions of what is or is not to be considered a 'plausible mechanism', what may or may not count as an explanation, what standards of proof or demonstration are appropriate or inappropriate. Specific to each science, also, will be one or more conceptions of causality. Earlier in the book I have referred, all too summarily, to differences in conceptions of causality implicit in molecular physics, physiology, history and the theory of social action.

The specifically philosophical work of making explicit, for each science, the conceptions of explanation, causality, demonstration and proof appropriate to it, and implicit in its fundamental concepts and ontology, is important for the progress of science in a number of respects. First, it enables a more thorough and critical systematisation of what is already established in the science. Second, it provides rigorous guidelines for the production of new knowledge within the field defined by the basic concepts of the science. Although the establishment of the basic concepts and propositions of any science defines its scope, it does not at all follow that all areas within the scope of the science are equally thoroughly investigated and theorised. For instance, the scope of the research programme in molecular biology, established in the mid nineteenth century, is extremely broad and still includes within it areas - such as the molecular mechanisms involved in cell differentiation – which remain relatively underdeveloped. General criteria of what will count as an explanation in this field are provided by the overall structure of the theory and its basic concepts.

A third function of philosophical work in rendering explicit internal criteria of validity, concepts of causality and so on brings us closer to the key question of 'progress' in scientific knowledge through theoretical revolutions. Sometimes the rendering explicit of internal criteria of validity and concepts of causality exposes areas within the scope of the basic concepts of a science which are resistant to explanation in terms of the appropriate criteria of validity. This type of internal tension in a theory is both a cause of theoretical revolutions in science and a source of criteria of validity applicable outside the scope of a single theory. For example, the conception of mechanical explanation developed in the work of Galileo, and which formed the basis of Newtonian physics, involved a distinction between 'primary' and 'secondary' qualities of things. The primary qualities included shape, size, number and other quantifiable, measurable properties, whilst the secondary qualities included colours, tastes, scents and other supposedly more 'subjective' and relational properties. In general, a mechanical explanation was an explanation in terms of the primary qualities. Furthermore, this conception of explanation involved the restriction that changes in

states of motion were to be explained in terms of forces impressed through direct contact, 'collision' being the paradigm. Paradoxically, Newton's fundamental law of universal gravitation was indispensable to his unification of celestial and terrestrial physics under a small number of universal laws, and yet entirely incompatible with the mechanical conception of explanation. Not only was gravitational attraction clearly not a primary quality, but the use of the concept of gravitational attraction to explain states of motion, and changes in states of motion seemed to involve the recognition of 'action at a distance' - a conceptual impossibility in the terms of the mechanical conception of explanation. Newton persisted, quite unsuccessfully, in attempting to postulate an underlying mechanism to explain gravitational attraction, and so render his theory consistent with the criteria of validity of explanation recognised in the physics of his period. Later physicists and philosophers, rather than abandon the hypothesis of universal gravitation, ceased to recognise the authority of the mechanical conception of explanation. For some, this led to a type of philosophical scepticism about scientific ontologies and mechanisms as such, and is one source of modern positivism: science is concerned with discovering laws governing phenomena (such as the law of gravitation) and has no business hypothesising about the basic constituents and structures of the world. Ultimately, however, the revolution in physics at the end of the nineteenth century involved a rejection of the ontology of the primary/secondary qualities distinction and of 'corpuscularianism' in favour of an ontology of forces and fields of force. In terms of this new ontology, and the conceptions of explanation and causality implicit in it, the adequacy of the Newtonian conception of gravitation is no longer suspect. Instead, the conception of mechanical explanation with which it was inconsistent has been 'demoted' as the paradigm for ultimate explanations in physics.46

In short, an incompatibility between forms of explanation established within the scope of a theory and the general criteria of validity established by that theory, on the basis of its fundamental concepts and ontology, may play a part in generating a theoretical revolution in the science. A consequence of that revolution may be to vindicate the 'suspect' forms of explanation against the general criteria of validity established within the overthrown theory. I am not committed to this scenario as a general theory of scientific revolution, but it does, I think, provide some sort of basis for reviewing some of the argumentative procedures I have employed in this book. At several points, and especially in my discussion of Max Weber's methodology, my arguments appealed to the reader's intuitive agreement that certain types of phenomena (for example, the coexistence of incompatible ideologies in a single social formation)

TOWARDS A MATERIALIST THEORY OF KNOWLEDGE

call for explanation.⁴⁷ The argument then proceeded as a demonstration that the Weberian conception of sociological explanation either ruled out the possibility of such phenomena or rendered them insusceptible of sociological explanation. The obvious weakness in this type of argument is that it relies on the 'intuitive' agreement of the reader that such phenomena do, after all, exist and require explanation. The temptation, in the face of this problem, is to resort to the empiricist assertion of such phenomena as 'plain facts'. However, there is an alternative way of representing the force of these arguments. They seek to identify, in the corpus of Weber's substantive writings, a recognition and explanation of phenomena which are, in the terms of his general methodology, unrecognisable and inexplicable (for example, structural explanation of class consciousness, inexplicable on the methodological individualist paradigm of explanation). The argument of chapters 8 and 9 can be understood, in part, as the basis for an alternative, internally consistent, conception of explanation in defence of the 'suspect' parts of Weber's substantive work against his general methodology, and the fundamental concepts and ontology (actors, meanings, complexes of meaning) upon which it is based.

This begins, it seems to me, to approach the central question in epistemology: the problem of the validity of criteria of validity beyond the confines of a single theoretical system. If the certainties of sense-experience and logic as adequate universal criteria of validity for all knowledge-claims are abandoned, how can the descent into agnosticism and relativism be avoided? How can the claims of any theoretical system, with its internal criteria of validity, to provide genuine knowledge be critically assessed? The internal criteria of validity of any theoretical system have, as we have seen, a basis in the fundamental concepts and ontology of the theory, so long as theories are understood in a realist, non-positivist way. But what could form the basis of criteria of validity which have the function of critically assessing competing theories, and which must therefore be independent of either?

The problem is already reduced in scale once it is posed in this way. The classical epistemological question of universal criteria of knowledge is replaced by a search for criteria which do not 'beg the question' as between two, or possibly more, directly competing theories. The criteria of validity which I brought to bear on Weber (the indispensability of structural explanation, the necessity of a distinction between meaning systems and non-meaningful aspects of social reality, and others) are very clearly rooted in an alternative ontology and theoretical system – that of historical materialism. It may therefore be argued that they do beg the question against him and are not in the required way theory-neutral. This is of course true, but it is also true, as I have just argued, that there are aspects and parts of Weber's substantive theorising to which these criteria are appropriate and which they validate to some extent. Further, in exposing contradictions between the Weberian methodology and aspects of Weber's substantive theory, this form of argument involves an appeal to a still more generally applicable criterion of validity: the principle of non-contradiction.

A possible difficulty here is that the concept of contradiction, and concepts of logical proof in general are to some degree controversial, and have a history. That is to say, even logic does not provide absolute and universal criteria of validity. Considerations like this have seemed, to Kuhn and others who think like him, to justify the conclusion that there are no 'paradigm-neutral' standards to mediate in cases of fundamental conflict between theoretical systems. However, if the confrontation between theoretical systems is not a confrontation in logical theory, nor one which calls into question the prevailing logic, then there is no reason why logical principles should not be allowed to adjudicate between the theories. In general, theoretical revolutions in science do not call into question the whole of established scientific knowledge, including logic and mathematics. They are relatively localised affairs. This point is, in slightly more general terms, the thesis of the uneven development of scientific knowledge which, I argued above,⁴⁸ is a condition of science's being thought of as a form of theoretical production.

This thesis of uneven development in the history of the sciences opens up a general approach to the problem of the source of validity of 'paradigm-neutral' criteria of validity. The materialist thesis of the existence of a real world, prior to and independent of knowledge of it, together with the realist conception of science as knowledge of the nature, structure and constituent causal mechanisms of that reality, imply a conception of the unity of scientific knowledge such that the ontologies and basic concepts of each science and branch of science will, to the extent that they express genuine knowledge, be mutually consistent. Let us return, for instance, to the example of the transition from the 'phlogiston' to the 'oxygen' theory of combustion. One of the decisive arguments against the phlogiston theory was that substances were discovered to gain in weight as a result of combustion. Since the phlogiston theory explained combustion as expulsion of a substance, 'phlogiston', from the burning body, it had to be conceded either that phlogiston was a material substance with negative weight, or that the general law of conservation of matter was simply not applicable to combustion. Since weight was already generally established as a measure of 'quantity of matter', and the law of conservation of matter was widely accepted and presupposed in explanations of other physical and chemical

processes, to continue to accept phlogiston theory would have been to accept a theory whose explanatory principles were in contradiction to some of the most fundamental propositions of the other sciences. The alternative, chemical theory did not involve any such basic incompatibilities.

In the above example, then, the wider scientific context within which a relatively limited paradigm-confrontation took place was capable of founding general criteria of validity to arbitrate between the competing paradigms. These criteria were not circular, in that they did not presuppose the truth of either theory in confrontation. Nor were these criteria produced by *a priori* philosophical speculation: they had their basis in a scientific knowledge broader in scope than either of the theoretical systems, or 'paradigms', between which they adjudicated. The general approach to the problem of paradigm-neutral criteria of validity, and hence to the problem of progress in science, which I am here suggesting, is contingent upon the assumption of the materialist and realist theses which I have just outlined, together with the theses of the unity and uneven development of science.

The materialist and realist theses are required to justify the mutual consistency of the basic concepts of the different sciences as itself a source of criteria of validity.⁴⁹ This normative conception of the unity of the sciences, in turn, can only exercise a critical function in the development of scientific knowledge if that development is itself uneven – that is, if the actual, historically produced, unity of the sciences at any point in time is complex and contradictory.

Of course, it is no part of my claim that the materialist and realist theses to which I refer can be, in any final way, proved. My claim is, rather, that their assumption offers an alternative to both relativism and the classical 'philosophy of guarantees' which gives some rational foundation for a conception of progress through scientific revolutions. If the core of my argument can be summed up, it is that the source of the objectivity of scientific knowledge is in the referential character of the theoretical concepts of a science: it is in the procedures for identifying, recognising and producing the entities, processes and structures to which the basic concepts of a theory refer that its objectivity is demonstrated. Even if two competing theories have no concepts in common, even if every phenomenon is conceptualised by them in mutually incompatible ways, so that all discourse between the theories is at cross-purposes (the extreme case, which Kuhn refers to with the concept 'incommensurability' of paradigms), still the possibility of a continuity between the two theories remains in the demonstrative element in the function of reference to particulars. P. F. Strawson's argument to the effect that all identifying reference to particulars involves an indispensably demonstrative element, that description in general terms is never sufficient to secure uniqueness of reference, allows for a solution to the problem of progress in science even in the extreme case of 'incommensurability' of paradigms.⁵⁰

To return, in one final remark, to the question of objectivity and progress in the social sciences, the implication of my argument is that only through some notion of the unity of the sciences such as the one I have advocated (which is one fundamentally different from that of the positivists) which includes the social sciences, can there be any rational foundation for the notions of progress and objectivity in the social sciences. This in turn justifies the practice of looking to the natural sciences for analogues of the conceptions of causality and of explanation which are required in the social sciences, and also of demanding of social-science theories that they are consistent with the basic laws and propositions of the physical sciences.

In short, my argument can be understood as supporting the Marxian project of a 'natural science of history'.

Notes

1 Introduction

- 1 This chapter, pp. 7–9. The conception in question is that of Thomas Kuhn a conception which could itself be described as revolutionary in its impact on a whole cluster of related disciplines which take the sciences as their object of study.
- 2 John Locke, An Essay Concerning Human Understanding, ed. A. D. Woozley (London, Collins, 1964), p. 58.
- 3 Ibid., p. 59.
- 4 This view is not, of course, confined to proponents of the underlabourer conception. One of the strongest antagonists of that conception, Peter Winch, also tends to speak as if scientists never faced conceptual issues. See, for instance, his *The Idea of a Social Science* (London, Routledge & Kegan Paul, 1958, 4th imp., 1965), p. 9. I shall refer to this book henceforth as *I.S.S.*
- 5 See, for example, Alan Ryan, *The Philosophy of the Social Sciences* (London, Macmillan, 1970), especially chapter 1; and C. G. Hempel, *Philosophy of Natural Science* (Englewood Cliffs, Prentice-Hall, 1966), pp. 1ff.
- 6 See, for example, Ryan, op. cit., pp. 4–5 and 24, and P. F. Strawson, *Introduction to Logical Theory* (London, Methuen, University Paperback edn, reprinted 1964), pp. 15ff.
- 7 See, for example, Ryan, op. cit., pp. 11-12. See also, a non-underlabourer, T. S. Kuhn, *The Structure of Scientific Revolutions* (University of Chicago Press, 1st edn, 1962), p. 87.
- 8 See Claude Bernard, An Introduction to the Study of Experimental Medicine (New York, Dover, 1957) esp. part 2, chapter 1.
- 9 For example, Peter Winch, I.S.S., p. 4.
- 10 For two classic examples of this type of philosophising see Descartes, Metaphysical Meditations (various editions) and Leibniz, Discourse on Metaphysics, trans. Lucas and Grint (Manchester University Press, 1953).
- 11 See P. F. Strawson, *Individuals* (London, Methuen, University Paperbacks edn, 1959), especially the introduction.

- 12 See, for an introductory statement of Kant's arguments in this respect, the section on 'The Dialectic of Pure Reason' in Immanuel Kant, *Prolegomena to any Future Metaphysics* (Manchester University Press, 3rd imp., 1962), pp. 96–116.
- 13 K. Marx and F. Engels, *The German Ideology*, *Part I*, ed. C. J. Arthur (London, Lawrence & Wishart, 1970), p. 48.
- 14 K. Marx, preface to the *Contribution to the Critique of Political Economy* (1859) in most collections of the work of Marx and Engels.
- 15 P. Winch, I.S.S., p. 3.
- 16 Ibid., p. 23.
- 17 See especially L. Wittgenstein, *Philosophical Investigations* (Oxford, Blackwell, 1963).
- 18 I.S.S., p. 41.
- 19 I.S.S., p. 43.
- 20 See especially chapter 5 of this book.
- 21 Marx and Engels, op. cit., p. 37.
- 22 In particular, in chapter 7.

2 Auguste Comte and positivist sociology

- 1 Descartes, *Discourse on Method*, trans. Wollaston (Harmondsworth, Penguin, 1964), p. 47.
- 2 Ibid., p. 36.
- 3 Ibid., p. 47.
- 4 W. V. Quine, 'Two Dogmas of Empiricism' in From A Logical Point of View (New York, Harper & Row, 1961), pp. 20-46.
- 5 In the writing of this section I have depended very heavily on Christopher Hill's Intellectual Origins of the English Revolution (London, Panther, 1972). L. Kolakowski's Positivist Philosophy (Harmondsworth, Penguin, 1972), is also a useful introductory work. George Novack's Empiricism and its Evolution, a Marxist View (New York, Pathfinder, 1971) is of some interest, but is far less reliable than the above works. The standard histories of philosophy by Russell and Copleston are also worth consulting, particularly the latter.
- 6 Hill, op. cit., p. 29.
- 7 A useful introduction to this debate can be gained from the earlier contributions in *Science and Religious Belief*, ed. C. A. Russell (Open University, 1973). See also Christopher Hill, *Puritanism and Revolution* (London, Panther, 1968).
- 8 See R. H. Popkin (ed.), *The Philosophy of the 16th and 17th Centuries* (London, Collier-Macmillan, 1968), p. 85.
- 9 The body of literature on the Enlightenment is enormous. Of the introductory material available, the collection *The Enlightenment*, edited by J. F. Lively (London, Longmans, 1966), provides a helpful diversity of brief extracts from primary sources, which can be followed up according to the student's interest. Ernst Cassirer's *The Philosophy* of the Enlightenment (Princeton University Press, 1951) is a classic secondary work, whilst Lucien Goldmann (*The Philosophy of the Enlightenment*, London, Routledge & Kegan Paul, 1973) and Eric
Hobsbawm (*The Age of Revolution, 1789–1848*, London and New York, Mentor, 1962) provides useful analyses of Enlightenment and post-Enlightenment thought in its social and historical importance. E. Barker's *Social Contract* (London, Oxford University Press, 1971) brings together three important texts of Enlightenment political philosophy.

- 10 See Maurice Dobb, Studies in the Development of Capitalism (London, Routledge & Kegan Paul, 1963), especially chapter 4.
- P. L. Gardiner (ed.), 19th Century Philosophy (New York, Free Press, 1969), p. 141. See also S. Andreski, The Essential Comte, trans. Margaret Clarke (London, Croom Helm, 1974), pp. 37-8.
- 12 'Invariable natural laws that will limit in each epoch, without the possibility of serious doubt, the extent and character of political action.' Andreski, op. cit., pp. 144-5.
- 13 Ibid., p. 20.
- 14 Ibid., p. 20.
- 15 Ibid., p. 24.
- 16 That knowledge has its source in experience is implicit in the first quotation given above. The doctrine of testability by experience is to be found in various places in the *Cours*. For example: 'Intellectual activity is sufficiently stimulated by the hope of discovering the laws of phenomena, the desire of confirming or refuting a theory' Andreski, op. cit., p. 23. See also p. 139.
- 17 Ibid., p. 74.
- 18 Ibid., p. 100.
- 19 Ibid., p. 39.
- 20 Ibid., p. 56.
- 21 K. R. Popper, *The Poverty of Historicism* (London, Routledge & Kegan Paul, 1961), pp. 64ff.
- 22 Ibid., pp. 115ff.
- 23 Ibid., pp. 42–3.
- 24 See earlier in this chapter, p. 35.
- 25 Popper, op. cit., p. 128.
- 26 See, especially, chapter 4 of this book. For an authoritative, nonpositivist treatment of the role of experimentation in the production of scientific knowledge, see the treatment of Gaston Bachelard's concept of 'phenomeno-technics' in D. Lecourt, *Marxism and Epistemology*, trans. Ben Brewster (London, New Left Books, 1975), pp. 76ff. and 137ff.
- 27 Popper, op. cit., p. 59.
- 28 Ibid., p. 62.
- 29 Ibid., p. 108.
- 30 Ibid., pp. 76ff.
- 31 See ibid., pp. 6-7 and 97-104.
- 32 K. Marx, *Capital*, vol. I (New York, International Publishers, 1967), pp. 644-5.
- 33 Andreski, op. cit., p. 167.
- 34 Herbert Marcuse, Reason and Revolution (London, Routledge & Kegan Paul, 1955), p. 342.

- 35 Ibid., p. 341.
- 36 The same point is made more fully in relation to the social theory of Durkheim, in chapter 5 of this book. A fuller exposition of the concept of ideology upon which this type of analysis is based is given in chapter 9.

3 The natural sciences I

- 1 See, for an important exception, the major contribution to contemporary debates in philosophy of the social sciences, R. Keat and J. Urry, *Social Theory as Science* (London, Routledge & Kegan Paul, 1975).
- 2 Winch, I.S.S., chapter 3.
- 3 Especially in chapters 6 and 7.
- 4 They included Carnap, Neurath, Hahn, Waismann, Schlick and Reichenbach. A good account of the concerns and early development of the logical empiricist movement is given by Herbert Feigl in *The Legacy of Logical Positivism*, ed. Achinstein and Barker (Baltimore, Johns Hopkins University Press, 1969).
- 5 For a fuller account of logical atomism and of the differences between Russell's and Wittgenstein's versions of it see especially D. F. Pears, *Bertrand Russell and the British Tradition in Philosophy* (London, Fontana, 1967).
- 6 See P. F. Strawson, *Individuals* (London, Methuen, 1959), esp. chapter 4.
- 7 See, for instance, Wittgenstein's *Tractatus Logico-Philosophicus*, trans. Pears and McGuinness (London, Routledge & Kegan Paul, 1963), propositions 2.01231 and 2.0231.
- 8 For a fuller discussion of operationalism see R. Harré, *The Philosophies* of Science (London, Oxford University Press, 1972), especially pp. 76–8 and 161–3, and J. Losee, *A Historical Introduction to the Philosophy* of Science (London, Oxford University Press, 1972), especially pp. 181ff.
- 9 L. Wittgenstein, *Philosophical Investigations* (Oxford, Blackwell, 1963), esp. || 243-312 (pp. 88-103). See also the entertaining *Sense and Sensibilia* by J. L. Austin (London, Oxford University Press, 1962).
- 10 See, for instance, P. F. Strawson, op. cit., part 1.
- 11 See above, p. 501.
- 12 See above, p. 501.
- 13 For a discussion of this concept of explanation by one of its leading supporters, see C. G. Hempel, *The Philosophy of Natural Science* (Englewood Cliffs, Prentice-Hall, 1966), chapter 5. See also Losee op. cit., pp. 158-62.
- 14 M. Lessnoff (*The Structure of Social Science*, London, Allen & Unwin, 1974, pp. 19ff.) and Hempel (op. cit.) have useful introductory discussions of inductive generalisations.
- 15 Most of the apparatus of 'significance-testing' in orthodox social science research is aimed at providing a methodical way of estimating the strength of inductive support to generalisations provided by such results.

- 16 Lessnoff (op. cit., p. 71) seems to think that such laws must always be universal, but there seems to be no reason to suppose this.
- 17 See J. L. Mackie, 'Causes and Conditions', American Philosophical Quarterly, 2, 1965, pp. 245-64.
- 18 Lessnoff (op. cit., p. 65) uses this in an attempt to sidestep the supposed problem of individual free will in sociology.
- 19 See Hempel, op. cit., p. 67.
- 20 The by-now classic positivist treatment of functional explanation is C. G. Hempel's 'The Logic of Functional Analysis' in Aspects of Scientific Explanation (New York, Free Press, 1965). Accounts of functional explanation with more specific emphasis on their use in the social sciences are to be found in most of the standard textbooks. See, for example, Alan Ryan, The Philosophy of the Social Sciences (London, Macmillan, 1970), chapter 8; Lessnoff, op. cit., chapter 5; R. S. Rudner, Philosophy of Social Science (Englewood Cliffs, Prentice-Hall, 1966), chapter 5; and G. H. Von Wright, Explanation and Understanding (London, Routledge & Kegan Paul, 1971), chapter 3. See also R. P. Dore, 'Function and Cause', in The Philosophy of Social Explanation, ed. Alan Ryan (London, Oxford University Press, 1973).
- 21 See Hempel, Aspects of Scientific Explanation, pp. 314ff.
- 22 But see Mary B. Williams, 'Falsifiable Predictions of Evolutionary Theory', *Philosophy of Science*, 40, 1973, pp. 518-37.
- 23 R. Harré, op. cit., especially pp. 45–7. My whole discussion of the problems involved in the deductive-nomological model of explanation (and, indeed, my general approach to the philosophy of science) is greatly indebted to Harré's work.
- 24 See Harré, op. cit., pp. 116ff.

4 The natural sciences II

- 1 For a fuller, but still introductory exposition of the H-D account of scientific theories, see C. G. Hempel, *Philosophy of Natural Science* (Englewood Cliffs, Prentice-Hall), pp. 70ff.
- 2 See R. Harré, *The Philosophies of Science* (London, Oxford University Press, 1972), chapter 3, and R. Keat and J. Urry, *Social Theory as Science* (London, Routledge & Kegan Paul, 1975), esp. pp. 17–22, for introductory discussion on the status of theoretical entities. See also Hempel, op. cit., pp. 77ff.
- 3 On conventionalism, see J. Losee, A Historical Introduction to the *Philosophy of Science* (London, Oxford University Press, 1972), chapter 11 and Keat and Urry, op. cit., chapter 3.
- 4 Hempel, op. cit., pp. 81-2.
- 5 This work, chapter 3, pp. 61ff.
- 6 This work, chapter 3, pp. 61ff. See also Harré, op. cit., pp. 116ff.
- 7 See The Science of Matter, ed. M. P. Crosland (History of Science Readings, Harmondsworth, Penguin, 1971), p. 234.
- 8 The work of R. Carnap is the most well-known attempt to construct an 'inductive logic' on this basis.

- 9 Some of the work of Karl Popper adopts this approach, but beware of simplistic interpretations of Popper. I. Lakatos, 'Falsification and the Methodology of Scientific Research Programmes' (in I. Lakatos and A. Musgrave (eds), *Criticism and the Growth of Knowledge*, Cambridge University Press, 1970) gives a helpful classification of falsificationist and 'fallibilist' positions.
- 10 M. Lessnoff (*The Structure of Social Science*, London, Allen & Unwin, 1974), pp. 20–1 presents an argument which is supposed to support Popperian falsificationism on this point, but since the conclusion is that statistical laws are capable only of 'discorroboration' and not 'falsification' it is hard to recognise as such.
- 11 On the empiricist distinction between observation statements and theoretical statements see especially N. R. Hanson, *Patterns of Discovery* (Cambridge University Press, paperback edn, 1965), chapters 1, 2 and 4. See also T. S. Kuhn, *The Structure of Scientific Revolutions* (University of Chicago Press, 1962), chapter 6; and B. Hindess, *The Use of Official Statistics in Sociology* (London, Macmillan 1973), appendix. Hanson's discussion and the duck-rabbit figure are based on Wittgenstein, *Philosophical Investigations* (Oxford, Blackwell, 1963), II, xi, pp. 193ff.
- 12 See J. R. Partington, A Short History of Chemistry (London, Macmillan, 1965), pp. 200-11.
- 13 See, for example, Hempel, op. cit., pp. 73-4.
- 14 See, for examples, Kuhn, op. cit., chapter 13 and N. R. Hanson, Observation and Explanation (London, Allen & Unwin, 1971), p. 8.
- 15 See chapter 3 of this work, pp. 62ff.
- 16 See Hanson, Patterns of Discovery, chapter 4.
- 17 The work of Hanson, Kuhn, Lakatos (particularly his more recent work), Easlea and others is of this type. P. K. Feyerabend has oscillated between various forms of methodological relativism and the search for a broader and more 'humanitarian' conception of scientific rationality. Compare, for instance, pp. 217 and 228 in the same paper, 'Consolations for the Specialist', in Lakatos and Musgrave, op. cit.
- 18 Hanson, Patterns of Discovery, pp. 71-2 (final emphasis added).
- 19 See T. S. Kuhn, 'Logic of Discovery or Psychology of Research?' in Lakatos and Musgrave, op. cit.
- 20 'The new paradigm, or a sufficient hint to permit later articulation, emerges all at once, sometimes in the middle of the night, in the mind of a man deeply involved in crisis. What the nature of that final stage is ... must here remain inscrutable and may be permanently so.' (Kuhn, *Structure of Scientific Revolutions*, 2nd edn, pp. 89-90.)
- 21 See this book, chapter 9.
- 22 Louis Althusser, 'From *Capital* to Marx's Philosophy', in L. Althusser and E. Balibar, *Reading Capital*, trans. Ben Brewster (London, New Left Books, 1970), pp. 41-2.

5 Positivism and ideology in the work of Emile Durkheim

1 See this book, chapter 2, p. 45.

- 2 In particular, my own account of Durkheim's methodology is very indebted to both the rather different accounts offered by P. Q. Hirst (*Durkheim, Bernard and Epistemology*, London, Routledge & Kegan Paul, 1975, and 'Morphology and Pathology', *Economy and Society*, vol. 2, no. 1, February, 1973) and Steven Lukes (*Émile Durkheim, his Life and Work*, Harmondsworth, Penguin, 1975).
- 3 Of the events of 1870 Durkheim said: 'The shock of those events was the stimulus which re-animated men's minds. The country found itself confronting the same question as at the beginning of the century. The system of organisation that constituted the imperial system ... had just collapsed; it was a matter of rebuilding ... a system with a real basis in the nature of things. For this purpose it was necessary to know what that nature of things was. In consequence, the urgency of establishing a science of societies did not delay in making itself felt.' (Quoted in Lukes, op. cit., p. 396.)
- 4 See Lukes, op. cit., pp. 66ff., and H. S. Hughes, *Consciousness and Society* (London, Macgibbon & Kee, 1967), especially chapter 2.
- 5 See P. Q. Hirst, 'Morphology and Pathology', pp. 3-6; and Lukes, op. cit., p. 73.
- 6 Comte, Espinas, Spencer, Tönnies, in particular.
- 7 See Lukes, op. cit., pp. 296-319.
- 8 See Durkheim, *The Rules of Sociological Method*, trans. from 8th edn by Solovay and Mueller, ed. G. E. G. Catlin (New York, Free Press paperback, 1964), p. lx.
- 9 Ibid., p. 145.
- 10 See 'Individual and Collective Representations', in E. Durkheim, Sociology and Philosophy, trans. D. F. Pocock (New York, Free Press, 1974), pp. 1–2.
- 11 This may justify the description of Durkheim as an 'objective' idealist in his ontological commitment - i.e. external (social) reality is conceded to exist, but argued to be essentially ideal, or spiritual in character. However, note that Durkheim sometimes, while asserting the homogeneity of social facts as a general type of fact (e.g. Rules, p. 13: 'No doubt, it may be of some advantage to reserve the term "morphological" for those social facts which concern the social substratum, but only on condition of not overlooking the fact they are of the same nature as the others'), nevertheless does distinguish within the field of social facts different 'degrees of crystallisation'. In the 1898 article, 'Individual and Collective Representations' (op. cit.), Durkheim actually implies that the 'collective substratum', social 'structure' or 'morphology' (here he seems to use the terms as equivalents, and gives as examples the merging of primitive clans, the organisation of the patriarchal family, etc.) is the foundation of the 'collective representations', which are nevertheless 'relatively autonomous'. This is to say, certain collective social facts are, whilst others are not, representational in character. Thus, in this text, at least, Durkheim's idealism is not in evidence (see especially Sociology and Philosophy, pp. 30-1).
- 12 See the Rules, p. xli.
- 13 Durkheim, Sociology and Philosophy, p. 19.

- 14 Durkheim, The Division of Labour in Society (New York, Free Press paperback, 1964), pp. 66-7.
- 15 For example, Division of Labour, pp. 68-9.
- 16 An example is Leibniz's metaphysics, in which 'monads', the ultimate constituents of the world, and analogues of human minds, carry in them 'marks' which 'represent' or 'express' the whole universe from the point of view of each monad.
- 17 For example, the distinction between primary and secondary qualities in seventeenth-century mechanics is sometimes expressed in this way, and there is, as I shall argue later, a comparable usage of the essence/ appearance distinction in Marx's *Capital* (see chapters 8 and 9 of this book).
- 18 This book, chapter 2, pp. 28ff and 45.
- 19 Rules, p. xliii.
- 20 Rules, p. 30 ('external' is used in this passage in the sense of the first distinction, 'internal' in the sense of the second).
- 21 Rules, p. 7 (this seems to tell against Lukes's interpretation cf. Lukes, op. cit., p. 11).
- 22 Rules, p. 8.
- 23 Rules, p. xliii.
- 24 Rules, p. xlv.
- 25 Rules, p. 6.
- 26 Lucien Goldmann, The Human Sciences and Philosophy (London, Jonathan Cape, 1969), pp. 36–42. For a critique from a broadly similar perspective, see I. M. Zeitlin, Ideology and the Development of Sociological Theory (Englewood Cliffs, Prentice-Hall, 1968), esp. pp. 234–80.
- 27 See, for example, P. L. Berger and T. Luckmann, *The Social Construction of Reality*, Harmondsworth, Penguin, 1967.
- 28 See, for the classic statement of this, Karl Marx, 'Economic and Philosophic Manuscripts of 1844', in Marx and Engels, *Collected Works* (London, Lawrence & Wishart, 1975, vol. 3, esp. pp. 270–82). See also chapter 8 of this book for a fuller treatment.
- 29 There may, of course, be more than one 'linguistic community' in this sense in any one society.
- 30 Rules, p. 14.
- 31 Rules, p. 15.
- 32 Rules, p. 15.
- 33 As we shall see, this is exactly the opposite of what Marx says in his important 1857 introduction to the *Grundrisse* (see chapter 8 of this book, pp. 167-8).
- 34 Chapters 8 and 9 of this book.
- 35 Compare this with: 'Scientific objectivity is possible only if one has broken with the immediate object, if one has refused to yield to the seduction of the initial choice, if one has checked and contradicted the thoughts which arise from one's first observation. Any objective examination, when duly verified, refutes the results of the first contact with the object. To start with, everything must be called into question: sensation, common sense, usage however constant, even etymology, for words, which are made for singing and enchanting, rarely make contact

with thought' (Gaston Bachelard, *Psychoanalysis of Fire* (Boston, Beacon Press, 1954, p. 1).

- 36 Rules, pp. 43-4.
- 37 Rules, p. xlv.
- 38 A point conceded implicitly by Durkheim with his mention of Copernicus's dissipation of the 'illusion of the senses' – see above, p. 95.
- 39 For example, *Rules*, p. 16. 'This encroachment of art on science, which prevents the development of the latter, is facilitated, moreover, by the very circumstances which determine the awakening of scientific reflection. For, since it comes into being only for the purpose of satisfying vital necessities, it finds itself quite naturally oriented toward the attainment of practical results. The needs which it is called to relieve are always urgent, and consequently hasten it on to a conclusion; they demand remedies, not explanations.'
- 40 Rules, p. 61.
- 41 Rules, p. 58
- 42 Rules, p. 60.
- 43 See 'Individual and Collective Representations' in Sociology and Philosophy, p. 1.
- 44 P. Q. Hirst, by a quite different argument, reaches a similar conclusion. See Durkheim, Bernard and Epistemology, pp. 115-35.

6 Kant and the Neo-Kantians

- 1 See this work, chapter 5, pp. 86-9.
- 2 See this work, chapter 1, p. 12.
- 3 I. Kant, Critique of Pure Reason, trans. N. Kemp Smith (London, Macmillan, 1964). There are several available introductory works on Kant's philosophy. Kant's own Prolegomena to any Future Metaphysics, trans. P. G. Lucas (Manchester University Press, 1953) is extremely useful. See also S. Körner, Kant (Harmondsworth, Penguin, 1955). More difficult and/or controversial texts on Kant include P. F. Strawson, The Bounds of Sense (London, Methuen, 1966); J. Bennett, Kant's Analytic and Kant's Dialectic (Cambridge University Press, 1966 and 1974, respectively); and Lucien Goldmann, Immanuel Kant (London, New Left Books, 1971).
- 4 Kant, Critique of Pure Reason, p. 218.
- 5 See H. Stuart Hughes, *Consciousness and Society* (London, Macgibbon & Kee, 1967), chapter 2.
- 6 Introductory works on the Neo-Kantian movement are somewhat sparse. W. Outhwaite, Understanding Social Life (London, Allen & Unwin, 1975) is of some use, as is Goldmann, op. cit. The following more general works contain useful discussions of the movement: G. H. Von Wright, Explanation and Understanding (London, Routledge & Kegan Paul, 1971, esp. chapter 1); T. Parsons, The Structure of Social Action (New York, Free Press, 1968), (esp. vol. 11, chapter XII); and H. Stuart Hughes, op. cit. (esp. chapters 2 and 6). Lukács's 'Reification and the Consciousness of the Proletariat' in History and Class Consciousness (London, Merlin Press, 1971) contains a critical

examination of 'classical' German philosophy from Kant by an author deeply involved in that development. Though most definitely not an 'introductory' text, it repays the effort required to read it. Also difficult, but worthwhile, is the short paper by Ben Brewster, 'Révai and Lukács', in the now defunct journal *Theoretical Practice*, no. 1, January 1971, pp. 14–21.

- 7 As we shall see in chapter 7, arguments closely related to this have been reintroduced into mid-twentieth-century British philosophy, especially in the later work of Ludwig Wittgenstein and Peter Winch. See also Marx and Engels, *The German Ideology*, *Part 1*, ed. C. J. Arthur (London, Lawrence & Wishart, 1970), p. 51.
- 8 W. Dilthey, *Gesammelte Schriften*, vol. vII, pp. 146ff., quoted in W. Outhwaite, op. cit., pp. 26–7. A selection of Dilthey's work is contained in H. P. Rickman, ed., *Meaning in History*, London, Allen & Unwin, 1961.
- 9 H. Rickert, Science and History, a Critique of Positivist Epistemology, trans. George Reisman, ed. A. Goddard (New York, Van Nostrand, 1962), p. 13.
- 10 Ibid., p. xvii.
- 11 Ibid., p. 32.
- 12 Ibid., p. 5.
- 13 Ibid., p. xv.
- 14 Ibid., pp. 28-9.
- 15 Ibid., p. 20.
- 16 See, for example, Ludwig Wittgenstein, *Philosophical Investigations* (Oxford, Blackwell, 1963), pp. 19ff.
- 17 For an interestingly similar position, see K. Marx, introduction to the *Grundrisse*, part 3 (in various selections of works by Marx and Engels). See also my treatment of this in chapter 8 of this book (pp. 167ff).
- 18 See P. F. Strawson, Individuals (London, Methuen, 1959), part 1.
- 19 Rickert, op. cit., p. 97.

7 The methodology of Max Weber, and Peter Winch's 'Corrections'

- 1 See, for instance, Lucien Goldmann, *Immanuel Kant* (London, New Left Books, 1971), esp. pp. 108–17. It does, however, seem to me that Goldmann's judgment is excessively harsh in this respect.
- 2 Max Weber, *The Theory of Social and Economic Organisations*, trans. T. Parsons and A. M. Henderson (New York, Free Press, 1964), p. 88.
- 3 Ibid., p. 101.
- 4 See, for a clarification of the very confused debate over the various types of individualism (methodological, ontological, logical, etc.), A. C. Danto, *Analytical Philosophy of History* (Cambridge University Press, 1968), pp. 257-84 (beware the slightly misleading terminology).
- 5 H. H. Gerth and C. Wright Mills, eds, From Max Weber (London, Routledge & Kegan Paul, 1970), p. 181.
- 6 Ibid., p. 184.
- 7 See this book, chapter 4, pp. 67ff.
- 8 Gerth and Mills, op. cit., p. 102.
- 9 See Steven Lukes, 'Methodological Individualism Reconsidered',

British Journal of Sociology, XIX (1968), pp. 119-29; reprinted in D. Emmet and A. MacIntyre (eds), Sociological Theory and Philosophical Analysis (London, Macmillan, 1970), and in A. Ryan (ed.), The Philosophy of Social Explanation (London, Oxford University Press, 1973).

- 10 See, for example, Weber's treatment of the vulgarisation of the Calvinist doctrine of predestination in *The Protestant Ethic and the Spirit of Capitalism* (trans. T. Parsons, London, Allen & Unwin University Books, 10th impression 1970), esp. p. 110; 'Quite naturally this attitude was impossible for his followers as early as Beza, and, above all, for the broad mass of ordinary men.' Calvinist doctrine runs up against what can only be understood as some sort of universal human need. This, in turn, brings about a change of doctrine.
- 11 Gerth and Mills, op. cit., pp. 182 and 184.
- 12 Weber, Theory of Social and Economic Organisations, p. 88.
- 13 Ibid., p. 93.
- 14 P. Winch, I.S.S., pp. 49-50. See also the criticism of Winch's interpretation of Weber in W. G. Runciman, A Critique of Max Weber's Philosophy of Social Science (Cambridge University Press, 1972), p. 21.
 15 See this back sharter 6 np. 108 0.
- 15 See this book, chapter 6, pp. 108-9.
- 16 Weber, Theory of Social and Economic Organisations, p. 88.
- 17 Ibid., p. 112.
- 18 Winch, I.S.S., pp. 116-20.
- 19 Positivist critics of the concepts of verstehen include T. F. Abel, 'The Operation called Verstehen', American Journal of Sociology, vol. 54, 1948, pp. 211-18, and R. S. Rudner, Philosophy of Social Science (Englewood Cliffs, Prentice-Hall, 1966), pp. 71-3. 'Rescuers' of the concept include D. Leat, 'Misunderstanding Verstehen', Sociological Review, vol. 20, 1972, pp. 29-38; P. Winch, I.S.S., pp. 111-16; and R. Keat and J. Urry, Social Theory as Science (London, Routledge & Kegan Paul, 1975), esp. chapter 7.
- 20 Weber, Theory of Social and Economic Organisations, p. 90.
- 21 Keat and Urry, in their excellent critical discussion of these concepts, seem to follow Weber in this. See their *Social Theory as Science*, pp. 147–8 and 167–75.
- 22 Elsewhere, Weber demonstrates that he is well aware of this point. See, for example, his *Methodology of the Social Sciences*, trans. and ed. E. A. Shils and H. A. Finch (Chicago, Free Press, 1949), pp. 179-80.
- 23 Winch, I.S.S., pp. 113-16.
- 24 Similar points have been made by A. MacIntyre, 'The Idea of a Social Science', Aristotelian Society, Supplementary Proceedings, 1967, pp. 95-114 and E. Gellner, 'Concepts and Society', in Sociological Theory and Philosophical Analysis, eds D. Emmett and A. MacIntyre (London, Macmillan, 1970), pp. 115-49 (both articles reprinted in B. Wilson (ed.), Rationality (Oxford, Blackwell, 1974)).
- 25 Winch, I.S.S., p. 89.
- 26 Winch, 'Understanding a Primitive Society', American Philosophical Quarterly, vol. 1, 1964, pp. 307-24, reprinted in Wilson, op. cit., pp. 78-111.

- 27 See L. Wittgenstein, *Philosophical Investigations* (Oxford, Blackwell, 1963), 1, pp. 241-2.
- 28 Weber, Methodology of the Social Sciences, pp. 143-6.
- 29 Ibid., p. 143.
- 30 Ibid., p. 160.
- 31 For a helpful discussion of these and other, less distinctively Weberian, theses on value-judgments, see Keat and Urry, op. cit., pp. 196ff.
- 32 W. G. Runciman, op. cit., pp. 37ff.
- 33 This follows from Weber's methodological individualism and his thesis that historical concepts are constructed according to the criterion of value-relevance.
- 34 I use the term 'couple' here to refer to two theoretical positions apparently opposed to each other, yet which share, at a fundamental level, common presuppositions.
- 35 This distinction, and the terminology I employ, are not of course original. They derive, with some modification, from L. Althusser's 'reading' of Marx. This will be subjected to further critical discussion in chapters 8 and 9.
- 36 Weber, Methodology of the Social Sciences, p. 175.
- 37 Weber, Theory of Social and Economic Organisations, pp. 94-5.
- 38 Ibid., p. 95.
- 39 Ibid., pp. 98-9.
- 40 Ibid., p. 99.
- 41 Winch, *I.S.S.*, pp. 111–16 and 75–86.
- 42 *Explananda* (singular *explanandum*) are events, phenomena, etc. which require, or are the objects of, a (scientific) explanation.
- 43 Donald Davidson, 'Actions, Reasons and Causes', Journal of Philosophy, vol. 60 (1963), pp. 685–700, reprinted in A. R. White (ed.), The Philosophy of Action (London, Oxford University Press, 1968), pp. 79–94.
- 44 Winch, I.S.S., pp. 83ff.
- 45 Ibid., pp. 91ff.
- 46 'Rationalisation' is used here in its common-sense usage, not in the misleading technical sense which Davidson gives to it in the above article.
- 47 Keat and Urry, op. cit., pp. 151-3.
- 48 Winch, I.S.S., pp. 89ff.
- 49 This argument being an attempt to demonstrate the plausibility of thesis 5 above.
- 50 Weber, The Protestant Ethic and the Spirit of Capitalism, pp. 21ff.

8 Karl Marx and Frederick Engels: philosophy of history and theory of knowledge

- 1 See the more extended discussion of Althusser's work in chapter 9.
- 2 See V. I. Lenin, *Materialism and Empirio-Criticism* (Moscow, Progress Publishers, 1970).
- 3 The literature on the relationship between Marx and Hegel is very extensive indeed. The following is a small, but fairly representative

NOTES TO PAGES 140–50

sample: G. V. Plekhanov, *Fundamental Problems of Marxism* (London, Lawrence & Wishart, 1969), esp. chapters I-V; G. Lukács, *History* and Class Consciousness, trans. R. Livingstone (London, Merlin Press, 1971), especially the essay 'Reification and the Consciousness of the Proletariat'; H. Marcuse, *Reason and Revolution* (London, Routledge & Kegan Paul, 1955), passim; L. Althusser, *For Marx* (London, Allen Lane, 1969), passim, but especially the essay 'Contradiction and Overdetermination'; L. Althusser, *Politics and History* (London, New Left Books, 1972), esp. pp. 161-86; L. Colletti, *Marxism and Hegel* (London New Left Books, 1973), passim.

- 4 My understanding of the relationship between Kant and Hegel has been helped by the following: J. Plamenatz, *Man and Society* (London, Longmans, Green, 1963), vol. 2, chapters 3 and 4; S. Rosen, G. W. F. *Hegel* (New Haven, Yale University Press, 1974); L. Colletti, op. cit., chapters VII and VIII; H. Marcuse, op. cit., pp. 16-30; G. Lukács, 'Reification and the Consciousness of the Proletariat', in *History and Class Consciousness*, op. cit.
- 5 G. W. F. Hegel, *Science of Logic*, trans. Johnston and Struthers (London, Allen & Unwin, 1929), pp. 33-4.
- 6 Ibid., p. 168.
- 7 See, for an elementary but nonetheless useful exposition of Hegel on self-realisation, Plamenatz, op. cit., vol. II, p. 143.
- 8 In this, of course, the interpreters of Marx and Engels have been led by Marx and Engels themselves. See, for instance, *Capital*, vol. 1, afterword to the 2nd German edition (New York, International Publishers, 1967, p. 20); 'With him [Hegel] it [the dialectic] is standing on its head. It must be turned right side up again, if you would discover the rational kernel within the mystical shell.' See also F. Engels, *Anti-Dühring* (London, Lawrence & Wishart, 1969, p. 35): 'This way of thinking [Hegel's Idealism] turned everything upside down, and completely reversed the actual connection of things in the world.'
- 9 L. Feuerbach, Sämtliche Werke, vol. II, p. 363, quoted in E. Kamenka, The Philosophy of Ludwig Feuerbach (London, Routledge & Kegan Paul, 1970), p. 71.
- 10 In this respect, Feuerbach's argument amounts to a reinstatement of certain aspects of Kant's epistemology (though without commitment to 'things-in-themselves'). Compare Colletti's argument that Marx, too, in his critique of Hegel (in the Introduction to the *Grundrisse*) reinstates Kant (Colletti, op. cit., chapter VIII).
- 11 L. Feuerbach, *The Essence of Christianity*, trans. Marion Evans (New York, Harper & Row, 1957).
- 12 Marx and Engels, *Collected Works*, vol. 3 (London, Lawrence & Wishart, 1975), p. 274.
- 13 Ibid., pp. 276-7.
- 14 Ibid., pp. 296-7.
- 15 See Ibid.; '... positive criticism as a whole and therefore also German positive criticism of political economy owes its true foundation to the discoveries of Feuerbach ...' (p. 232) and: 'Feuerbach's great achievement is ... (t)he establishment of *true materialism* and

of *real science* ...' (p. 328). For Plekhanov, too, the philosophical identity of Marx and Feuerbach's materialism was the foundation of that of Marx and Engels (see especially *Fundamental Problems of Marxism*, pp. 25–6).

- 16 K. Marx, A Contribution to the Critique of Political Economy (London, Lawrence & Wishart, 1971), p. 22.
- 17 Ibid., p. 20.
- 18 K. Marx, 'First Thesis on Feuerbach', in *The German Ideology, Part 1*, trans. Chris Arthur (London, Lawrence & Wishart, 1970), p. 121.
- 19 Marx, 'Fourth Thesis', ibid., p. 122.
- 20 Marx and Engels, German Ideology, Part 1, p. 94 (my emphasis added).
- 21 Marx, 'Fourth Thesis on Feuerbach', in *The German Ideology, Part 1*, p. 122 (my emphasis added).
- 22 Consider, especially, Marx's use of the essence/appearance distinction, which I discuss later in this chapter, and on pp. 172-3 and 178ff.
- 23 Marx himself suggests this reading when he refers, in the afterword to the second German edition of *Capital*, to his having 'coquetted with the modes of expression peculiar to [Hegel]'. (Marx, *Capital*, vol. 1, New York, International Publishers, 1967, p. 20.)
- 24 N. Poulantzas, *Political Power and Social Classes*, trans. O'Hagan (London, New Left Books; Sheed & Ward, 1973), introduction.
- 25 There exists no satisfactory introduction to the general theory of historical materialism. Perhaps still the best introduction is one of the smaller collections of the writings of Marx, Karl Marx: Selected Writings in Sociology and Philosophy, ed. Bottomore and Rubel (Harmondsworth, Penguin, 1963). However, one defect of this collection is that its organisation takes little account of the historical development of Marx's thought. A useful introductory secondary source is R. Keat and J. Urry, Social Theory as Science (London, Routledge & Kegan Paul, 1975), chapter 5. More advanced and controversial, but extremely rewarding discussions of general theoretical questions in Marxism are Balibar's essay 'The Basic Concepts of Historical Materialism', which is part III of L. Althusser and E. Balibar, Reading Capital (London, New Left Books, 1970); and B. Hindess and P. Q. Hirst, Pre-Capitalist Modes of Production (London, Routledge & Kegan Paul, 1975).
- 26 Considerable recent work of elaboration and critical discussion has been carried out. See especially Hindess and Hirst, op. cit.
- 27 Probably still the best introduction to Marxist economic theory is P. Sweezy, *The Theory of Capitalist Development* (New York, Monthly Review Press, 1942, reprinted 1964).
- 28 See, for instance, L. Althusser, For Marx, especially pp. 100-7 and 252-3.
- 29 See, for a further exposition and critical discussion of this, pp. 163-5 and 178ff. of this book.
- 30 See this book, chapter 4, pp. 65ff. Note also Marx's preface to the first German edition of *Capital:* 'The physicist either observes physical phenomena where they occur in their most typical form and most free from disturbing influence or, wherever possible, he makes experiments

under conditions that assure the occurrence of the phenomenon in its normality. In this work I have to examine the capitalist mode of production, and the conditions of production and exchange corresponding to that mode. Up to the present time, their classic ground is England. That is the reason why England is used as the chief illustration in the development of my theoretical ideas' (*Capital*, p. 8).

- 31 Such concepts differ from Weberian 'ideal types' in that abstraction is not a 'value-guided' selection from a manifold, but a process of theoretical production carried out under the constraint of gaining an objective knowledge of a causally effective actual structure.
- 32 My distinction here between abstract entities and real theoretical entities is related to the contrast drawn in a rather unsatisfactory way in terms of 'weak' and 'strong' senses of existence by Nicos Poulantzas: 'The mode of production constitutes an abstract-formal object which does not exist in the strong sense in reality.... The only thing which really exists is a historically determined social formation, i.e. a social whole, in the widest sense, at a given moment in its historical existence...' (Poulantzas, op. cit., p. 15). My position differs importantly from Poulantzas's, however, in that I do, whereas he does not, ascribe real existence to particular instances of general theoretical concepts such as capitalist mode of production, capitalist state, etc.
- 33 Cf. Marx's 1957 introduction to the *Grundrisse*: '... the so-called general conditions of all and any production, however, are nothing but abstract conceptions which do not define any of the actual stages of production'. (Published as an appendix to Marx, *Contribution to the Critique of Political Economy*, London, Lawrence & Wishart, p. 193).
- 34 See especially F. Engels, Anti-Dühring (op. cit.) and Dialectics of Nature, trans. C. Dutt (London, Lawrence & Wishart, 1940).
- 35 Engels, Anti-Dühring, p. 31.
- 36 This chapter, p. 143.
- 37 Colletti, op. cit., esp. chapters I and III.
- 38 See V. I. Lenin, 'On the Question of Dialectics', *Collected Works*, vol. 38 (London, Lawrence & Wishart, 1961), p. 359.
- 39 See Colletti, op. cit., pp. 41-2.
- 40 See, for instance, the essay 'On the Materialist Dialectic', where Althusser says, referring to Engels, 'The application of the "laws" of the dialectic to such and such a result of physics, for example, makes not one iota of difference to the structure or development of the theoretical practice of physics; worse, it may turn into an ideological fetter' (Althusser, *For Marx*, p. 170). But a little later we get: 'The knowledge of the process of this theoretical practice in its generality ... itself a specified form of the general process of transformation, of the "development of things", constitutes a first theoretical elaboration of theory, that is, of the materialist dialectic' (ibid. p. 173). But see also the self-criticism in the foreword to the Italian edition of Althusser and Balibar, *Reading Capital*, pp. 7–8.
- 41 See Selected Readings from the Works of Mao Tse-tung (Peking, 1967), especially 'On Contradiction' and 'On the Correct Handling of Contradictions among the People'.

- 42 Compare the Marx of the 1844 *Manuscripts*, still in the grip of the (inverted) Hegelian dialectic: '... the emancipation of the workers contains universal human emancipation and it contains this, because the whole of human servitude is involved in the relation of the worker to production, and all relations of servitude are but modifications and consequences of this relation' (Marx and Engels, *Collected Works*, vol. 3, p. 280).
- 43 The term 'overdetermination', as Althusser uses it, is drawn from psychoanalytic theory and is quite distinct from the empiricist use of the term according to which an event is said to be 'overdetermined' if there occurs a multiplicity of causally sufficient conditions for it.
- 44 See L. Althusser, For Marx, especially the essays 'Contradiction and Overdetermination' and 'On the Materialist Dialectic'.
- 45 Especially in Colletti, op. cit., pp. 88-9.
- 46 'Marxism and the Dialectic', New Left Review, vol. 93 (Sept./Oct. 1975), pp. 3-29.
- 47 Colletti, op. cit., p. 29.
- 48 Mao Tse-tung, 'On Contradiction', Selected Readings, p. 96.
- 49 See chapter 5 of this book, p. 81.
- 50 In particular, Marx's critiques of other political economists; an excellent short account of the epistemological significance of these critiques is given in Keat and Urry, op. cit., chapter 5.
- 51 Marx, unlike many of his 'followers', was never content to substitute an analysis of the source or function of an ideology for a rational critique of its cognitive status. That Marx did separate the questions of the epistemological status and the genesis of ideas is evidenced by his attempts to describe and justify the 'materialist method' (see especially the *German Ideology*, pp. 42ff.) without reference to its causal relationship to material life. Also, significantly, Marx asserts the causal dependency of the natural sciences on material life (see, for instance, the *German Ideology*, p. 63), without thereby casting doubt on their status as knowledge. Indeed, for Marx and Engels the natural sciences served as paradigms of genuine knowledge.
- 52 Marx and Engels, German Ideology, Part 1, p. 52.
- 53 Ibid., p. 64.
- 54 Lenin, in *What is to be Done?* (various editions), was a victim of this theory, concluding that the 'spontaneous' development of the workingclass movement necessarily led it into domination by the ruling ideology. The task of producing a revolutionary ideology was to be performed by a radical intelligentsia. Lenin's position on these questions shifted significantly, however, after the 'revolution' of 1905.
- 55 See John Mepham, 'The Theory of Ideology in Capital', in *Radical Philosophy*, vol. 2 (Summer 1972), for an exceptionally clear statement of this.
- 56 Marx, Capital, vol. 1, pp. 71-83 and 535-42 respectively.
- 57 Ibid., p. 73 (emphasis added).
- 58 Ibid., p. 540 (emphasis added). See also p. 176 of the same volume.
- 59 See this book, chapter 5, pp. 94-7.

- 60 See Marx, Capital, vol. 1, p. 79. See also N. Geras, 'Essence and Appearance', New Left Review, 65, pp. 82 ff.
- 61 Various editions, including as an appendix to A Contribution to the Critique of Political Economy; a supplementary text in the German Ideology, part 1; and in Nicolaus (trans.), Grundrisse (Harmondsworth, Penguin, 1973). My page references are to the Contribution to the Critique of Political Economy version.
- 62 See, for example, L. Althusser, Lenin and Philosophy and Other Essays (London, New Left Books, 1971), p. 150.
- 63 Marx and Engels, German Ideology, p. 48.
- 64 Ibid., p. 48.
- 65 Ibid., p. 48.
- 66 Ibid., p. 42.
- 67 Ibid., pp. 42 and 47.
- 68 Ibid., p. 48.
- 69 Ibid., p. 48.
- 70 Marx and Engels, Collected Works, vol. 2, pp. 302 and 300 respectively.
- 71 This chapter, pp. 154-5.
- 72 See also Marx's letter intended (in 1877) for the editorial board of a Russian journal, *Otechestvenniye Zapiski*: 'By studying each of these forms of evolution separately and then comparing them one can easily find the clue to this phenomenon, but one will never arrive there by using as one's master key a general historico-philosophical theory, the supreme virtue of which consists in being super-historical.' (Marx and Engels, *Selected Correspondence*, Moscow, Progress Publishers, 2nd edn, 1965, p. 313.)
- 73 Marx, introduction to the Grundrisse (see above, note 61), p. 193.
- 74 Ibid., p. 190. Nicolaus (Grundrisse, p. 85) has the preferable 'rational' in place of 'sensible'.
- 75 Ibid., p. 190. My emphasis.
- 76 Ibid., p. 190. Compare Nicolaus, op. cit., p. 85; '... this common element, sifted out by comparison, is itself segmented many times over and splits into different determinations'.
- 77 Marx, op. cit., pp. 205-14.
- 78 Compare my earlier discussion of the various levels of abstraction in Marxist theory (this chapter, pp. 154-5).

9 Towards a materialist theory of knowledge

- 1 See chapters 3 and 4.
- 2 See chapter 5.
- 3 This criterion is intended to be quite general. Even where knowledge is itself an object of knowledge (as in the history of science, or epistemology), knowledge and its process of production is independent of explicit, theoretical knowledge of the history of science, the 'nature and scope' of knowledge and so on. The problems of epistemology do not require to be solved as a general condition of production of scientific knowledge.
- 4 See chapter 5, pp. 86–9.

- 5 Introduction to the Grundrisse, published as an appendix to Marx, A Contribution to the Critique of Political Economy (London, Lawrence & Wishart, 1971), p. 210.
- 6 This, I argued in chapter 7 (pp. 126-8), is the only way of avoiding the humanist commitment to relativism or a philosophical anthropology without simultaneously resorting to positivism.
- 7 See this book, chapter 2, pp. 40-1.
- 8 See this book, chapter 8, p. 163.
- 9 L. Althusser, *Lenin and Philosophy and Other Essays* (London, New Left Books, 1971), the essay 'Ideology and Ideological State Apparatuses'.
- 10 Ibid., p. 158.
- 11 See my essay 'Education and Politics' in D. Holly (ed.), Education or Domination? (London, Arrow, 1974), for a fuller presentation of a related point in connection with the educational 'ISA'. See also E. Gellner, 'Concepts and Society', in Bryan Wilson (ed.), Rationality (Oxford, Blackwell, 1974).
- 12 Althusser, op. cit., pp. 170-3. See also J. Rancière, 'On the Theory of Ideology', in *Radical Philosophy*, vol. 7, pp. 2-12.
- 13 I mean specifically, here, parties, (a) to which the principal economic organisations of the working class (trade unions, cooperatives, etc.) are affiliated or otherwise organisationally connected, (b) to which the mass of workers give electoral and other allegiance, and (c) which have their origins in the efforts of organised workers to pursue their perceived interests at the political level. That many of these may be said to have 'bourgeois' programmes is, for my purposes here, irrelevant.
- 14 There are also strong arguments, running counter to the whole Marxist tradition (apart from an occasional text by Engels), for regarding the family principally as an economic institution. I refer, in particular, to its role in the production and reproduction of agents of production. The significance of this for, e.g., the economic status of domestic labour is an issue which has been brought to the fore by the contemporary women's movement.
- 15 This is put admirably by Rancière: 'Proletarian ideology is neither the summary of the representations or positive values of the workers, nor the body of "proletarian" doctrines. It is a stopped assembly-line, an authority mocked, a system of divisions between particular jobs of work abolished, a mass fight-back against "scientific" innovations in exploitation . . .' (Rancière, op. cit., p. 12).
- 16 Althusser, op. cit., pp. 172-3.
- 17 Compare my discussion of Weber on class consciousness, chapter 7, p. 115-16.
- 18 Marx, op. cit., pp. 193-205, especially pp. 204-5.
- 19 Marx, Capital, vol. 1 (New York, International Publishers, 1967), p. 540.
- 20 The condensed form of my argument here renders it liable to be misread as implying that the sole source of working-class (and other subordinate class) ideologies is in economic practices and experience. It is my view that economic practices and experiences are crucial in

deciding the basic categories for economic ideologies, and that these economic ideologies play a fundamental role in structuring and providing metaphors in the other ideological regions (ideologies of the state, moral ideologies, etc.). However, struggles of a directly political (e.g. for legislative reforms), educational (e.g. for curriculum changes) or 'familial' (e.g. for the right to free abortion), etc. nature all contribute to the ideological formation of individuals, strata, and classes.

- 21 I am not arguing, of course, that such a working-class theoretical ideology usually, or even ever, exists in a 'pure form' in the consciousness of individual workers or even in the programme or literature of working-class parties or other organisations. Generally, it exists in a complex and contradictory unity with elements of the ideologies of other classes. For example, the British Labour Party's famous 'Clause 4' embodies a recognition of the necessity of social ownership of the means of production, distribution and exchange as an objective of the Labour movement, but this is combined in the programme with a social-democratic conception of the state as a neutral arbiter between competing interests and a corresponding conception of political practice.
- 22 Here, it will be the distinctive relationship of domestic labour to capitalist production in the narrow sense, the contradictions between ideologies of 'equality of opportunity' and patriarchal ideologies, the economic and ideological effects of imperialism and so on which will be decisive in the formation and inculcation of alternative ideologies to the ruling ideology in its various forms.
- 23 This book, pp. 79-80.
- 24 This book, chapter 8, p. 156.
- 25 See the quotation from *Reading Capital* which I gave at the end of chapter 4 (this book, pp. 79-80).
- 26 See my commentary on Marx's Introduction to the *Grundrisse* (this book, chapter 8, pp. 167-9).
- 27 This chapter, p. 192.
- 28 See D. Lecourt, *Marxism and Epistemology*, trans. Ben Brewster (London, New Left Books, 1975), esp. pp. 119-41. See also the introduction to the English edition (pp. 7-19) for a discussion of the relationship between Kuhn's and Bachelard's epistemologies.
- 29 See, for an example of such criticisms of Althusser's theory of knowledge, A. Glucksmann, 'A Ventriloquist Structuralism', New Left Review, 72 (March/April 1972), pp. 68–92.
- 30 N. Geras, for example, makes this claim, in his essay, 'Althusser's Marxism, an Account and Assessment', New Left Review, 71 (Jan/Feb. 1972), pp. 57-86, esp. pp. 82ff.
- 31 This chapter, pp. 191ff...
- 32 L. Althusser and E. Balibar, *Reading Capital*, trans. Ben Brewster (London, New Left Books, 1970), esp. chapter 6. See also Engels's preface to vol. II of *Capital* (London, Lawrence & Wishart, 1970), pp. 15ff.
- 33 See especially the essay 'On the Young Marx', in *For Marx* (London,' Allen Lane, 1969, pp. 49-86). Althusser later criticises this earlier

essay (see For Marx, p. 187, footnote 23), but doesn't find an alternative. 34 Althusser, For Marx, p. 186.

- 35 Althusser and Balibar, op. cit., p. 52.
- 36 This chapter, p. 171.
- 37 As well as comparable difficulties in Kuhn's conception of a 'paradigmshift'.
- 38 See this chapter, pp. 173-4.
- 39 See, for example, the glossary definition of 'ideology' in *For Marx*, p. 252.
- 40 Althusser and Balibar, op. cit., p. 59.
- 41 See my discussion of this aspect of Durkheim's work in chapter 5, pp. 97-9 of this book.
- 42 This term refers to the attempt to write the history of science without reference to any extrinsic economic, technical or social practices.
- 43 Still the best introductory account of the early development of modern science is, in my view, to be found in H. Butterfield, *The Origins of Modern Science* (London, G. Bell, 1957). See also the various works by A. Koyré on Galileo and Newton.
- 44 To avoid misunderstandings, it is essential to stress that here, and throughout the present work, I treat the question of the cognitive status of a particular theoretical text – its status as knowledge – as a question to be answered independently of the question of the class, or other interests presupposed in its conceptual structure (i.e. its status as science or ideology). In general, a solution to the second question will presuppose a solution into the first. Conversely, a political critique of a text can never be a substitute for an epistemological one.
- 45 Here, as elsewhere in this book, I am greatly indebted to the works, in the philosophy of science, of R. Harré. Two other texts have recently appeared which also link this realist approach in the philosophy of science with Marxism. These are R. Keat and J. Urry, Social Theory as Science (London, Routledge & Kegan Paul, 1975), and R. Bhaskar, 'Feyerabend and Bachelard: Two Philosophies of Science', New Left Review (Nov/Dec. 1975), pp. 31–55. See also Bhaskar's Realist Theory of Science (Leeds, Alma Book Company, 1975); (unfortunately, the last mentioned texts appeared too late for me to take any account of them in this work).
- 46 See R. Harré's *The Philosophies of Science* (Oxford University Press, 1972), esp. chapter 4, for a fuller exposition of this general line of argument.
- 47 This book, chapter 7, pp. 123ff.
- 48 This chapter, pp. 183-4.
- 49 It is important to note that I am here arguing only that the requirement of consistency between basic concepts and ontologies of the various sciences may provide a basis for criteria of validity (and, in general, rational discourse) applicable across paradigm-boundaries. I am not arguing that the requirement of consistency with pre-established conceptual frameworks and ontologies will always actually be a criterion of validity within specific disciplinary specialisms. This was the effective criterion in my phlogiston-theory example, but in the notable

case of the Newtonian concept of gravitation the concept was retained despite its inconsistency with the prevailing ontology and conceptions of explanation. Any fully adequate account of a concept of 'scientific progress' along the lines I have suggested would have to demonstrate the considerations which dictate retention of a concept or type of explanation which runs counter to the prevailing scientific ontology, and this in turn would involve further work in the classification of the sciences. In particular, the cognitive authority of certain sciences vis-à-vis others is connected with the generality of the scope of their ontologies. Physics is, for instance, in this respect more 'fundamental' than biology or sociology. So far as I know, Comte is the only philosopher to have tackled these problems in a systematic way. How far his general solutions can be disentangled from the Comtian 'nature philosophy' and utilised for these purposes is a question which must remain, for the moment, unanswered.

50 P. F. Strawson, *Individuals* (London, Methuen, 1959), especially chapter 1.

Index

Action, 113-20, 128-36, 176, 194; social, 113–20, 128–30, 194 alienation, 93, 147-52, 159, 160 Althusser, L., 79, 80, 139, 156-9, 170, 174–80, 180–92, 205, 211-19 analytic statements, 22, 36 Andreski, S., 202 'anomalies', 8 a priori, 22, 101-3, 123, 166-7, 184, 198 Aquinas, St Thomas, 19 Aristotle, 8, 19, 69, 190 Arthur, C. J., 201 atomic weights, 74 atomism, logical, 48-9, 203 Austin, J. L., 203 autonomy, relative, 137 Ayer, A. J., 52–3 Bachelard, G., 182, 202 Bacon F., 21ff, 147 Balibar, E., 205, 213 Barker, E., 202 behaviour, 116-19 Bennett, J., 208 Berger, P. L., 207 Berkeley, G., 24, 30 Bernard, Claude, 5, 200 Berzelius, 74 Bhaskar, R., 219 biology, 84-6, 92, 99, 123, 134, 169, 194 Brewster, B., 202

- Bridgeman, P. W., 50
- bridge principles, 65–70
- Butterfield, H., 219
- capitalism, 25, 42, 93, 98–9, 123, 136–7, 150, 154–60, 164, 174–9, 182, 190
- Carnap, R., 203
- Cassirer, E., 201
- 'categories', 102, 141, 167, 176
- Catlin, G. E. G., 206
- Causes, 30–4, 42, 54–63, 68ff, 101–3, 106, 108–9, 112, 125, 128–37, 141, 156–62, 170–4, 178ff, 193– 7, 199; and necessity, 101; and symptoms, 61; as generative mechanisms, 33, 62, 68ff, 87ff, 98, 100, 129, 135, 156, 160, 171, 178ff, 193–7; final, 33; historical, 137, 159, 160, 173 Civil War (English), 23, 25, 26
- Civil wal (English), 25, 25,
- Clarke, Margaret, 202
- Class, 113–15, 152, 160–5, 172–82, 190–2; situation, 113–15
- Clausius, 70
- Colletti, L., 158-60, 212, 214
- common sense, 88, 91, 94–5, 102, 131, 140, 142–3, 157
- communism, 149, 151
- Comte, A., 11, 18–45, 54, 68, 81–6, 202, 220
- conceptual schemes, 61, 123ff
- Condillac, 24
- conditionals, counterfactual, 56, 109, 131

conditions, INUS, 58 Condorcet, 28 confirmationism, 51, 70, 72 conjectures, 77 conscience collective, 83, 113 consciousness, 127, 146-7, 152, 162-4, 171, 196 contradictions, 98, 104, 137, 141-5, 151, 156-60, 184, 197, 214 conventionalism, 68, 73, 204 Copernicus, N., 1, 95, 190, 208 Copleston, 201 Crosland, M. P., 204 Culpeper, N., 23 Dalton, 74 Danto, A. C., 209 Darwin, C., 1, 69, 82, 191 Davidson, Donald, 130, 211 Dee, J., 23 De Maistre, 27 demarcation, criteria of, 6, 9, 31, 53, 63, 72, 174, 180, 187–93 Descartes, 6, 7, 19ff, 24, 95, 101, 141, 200 determinism, 103, 137 D'Holbach, 24 dialectic, 143-5, 148-50, 152, 157-61; materialist, 157-61 Digges, T., 23 Dilthey, W., 105, 209 discontinuity, 95 discovery, logic of, 77ff Dobb, M., 202 Dore, R. P., 204 duck-rabbit, 74 Duhem, P., 68 Durkheim, E., 26, 81-99, 100, 139, 161, 170-4, 181, 203, 205-8, 219 Easlea, B., 205 economics, 28, 37, 95, 148, 150-6, 159, 164, 171, 182, Einstein, A., 1, 53 Emmet, D., 210 empiricism, 6, 11, 20ff, 33, 47, 53, 68, 70, 95-7, 100-2, 138, 146,

165-6, 170-2, 178, 180, 192; logical, 21, 47ff Empirio-criticism, 21, 140 Encyclopédie, 24 Engels, F., 10ff, 15, 138, 145, 150-4, 157-66, 170-99, 201, 211-18 Enlightenment, 24ff, 37, 44, 191, 201 epiphenomena, 132, 162, 171 epistemology, 11, 13, 16, 18ff, 30, 44, 90-4, 101, 126, 139, 169, 182-7, 192, 196 'epistemological break', 182-5 essence, 83, 86-9, 92, 100, 139, 141, 152, 162-5, 172; and phenomena, 86-9, 92, 100, 141, 162-5, 172 ethnomethodology, 101 evolution, theory of, 61, 82 existentialism, 101, 140 experience, 51, 74, 83, 95, 101-4, 107, 129, 140, 146-8, 173, 178-81, 196 experiment, 40, 73, 92; Michelson-Morley, 52 explanandum, 54, 129, 211 explanans, 54 explanation, 33-5, 53-63, 67, 79, 81, 106, 112-17, 120, 128-38, 156, 161, 170, 194-9; deductive-nomological, 54ff; functional, 34, 60, 175, 204 explication, 54 falsificationism, 72, 131 Feigl, H., 203 Feuerbach, L., 145–52, 212 Feyerabend, P. K., 205 Fichte, 140 'form of life', 121, 134 'form of social consciousness', 127, 163, 171 free will, 103, 141 Freud, S., 134 functional explanation, 34, 60, 175, 204 functionalism, 122, 175 Galileo, 19, 31, 191, 219 Gardiner, P. L., 202

Gellner, E., 210 generative mechanisms, see causes geology, 169 Geras, N., 216 Gerth, H. H., 209 Gilbert, W., 23 Glucksmann, A., 217 Goethe, 125 Goldmann, L., 201 Hanson, N. R., 74, 205 Harré, R., 61, 203 Hegel, G. W. F., 44, 101, 140-53, 158, 162, 178, 211 Hegelians, 145-50 Heidelberg Circle, 105, 112 Hempel, C. G., 59, 68, 70, 200 Hill, Christopher, 201 Hindess, B., 205 Hirst, P. Q., 206 Historicism, 42, 86, 111, 149, 168, 174 history, 7-11, 15-17, 28-37, 128, 144-53, 137-9, 157-62, 165-99 Hobbes, T., 24 Holly, D., 217 Hughes, H. S., 206 Humanism, 12, 15, 46, 81, 93, 100, 111, 128, 137-40, 144, 152, 170, 183 Hume, D., 22, 48, 56, 70 hypothetico-deductive model, 64ff, 75-8 ideal gases, 56, 65ff, 155-7 idealism, 30, 104, 140ff, 152, 162, 184 'ideal types', 136 'ideological state apparatus' (ISA), 174-8, 180 ideology, 10, 11, 41, 81, 93-100, 107, 122, 126-8, 132, 150, 153-6, 161-5, 170-95, 217; theoretical, 126-8, 162-3, 173, 180-90, 193; practical, 126, 162-3, 173, 189-91 individualism, 20, 83, 113-16, 123, 134, 148, 176, 191, 209

instrumentalism, 67, 70, 114, 170 Kamenka, E., 212 Kant, I., 7, 100-11, 139-42, 159, 186, 201, 212 Keat, R., 132, 203, 210 Kemp Smith, N., 208 Kepler, J., 78 kinetic theory, 65ff, 75, 88, 136, 155 Kolakowski, L., 201 Körner, S., 208 Kovré, A., 219 Kuhn, T. S., 7ff, 72, 182, 197, 200, 217 Lakatos, I., 205 Laplace, 36 Lavoisier, 74, 187 law of capitalist accumulation, 42; of conservation of matter, 197; of gravitation, 36, 69, 195, 220; of three stages, 30ff, 41 laws, 28, 32-5, 37, 52, 54ff, 64-70, 77, 108, 112, 129-31, 156-8, 191; and trends, 38ff; covering, 54ff, 109; of coexistence, 28, 37ff; of limited scope, 42-3; of succession, 28, 30, 37ff; of the dialectic, 157-8; statistical, 57ff, 62, 73, 129-30 Lecourt, D., 202, 218 Leibniz, 7, 141, 200 Lenin, V. I., 140, 155, 191, 211, 214-17 Lessnoff, M., 203-5 liberalism, 25 linguistic analysis, 48 Lively, J. F., 201 Livingstone, R., 212 Locke, J., 3ff, 11, 21, 24ff, 200 logical constructions, 48-50, 56 Losee, J., 203 Luckmann, T., 207 Lukács, G., 105, 208, 212 Lukas, P. G., 208 Lukes, S., 114, 206 Mach, E., 68, 140 MacIntyre, A., 210 Mackie, J. L., 204

induction, 33, 57, 77

INDEX

Mannheim, K., 42 Mao Tse-tung, 158-60, 214 Marcuse, H., 44, 202 Marx, K. (Marxism), 10ff, 15, 38-44, 79-82, 98, 101, 118, 122, 137–70, 199, 201, 211–19 master-scientist, 3, 6ff, 157 materialism, 137, 140, 145-69, 170–99; dialectical, 157-61: historical, 150, 154-7, 161, 196 matter, atomic theory of, 34 McGuinness, B. F., 203 meaning, theory of, 48, 50ff, 116-20 medicine, 98 Mendel, G., 69 Mepham, J., 215 'metaphysical state', 30ff Mill, J. S., 22, 39 Mills, C. Wright, 209 'mode of production', 154-7, 160, 172-5, 178 Montesquieu, 27 Moore, G. E., 48 Musgrave, A., 205 natural (physical) sciences, 46-83, 93, 103-8, 110-14, 117, 130, 158, 169, 170, 190 negative philosophy, 37, 44 Neo-Kantians, 100-11, 112, 120, 134, 140, 185, 208 Neurath, O., 203 Newton, I., 1, 8, 24, 31, 49, 56, 65, 73, 102, 156, 190, 219 Nicolaus, M., 216 'normal science', 1, 8, 9, 73 'noumena', 103–5, 108, 141 Novack, G., 201 'object of knowledge', 185-7 observation, 51-3, 70, 73-8, 83, 165; statements, 49, 50-2, 65-8, 71, 73–6, 79, 89, 92 operationalism, 21, 49, 50, 203 organicism, 27 Outhwaite, W., 208 Overton, 24 pangenesis, 69 'paradigms', 8, 79, 185, 197

Paris commune, 82 Parsons, T., 208-10 Partington, J. R., 205 Pears, D. F., 203 phenomenalism, 21, 51, 67, 86 phenomenology, 101 'phenomeno-technics', 202 phlogiston, 74, 185, 197 physiology, 5, 37, 83, 92, 115, 129, 130, 160, 194 Plamenatz, J., 212 Plekhanov, G. V., 158, 212 Poincaré, 68 Popkin, R. H., 201 Popper, K., 38-43, 174, 202 'positive state', 30ff positivism, 11, 18ff, 21, 26ff, 46-80, 81–99, 100, 112, 120, 130, 137-9, 156, 170, 193 Poulantzas, N., 154-6, 213 practice(s), 147, 151, 162, 174, 180-4, 188, 190 pragmatism, 21 predictions, 35, 39ff, 55, 60, 72, 131; and prophecies, 39ff 'prenotions', 94, 165, 172 Priestley, J., 74, 187 primary qualities, 194–5 probability, 57ff 'problematic', 183–92 Protestantism, 23 Prout, W., 74 psychoanalysis, 6, 134, 159 psychology, 84-6, 90, 106 Ptolemy, 19, 190 'puzzle-solving', 73 Quine, W. V., 22, 201 Rancière, J., 217 rationalism, 20, 57, 88, 101, 186, 192 rationality, scientific, 77ff realism, 67ff, 87ff, 97, 100, 116, 129, 136, 171, 187, 193–9 Recorde, R., 23 Reichenbach, H., 203 reification, 93 relations of ideas, 22, 36

relativism, 44, 76, 110, 123, 139, 188, 196 religion, 142-8, 151, 191 'representations', 85, 90 'reproduction', 174-7, 180 retroduction, 78 Revolution, French, 25, 82 Rickert, H., 105-12, 118, 123, 209 Rickman, H. P., 209 Rosen, S., 212 Rousseau, J.-J., 25ff Rudner, R. S., 204 rules, 46, 91, 117-21, 131ff Runciman, W. G., 126, 210 Russell, B., 48, 201 Russell, C. A., 201 Ryan, A., 200, 210 Say, J. B., 28 scepticism, 47 Schelling, 140 Schlick, M., 203 sense-data, 49, 52, 68, 70 Simmel, 105 Smith, Adam, 28 social dynamics, 37ff social engineering, 29, 38ff, 98-9 'social facts', 84-94, 114-16 'social formation', 124, 154-60, 163, 181, 190 social statics, 37ff socialism, 148 sociology, 2, 13-15, 29, 31, 37-45, 83-92, 96-8, 105, 112-20, 122, 126-8, 134, 163, 175, 188, 196 'solidarity', 87 'species being', 147–9 Spencer, H., 82 Spinoza, 7, 141 'spiritual sciences', 105ff St Simon, 26ff, 37 Strawson, P. F., 198, 200, 220 supersession, 145, 158 'superstructure', 137, 156, 162, 174 Sweezy, P., 213 synthetic *a priori*, 102, 166 synthetic statements, 36, 102, 166 teleology, 34 'theological state', 30ff

theoretical entities, 52, 65, 67ff, 136, 156, 193; statements, 52, 65, 71, 194 'Theoreticism', 184, 191 theories, ideological, 126-8, 161-5, 174-90, 193; of history, 152-7, 159, 160, 165-9, 170-99; production of, 75-80, 95-7, 107, 163, 171, 181–90, 192; scientific, 63-80, 89, 95, 127, 165-99 'things-in-themselves', 103, 142, 186 'totality', 41 Trotsky, L. D., 155 under-labourer, 3ff 'understanding', 13, 46, 81, 102, 110, 120-44, 170; 'explanatory', 128-37; hermeneutic, 106; interpretative, 112, 120; participants', 122, 134; 'reflective', 122 Urry, J., 132, 203 Utilitarians, 36 values, 36, 43-5, 97-9, 107-12, 118, 123, 132, 179, 180 value-interpretation, 125 value-judgments, 36, 110, 125 value-neutrality, 43-5, 97-9, 125 verificationism, 49-53, 67, 72 verstehen, 105, 120, 128ff, 170 Vienna-circle, 48 vitalism, 5 Von Wright, G. H., 204 Wallace, A. R., 191 Weber, M., 38, 41, 105, 112-37, 139, 176, 180, 195–7, 199, 210 White, A. R., 211 Williams, Mary B., 204 Wilson, B., 210 Winch, P., 3, 13ff, 112, 117-37, 200, 210 Windleband, 105 Winstanley, 23 Wittgenstein, L., 13, 48, 51, 101, 118, 121, 201, 211 Woozley, A. D., 200 Zeitlin, I. M., 207